Future research questions for improving COPD diagnosis and care

Edited by Amany F. Elbehairy, Justin Garner and Azmy Faisal

Coordinated by Ahmed Sadaka

Published in Frontiers in Medicine Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not

be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-4890-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-4890-5

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Future research questions for improving COPD diagnosis and care

Topic editors

Amany F. Elbehairy — Alexandria University, Egypt Justin Garner — Royal Brompton Hospital, United Kingdom Azmy Faisal — Manchester Metropolitan University, United Kingdom

Topic coordinator

Ahmed Sadaka — Alexandria University, Egypt

Citation

Elbehairy, A. F., Garner, J., Faisal, A., Sadaka, A., eds. (2024). *Future research questions for improving COPD diagnosis and care*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-4890-5



Table of contents

05 Editorial: Future research questions for improving COPD diagnosis and care

Ahmed S. Sadaka, Azmy Faisal, Justin L. Garner and Amany F. Elbehairy

08 Circulating levels of mitochondrial oxidative stress-related peptides MOTS-c and Romo1 in stable COPD: A cross-sectional study

> Carlos A. Amado, Paula Martín-Audera, Juan Agüero, Bernardo A. Lavín, Armando R. Guerra, Daymara Boucle, Diego Ferrer-Pargada, Ana Berja, Fernando Martín, Ciro Casanova and Mayte García-Unzueta

17 Sleep apnea-COPD overlap syndrome is associated with larger left carotid atherosclerotic plaques Pedro Landete, Carlos Ernesto Fernández-García, José M. Muñoz,

Alfonsi Friera, Julio Ancochea, Águeda González-Rodríguez and Carmelo García-Monzón

26 Relationship between human serum albumin and in-hospital mortality in critical care patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Ma Ling, Li Huiyin, Chen Shanglin, Li Haiming, Di Zhanyi, Wang Shuchun, Bai Meng and Lu Murong

- 33 Modeling of pulmonary deposition of agents of open and fixed dose triple combination therapies through two different low-resistance inhalers in COPD: a pilot study Tamas Erdelyi, Zsofia Lazar, Árpád Farkas, Peter Furi, Attila Nagy and Veronika Müller
- 43 Comparative assessment of small airway dysfunction by impulse oscillometry and spirometry in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma with and without fixed airflow obstruction

Chalerm Liwsrisakun, Warawut Chaiwong and Chaicharn Pothirat

52 Novel protein biomarkers for pneumonia and acute exacerbations in COPD: a pilot study

Anna Lena Jung, Maria Han, Kathrin Griss, Wilhelm Bertrams, Christoph Nell, Timm Greulich, Andreas Klemmer, Hendrik Pott, Dominik Heider, Claus F. Vogelmeier, Stefan Hippenstiel, Norbert Suttorp and Bernd Schmeck

61 Undiagnosed chronic respiratory disorders in symptomatic patients with initially suspected and excluded coronary artery disease: insights from a prospective pilot study

Christoph Beyer, Anna Boehm, Alex Pizzini, Philipp Grubwieser, Gudrun Feuchtner, Axel Bauer, Guenter Weiss, Judith Loeffler-Ragg, Guy Friedrich and Fabian Plank

68 A risk nomogram for predicting prolonged intensive care unit stays in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Hongtao Cheng, Jieyao Li, Fangxin Wei, Xin Yang, Shiqi Yuan, Xiaxuan Huang, Fuling Zhou and Jun Lyu

- 81 Systemic and functional effects of continuous azithromycin treatment in patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and frequent exacerbations Ester Cuevas, Daniel Huertas, Concepción Montón, Alicia Marin, Anna Carrera-Salinas, Xavier Pomares, Marian García-Nuñez, Sara Martí and Salud Santos
- 91 Prevalence, predictors, dynamic bone change, and treatment efficacy of osteoporosis among chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients: a prospective cohort study Punchalee Kaenmuang, Warangkana Keeratichananont, Sarayut Lucien Geater, Nicha Chantamanee and Piyaporn Srikaew
- 99 Remote patient monitoring strategies and wearable technology in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease Felix-Antoine Coutu, Olivia C. Iorio and Bryan A. Ross
- 106 Sex-differences in COPD: from biological mechanisms to therapeutic considerations Kathryn M. Milne, Reid A. Mitchell, Olivia N. Ferguson, Alanna S. Hind and Jordan A. Guenette

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Dawei Yang, Fudan University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Amany F. Elbehairy ☑ dr.amanyelbehairy@yahoo.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 02 April 2024 ACCEPTED 11 April 2024 PUBLISHED 30 April 2024

CITATION

Sadaka AS, Faisal A, Garner JL and Elbehairy AF (2024) Editorial: Future research questions for improving COPD diagnosis and care. *Front. Med.* 11:1411350. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2024.1411350

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Sadaka, Faisal, Garner and Elbehairy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Future research questions for improving COPD diagnosis and care

Ahmed S. Sadaka ^{(b) 1†}, Azmy Faisal ^{(b) 2†}, Justin L. Garner ^{(b) 3,4†} and Amany F. Elbehairy ^{(b) 1*†}

¹Department of Chest Diseases, Faculty of Medicine, Alexandria University, Alexandria, Egypt, ²Department of Sport and Exercise Sciences, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester, United Kingdom, ³Royal Brompton Hospital London, London, United Kingdom, ⁴National Heart and Lung Institute, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom

KEYWORDS

COPD diagnosis, COPD therapy, COPD exacerbation, clinical physiology, sex differences

Editorial on the Research Topic

Future research questions for improving COPD diagnosis and care

Introduction

The prevalence and burden of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) remain on the rise, especially with an increasingly aging population and the relative advancement in healthcare delivery systems. Over the last two decades, our knowledge and understanding of the different aspects of this heterogenous disease have evolved but key challenges in management still exist including earlier diagnosis, reducing exacerbation frequency, and identifying and managing commonly overlooked comorbidities, among others (1). This Research Topic brings together established experts and emerging future leaders to describe future research questions aiming at improving COPD diagnosis and care.

The Research Topic articles

In the past, it was thought that COPD was a disease that mainly affects elderly men given the higher prevalence of smoking compared to women. However, as more women are currently smoking, the prevalence of COPD among women may now surpass that of men. In the current topic, Milne et al. provide a concise review discussing sex differences in COPD from biological mechanisms to therapeutic considerations. Sex differences in the lungs' and the airways' structure are the main mechanisms behind differences in symptoms, resting, and exertional functional measurements.

COPD remains underdiagnosed with symptoms commonly attributed to aging, deconditioning, or concomitant cardiac diseases. This can be especially problematic given the high prevalence of cardiac diseases, in addition to smoking being an important common risk factor for both conditions. Beyer et al. conducted a prospective pilot study of the prevalence of chronic respiratory disease and the relation between the clinical and lung function profiles among non-cardiac symptomatic patients. Those with

abnormal lung function tests (14% of participants) reported dyspnoea that was relatively persistent over a follow-up period of 3 months. This highlights the important role of primary care in early identification and discerning of chronic respiratory disease especially with the aid of simple office spirometry. However, even with good-quality spirometric testing, early disease diagnosis could be missed considering the fact that pathological changes in COPD commonly affect the small airways, the so-called "silent zone" (2). In this regard, Liwsrisakun et al. attempted to explore the role of impulse oscillometry (IOS) and spirometry in COPD, and asthma. They showed higher sensitivity of IOS in assessing small airway dysfunction (SAD) among patients with normal FEV1/VC while spirometry was found more sensitive in those with reduced FEV₁/VC. In line, integral to COPD management is the delivery of bronchodilator agents capable of deposition in the small airways. However, inhaler type can impact the efficacy of the treatment. Erdelyi et al. conducted a pilot study comparing drug delivery in two low-resistance inhaler devices utilizing numerical modeling in stable and exacerbated patients with severe COPD. Pulmonary deposition was around 10% superior with the use of the soft mist inhaler device compared with the 2 pMDI devices, and notably, no significant difference was observed in pulmonary deposition between stable vs. exacerbated states of COPD. These findings bring to attention the importance of personalizing inhaler prescriptions in COPD.

The ROME proposal has outlined a new approach to define and grade COPD exacerbations (E-COPD) with more focus on objective measures (3). In this Research Topic, a review by Coutu et al. focused on the utility of remote patient monitoring not only for exacerbation detection but also for monitoring diagnostic/treatment-related parameters and aiding delivery of care in stable COPD patients with more efficient proactive management. The prevention of exacerbations is a culprit risk reduction goal in COPD management, given that E-COPD is associated with a rapid progression of disease, decline of functional capacity, and increased risk of mortality. Multiple interventions have proved helpful in reducing E-COPD including vaccinations, inhaled pharmaco-therapies, and long-term Azithromycin (4). In a multicentre prospective study, Cuevas et al. probed into the functional and systemic effects of Azithromycin in frequent COPD exacerbators. They showed notable improvement in gas exchange at rest and with exercise. Also, baseline serum and sputum interleukin-8 elevation were found to be independently predictive of therapeutic response. It is worth noting that long-term azithromycin therapy was associated with a change in the pattern of microorganism isolates to more pathogenic bacteria, a finding that was previously described and worth balancing when considering offering such a treatment option (5). Distinguishing pneumonic and non-pneumonic E-COPD bears important treatment and prognostication implications. In the context of a quite similar presentation and limited sensitivity of the conventional chest x-ray, biomarkers can play an important role (6). In the BioInflame study, a set of plasma biomarkers was investigated for utility in identifying E-COPD and community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) (Jung et al.). Results showed that interleukin-6, neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin and resistin are suitable markers for discrimination between E-COPD and CAP. These findings warrant validation in a larger cohort to deliver more evidence for implementation in clinical settings. In the same context, Amado et al. provided the first evidence of reduced levels of circulating MOTS-c and increased levels of Romo1 in patients with stable COPD; these micropeptides were associated with oxygen desaturation and reduced exercise capacity.

COPD is among the most common causes of hospital and intensive care unit (ICU) admissions, which puts a lot of burden on the patients and healthcare system alike. Cheng et al. shed light on different predictors of prolonged ICU stay among a large cohort of COPD patients. Including a comprehensive set of variables, they have created a normogram that can be applied for prognosticating and helping management guidance in the ICU setting. In this Research Topic, Ling et al. also reported a significant negative correlation between human serum albumin and in-hospital mortality in critically ill patients with COPD.

COPD management not only entails treating the obvious respiratory illness but should also encompass detailed phenotyping of patients as well as identifying and managing the associated comorbidities. Kaenmuang et al. investigated the prevalence, predictors, and progression of osteoporosis - as well as its treatment efficacy over 12 months. They showed an osteoporosis prevalence of 31.5% associated with elevated C-reactive protein levels and lower body mass index. Suffering from an exacerbation in the previous year was associated with almost two times increased odds of osteoporosis. These results shed light on an important commonly "silent" comorbidity that can be associated with a more complicated course of COPD (7). Obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) is also a common association with COPD. Landete et al. identified overlap syndrome (i.e., OSA plus COPD) in 51% of their sample, which was associated with larger left carotid atherosclerotic plaques, putting patients at higher risk for developing cerebrovascular stroke.

Conclusion

COPD is one of the most common respiratory diseases with significant morbidity and mortality worldwide. Earlier diagnosis will permit the introduction of more cost-effective and relevant therapeutic interventions with improved patient outcomes and less economic burden. This Research Topic describes the cutting-edge understanding of sex differences in COPD, common comorbid conditions associated with COPD, novel diagnostic and prognostic tools, and updates in treatment and preventive pharmacotherapy.

Author contributions

AS: Writing—original draft, Writing—review & editing. AF: Writing—review & editing. JG: Writing—review & editing. AE: Supervision, Writing—original draft, Writing—review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships

References

1. Vogelmeier CF, Roman-Rodriguez M, Singh D, Han MK, Rodriguez-Roisin R, Ferguson GT, et al. Goals of COPD treatment: focus on symptoms and exacerbations. *Respir Med.* (2020) 166:105938. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2020.105938

2. Hogg JC, Pare PD, Hackett TL. The contribution of small airway obstruction to the pathogenesis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Physiol Rev.* (2017) 97:529–52. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00025.2015

3. Celli BR, Fabbri LM, Aaron SD, Agusti A, Brook R, et al. An updated definition and severity classification of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations: the rome proposal. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2021) 204:1251–8. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202108-1819PP

4. Gold report. Global Strategy for Prevention, Diagnosis And Management of Copd: 2024 Report. (2024). Available online that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

at: https://goldcopd.org/2024-gold-report/ (accessed March 25, 2024).

5. Taylor SP, Sellers E, Taylor BT. Azithromycin for the Prevention of COPD exacerbations: the good, bad, and ugly. *Am J Med.* (2015) 128:e1361-6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2015.07.032

6. Maselli DJ, Restrepo MI. Pneumonia or Exacerbation of COPD. Controversies in COPD. In: Anzueto A, Heijdra Y, Hurst JR, editors. *ERS Monograph*. Sheffield: European Respiratory Society (2015), p. 185–96.

7. Inoue D, Watanabe R, Okazaki R. COPD and osteoporosis: links, risks, and treatment challenges. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2016) 11:637-48. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S79638

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Amany F. Elbehairy, Alexandria University, Egypt

REVIEWED BY Rasha Saleh, University of East Anglia, United Kingdom Erica Bazzan, University Hospital of Padua, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Carlos A. Amado Scarlosantonio.amado@scsalud.es

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Pulmonary Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 16 November 2022 ACCEPTED 23 January 2023 PUBLISHED 08 February 2023

CITATION

Amado CA, Martín-Audera P, Agüero J, Lavin BA, Guerra AR, Boucle D, Ferrer-Pargada D, Berja A, Martín F, Casanova C and García-Unzueta M (2023) Circulating levels of mitochondrial oxidative stress-related peptides MOTS-c and Romo1 in stable COPD: A cross-sectional study. *Front. Med.* 10:1100211. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1100211

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Amado, Martín-Audera, Agüero, Lavín, Guerra, Boucle, Ferrer-Pargada, Berja, Martín, Casanova and García-Unzueta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Circulating levels of mitochondrial oxidative stress-related peptides MOTS-c and Romo1 in stable COPD: A cross-sectional study

Carlos A. Amado^{1,2,3*}, Paula Martín-Audera⁴, Juan Agüero¹, Bernardo A. Lavín⁴, Armando R. Guerra⁴, Daymara Boucle², Diego Ferrer-Pargada¹, Ana Berja⁴, Fernando Martín⁵, Ciro Casanova⁶ and Mayte García-Unzueta^{2,4}

¹Department of Pulmonology, Hospital Universitario Marqués de Valdecilla, Santander, Spain, ²University of Cantabria, Santander, Spain, ³IDIVAL (Instituto de Investigación Biomédica de Cantabria), Santander, Spain, ⁴Department of Clinical Biochemistry, Hospital Universitario Marqués de Valdecilla, Santander, Spain, ⁵Unidad de Deshabituación Tabáquica (UDESTA), Servicio Cántabro de Salud, Santander, Spain, ⁶Servicio de Neumología-Unidad de Investigación, Hospital Universitario La Candelaria, Universidad de La Laguna, San Cristóbal de La Laguna, Spain

Background: MOTS-c and Romo1 are mitochondrial peptides that are modulated by oxidative stress. No previous studies have explored circulating levels of MOTS-c in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).

Methods: We enrolled 142 patients with stable COPD and 47 smokers with normal lung function in an observational cross-sectional study. We assessed serum levels of both MOTS-c and Romo1 and associated these findings with clinical characteristics of COPD.

Results: Compared with smokers with normal lung function, patients with COPD had lower levels of MOTS-c (p = 0.02) and higher levels of Romo1 (p = 0.01). A multivariate logistic regression analysis revealed that above-median MOTS-c levels were positively associated with Romo1 levels (OR 1.075, 95% CI 1.005–1.150, p = 0.036), but no association was found with other COPD characteristics. Below-median levels of circulating MOTS-c were associated with oxygen desaturation (OR 3.25 95% CI 1.456–8.522, p = 0.005) and walking <350 meters (OR 3.246 95% CI 1.229–8.577, p = 0.018) in six-minute walk test. Above-median levels of Romo1 were positively associated with baseline oxygen saturation (OR 0.776 95% CI 0.641–0.939, p = 0.009).

Conclusions: Reduced levels of circulating MOTS-c and increased levels of Romo1 were detected in patients diagnosed with COPD. Low levels of MOTS-c were associated with oxygen desaturation and poorer exercise capacity using 6 min walk test. Romo1 was associated with current smoking and baseline oxygen saturation.

Trial registration:www.clinicaltrials.gov;No.:NCT04449419;URL:www.clinicaltrials.gov.Date of registration:June 26, 2020.

KEYWORDS

COPD, MOTS-c, Romo1, exercise capacity, oxidative stress

Introduction

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) is one of the leading causes of mortality worldwide (1). Oxidative stress (OS) is one of the most important factors contributing to the pathogenesis and severity of COPD (2, 3). COPD is a heterogeneous disease with several potentially treatable traits that have been associated with disease prognosis (4) including muscle weakness (5), reduced exercise capacity (6), and increased oxygen desaturation (OD) during exercise (7). While several biomarkers of OS have been evaluated in COPD (8, 9), none are evaluated on a routine basis.

Mitochondrial open reading frame of the 12S ribosomal RNA type-c (MOTS-c) is a recently discovered micropeptide encoded by the mitochondrial genome. MOTS-c is produced primarily in mitochondria-rich tissues, including skeletal muscle (10). MOTSc has also been detected in peripheral blood and has thus been tentatively identified as a circulating myomitokine (11). While circulating MOTS-c penetrates target cells rapidly, its mechanism of entry remains unknown (11). Receptors for the hormonal mitokine, humanin, have already been described; by contrast, no receptors have been identified that interact specifically with MOTSc. In vitro, MOTS-c is detected primarily in the mitochondria; production is induced in response to glucose restriction (10) or OS (12). MOTS-c activates sarcoplasmic adenosine monophosphateactivated protein kinase (AMPK) and is then translocated to the nucleus, where it binds to antioxidant response element sequences in the promoter regions of nuclear factor erythroid 2related factor 2 (NRF2) and other transcription factors, thereby modulating target gene activity (12). Results of recent research reveal that circulating levels of MOTS-c increase with acute intense exercise but decline in association with increasing age as well as obesity, coronary disease, diabetes mellitus, and kidney failure (13).

Reactive oxygen species modulator 1 (Romo1) is a redox-sensitive protein located in the inner mitochondrial membrane that regulates the integrity of mitochondrial cristae and mitochondrial shape under conditions of OS (14). Of note, defective cristae, abnormal branches, and swollen and fragmented organelles are frequently observed in respiratory epithelial cells isolated from COPD patients (3).

To the best of our knowledge, there are no previously published studies that document serum MOTS-c levels in patients diagnosed with COPD or smokers without COPD. On the other hand, the results of one small study documented higher serum Romo1 levels in COPD patients (n = 49) compared to healthy volunteers not matched by smoking status (n = 39) and a negative correlation between Romo1 levels and forced expiratory volume in the first second (FEV1) (%), but exercise capacity was not evaluated (15). Although MOTS-c and Romo1 are mitochondrial peptides, and are associated with chronic diseases, they have not been measured together before. We hypothesized that, because of low exercise capacity and high OS characteristic of COPD, serum levels of both MOTS-c and Romo1 would be altered. We also hypothesized that circulating levels might be associated with specific outcomes of this disease, for example, exercise capacity.

Methods

An observational cross-sectional study of patients receiving care at a COPD outpatient clinic in Spain was performed from November 2018 to December 2020. The study was reviewed and approved by the ethics committee of our institution (CEIm of Cantabria; 2018.276). Written informed consent was provided by all patients before entering the study. The study protocol was registered at www.clinicaltrials.gov (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT04449419).

Participants

Participants were recruited at a dedicated COPD outpatient clinic during routine visits. Smokers without COPD (control group) were recruited from the smoking cessation clinics held at our institution.

The inclusion criteria were as follows: (i) patients diagnosed with COPD based on the Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) guidelines (16) who were >40 years of age and (ii) sex, age, and smoking status- matched control patients who had not been diagnosed with COPD.

The exclusion criteria were as follows: (i) patients who experienced a COPD exacerbation within 8 weeks of inclusion in the study; (ii) patients undergoing pulmonary rehabilitation during or up to 6 months before inclusion in the study; (iii) patients previously diagnosed with coronary or peripheral artery disease or cancer; (iv) patients with respiratory diseases different from COPD; (v) patients with serum C-reactive protein levels > 2.5 mg/dL; and (vi) patients with a glomerular filtration rate < 50 ml/min/1.73 m²; (vii) patients using systemic corticosteroids within 8 weeks of inclusion in the study.

Measurements

Body composition estimates were obtained using a bioelectrical impedance device (OMRON BF511, Omron, Japan). Spirometry and a six-minute walk test (6MWT) were performed according to the Spanish Society of Pneumology and Thoracic Surgery (SEPAR) protocol (17, 18). Maximum hand grip strength was measured with a GRIP-A hand dynamometer (Takei, Niigata, Japan). Disease-associated malnutrition was determined based on the European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism (ESPEN) consensus guidelines, including body mass index (BMI) <18.5 kg/m² or 18.5–22 kg/m², combined with a low fatfree mass index (FFMI) at <17 kg/m² for men and <15 kg/m² for women (19). Participants were categorized as having a high risk of exacerbation (HRE) at the time of entry into the study if they had two or more moderate or one severe

Abbreviations: COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; MOTS-c, mitochondrial open reading frame of the 12S ribosomal RNA type-c; Romo1, reactive oxygen species modulator 1; 6MWD, six-minute walk distance; 6MWT, six-minute walk test; OD, oxygen desaturation; OS, oxidative stress; SEPAR, Spanish Society of Pneumology and Thoracic Surgery; BMI, body mass index; FFMI, fat-free mass index; HRE, high risk of exacerbation.



COPD exacerbation during the previous year as per GOLD guidelines (17). Oxygen desaturation (OD) was defined as a fall in oxygen saturation (SpO₂) \geq 4% or an overall SpO₂ < 90% (20). Serum creatinine, albumin, uric acid, and creatine kinase levels were measured with IDMS-traceable enzymatic assays (Atellica[®] Analyzer, Siemens, Germany).

Serum levels of MOTS-c were determined using sandwich immunoassay (Mitochondrial Open Reading Frame of the 12S rRNA-c: MOTS-c kit, CEX132Hu, Katy, Cloud-Clone Corp., TX, USA Lot number L210213153). Serum levels of Romo1 were determined using sandwich immunoassay (Reactive oxygen species modulator 1 (Human ROMO1) ELISA Kit, Elabscience[®], TX, USA Lot number ET4ZB9UKKQ) as per the manufacturers' protocols.

Blood from each participant was collected early in the morning to avoid any confusion that might result from circadian changes in MOTS-c and ROMO-1 levels. Samples and patient data were preserved by Biobanco Valdecilla (PT17/0015/0019), integrated into the Spanish Biobank Network, and processed according to standard operating procedures with approval from both ethical and scientific committees.

Statistical analysis

Normally distributed data are presented as means \pm standard deviations (SDs). Non-parametric data are presented as medians with interquartile ranges. We calculated the sample size in *Stata Statistical Software: Release 15.* College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC) based on an α risk of 0.05 and a β risk of 0.2. Differences between groups were evaluated with unpaired *t*-tests (for parametric data) or Mann-Whitney tests (for non-parametric data). Normal distribution was determined using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. The creation of a dichotomized variable from MOTS-c and Romo1

levels with a cut-off at the median value resulted in the highest discriminative power for the outcomes under study as it resulted in the lowest Akaike information criterion value, similar to that observed in other studies (21, 22). We determined cross-sectional associations by univariate and multivariate logistic regression based on high (i.e., above the median) vs. low (i.e., below the median) values of baseline circulating MOTS-c and Romo1 with baseline characteristics of the patients. Using a similar model, we evaluated the primary outcomes of the study: baseline oxygen saturation, and two outcomes of the 6MWT [6 min walking distance (6MWD) and oxygen desaturation (OD)] using SPSS Software version 25.00 for PC. All *p*-values resulted from two-tailed tests with p < 0.05 as statistically significant.

Results

Characteristics of patients and controls

One hundred and forty-two COPD patients and forty-seven sex and age-matched controls (i.e., smokers who were not diagnosed with COPD) were enrolled in our study (Figure 1). Table 1 includes demographic, clinical, and biochemical data. The patient population was 66.2% men with a mean age of 67.5 \pm 7.7 years. The COPD patient cohort included a substantial percentage of current smokers (30.6%); most had moderate to severe airway obstruction. The participants included in the control group had normal lung function, lower scores on COPD assessment tests (CATs), and were capable of longer six-minute walk distances (6MWD) than the COPD patients. As shown in Table 1 the percentage of current smokers was similar in COPD and control groups. The prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) which is a well-established cause of reductions in serum MOTS-c levels was similar in both groups (p = 0.842). Among our findings, MOTS-c levels were lower in the COPD group [median 622 ng/mL; interquartile range (IQR) 482-848 ng/mL] compared to controls (median 764 ng/mL; IQR

Variable	COPD <i>n</i> = 142	Smokers without COPD $n = 47$	p
Age (years)	67.5 ± 7.7	65.6 ± 6.8	0.113
Sex Male <i>n</i> (%)	94 (66.2%)	31 (62.0%)	0.592
FVC (mL)	2,723 ± 814	3,429 ± 861	<0.001
FVC (%)	83 ± 20	102 ± 18	<0.001
FEV ₁ (mL)	1,285 (900-1820)	2,635 (2072-3002)	<0.001
FEV ₁ (%)	52 (37-68)	98 (86-111)	<0.001
FEV ₁ /FVC	49 (39-60)	75 (72–79)	<0.001
Weight (Kg)	74.7 ± 16.2	74.3 ± 14.8	0.830
BMI (Kg/m2)	27 (24.1–31.6)	27.3 (25.1–29.8)	0.810
6MWD (m)	445 (355–495)	525 (448-578)	<0.001
Maximum hand grip strength (Kg)	31 (24-40)	33 (23-40)	0.667
FFMI (Kg/m ²)	18.9 ± 2.7	19.2 ± 2.4	0.166
CAT score	12 (7-18)	3 (1-5)	<0.001
Charlson	1 (1-2)	1 (0-2)	0.092
mMRC score 0/I/II/III/IV	39 (27.5)/43 (30.3)/38 (26.8)/22 (15.5)	38 (80.8)/8 (17.0)/1 (2.1)/0 (0) /0 (0)	<0.001
Current smokers <i>n</i> (%)	43 (30.6)	22 (46.8)	0.059
Pack-years	41 (21-56)	40 (20-45)	0.098
Patients with malnutri-tion <i>n</i> (%)	36 (25.4)	4 (8.5)	0.018
GOLD 1/2/3/4 n (%)	19 (13.4)/59 (41.5)/47 (33.1)/17 (12.0)	_	-
GOLD A/B/C/D n (%)	49 (34.5)/39 (27.5)/13 (9.2)/41 (28.9)	-	_
High risk of exacerba-tion <i>n</i> (%)	56 (39.4)	-	_
ICS treatment <i>n</i> (%)	71 (50.0)	-	
Diabetes Mellitus n (%)	26 (18.3%)	8 (17.0%)	0.842
MOTS-c (ng/mL)	622 (482–848)	764 (604–906)	0.022
Romo—1 (ng/mL)	5.42 (2.84-8.72)	3.72 (1.64–7.59)	0.038
Albumin (g/dL)	4.80 ± 0.31	4.83 ± 0.28	0.681
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.82 (0.70-0.96)	0.87 (0.71–0.98)	0.528
Uric acid (mg/dL)	6.19 ± 1.73	5.98 ± 1.38	0.464
CK (UI/L)	65 (45–95)	64 (41–113)	0.785

TABLE 1 Demographic, clinical, and biochemical characteristics of control (smokers without COPD) and COPD patients.

FVC, Forced Vital Capacity; FEV1, Forced expiratory Volume in the first second; mMRC, modified Medical Research Council Dyspnea score; CAT, COPD Assessment Test; ICS, Inhaled Corticosteroids; GOLD, Global initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease; BMI, Body Mass Index; FFMI, Fat Free Mass Index; 6MWD, 6- Minute Walking Distance; Bold font indicates statistical significance.

604–906 ng/mL; p = 0.022) (Figure 2). Our findings revealed no significant differences between serum levels of MOTS-c detected in patients with COPD either with (median 681 ng/mL, IQR 452–1150 ng/mL) or without T2DM (median 688 ng/mL, IQR 504–924 ng/mL; p = 0.853). Furthermore, serum levels of MOTS-c did not correlate with hemoglobin A1c (r = 0.165, p = 0.649) in patients with T2DM; thus, all COPD patients were evaluated as a single group.

Serum levels of Romo1 were higher among those in the COPD group (median 5.42 ng/mL, IQR 2.84-8.72 ng/mL) vs. controls (median 3.72 ng/mL, IQR 1.64-7.59 ng/mL, p = 0.038) (Figure 2).

Association of circulating levels of MOTS-c and Romo1 with baseline characteristics of COPD

Table 2 highlights the associations of MOTS-c and Romo1 with baseline characteristics of COPD and between both peptides. Multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that high levels of MOTS-c were positively associated with Romo1 levels (OR 1.075, 95% CI 1.005–1.150, p = 0.036), but no association was found with other COPD characteristics. On the other hand, multivariate logistic regression analysis confirmed that high levels of Romo1



were independently and positively associated with current smoking (OR 2.756, 95% CI 1.133–6.704, p = 0.025) and circulating MOTS-c levels (OR 1.001, 95% CI 1.000–1.003, p = 0.012) (Table 2).

Low MOTS-c and high Romo1 levels as predictors of basal oxygen saturation, distance and oxygen desaturation in 6MWT

Forty-eight patients with COPD presented with Oxygen desaturation (OD). Among these, 33 exhibited low MOTS-c levels and 23 patients exhibited high Romo1 levels. Thirty-five patients walked <350 m during the 6MWT; this included 25 patients with low MOTS-c levels and 14 patients with high Romo1 levels. Multivariate logistic regression (Table 3) showed that low MOTS levels were significantly associated with OD (OR 3.25 95% CI 1.456–8.522, p = 0.005) and walking <350 meters (OR 3.246 95% CI 1.229–8.577, p = 0.018), but not with baseline O₂ levels. On the other hand, high Romo 1 levels were negatively associated with baseline O₂ levels (OR 0.776 95% CI 0.641–0.939, p = 0.009), but not with OD or walking < 350 m (Table 4).

Discussion

The results of our study provide the first evidence that circulating levels of MOTS-c are lower in patients with COPD compared with otherwise healthy current smokers; by contrast, circulating levels of Romo1 were higher in patients with COPD. MOTS-c and Romo1 were associated with different COPD characteristics; low circulating MOTS-c levels were associated with worse 6MWD and oxygen desaturation; by contrast, high circulating levels of Romo1 were associated with active smoking and lower baseline levels of oxygen saturation.

Interestingly we found a positive association between Romo1 and MOTS-c.

Circulating MOTS-c levels were reduced in COPD patients. Similar responses have been observed in other chronic diseases associated with OS, including T2DM (23), obesity with or without obstructive sleep apnea syndrome (24, 25), endothelial dysfunction/coronary artery disease (26), kidney failure (27), and multiple sclerosis (28). Interestingly, concomitant T2DM resulted in no further reductions in circulating MOTS-c levels compared to patients with COPD alone; these results suggest that the effects of these two diseases on MOTS-c levels are not additive. Low MOTSc levels, as happens with "low T3 sick euthyroid syndrome", may be a generalized non-specific response to many illnesses (29).

Reductions in circulating MOTS-c levels may result from mitochondrial damage. Alternatively, OS may induce profound sequestration of MOTS-c in the nucleus, thereby blocking its transfer into the peripheral circulation (12). Given that low levels of circulating MOTS-c have been reported in numerous diseases associated with OS, the second explanation may be the more likely of the two.

Lower levels of circulating MOTS-c were associated with shorter distances walked in the 6MWT, specifically with walking < 350 m, a parameter that is associated with the risk of death in COPD (6) and more profound OD. Exercise induces MOTS-c synthesis in healthy individuals (13, 30); MOTS-c in turn activates the synthesis of other enzymes (such as AMP-activated protein kinase) known to be induced by exercise (11, 31). On the other hand, it has been reported recently that MOTS-c promotes muscle differentiation of muscle progenitor cells (32). Thus, it is reasonable to hypothesize that individuals who are unable to induce MOTS-c synthesis will exhibit a comparatively low exercise capacity. One recent study evaluated the relationship between oxidative biomarkers associated with stable COPD and their role in exercise, identifying superoxide dismutase (SOD) as an independent determinant of performance in the 6MWT (33).

Our study shows that patients diagnosed with COPD have higher circulating levels of Romo1. This finding was also suggested

TABLE 2 Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis for the associations between baseline chronic obstructive pulmonary disease characteristics and high levels of MOTS-c and Romo1.

			High M	10TS-c			High R	omo-1	
		Univa	Univariate		ariate	Univariate		Multiv	ariate
		OR (95% CI)	ρ	OR (95% CI)	ρ	OR (95% CI)	ρ	OR (95% CI)	p
Age (years)		0.994 (0.952– 1.037)	0.777	0.979 (0.931– 1.030)	0.412	0.980 (0.937– 1.024)	0.361	0.988 (0.937– 1.041)	0.648
Sex									
	Male	1		1		1		1	
	Female	1.660 (0.822– 3.353)	0.157	0.436 (0.187– 1.020)	0.065	0.880 (0.430– 1.799)	0.726	1.553 (0.673– 3.588)	0.302
Smoking status									
	Former- smoker	1		1		1		1	
	Current- smoker	1.222 (0.596– 2.503)	0.584	1.093 (0.469– 2.545)	0.837	2.411 (1.119– 5.195)	0.025	2.756 (1.133- 6.704)	0.025
Exacerbation									
	0	1		1		1		1	
	≥ 1	1.404 (0.725– 2.719)	0.314	2.200 (0.932– 5.193)	0.072	0.812 (0.408– 1.617)	0.554	0.739 (0.315– 1.734)	0.487
Charlson	1								
	1	1		1		1		1	
	2	0.743 (0.273– 2.021)	0.561	0.992 (0.317– 3.105)	0.989	0.726 (0.252– 2.092)	0.554	0.767 (0.242– 2.445)	0.656
	>2	1.479 (0.635– 3.445)	0.364	2.331 (0.772– 7.042)	0.133	0.444 (0.180– 1.095)	0.078	0.328 (0.107– 1.010)	0.052
FEV1 (%)		1.003 (0.987– 1.019)	0.735	0.994 (0.963– 1.025)	0.685	1.006 (0.989– 1.023)	0.501	0.990 (0.960– 1.020)	0.506
FVC (%)		1.007 (0.991– 1.024)	0.400	1.017 (0.986– 1.048)	0.282	1.008 (0.990– 1.025)	0.387	1.022 (0.992– 1.052)	0.158
Romo1 /MOTS-c (ng/mL)		1.050 (0.990- 1.114)	0.104	1.075 (1.005- 1.150)	0.036	1.001 (1.000- 1.002)	0.031	1.001 (1.000- 1.003)	0.012
Diabetes Mellitus		0.228 (0.353- 1.943)	0.665	1.095 (0.377– 3.184)	0.867	0.420 (0.167– 1.057)	0.066	0.554 (0.184– 1.671)	0.294

 $High \ MOTS-c \ levels \geq 622 \ ng/mL; \ High \ Romo1 \ levels > 5.42 \ ng/mL; \ Exacerbation, \ Need \ for \ antibiotic \ or \ systemic \ corticosteroids; \ FEV1, \ Forced \ expiratory \ Volume \ in \ the \ first \ second; \ FVC, \ Forced \ Vital \ Capacity; \ Bold \ font \ indicates \ statistical \ significance.$

previously in a cross-sectional study that included a small population of COPD patients (15). The results of our study reveal for the first time an important association between high circulating levels of Romo1 with current smoking and reduced oxygen saturation (i.e., factors intrinsically associated with oxidative stress), although no relationship with exercise capacity. Our data revealed a positive (albeit weak) association between high circulating levels of MOTSc and Romo1. This relationship that has not been described previously, warrants further research and contrasts with the fact that low MOTS-c is associated with worse outcomes related with exercise capacity but high Romo1 is associated with low oxygen saturation, suggesting that each molecule relates to different characteristics of COPD. In a different model of respiratory disease, Ye et al. (34) have recently reported that serum Romo1 and ROS were increased in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. TABLE 3 Multivariate logistic regression analysis showing factors associated with baseline low MOTS-c.

	В	Wald	p	OR	95% (CIOR
					Lower	Upper
Baseline SatO ₂	-0.063	0.694	0.405	0.939	0.810	1.089
Oxygen Desaturation	1.259	7.806	0.005	3.523	1.456	8.522
6MWD < 350 meters	1.178	5.643	0.018	3.246	1.229	8.577

Low MOTS-c levels < 622 ng/mL; All variables adjusted by Age, Sex, Charlson Index, High risk of exacerbation (2 or more exacerbations during previous year or 1 previous admission), FEV1, Forced Expiratory Volume in the first second, smoking status. Oxygen desaturation was defined as $\geq 4\%$ reduction between pretest and posttest arterial oxygen saturation (Δ SpO₂ $\geq 4\%$) and posttest SpO₂ < 90% measured by pulse oximetry. 6MWD, 6-Minute Walking Distance. Bold font indicates statistical significance.

TABLE 4 Logistic regression analysis showing factors associated with baseline high Romo1.

	В	Wald	p	OR	95% (CIOR
					Lower	Upper
Baseline SatO ₂	-0.254	6.800	0.009	0.776	0.641	0.939
Oxygen desaturation	0.064	0.018	0.892	1.066	0.425	2.673
6MWD < 350 meters	-0.311	0.353	0.552	0.733	0.263	2.043

High Romo1 levels > 5.42 ng/mL; All variables adjusted by Age, Sex, Charlson Index, High risk of exacerbation (2 or more exacerbations during previous year or 1 previous admission), FEV1, Forced expiratory Volume in the first second, Smoking status. Oxygen desaturation (OD) was defined as \geq 4% reduction between pretest and posttest arterial oxygen saturation (Δ SpO2 \geq 4%) and posttest SpO2 <90% measured by pulse oximetry. 6MWD, 6-Minute Walking Distance. Bold font indicates statistical significance.

Several of the strengths of this study are worth highlighting. First, this study was designed specifically to evaluate the impact of COPD on circulating levels of MOTS-c and Romo1 in a group of carefully selected and well-characterized patients without comorbidities (other than T2DM and asymptomatic coronary diseases) that might influence the results and a matched for current smoking control group of smokers without COPD (in order to avoid smoking as a potential confounding factor). Second, we considered a variety of factors and clinical characteristics of COPD that might have an impact on circulating levels of MOTS-c and Romo1.

Our study has several limitations. Most importantly, this type of study reveals associations but not causality. Any assessments of causality will require specifically designed *In vitro* and *in vivo* experimental studies. Furthermore, largely because of the complex pathophysiology of mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress, a full understanding of this phenomenon will require consideration of a large collection of markers. Finally, our patient cohort was enrolled from a single center. Thus, these findings will need to be replicated in large multicenter trials with patients from a large range of socio-demographic settings and who exhibit a variety of comorbidities that might influence the results.

Conclusion

Our study provides the first evidence of reductions in circulating levels of MOTS-c levels in patients diagnosed with COPD, lower MOTS-c is associated with lower 6MWD and higher rate of oxygen desaturation. Our study also revealed increases in levels of Romo1 in COPD patients that are associated with current smoking and baseline oxygen saturation but are not associated with 6MWD or oxygen desaturation in 6MWT. Further studies will be needed to confirm our findings which will open new perspectives in the multidimensional management of COPD.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ceim of Cantabria. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

Guarantor of the paper: CA. Conceptualization: CA and MG-U. Data curation: DF-P, CA, PM-A, and FM. Formal analysis: DF-P and CA. Project administration: CA and PM-A. Methodology: CA, MG-U, DB, AB, and AG. Resources: CA, MG-U, and AB. Visualization: CA and BL. Supervision: MG-U and PM-A. Software: DB. CC. Writing—original draft: CA and Writing-review and editing: CA, PM-A, AB, BL, AG, DB, and CC. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was funded by Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria of Cantabria (IDIVAL): NextVAL grant: NVAL19/01. This study received funding from GSK (NCT04449419). The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article or the decision to submit it for publication. GSK was provided the opportunity to review a preliminary version of this manuscript for factual accuracy, but the authors are solely responsible for final content and interpretation.

Acknowledgments

We want to particularly acknowledge the patients and the Biobank Valdecilla (PT17/0015/0019) integrated in the Spanish Biobank Network for its collaboration.

Conflict of interest

CA has received speaker or consulting fees from Boehringer Ingelheim, Pfizer, AstraZeneca, Novartis, Chiesi, Faes Farma, Esteve, and GSK. CC has received speaker or consulting fees from AstraZeneca, Bial, Boehringer Ingelheim, Chiesi, GSK, Menarini, Novartis, and research grants from GSK, Menarini, and AstraZeneca. DF-P has received speaker or consulting fees from Chiesi and GSK.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2010. *Lancet*. (2012) 380:2095–128.

2. Barnes PJ. Inflammatory mechanisms in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2016) 138:16–27. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2016.05.011

3. Mumby S, Adcock S. Recent evidence from omic analysis for redox signalling and mitochondrial oxidative stress in COPD. J Inflamm. (2022) 19:10. doi: 10.1186/s12950-022-00308-9

4. Miravitlles M, Calle M, Molina J, Almagro P, Gómez JT, Trigueros JA, et al. Spanish COPD guidelines (GesEPOC) 2021: updated pharmacological treatment of stable COPD. *Arch Bronconeumol.* (2022) 58:69–81. doi: 10.1016/j.arbres.2021.03.026

5. Schols AMWJ, Broekhuizen R, Weling-Scheepers CA, Wouters EF. Body composition and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2005) 82:53–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn.82.1.53

6. Celli BR, Cote CG, Marin JM, Casanova C, Montes de Oca M, Mendez RA, et al. The body-mass index, airflow obstruction, dyspnea, and exercise capacity index in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *N Engl J Med.* (2004) 350:1005–12. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa021322

7. Waatevik M, Johannessen A, Gomez Real F, Aanerud M, Hardie JA, Bakke PS, et al. Oxygen desaturation in 6-min walk test is a risk factor for adverse outcomes in COPD. *Eur Respir J.* (2016) 48:82–91. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00975-2015

8. Fermont JM, Masconi KL, Jensen MT, Ferrari R, Di Lorenzo VAP, Marott JM, et al. Biomarkers and clinical outcomes in COPD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thorax*. (2019) 74:439–46. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2018-211855

9. Kirkham PA, Barnes PJ. Oxidative stress in COPD. Chest. (2013) 144:266-73. doi: 10.1378/chest.12-2664

10. Lee C, Zeng J, Drew BG, Sallam T, Martin-Montalvo A, Wan J, et al. The mitochondrial-derived peptide MOTS-c promotes metabolic homeostasis and reduces obesity and insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 21:443–54. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.02.009

11. Reynolds JC, Lai RW, Woodhead JST, Joly JH, Mitchell CJ, Cameron-Smith D, et al. MOTS-c is an exercise-induced mitochondrial-encoded regulator of age-dependent physical decline and muscle homeostasis. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:470. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-20790-0

12. Kim KH, Son JM, Benayoun BA, Lee C. The mitochondrial-encoded peptide MOTSc translocates to the nucleus to regulate nuclear gene expression in response to metabolic stress. *Cell Metab.* (2018) 28:516–24. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.06.008

13. Merry TL, Chan A, Woodhead JST, Reynolds JC, Kumagai H, Kim SJ, et al. Mitocondrial derived peptides in energy metabolism. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* (2020) 319:E659–66 doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00249.2020

14. Swarnabala S, Gattu M, Perry B, Cho Y, Lockey RF, Kolliputi N. Romo1 links oxidative stress to mitochondrial integrity. *J Cell Commun Signal.* (2015) 9:73–5. doi: 10.1007/s12079-014-0249-3

15. Ye L, Mao S, Fang S, Zhang J, Tan Y, Gu W. Increased serum Romo1 was correlated with lung function, inflammation, and oxidative stress in chronic obstructive

pulmonary disease. Inflammation. (2019) 42:1555-60. doi: 10.1007/s10753-019-0 1017-x

16. Global Strategy for the Diagnosis, Management, and Prevention of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (2022). *Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease*. (2022). Available online at: https://goldcopd.org/https://goldcopd.org/2022-gold-reports-2 (accessed July 31, 2022).

17. García-Río F, Calle M, Burgos F, Casan P, Del Campo F, Galdiz JB, Giner J, González-Mangado N, Ortega F, Puente Maestu L. Spanish society of pulmonology and thoracic surgery (SEPAR) spirometry. *Arch Bronconeumol.* (2013) 49:388–401. doi: 10.1016/j.arbr.2013.07.007

18. Barreiro E, Bustamante V, Cejudo P, Gáldiz JB, Gea J, de Lucas P, et al. SEPAR guidelines for the evaluation and treatment of muscle dysfunction in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Arch Bronconeumol.* (2015) 51:384–95. doi: 10.1016/j.arbr.2015.04.027

19. Cederholm T, Bosaeus I, Barazzoni R, Bauer J, Van Gossum A, Klek S, et al. Diagnostic criteria for malnutrition - an ESPEN consensus statement. *Clin Nutr.* (2015) 34:335–40. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2015.03.001

20. Casanova C, Cote C, Marin JM, Pinto-Plata V, de Torres JP, Aguirre-Jaíme A, et al. Distance and oxygen desaturation during the 6-min walk test as predictors of long-term mortality in patients with COPD. *Chest.* (2008) 134:746–52. doi: 10.1378/chest.08-0520

21. Husebø GR, Grønseth R, Lerner L, Gyuris J, Hardie JA, Bakke PS, et al. Growth differentiation factor-15 is a predictor of important disease outcomes in patients with COPD. *Eur Respir J.* (2017) 49:1601298. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01298-2016

22. Kempf T, von Haehling S, Peter T, Allhoff T, Cicoira M, Doehner W, et al. Prognostic utility of growth differentiation factor-15 in patients with chronic heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2007) 50:1054–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.04.091

23. Ramanjaneya M, Bettahi I, Jerobin J, Chandra P, Abi Khalil C, Skarulis M, et al. Mitochondrial-derived peptides are down regulated in diabetes subjects. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:331. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019. 00331

24. Du C, Zhang C, Wu W, Liang Y, Wang A, Wu S, et al. Circulating MOTS-c levels are decreased in obese male children and adolescents and associated with insulin resistance. *Pediatr Diabetes.* (2018) 19:1058–64. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12685

25. Baylan FA, Yarar E. Relationship between the mitochondria-derived peptide MOTS-c and insulin resistance in obstructive sleep apnea. *Sleep Breath.* (2021) 25:861–6 doi: 10.1007/s11325-020-02273-0

26. Qin Q, Delrio S, Wan J, Widmer RJ, Cohen P, Lerman LO, et al. Downregulation of circulating MOTS-c levels in patients with coronary endothelial dysfunction. *Int J Cardiol.* (2018) 254:23–7 doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2017.12.001

27. Liu C, Gidlund EK, Witasp A, Qureshi AR, Söderberg M, Thorell A, et al. Reduced skeletal muscle expression of mitochondrial-derived peptides human and MOTS-c and Nrf2 in chronic kidney disease. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol.* (2019) 317:F1123–31 doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.0020 2.2019

28. Tekin S, Bir LS, Avci E, Senol H, Tekin I, Cinkir U. Comparison of serum mitochondrial open reading frame of the 12S rRNA-c (MOTS-c) levels in patients with

multiple sclerosis and healthy controls. Cureus. (2022) 14:e26981. doi: 10.7759/cureus. 26981

29. Salas-Lucia F, Bianco AC. T3 levels and thyroid hormone signaling. Front Endocrinol. (2022) 13:1044691 doi: 10.3389/fendo.2022.1044691

30. Hyatt JK. MOTS-c increases in skeletal muscle following long term physical activity and improves acute exercise performance after a single dose. *Physiol Rep.* (2022) 10:e15377 doi: 10.14814/phy2.15377

31. Dieli-Conwright CM, Sami N, Norris MK, Wan J, Kumagai H, Kim SJ, et al. Effect of aerobic and resistance exercise on the mitochondrial peptide MOTS-c in hispanic and non-hispanic white breast cancer survivors. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:16916. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-96419-z

32. Garcia-Benlloch S, Revert-Ros F, Blesa JR, Alis R. MOTS-c promotes muscle differentiation *in vitro*. *Peptides*. (2022) 155:170840 doi: 10.1016/j.peptides.2022.1 70840

33. Neves CDC, Lage VKS, Lima LP, Matos MA, Vieira ELM, Teixeira AL, et al. Inflammatory and oxidative biomarkers as determinants of functional capacity in patients with COPD assessed by 6-min walk test-derived outcomes. *Exp Gerontol.* (2021) 152:111456. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2021.111456

34. Ye L, Quian Y, Li Q, Fang S, Yang Z, Tan Y, et al. Serum Romol is significantly associated with disease severity in patients with obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *Sleep Breath.* (2018) 22:743-8 doi: 10.1007/s11325-017-1 606-2

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Amany F. Elbehairy, Alexandria University, Egypt

REVIEWED BY Matteo Bradicich, University Hospital Zürich, Switzerland Evangelia Fouka, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

*CORRESPONDENCE Pedro Landete Indete.pedro@gmail.com Carlos Ernesto Fernández-García I cernesto.fernandez.garcia@gmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share senior authorship

[®]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share last authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Clinical and Translational Cardiovascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

RECEIVED 21 November 2022 ACCEPTED 28 February 2023 PUBLISHED 21 March 2023

CITATION

Landete P, Fernández-García CE, Muñoz JM, Friera A, Ancochea J, González-Rodríguez Á and García-Monzón C (2023) Sleep apnea-COPD overlap syndrome is associated with larger left carotid atherosclerotic plaques. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 10:1104377. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2023.1104377

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Landete, Fernández-García, Muñoz, Friera, Ancochea, González-Rodríguez and Garcia-Monzon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Sleep apnea-COPD overlap syndrome is associated with larger left carotid atherosclerotic plaques

Pedro Landete^{1,2*†}, Carlos Ernesto Fernández-García^{3*†}, José M. Muñoz^{4†}, Alfonsi Friera⁴, Julio Ancochea^{1,2}, Águeda González-Rodríguez^{5,6‡§} and Carmelo García-Monzón^{3§‡}

¹Servicio de Neumología, Hospital Universitario de La Princesa, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria del Hospital Universitario de La Princesa, Madrid, Spain, ²Facultad de Medicina, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, Madrid, Spain, ³Liver Research Unit, Unidad de Investigación, Hospital Universitario Santa Cristina, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria del Hospital Universitario de La Princesa, Madrid, Spain, ⁴Servicio de Radioliagnóstico Hospital Universitario de La Princesa, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria del Hospital Universitario de La Princesa, Madrid, Spain, ⁴Servicio de Radioliagnóstico Hospital Universitario de La Princesa, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria del Hospital Universitario de La Princesa, Madrid, Spain, ⁵Instituto de Investigaciones Biomédicas Alberto Sols (Centro Mixto CSIC-UAM), Madrid, Spain, ⁶Centro de Investigación Biomédica en Red de Diabetes y Enfermedades Metabólicas Asociadas (CIBERDEM), Madrid, Spain

Background: Little is known about whether the overlap syndrome (OS) combining features of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and sleep apnea-hypopnea syndrome increases the risk of stroke associated with COPD itself.

Methods: We prospectively studied 74 COPD patients and 32 subjects without lung disease. Spirometry and cardiorespiratory polygraphy were used to assess the pulmonary function of the study population and ultrasound measurements of intima media thickness (IMT) as well as the volume of plaques in both carotid arteries were also evaluated.

Results: Polygraphic criteria of OS were met in 51% of COPD patients. We found that 79% of patients with OS and 50% of COPD patients without OS had atherosclerotic plaques in the left carotid artery (p = 0.0509). Interestingly, the mean volume of atherosclerotic plaques was significantly higher in the left carotid artery of COPD patients with OS (0.07 ± 0.02 ml) than in those without OS (0.04 ± 0.02 ml, p = 0.0305). However, regardless of the presence of OS, no significant differences were observed in both presence and volume of atherosclerotic plaques in the right carotid artery of COPD patients. Adjusted-multivariate linear regression revealed age, current smoking and the apnea/ hypopnea index (OR = 4.54, p = 0.012) as independent predictors of left carotid atherosclerotic plaques in COPD patients.

Conclusions: This study suggests that the presence of OS in COPD patients is associated with larger left carotid atherosclerotic plaques, indicating that OS might be screened in all COPD patients to identify those with higher risk of stroke.

KEYWORDS

atherosclerosis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, carotid atherosclerosis, apnea, sleep obstructive apnea, overlap syndrome

Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a chronic respiratory disease with a high global prevalence which is estimated to be currently the third leading cause of death worldwide and the numbers are rising (1, 2). Since COPD is a non-curable disease, smoking cessation is the only effective measure to prevent and slow its progression (3).

The main endpoints in the COPD therapy are: to attenuate disease symptoms, to reduce the frequency and severity of exacerbations, and to improve the prognosis. Noteworthy, a new chronic respiratory disease combining features of COPD and sleep apnea-hypopnea syndrome, named overlap syndrome (OS), has been described. Although little is known nowadays about its clinical and prognostic impact, there is a growing evidence that the clinical outcomes of patients with OS may be more deleterious than those of patients with either COPD or sleep apnea alone (4, 5). The prevalence of OS in the general population has been assessed in distinct epidemiological studies with estimations varying from 10% to 66% (6, 7).

COPD is associated with a high morbidity and mortality largely due to the presence of metabolic and cardiovascular co-morbidities, such as obesity, type 2 diabetes, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and a wide spectrum of atherosclerosis-related cardiovascular disorders (CVD) (8). Regarding the latter, distinct meta-analysis of observational clinical studies showed that COPD patients have 2-fold higher risk of CVD than subjects without COPD, being ischemic heart disease, ischemic stroke and peripheral artery disease the most frequently observed CVD in COPD patients (9, 10). In fact, several studies have investigated whether CVD are more prevalent in certain phenotypes of COPD patients without conclusive results so far. It has been observed that cardiovascular co-morbidities are not only limited to those with more advanced airflow obstruction, but they are indeed present across the wide spectrum of disease severity (11, 12). Regarding sleep apnea, it has been described distinct inflammatory factors which might cause the progression of atherosclerosis, thus increasing the risk of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases (13). In this context, Trzepizur et al. have recently reported that patients with obstructive sleep apnea and elevated hypoxic burden are at higher risk of a cardiovascular event and all-cause mortality (14). Interestingly, OS has been linked to higher cardiovascular morbidity, poorer quality of life, and higher frequency of COPD exacerbations (15), but these findings need to be confirmed in further clinical studies.

Atherosclerosis is the underlying cause of CVD in most cases (16) and it is considered the first cause of death in CVD as well as a major cause of total deaths (17). Atherosclerosis is a chronic and systemic disease characterized by promoting cholesterol influx in the vascular wall, leading to fatty streaks and fibrotic streaks in early stages, and prompting generation of a necrotic core with thrombogenic capacity in advanced complicated plaques (18). Currently, it is quite unpredictable to know who is going to suffer from atherothrombosis, which depends on the vulnerability of the plaque. Noteworthy, most of the patients are asymptomatic, especially in early stages. For these reasons, the current approaches to improve the diagnosis and prognosis are non-invasive imaging techniques to better characterize vessel morphology as well as biomarkers discovery. Carotid atherosclerosis (CAS) plays a fundamental part in the occurrence of ischaemic stroke, and some morphological characteristics like plaque volume are promising as imaging biomarkers of carotid plaque vulnerability (19). Moreover, mechanisms underlying the pathogenic link between sleep apnea and carotid atherosclerosis may be different for carotid plaque development than for the increase of carotid intima-media thickness (20). On the other hand, despite the growing appreciation of the importance of atherosclerosis in COPD patients, there is still considerable ambiguity about its prevalence and clinical impact. Therefore, in this prospective cross-sectional study we wanted to explore the prevalence of and risk factors for CAS among patients with COPD, either with or without OS, in order to determine whether the coexistence of the OS in COPD patients might impact on the development of CAS.

Patients and methods

Study population

This study was performed in agreement with the Declaration of Helsinki, and with local and national laws. The Institution's Clinical Research Ethics Committee approved the study procedures (report reference, PI16/2,800), and all participants signed an informed written consent before inclusion in the study, providing permission for their medical data to be anonymously used for research.

This prospective cross-sectional study included consecutive patients with clinical, spirometric and polygraphic criteria of COPD, with or without OS, among those who attended to the outpatient clinics of the Respiratory Service at Hospital Universitario de La Princesa (Madrid, Spain) during a 6 months period. In parallel, volunteers who had both spirometry and sleep polygraphy parameters within normality were included in the study and considered as control subjects with normal lung parameters (NLP). Patients and controls were excluded if they drank more than 20 g/day of alcohol, had a diagnosis of asthma or cancer or any concomitant severe clinical disorder. In addition, they were also excluded if had analytical evidence of iron overload, were seropositive for autoantibodies and/or for B virus, hepatitis C virus, and hepatitis human immunodeficiency virus as well as those having actively drugs such as cannabis and cocaine among others.

Demographic, clinical and biochemical assessment

Clinical examination was performed to all participants in this study including a detailed interview with special emphasis on smoking pattern, alcohol and drugs abuse (cannabis and cocaine) and medications use, history of diabetes and arterial hypertension as well as measurements of weight and height. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated and obesity was defined as BMI \geq 30 kg/m2. After overnight fast, venous blood samples of each participant were obtained to test serum levels of different biochemical and metabolic parameters. Insulin resistance was calculated by the homeostasis model assessment method (HOMA-IR) (21). Metabolic syndrome was defined according to the ATP III criteria (22).

Spirometry

To assess the diagnosis and severity of COPD, spirometry was performed to all participants by using a JAEGERTM spirometer (Vyaire Medical, Madrid, Spain) which meets all the specifications required by the Spanish Respiratory Society, the European Respiratory Society and the American Thoracic Society. All patients and control subjects underwent pre- and post-bronchodilator spirometric determinations.

Cardiorespiratory polygraphic study

All polygraphic studies were performed at night in the Sleep Laboratory of the Hospital Universitario de La Princesa by using validated procedures as previously described (23). Sleep studies were performed using a cardiorespiratory polygraphy (SOMNOscreenTM Plus, Randersacker, Germany), previously validated, with DOMINO analysis software (Domino Data Lab, San Francisco, CA). The interpretation of the register was carried out manually, although assisted by a computer, following the consensus recommendations for the diagnosis of apnea, hypopnea with desaturation of 3%, according to the recommendations for diagnosis of sleep apnea-hypopnea syndrome of the Spanish Society of Pneumology and Thoracic Surgery (24). Moreover, episodes of apnea were further characterized as central or obstructive as previously described (23). The presence of an apnea and hypopnea index (AHI) equal to or greater than 5 per hour of sleep was used as diagnostic criterion for certainty of sleep apnea. The severity of apnea-hypopnea was classified according to the value of AHI as mild (AHI, 5-14/h), moderate (AHI, 15-29/h) or severe (AHI \geq 30/h). In addition, other pulmonary parameters were analyzed such as the oxygen desaturation index (ODI) and the percentage of sleep time with oxygen saturation below 90% (Tc90%). Both ODI and Tc90% were considered low when lower than 10 events/hour and 10%, respectively, and were considered high when equal or higher than 10 events/hour and equal or higher than 10%, respectively.

Assessment of vascular damage

Distinct features of vascular damage were determined by using ultrasonography (Applio XG, Canon, Tokyo, Japan) to each patient as follows:

- Intima-media thickness (IMT) was measured in the distal 2 centimeters (cm) of both common carotid arteries. The methodology defined in the Mannheim consensus (ref tesis pedro 193) was used. Each participant had 3 carotid IMT (cIMT) measures by side, which were carried out and scored for quality by 2 experts vascular radiologists (AFR, JMO). We calculated cIMT for each participant as the average value of all measurements that met predefined quality standards.
- Volume of arterial plaques was determined following internationally accepted criteria (25). Arterial plaque was

defined when 2 of the following criteria were met: 1- IMT > 1.5 mm. 2- Impression in the vascular lumen. 3- Abnormal wall texture. The plaque burden found in both carotid arteries (2 cm distal common carotid arteries and 1 cm distal internal carotid arteries) was calculated. This plaque load was expressed as the sum of the volumes of all plaques. All ultrasound measurements were performed by 2 experts vascular radiologists (AFR, JMO) using a 7 MHz linear probe (model PLT-704SB, Tokyo, Japan) and a high frequency volumetric linear probe model PLT-1204 MV probe (Canon, Tokyo, Japan) with a 3D/4D volumetric reconstruction software model Toshiba UIMV-A500A (Canon, Tokyo, Japan).

Statistical analysis

The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was applied to evaluate if variables were adjusted or not to a normal distribution. Qualitative variables are presented as absolute (number, n) and relative (percentage, %) frequencies. Quantitative variables are expressed as measures of central tendency (mean) and dispersion (standard deviation, SD). Qualitative data between groups were compared by Pearson's χ^2 test or Fisher exact test as appropriate. The Student's t test was used to calculate the difference of the means in the variables that followed a normal distribution and the Mann-Whitney U test for the variables with a nonparametric distribution. Logistic regression analysis, adjusted by confounding variables (age, gender BMI, diabetes, arterial hypertension, total cholesterol, current smoking, post-FEV1 and number of exacerbations per year) was performed to identify independent polygraphic variables (AHI, ODI, and Tc90%) associated with the presence of atherosclerotic plaques in either the left or the right carotid artery in the study population. Multiple confounding factors of cardiovascular risk were evaluated, such as creatinine, glomerular filtration rate, albumin, glucose, insulin resistance assessed by HOMA-IR, triglycerides, low and high density lipoproteins, dyslipidemia, alkaline phosphatase and iron metabolism, as well as history of previous cardiovascular disease (atrial fibrillation, chronic heart failure, acute myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular disease and stroke) and medicament use (ACE inhibitors, angiotensin-II receptor antagonists and oral antidiabetics or insulin). Univariate and multivariate regression models were constructed, parameters were selected by likelihood ratio test, and Box-Tidwell procedure was used for testing linearity of logit. The goodness of fit was evaluated using the Hosmer-Lemeshow statistic. Significance was set at a value of p < 0.05. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software version 26.0 (SPSS Statistics, Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.).

Results

Characteristics of the study population

A total of 74 COPD patients and 32 subjects with NLP were included in the study according to inclusion and exclusion

10.3389/fcvm.2023.1104377

criteria. Demographic, anthropometric and analytical characteristics of the entire study population are detailed in **Table 1**. Overall, COPD patients were older and had insulin resistance, arterial hypertension and dyslipidemia more frequently than NLP subjects. Furthermore, COPD patients had significantly higher serum levels of ALT, GGT and ferritin than NLP controls. Regarding pulmonary function parameters, as expected, all spirometry parameters were significantly lower in COPD patients than in NLP subjects as well as basal and minimum oxygen saturation (**Supplementary Table S1**).

Prevalence of carotid atherosclerotic disease in the study population

To this end, left and right carotid artery were assessed by ultrasonography to measure IMT as well as to determine the number and volume of atherosclerotic plaques in the entire study population. We did not found differences in cIMT between COPD and NLP subjects (**Figure 1**, panels A–D) but atherosclerotic plaques, in both left and right carotids, were significantly more abundant and larger in COPD patients than in NLP subjects (p < 0.0001 for all cases) (**Figure 1**, panels E–H).

Prevalence of overlap syndrome

We carried out cardiorespiratory polygraphic study to all COPD patients included in order to determine the prevalence of OS in our study cohort. According to internationally-accepted diagnostic criteria, COPD patients were stratified by the presence (AHI \geq 5 events/hour) or absence of OS (AHI < 5 events/hour) and their baseline characteristics are shown in **Supplementary Table S2**. Overall, 38 out of 74 COPD patients (51%) had polygraphic criteria of OS, being the estimated prevalence of COPD-OS in our study cohort of 51%. These COPD-OS patients were predominantly men and had significantly higher serum GGT levels than those without OS. Pulmonary function parameters of COPD patients according to the absence or presence of OS are summarized in Table 2. To highlight, the majority of COPD patients with OS had a mild or moderate AHI (79%) and an ODI equal or higher than 10 (84.2%).

Increased prevalence of left carotid atherosclerotic plaques in COPD patients with overlap syndrome

No significant differences were observed in COPD patients with or without OS regarding cIMT measurements either in left or right carotid arteries (Figure 2, panels A–D), although there is a trend towards a slight increase in the left carotid artery, as well as in the number of patients with left cIMT above 1 mm, a widely used cut-off point as a surrogate marker of CAS. In the same line, we found that 30 out of 38 patients with OS (79%) and 18 out of 36 patients without OS (50%) had atherosclerotic plaques in the left

TABLE 1	Characteristics	of	the	study	population.
---------	-----------------	----	-----	-------	-------------

Features	NLP (<i>n</i> = 32)	COPD (<i>n</i> = 74)	p- value
Age (years)	54.38 ± 8.53	63.38 ± 6.57	< 0.001
Gender			0.118
Women, <i>n</i> (%)	20 (62.5)	34 (45.9)	
Men, n (%)	12 (37.5)	40 (54.1)	
Body mass index (kg/m2)	28.91 ± 5.54	27.63 ± 5.80	0.208
Body mass index \geq 30, <i>n</i> (%)	10 (31.3)	24 (32.4)	0.905
Glucose (mg/dl)	97.37 ± 13.37	101.84 ± 25.36	0.376
Insulin levels (µU/L)	11.54 ± 7.58	14.50 ± 9.65	0.131
HOMA-IR score	2.93 ± 2.27	3.94 ± 2.98	0.082
HOMA-IR score ≥ 2.5 , n (%)	14 (43.8)	50 (67.6)	0.021
Glycated Hb (%)	5.63 ± 0.52	5.74 ± 0.58	0.108
Type 2 diabetes mellitus, n (%)	2 (6.3)	15 (20.3)	0.088
Hypertension, n (%)	9 (28.1)	41 (53.2)	0.021
Dyslipidemia, n (%)	7 (21.9)	36 (48.6)	0.011
Metabolic syndrome, n (%)	3 (9.4)	12 (16.2)	0.545
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	106.47 ± 66.57	125.03 ± 69.23	0.116
Total cholesterol	196.81 ± 39.17	198.23 ± 42.32	0.896
HDL-cholesterol (mg/dl)	57.53 ± 12.96	60.58 ± 22.21	0.422
LDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	115.22 ± 30.75	108.99 ± 38.66	0.404
ALT (IU/L)	18.78 ± 7.34	22.77 ± 9.09	0.033
AST (IU/L)	20.28 ± 5.61	23.18 ± 8.18	0.063
GGT (IU/L)	22.19 ± 13.03	36.55 ± 30.07	0.003
Iron (µg/dl)	78.47 ± 33.50	89.70 ± 29.33	0.124
Ferritin (ng/ml)	87.41 ± 72.14	134.26 ± 98.40	0.021
Transferrin (mg/dl)	244.26 ± 31.58	259.41 ± 39.47	0.051
Alkaline phosphatase (IU/L)	69.62 ± 22.69	71.23 ± 19.55	0.877
Lactate dehydrogenase (U/L)	182.72 ± 36.12	195.59 ± 36.12	0.140
Albumin (g/dl)	4.37 ± 0.27	4.38 ± 0.39	0.941
Platelets (109/L)	0.23 ± 0.07	0.24 ± 0.05	0.392
Total bilirubin (mg/dl)	0.57 ± 0.48	0.55 ± 0.29	0.467
C reactive protein (mg/L)	0.42 ± 0.59	0.42 ± 0.52	0.568

Data are shown as mean ± standard deviation or as number of cases (%). NLP, subjects with normal lung parameters; COPD, subjects with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; HOMA-IR, homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance; Hb, hemoglobin; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; VLDL, very low-density lipoprotein; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; GGT, gamma-glutamyltransferase.

carotid artery (p = 0.0509) (Figure 2, panel E). Interestingly, the mean volume of atherosclerotic plaques was significantly higher in the left carotid artery of patients with OS (0.07 ± 0.02 ml) than in those without OS (0.04 ± 0.02 ml, p = 0.0305) (Figure 2, panel F). Conversely, and regardless of the presence of OS, no significant differences were observed in both the presence and volume of atherosclerotic plaques in the right carotid artery of COPD patients with OS (Figure 2, panels G and H).

Risk factors for left carotid atherosclerotic plaques in COPD patients

To further evaluate the impact of OS on the presence of left carotid atherosclerotic plaques in COPD patients, we performed multivariate logistic regression analysis in our study cohort to determine the associated risk factors. We performed univariate analysis of multiple traditional risk factors - detailed in Patients and Methods - for carotid atherosclerosis, COPD and sleep



Prevalence of carotid atherosclerosis in the study population. Number of COPD patients and NLP subjects with left and right carotid IMT measurements (panels A and C, respectively) and differences between the study groups regarding mean IMT of left and right carotids (panels B and D, respectively). Number of COPD patients and NLP subjects with left and right carotid plaque measurements (panels E and G, respectively) and differences between the study groups regarding mean volume of left and right carotid plaque (panels F and H, respectively). COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, n = 74. NLP, normal lung parameters, n = 32.

TABLE 2 Pulmonary function parameter in COPD population according to	
OS presence.	

Features	Non-OS (<i>n</i> = 36)	OS (<i>n</i> = 38)	p-value
PRE FVC (ml)	2343.89 ± 830.86	2895.55 ± 983.88	0.013
PRE FVC (%)	70.48 ± 19.52	74.53 ± 20.19	0.407
PRE FEV (ml)	1200.08 ± 615.17	1634.47 ± 731.00	0.008
PRE FEV (%)	47.38 ± 21.18	55.57 ± 18.63	0.087
PRE FEV/FVC	49.95 ± 13.48	55.37 ± 12.35	0.082
POST FVC (ml)	2420.28 ± 831.29	2979.68 ± 1011.79	0.009
POST FVC (%)	71.65 ± 16.87	77.46 ± 20.12	0.159
POST FEV (ml)	1261,31 ± 659.57	1733.95 ± 769.66	0.006
POST FEV (%)	49.53 ± 22.46	59.42 ± 20.10	0.053
POST FEV/FVC	50.06 ± 13.66	56.60 ± 12.89	0.057
Basal saturation	92.81 ± 5.76	94.29 ± 2.57	0.337
Minimum saturation	78.92 ± 10.83	76.34 ± 8.57	0.067
Mallampati score	1.42 ± 1.00	1.47 ± 0.80	0.869
Dyspnoea grade	1.83 ± 1.03	1.74 ± 1.00	0.697
Physical activity scale	1.08 ± 0.81	1.16 ± 0.72	0.715
Exacerbations/year	0.83 ± 1.08	0.76 ± 1.15	0.718
COPD score (Gold)	1.61 ± 1.10	1.18 ± 1.01	0.087
AHI (events/hour)	1.67 ± 2.26	22.34 ± 17.14	<0.001
5-14, n (%)	0 (0)	15 (39.5)	
15-29, n (%)	0 (0)	15 (39.5)	<0.001
≥30, <i>n</i> (%)	0 (0)	8 (21.1)	
ODI (events/hour)	2.62 ± 2.65	25.58 ± 20.60	<0.001
≥10, n (%)	0 (0)	32 (84.2)	<0.001
Тс90%	35.19 ± 34.23	40.01 ± 33.63	0.245
≥10, <i>n</i> (%)	21 (58.3)	27 (71.1)	0.252

Data are shown as mean \pm standard deviation or as number of cases (%). COPD, subjects with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; OS, subjects with overlap syndrome; FVC, forced vital capacity; FEV, forced expiratory volume; AHI, apnea-hypopnea index; ODI, oxygen desaturation index; Tc90%, percentage of sleep time with oxygen saturation below 90%.

apnea, being the most relevant detailed in **Supplementary Table S3**. Multivariate logistic models were build with variables showing *p*-value <0.10 in univariate analysis, and revealed that only age [OR = 1.19 (95% CI: 1.07–1.32), p = 0.002], current smoking [OR = 10.50 (95% CI: 1.94–56.71), p = 0.006] and AHI \geq 5 [OR = 4.54 (95% CI: 1.39–14.85) p = 0.012] significantly predicted an increased risk for left carotid atherosclerotic plaques in COPD patients (**Supplementary Table S3**).

Discussion

The results of this study provides convincing evidence that COPD patients with concomitant polygraphic criteria of sleep apnea, which are defining the OS, had an increased mean volume of left carotid plaques than those without $(0.07 \pm 0.02 \text{ ml} \text{ and } 0.04 \pm 0.02 \text{ ml},$ respectively, p = 0.0305), although the clinical relevance of this finding must be confirmed in further clinical studies. Besides, no differences were detected on right carotid arteries. In patients with OS, frequency of atherosclerotic plaques in the left carotid artery is increased compared to COPD patients without OS (79% and 50%, respectively, p = 0.0509) but the difference in number of patients is rather small and univariate analysis did not achieve statistical significance. For that reason, we investigated the influence of OS on the presence of left carotid plaques in the whole group of COPD patients (with and without OS) besides other traditional factors related to the progression of atherosclerosis, such as age, sex, obesity, diabetes, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia and active smoking. Even after adjustment for these potential confounding factors, the



presence of OS in COPD patients was still significantly associated with the increased prevalence of left carotid plaques (OR, 4.54, p = 0.012). Among the lung function parameters that we used to assess the severity of OS, the frequency of AHI appeared to be more important that hypoxemia measured by ODI and Tc90%. On one hand, Tc90% was not associated with the increased prevalence of left carotid plaques in COPD patients. On the other hand, since 44.6% of the patients with COPD in our cohort presented both $AHI \ge 5$ and $ODI \ge 10$, there is an association between ODI and carotid plaque prevalence. However, AHI ≥ 5 included a higher number of patients than $ODI \ge 10$, and also provides better fit of the model, suggesting that AHI is an independent predictor of atherosclerotic plaques in the left carotid artery. Nevertheless, longitudinal observational studies in larger cohorts of COPD patients with and without OS are needed to elucidate the precise mechanisms which could play a key role in the cardiovascular outcomes of these patients.

Distinct previous investigations have shown that ischemic cerebrovascular events correlate positively with the increase of cIMT measured by ultrasonography (26–28). More recently, a metaanalysis including 13,428 patients with asymptomatic non-stenotic carotid plaques (NSCP) reported that the presence of NSCP is more closely related to the risk of first-ever o recurrent ischemic stroke than is cIMT (29). One of the most striking finding of the present study is that the potential deleterious effects of OS on the progression of CAS in patients with COPD seem to be largely restricted to left carotid artery. Interestingly, in a population-based cohort study in which carotid MRI scanning was performed to 1,414 stroke-free participants, authors reported that carotid atherosclerotic plaque size and composition are not symmetrically distributed and that high-risk plaque features, such as intraplaque hemorrhage, are predominant in left-sided carotid plaques (30). Based on these previous reports and taken into account that we found COPD patients with OS presented a higher prevalence and larger atherosclerotic plaques in the left carotid artery than those without OS, we consider OS as a potentially-modifiable risk factor of CAS, and suggest that it might have potential implications on ischemic stroke risk, although this should be assessed with additional longitudinal studies designed for that purpose that were not initially in the scope of this research.

It is well known that patients with COPD are at increased risk of ischemic stroke compared to the general population (31, 32), but the mechanisms and molecular mediators underlying the stroke predisposition of COPD patients still remain to be defined. Patients with COPD have also higher risk for increased cIMT than healthy subjects. In this regard, Watanabe et al. (33) have recently demonstrated the association between cIMT and forced expiratory volume (FEV) below 70% and smoking experience. On the other hand, mechanisms underlying subclinical organ damage in the obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) setting are multifactorial, including endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and vascular remodeling (also comprehending increased cIMT) (34). In the same line, studies by Altin et al. (35) and Wang et al. (36) described an association of cIMT with severe OSA and AHI. Conversely, Myśliński et al. (37) described absence of differences in early lesions between severe OSA patients and healthy controls. However, patients with COPD have increased vascular damage compared to healthy subjects. Thus, according to current evidence and the results of our study, we suggest that OS may impact on plaque development rather than

early atherosclerosis onset. Besides traditional risk factors for ischemic stroke, such as aging, tobacco smoking, diabetes, or hypercholesterolemia and arterial hypertension, there is extensive evidence indicating that chronic low-grade systemic inflammation and oxidative stress, which are key pathophysiological drivers of both pathological wall remodeling in atherosclerosis (16, 38) and COPD (39-41), can also induce cerebrovascular dysfunction and structural alterations of cerebral vessels increasing the risk for ischemic stroke in COPD patients (42, 43). Regarding the impact of OS on cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in COPD patients, distinct large observational studies have yielded conflicting results (44-46). Our results shown herein favor the notion that OS should be considered as a risk factor for atherosclerosis in the left carotid artery, because we observed that COPD patients with an $AHI \ge 5$ presented 4.5-fold higher risk for presence of atherosclerotic plaques in the left carotid artery, which were also larger in patients with OS. However, further prospective longitudinal case-control studies in large cohorts of well-characterized COPD patients are warranted in order to determine the real impact of OS on the incidence of major cardiovascular events such as ischemic stroke among others.

The major strength of the present study is the novelty of its design performing ultrasound IMT measurements of both carotid arteries to a large cohort of COPD patients and control subjects assessed by spirometry and cardiorespiratory polygraphy. However, this study design has some limitations because causal interpretations of the impact of OS in the risk of ischemic stroke cannot be drawn from a cross-sectional study and large longitudinal observational studies are needed to accomplish that endpoint. Moreover - although $AHI \ge 5$ stays statistically significant as an independent predictor of left carotid plaque presence - our analysis shows very high confidence intervals, suggesting that our study cohort may be too small or heterogeneous and, hence, odds estimations should be interpreted with caution.

In conclusion, the present study provides the first evidence that the presence of OS in COPD patients is positively associated with lager left carotid atherosclerotic plaques, suggesting that ultrasound carotids assessment may be useful to identify those COPD patients at higher-risk for ischemic stroke to whom in-depth cerebrovascular evaluation should be recommended. Nevertheless, in order to prove the efficacy of this screening strategy, in terms of outcomes and cost-effectiveness, further longitudinal clinical studies in larger cohorts of COPD patients are warranted.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Clinical Research Ethics Committe from Hospital

Universitario La Princesa, Madrid; report reference, PI16/2,800. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

PL, JMM, AF, AG-R and CG-M: conceived and designed the study. PL, JMM, AF and JA: were involved in data acquisition. PL, CEF-G and AG-R: analyzed the data. PL, CEF-G, AG-R and CG-M: wrote the draft. PL, CEF-G, JMM, AF, JA, AG-R and CG-M: wrote the manuscript and discussed it. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by grant no. PI17/00535 and PI20/ 00837 from Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII, Spain) and Fondo Europeo para el Desarrollo Regional (FEDER) and CIBERehd (ISCIII) to CGM; Beca SEPAR 2016 (Sociedad Española de Neumología y Cirugía Torácica, Spain) to PL; and grant no. PI22/01968 from ISCIII/FEDER, Spain, to AGR.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by grant Sara-Borrell (CD20/00199).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcvm.2023. 1104377/full#supplementary-material.

References

1. DALYs, G.B.D. and H. Collaborators. Global, regional, and national disabilityadjusted life-years (DALYs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2017. *Lancet.* (2018) 392 (10159):1859–922. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32335-3

2. Vestbo J, Hurd SS, Agustí AG, Jones PW, Vogelmeier C, Anzueto A, et al. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: GOLD executive summary. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2013) 187(4):347–65. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201204-0596PP

3. Soriano JB, Zielinski J, Price D. Screening for and early detection of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Lancet.* (2009) 374(9691):721-32. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61290-3

4. McNicholas WT. COPD-OSA Overlap syndrome: evolving evidence regarding epidemiology, clinical consequences, and management. *Chest.* (2017) 152 (6):1318–26. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2017.04.160

5. Shah AJ, Quek E, Alqahtani JS, Hurst JR, Mandal S. Cardiovascular outcomes in patients with COPD-OSA overlap syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Med Rev.* (2022) 63:101627. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2022.101627

6. Shawon MS, Perret JL, Senaratna CV, Lodge C, Hamilton GS, Dharmage SC. Current evidence on prevalence and clinical outcomes of co-morbid obstructive sleep apnea and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review. *Sleep Med Rev.* (2017) 32:58–68. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2016.02.007

7. Soler X, Gaio E, Powell FL, Ramsdell JW, Loredo JS, Malhotra A, et al. High prevalence of obstructive sleep apnea in patients with moderate to severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* (2015) 12(8):1219–25. doi: 10. 1513/AnnalsATS.201407-336OC

8. Ferrera MC, Labaki WW, Han MK. Advances in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Annu Rev Med.* (2021) 72:119–34. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-080919-112707

9. Yin HL, Yin SQ, Lin QY, Xu Y, Xu HW, Liu T. Prevalence of comorbidities in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients: a meta-analysis. *Medicine*. (2017) 96(19):e6836. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000006836

10. Voulgaris A, Archontogeorgis K, Steiropoulos P, Papanas N. Cardiovascular disease in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome and overlap syndrome. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol.* (2021) 19 (3):285–300. doi: 10.2174/18756212MTA1hMzMj4

11. Vanfleteren LE, Spruit MA, Groenen M, Gaffron S, van Empel VP, Bruijnzeel PL, et al. Clusters of comorbidities based on validated objective measurements and systemic inflammation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2013) 187(7):728–35. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201209-1665OC

12. Pinto LM, Alghamdi M, Benedetti A, Zaihra T, Landry T, Bourbeau J. Derivation and validation of clinical phenotypes for COPD: a systematic review. *Respir Res.* (2015) 16:50. doi: 10.1186/s12931-015-0208-4

13. Ji P, Kou Q, Zhang J. Study on relationship between carotid intima-media thickness and inflammatory factors in obstructive sleep apnea. *Nat Sci Sleep.* (2022) 14:2179–87. doi: 10.2147/NSS.S389253

14. Trzepizur W, Blanchard M, Ganem T, Balusson F, Feuilloy M, Girault JM, et al. Sleep apnea-specific hypoxic burden, symptom subtypes, and risk of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2022) 205(1):108–17. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202105-1274OC

15. Poh TY, Mac Aogain M, Chan AK, Yii AC, Yong VF, Tiew PY, et al. Understanding COPD-overlap syndromes. *Expert Rev Respir Med.* (2017) 11 (4):285–98. doi: 10.1080/17476348.2017.1305895

16. Back M, Weber C, Lutgens E. Regulation of atherosclerotic plaque inflammation. J Intern Med. (2015) 278(5):462–82. doi: 10.1111/joim.12367

17. Mortality, G.B.D. and C. Causes of Death. Global, regional, and national age-sex specific all-cause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2013. *Lancet.* (2015) 385 (9963):117–71. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61682-2

18. Libby P, Ridker PM, Hansson GK. Progress and challenges in translating the biology of atherosclerosis. *Nature*. (2011) 473(7347):317–25. doi: 10.1038/nature10146

19. Saba L, Saam T, Jager HR, Yuan C, Hatsukami TS, Saloner D, et al. Imaging biomarkers of vulnerable carotid plaques for stroke risk prediction and their potential clinical implications. *Lancet Neurol.* (2019) 18(6):559–72. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30035-3

20. Zhao YY, Javaheri S, Wang R, Guo N, Koo BB, Stein JH, et al. Associations between sleep apnea and subclinical carotid atherosclerosis: the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Stroke.* (2019) 50(12):3340–6. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.118. 022184

21. Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. *Diabetologia*. (1985) 28 (7):412–9. doi: 10.1007/BF00280883

22. National Cholesterol Education Program Expert Panel on Detection, E. and A. Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in. Third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (adult treatment panel III) final report. *Circulation*. (2002) 106(25):3143–421. doi: 10.1161/circ.106.25.3143

23. Landete P, Fernandez-Garcia CE, Aldave-Orzaiz B, Hernandez-Olivo M, Acosta-Gutierrez CM, Zamora-Garcia E, et al. Increased oxygen desaturation time during sleep is a risk factor for NASH in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: a prospective cohort study. *Front Med.* (2022) 9:808417. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.808417

24. Lloberes P, Duran-Cantolla J, Martinez-Garcia MA, Marin JM, Ferrer A, Corral J, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of sleep apnea-hypopnea syndrome. Spanish society of pulmonology and thoracic surgery. *Arch Bronconeumol.* (2011) 47(3):143–56. doi: 10.1016/j.arbres.2011.01.001

25. Nambi V, Chambless L, Folsom AR, He M, Hu Y, Mosley T, et al. Carotid intima-media thickness and presence or absence of plaque improves prediction of coronary heart disease risk: the ARIC (Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities) study. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2010) 55(15):1600–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2009.11.075

26. O'Leary DH, Polak JF, Kronmal RA, Manolio TA, Burke GL, Wolfson SK Jr. Carotid-artery intima and media thickness as a risk factor for myocardial infarction and stroke in older adults. Cardiovascular health study collaborative research group. *N Engl J Med.* (1999) 340(1):14–22. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199901073400103

27. Bots ML, Hoes AW, Hofman A, Witteman JC, Grobbee DE. Cross-sectionally assessed carotid intima-media thickness relates to long-term risk of stroke, coronary heart disease and death as estimated by available risk functions. *J Intern Med.* (1999) 245(3):269–76. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2796.1999.0442f.x

28. Touboul PJ, Elbaz A, Koller C, Lucas C, Adrai V, Chedru F, et al. Common carotid artery intima-media thickness and brain infarction: the etude du profil genetique de l'Infarctus cerebral (GENIC) case-control study. The GENIC investigators. *Circulation*. (2000) 102(3):313–8. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.102.3.313

29. Singh N, Marko M, Ospel JM, Goyal M, Almekhlafi M. The risk of stroke and TIA in nonstenotic carotid plaques: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol.* (2020) 41(8):1453–9. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A6613

30. Selwaness M, van den Bouwhuijsen Q, van Onkelen RS, Hofman A, Franco OH, van der Lugt A, et al. Atherosclerotic plaque in the left carotid artery is more vulnerable than in the right. *Stroke.* (2014) 45(11):3226–30. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.005202

31. Sidney S, Sorel M, Quesenberry CP Jr, DeLuise C, Lanes S, Eisner MD. COPD And incident cardiovascular disease hospitalizations and mortality: kaiser permanente medical care program. *Chest.* (2005) 128(4):2068–75. doi: 10.1378/chest.128.4.2068

32. Feary JR, Rodrigues LC, Smith CJ, Hubbard RB, Gibson JE. Prevalence of major comorbidities in subjects with COPD and incidence of myocardial infarction and stroke: a comprehensive analysis using data from primary care. *Thorax.* (2010) 65 (11):956–62. doi: 10.1136/thx.2009.128082

33. Watanabe K, Onoue A, Omori H, Kubota K, Yoshida M, Katoh T. Association between airflow limitation and carotid intima-media thickness in the Japanese population. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. (2021) 16:715–26. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S291477

34. Cuspidi C, Tadic M, Gherbesi E, Sala C, Grassi G. Targeting subclinical organ damage in obstructive sleep apnea: a narrative review. J Hum Hypertens. (2021) 35 (1):26–36. doi: 10.1038/s41371-020-00397-0

35. Altin R, Ozdemir H, Mahmutyazicioglu K, Kart L, Uzun L, Ozer T, et al. Evaluation of carotid artery wall thickness with high-resolution sonography in obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. *J Clin Ultrasound.* (2005) 33(2):80–6. doi: 10. 1002/jcu.20093

36. Wang S, Cui H, Zhu C, Wu R, Meng L, Yu Q, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea causes impairment of the carotid artery in patients with hypertrophic obstructive cardiomyopathy. *Respir Med.* (2019) 150:107–12. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2019.03.002

 Myslinski W, Szwed M, Szwed J, Panasiuk L, Brozyna-Tkaczyk K, Borysowicz M, et al. Prevalence of target organ damage in hypertensive patients with coexisting obstructive sleep apnea. *Ann Agric Environ Med.* (2022) 29(2):294–9. doi: 10.26444/ aaem/149469

38. Stocker R, Keaney JF Jr. Role of oxidative modifications in atherosclerosis. *Physiol Rev.* (2004) 84(4):1381–478. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00047.2003

39. Rogliani P, Ritondo BL, Laitano R, Chetta A, Calzetta L Advances in understanding of mechanisms related to increased cardiovascular risk in COPD. *Expert Rev Respir Med.* (2021) 15(1):59–70. doi: 10.1080/17476348.2021.1840982

40. Brassington K, Selemidis S, Bozinovski S, Vlahos R. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and atherosclerosis: common mechanisms and novel therapeutics. *Clin Sci.* (2022) 136(6):405–23. doi: 10.1042/CS20210835

41. Balbirsingh V, Mohammed AS, Turner AM, Newnham M. Cardiovascular disease in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a narrative review. *Thorax.* (2022). doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2021-218333

42. Austin V, Crack PJ, Bozinovski S, Miller AA, Vlahos R. COPD And stroke: are systemic inflammation and oxidative stress the missing links? *Clin Sci.* (2016) 130 (13):1039–50. doi: 10.1042/CS20160043

43. Corlateanu A, Covantev S, Mathioudakis AG, Botnaru V, Cazzola M, Siafakas N. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and stroke. *J Chronic Obstr Pulm Dis.* (2018) 15(4):405–13. doi: 10.1080/15412555.2018.1464551

44. Marin JM, Soriano JB, Carrizo SJ, Boldova A, Celli BR. Outcomes in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and obstructive sleep apnea: the overlap syndrome. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2010) 182(3):325–31. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200912-1869OC

45. Kendzerska T, Leung RS, Aaron SD, Ayas N, Sandoz JS, Gershon AS. Cardiovascular outcomes and all-cause mortality in patients with obstructive sleep apnea and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (overlap syndrome). *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* (2019) 16(1):71–81. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS. 201802-136OC

46. Adler D, Bailly S, Benmerad M, Joyeux-Faure M, Jullian-Desayes I, Soccal PM, et al. Clinical presentation and comorbidities of obstructive sleep apnea-COPD overlap syndrome. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15(7):e0235331. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0235331

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Justin Garner, Royal Brompton Hospital, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Corrado Pelaia, Magna Græcia University, Italy Zhe Wu, Royal Brompton Hospital, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Bai Meng ⊠ baimeng4450@126.com Lu Murong

⊠ lucency163@163.com †These authors have contributed equally to this

RECEIVED 28 November 2022 ACCEPTED 06 April 2023 PUBLISHED 27 April 2023

CITATION

work

Ling M, Huiyin L, Shanglin C, Haiming L, Zhanyi D, Shuchun W, Meng B and Murong L (2023) Relationship between human serum albumin and in-hospital mortality in critical care patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Front. Med.* 10:1109910. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1109910

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Ling, Huiyin, Shanglin, Haiming, Zhanyi, Shuchun, Meng and Murong. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u> (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Relationship between human serum albumin and in-hospital mortality in critical care patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Ma Ling^{1†}, Li Huiyin^{2†}, Chen Shanglin³, Li Haiming¹, Di Zhanyi¹, Wang Shuchun¹, Bai Meng^{4*†} and Lu Murong^{2*†}

¹Department of Respiratory, Zhumadian Central Hospital, Zhumadian, China, ²Department of Critical Care, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ³Department of Laboratory, The Fifth People's Hospital of Panyu District, Guangzhou, China, ⁴Department of Computer Center, Fujian Provincial Maternity Hospital, Fuzhou, Fujian, China

Background: The relationship between human serum albumin levels and the prognosis of critical care patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) remains controversial.

Objective: To investigate the relationship between serum albumin levels and inhospital mortality in critical care patients with COPD. METHODS: This study used a retrospective observational cohort from the Medical Information in Intensive Care database (MIMIC-IV) in the United States. Multivariate Cox regression analysis was used to assess the relationship between serum albumin levels and inhospital mortality. A restricted cubic spline line was also used to explore nonlinear relationship.

Results: A total of 3,398 critical care patients with COPD were included. The overall in-hospital mortality was 12.4%. We found a negative relationship between human serum albumin and in-hospital mortality (HR=0.97, 95% CI 0.96–0.99, p=0.002).

Conclusion: In critical care patients with COPD, there was a negative association between human serum albumin and in-hospital mortality.

KEYWORDS

severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, serum albumin, in-hospital mortality, ICU - intensive care unit, relationship

1. Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is currently a major public health problem worldwide, with a global prevalence of 11.7% in 2010 (1). COPD is also the third leading cause of death worldwide (2). Patients with acute exacerbation of COPD often require hospitalization, or even need intensive care unit admission (2). Identifying the reversible risk factors during hospitalization is therefore essential to help reduce mortality as well as the burden of disease.

Human serum albumin is a multifunctional plasma protein that accounts for more than 50% of the total plasma protein content. Physiologically, human serum albumin, in addition to its

antioxidant properties (3), is also an acute-phase response protein whose concentration decreases during the acute-phase response (4). Albumin is also a clinical bio-marker of malnutrition. Hypoproteinemia is associated with prolonged hospital stay during acute exacerbations, acute respiratory failure and increased mortality in COPD patients (3, 5, 6). However, other studies reported no correlation between albumin level and prognosis in COPD patients (7).

In this study, we attempted to identify the dose-response relationship between human serum albumin level and hospital mortality in COPD patients using a large data set of critical illnesses (8).

2. Data and methods

2.1. Methods

This study used a retrospective observational cohort of all patients diagnosed with COPD in the Medical Information in Intensive Care database (8) (MIMIC-IV version 1.0). MIMIC-IV is a large, real-world clinical database of critical care patients from 2008 to 2019 in Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center (9). One of the authors (Shanglin Chen) was granted access to utilize the database (license number: 10756765). This study was written according to the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology guidelines (10). All the data accessed complied with relevant data protection and privacy regulations.

2.2. Study population

This study was based on the real-world study concept and included all COPD patients from the MIMIC-IV database. The inclusion criteria: 1. First admission to the intensive care unit. 2. Human serum albumin level measured within 24 h. 3. Age \geq 18 years.

2.3. Exposure and covariates

This study focused on assessing the relationship between baseline human serum albumin and hospital mortality in patients with severe COPD. Patients were divided into hypoalbuminemia group (<30 g/L) and hyperalbuminemia group ($\geq 30 \text{ g/l}$) according to previous studies (11, 12).Vital signs and laboratory indicators were analyzed using the worst value within 24h of ICU admission. Covariates were identified based on previous serum albumin-related studies and clinical relevance (10–13). Covariates in this study including age, sex, Glasgow score, mean arterial pressure, respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, serum sodium, serum potassium, blood creatinine, hemoglobin, platelets, myocardial infarction, heart failure, peripheral vascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, renal disease, cancer, diabetes mellitus, co-morbidity index, SAPSII score, SOFA score, and OASIS score.

2.4. Outcome

The outcome was in-hospital mortality.

Data analysis was performed using R.3.3.2, free statistical software version 1.6.1 (13). Categorical variables were expressed as percentages (%) using the χ^2 test; continuous variables with normal distribution were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (x \pm s) and t-test were used for comparison between groups. Continuous variables with skewed distribution were expressed as median (quartiles) using Kruskal-Wallis test. Missing data were replaced by dummy variables (14). Multivariable Cox regression analysis was used to analyze the independent association between serum albumin level and in-hospital mortality. A restricted cubic spline function was used to analyze the nonlinear relationship between human serum albumin and hospital mortality, and a log-likelihood ratio test of p < 0.05 was used to consider the relationship as nonlinear. Kaplan-Meier survival curves for low and high human serum albumin were plotted and Multivariable Cox regression analysis was performed. p < 0.05(two-sided) was considered a statistically significant difference. Propensity-score matching (PSM) was also used to compare the outcomes between two groups.

2.6. Missing data

There are many variables with missing data in the MIMIC IV database. For PaO_2/FIO_2 ratio, over 20% of the values were missing and were removed from this analysis. In other continuous variables, the missing values were imputed by k-Nearest Neighbors method (15).

3. Results

3.1. Study population

3,398 COPD patients were screened in the MIMIC-IV database who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria of this study.

3.2. Baseline characteristics

Of 3,398 COPD patients, age was 70.3 ± 12.0 years. 1857 (54.6%) were male. The overall in-hospital mortality was 12.4%. 1,062 patients had low human serum albumin (<30 g/L) and 2,336 patients had human serum albumin \geq 30 g/L. Glasgow score, mean arterial pressure, respiratory rate, serum potassium, hemoglobin, platelets, PO₂, PCO₂, heart failure, cancer, diabetes mellitus, sepsis, MV, AECOPD, co-morbidity index, and co-morbidity index SAPSII score, SOFA score, and OASIS score were imbalance in two groups (all p < 0.05) disease.

3.3. Association between baseline human serum albumin and in-hospital mortality

3.3.1. Univariate and multivariate cox regression analyses

In the extended multivariable Cox models, we observed that the hazard ratios (HRs) of serum albumin were consistently significant in

unadjusted, minimally adjusted (adjusted for age and sex), and fully adjusted (adjusted for all covariates in Tables 1, 2; Supplementary Table S1). The fully adjusted model indicated a negative association between serum albumin level and in-hospital mortality (HR=0.97, 95% CI 0.96–0.99, p=0.002. Restricted cubic spline analysis (Figure 1) showed nonlinear relationship between human serum albumin and in-hospital mortality (nonlinear test: p=0.028, Table 3). When human serum albumin was <30 g/L, each 1 g/L increase in human serum albumin was associated with a 5% reduction in hospital mortality (HR=0.95, 95% CI (0.91, 0.98), p=0.002). While human serum albumin was \geq 30 g/L, increased serum albumin was not associated with changing in hospital mortality (HR=1.00, 95% CI 0.96–1.04, p=0.775) (Table 3).

3.3.2. The in-hospital mortality was 21.7% (230/1062) and 8.2% (192/2336) for low and hyperalbuminemia groups, respectively

Kaplan–Meier survival curves (Figure 2) for cumulative hospital survival showed a statistically significant difference between the low and high human serum albumin groups (Log-rank test: p < 0.001). Multivariable Cox regression analysis showed that after adjusting for all confounders in Table 1, the in-hospital mortality in high human serum albumin group was 0.25 times lower than in the low human serum albumin group (HR=0.75, 95% CI: 0.60 to 0.93, p = 0.008, Table 2). In Multivariable Cox regression analysis, age, Glasgow score, respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, serum potassium, PCO₂, peripheral vascular disease, renal disease, diabetes mellitus, co-morbidity

Age(vers) 70.3 ± 12.0 70.3 ± 11.6 70.3 ± 12.2 0.474 Sex. n (%)(male)11857 (54.6)S83 (54.9) $1.274 (54.5)$ 0.645 Glagow score14.0 (12.0, 15.0)14.0 (11.0, 15.0)14.0 (13.0, 15.0) <0.001 MAP (mnHg) 77.9 ± 10.9 74.6 ± 5.5 79.4 ± 11.2 <0.001 Respiratory rate (BPM) 29.3 ± 6.6 29.9 ± 6.6 29.9 ± 6.6 29.0 ± 0.001 Oxygen saturation(%) 96.0 ± 2.7 0.61 ± 3.6 96.0 ± 2.2 0.238 Serum solutin(mmol/L)115.2 \pm 5.8 13.60 ± 6.0 13.64 ± 5.6 0.078 Serum solutin(mmol/L) 4.8 ± 1.0 4.8 ± 1.0 4.9 ± 1.1 0.099 Creathine (mg/L) 9.8 ± 2.3 8.8 ± 2.0 10.2 ± 2.3 <0.001 Planeled(D'L) 9.8 ± 2.3 8.8 ± 2.0 10.2 ± 2.3 <0.001 Planeled(D'L) $182.0 (126.0, 24.40)$ $165.0 (100.0, 239.0)$ $189.0 (137.0, 245.8)$ <0.001 PO_C $72.0 (43.0, 65.0)$ $52.2 (43.0, 65.0)$ $52.6 (23.0, 65.0)$ <0.001 PO_C $72.0 (43.0, 51.63)$ $10.0 (13.3)$ $29.1 (1.2.5)$ <0.337 Rend fiscase $570 (16.8)$ $170 (16.0)$ $400 (17.1)$ 4.000 Credbreadured disease $11.09 (32.6)$ $324 (30.5)$ $78.0 (3.3.6)$ 0.070 Credbreadured disease $11.09 (32.6)$ $324 (30.5)$ $12.03 (53.5)$ 0.049 Serias $1.305 (58.4)$ $38.2 (50)$ $34.0 (2.6)$ 0.001 Norimasive-Ventifiation $225 (59$		All patients	Albumin<30g/L	Albumin≥30g/L	
$$ Cerr1857 (54.6)583 (54.9) $1.274 (54.5)$ 0.044 Glasgow score14.0 (12.0, 15.0)14.0 (11.0, 15.0)14.0 (13.0, 15.0) < 0.001 MAP (nmHg)7.79±10.97.4.6±9.57.9.4±11.2 < 0.001 Repiratory rate (BPM)2.9.3±6.62.9.9±6.62.9.1±6.6 < 0.001 Oxygen saturation(%)9.6.0±2.79.6.1±3.69.6.0±2.2 0.258 Serum potassium (nmol/L)1.36.2±5.81.36.0±6.01.36.4±5.6 0.078 Serum potassium (nmol/L)1.3.0.9.2.1)1.3 (0.9.2.3)1.2 (0.9.2.1) 0.028 Creatinine (ng/L)1.3.8.9±2.01.0.2±3.3 < 0.001 Plateles(10 ¹ /L)9.8±2.38.8±2.0 $1.0.2\pm3.3$ < 0.001 Plateles(10 ¹ /L)9.8±0.38.8±2.0 $1.0.2\pm3.3$ < 0.001 Plateles(10 ¹ /L)9.76 (59.8,176.0)9.10 (58.0, 165.2) $1.09.0 (68.8, 198.0)$ < 0.001 PCO_9.70 (59.8, 176.0)9.10 (58.0, 165.2) $1.09.0 (68.8, 198.0)$ < 0.001 PCO_5.20 (43.0, 65.0)5.25 (43.0, 66.0)5.05 (42.0, 61.0) < 0.001 PCO_5.20 (43.0, 65.0)5.25 (43.0, 66.0)5.05 (42.0, 61.0) < 0.001 Pco_5.20 (43.0, 65.0)5.25 (43.0, 65.0)5.05 (42.0, 61.0) < 0.001 Pco_5.20 (43.0, 65.0)1.20 (1.1.3)2.91 (1.5.0) < 0.001 Pco_5.20 (43.0, 65.0)1.20 (1.1.3)2.91 (1.5.0) < 0.001 Pco_5.05 (41.0)3.21 (5.0)3.75 (5.8) < 0.001 Pco	Covariates	(n =3,398)	(<i>n</i> =1,062)	(n =2,336)	<i>p</i> value
Identify BagewineIdentifyIdentify $< < < < < < < < < < < > < < < > < < < > < < < > < < < > < < < > < < < > < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < < <$	Age(years)	70.3 ± 12.0	70.3 ± 11.6	70.3 ± 12.2	0.474
MAP (mmHg) 77.9±10.9 74.6±9.5 79.4±11.2 < <0.01 Repiratory rate (BPM) 29.3±6.6 29.9±6.6 29.1±6.6 <0.01	Sex, n (%)(male)	1857 (54.6)	583 (54.9)	1,274 (54.5)	0.645
Repiratory rate (BPM)29.3 ± 6.629.9 ± 6.629.1 ± 6.6 $<$ 0.001Cxygen sturation(%)96.0 ± 2.796.1 ± 3.696.0 ± 2.20.258Serum sodium(mmol/L)113.6 ± 5.8115.0 ± 6.0113.6 ± 5.60.078Serum potassium(mmol/L)4.8 ± 1.04.8 ± 1.04.9 ± 1.10.039Creatinine (mg/L)1.3 (0.9, 2.1)1.3 (0.9, 2.3)1.2 (0.9, 2.1)0.288Hemoglobin (g/L)9.8 ± 2.38.8 ± 2.010.2 ± 2.3<0.001	Glasgow score	14.0 (12.0, 15.0)	14.0 (11.0, 15.0)	14.0 (13.0, 15.0)	< 0.001
Oxygen sturation(%) 96.0±2.7 96.1±3.6 96.0±2.2 0.258 Serum sodium(mmol/L) 136.2±5.8 136.0±6.0 136.4±5.6 0.078 Serum potasium(nmol/L) 14.8±1.0 4.48±1.0 4.49±1.1 0.039 Creatinine (mg/L) 1.3 (0.9, 2.1) 1.3 (0.9, 2.3) 1.2 (0.9, 2.1) 0.208 Hemoglobin (g/L) 9.8±2.3 8.8±2.0 10.2±2.3 <0.001	MAP (mmHg)	77.9 ± 10.9	74.6±9.5	79.4±11.2	< 0.001
Serum sodium(mmol/L) 136.2 ± 5.8 136.0 ± 6.0 136.4 ± 5.6 0.078 Serum potassium(mmol/L) 4.8 ± 1.0 4.8 ± 1.0 4.9 ± 1.1 0.039 Creatnine (mg/L) 1.3 (0.9, 2.1) 1.3 (0.9, 2.3) 1.2 (0.9, 2.1) 0.208 Hemoglobin (g/L) 9.8 ± 2.3 8.8 ± 2.0 10.2 ± 2.3 <0.001	Respiratory rate (BPM)	29.3±6.6	29.9±6.6	29.1±6.6	< 0.001
Serum potasium (nmol/L) 4.8 ± 1.0 4.8 ± 1.0 4.9 ± 1.1 0.039 Creatinine (mg/L) 1.3 (0.9, 2.1) 1.3 (0.9, 2.3) 1.2 (0.9, 2.1) 0.208 Hemoglobin (g/L) 9.8 ± 2.3 8.8 ± 2.0 10.2 ± 2.3 <0.001	Oxygen saturation(%)	96.0±2.7	96.1±3.6	96.0±2.2	0.258
Creatinine (mg/L) 1.3 (0.9, 2.1) 1.3 (0.9, 2.3) 1.2 (0.9, 2.1) 0.208 Hemoglobin (g/L) 9.8 ± 2.3 8.8 ± 2.0 10.2 ± 2.3 <0.001	Serum sodium(mmol/L)	136.2±5.8	136.0±6.0	136.4±5.6	0.078
Hermoglobin (g/L) 9.8 ± 2.3 8.8 ± 2.0 10.2 ± 2.3 < 0.001 Platelets(10 ⁷ /L) 182.0 (126.0, 244.0) 165.0 (100.0, 239.0) 189.0 (137.0, 245.8) < 0.001	Serum potassium(mmol/L)	4.8 ± 1.0	4.8 ± 1.0	4.9±1.1	0.039
Participant 182.0 (126.0, 244.0) 165.0 (100.0, 239.0) 189.0 (137.0, 245.8) < 0.01 PO2 97.0 (59.8, 176.0) 91.0 (58.0, 165.2) 109.0 (66.8, 198.0) < 0.001	Creatinine (mg/L)	1.3 (0.9, 2.1)	1.3 (0.9, 2.3)	1.2 (0.9, 2.1)	0.208
P0_2 97.0 (59.8, 176.0) 91.0 (58.0, 165.2) 109.0 (66.8, 198.0) < 0.01 PCO_1 52.0 (43.0, 65.0) 52.5 (43.0, 66.0) 50.5 (42.0, 61.0) < 0.001 Myocardial infarction 748 (22.0) 226 (21.3) 522 (22.3) 0.487 Heart failure 1,662 (48.9) 459 (43.2) 1,203 (51.5) < 0.001 Peripheral vascular disease 570 (16.8) 170 (16) 400 (17.1) 0.420 Cerebrovascular disease 1,109 (32.6) 3224 (30.5) 785 (33.6) 0.074 Cancer 504 (14.8) 224 (21.1) 280 (12) < 0.001 Diabetes mellitus 1,305 (38.4) 382 (36) 923 (39.5) 0.049 No 1,305 (38.4) 382 (36) 923 (39.5) < 0.001 Nu 1,305 (38.4) 382 (36) 923 (39.5) < 0.001 Nu 1,305 (38.4) 382 (36) 923 (39.5) < 0.001 Nu 1,305 (38.4) 382 (36) 182 (7.8) < 0.001 Nu 1,305 (38.4) 3818 (77) 1,333	Hemoglobin (g/L)	9.8±2.3	8.8±2.0	10.2±2.3	< 0.001
PCO2 52.0 (43.0, 65.0) 52.5 (43.0, 66.0) 50.5 (42.0, 61.0) < 0.001 Myocardial infarction 748 (22.0) 226 (21.3) 522 (22.3) 0.487 Heart failure 1.662 (48.9) 459 (43.2) 1.203 (51.5) <0.001	Platelets(10 ⁹ /L)	182.0 (126.0, 244.0)	165.0 (100.0, 239.0)	189.0 (137.0, 245.8)	< 0.001
Myocardial infarction748 (22.0)226 (21.3)522 (22.3)0.487Heart failure1,662 (48.9)459 (43.2)1,203 (51.5)<0.001	PO ₂	97.0 (59.8, 176.0)	91.0 (58.0, 165.2)	109.0 (66.8, 198.0)	< 0.001
Heart failure 1,662 (48.9) 459 (43.2) 1,203 (51.5) < Peripheral vascular disease 570 (16.8) 170 (16) 400 (17.1) 0.420 Cerebrovascular disease 411 (12.1) 120 (11.3) 291 (12.5) 0.337 Renal disease 1,109 (32.6) 324 (30.5) 785 (33.6) 0.074 Cancer 504 (14.8) 224 (21.1) 280 (12) <0.001	PCO ₂	52.0 (43.0, 65.0)	52.5 (43.0, 66.0)	50.5 (42.0, 61.0)	< 0.001
Peripheral vascular disease 570 (16.8) 170 (16) 400 (17.1) 0.420 Cerebrovascular disease 411 (12.1) 120 (11.3) 291 (12.5) 0.337 Renal disease 1,109 (32.6) 324 (30.5) 785 (33.6) 0.074 Cancer 504 (14.8) 224 (21.1) 280 (12) <0.001	Myocardial infarction	748 (22.0)	226 (21.3)	522 (22.3)	0.487
Cerebrovascular disease 411 (12.1) 120 (11.3) 291 (12.5) 0.337 Renal disease 1,109 (32.6) 324 (30.5) 785 (33.6) 0.074 Cancer 504 (14.8) 224 (21.1) 280 (12) <0.001	Heart failure	1,662 (48.9)	459 (43.2)	1,203 (51.5)	< 0.001
Renal disease 1,109 (32.6) 324 (30.5) 785 (33.6) 0.074 Cancer 504 (14.8) 224 (21.1) 280 (12) < 0.001	Peripheral vascular disease	570 (16.8)	170 (16)	400 (17.1)	0.420
Cancer 504 (14.8) 224 (21.1) 280 (12) < 0.001 Diabetes mellitus 1,305 (38.4) 382 (36) 923 (39.5) 0.049 Sepsis 2,151 (63.3) 818 (77) 1,333 (57.1) < 0.001	Cerebrovascular disease	411 (12.1)	120 (11.3)	291 (12.5)	0.337
Diabetes mellitus 1,305 (38.4) 382 (36) 923 (39.5) 0.049 Sepsis 2,151 (63.3) 818 (77) 1,333 (57.1) < 0.001	Renal disease	1,109 (32.6)	324 (30.5)	785 (33.6)	0.074
Sepsis 2,151 (63.3) 818 (77) 1,333 (57.1) < 0.001 MV <	Cancer	504 (14.8)	224 (21.1)	280 (12)	< 0.001
MV Constraint Constraint	Diabetes mellitus	1,305 (38.4)	382 (36)	923 (39.5)	0.049
Noninvasive-Ventilation 235 (6.9) 53 (5.0) 182 (7.8) Invasive-Ventilation 875 (25.8) 377 (35.5) 498 (21.3) No-Ventilation 2,288 (67.3) 632 (59.5) 1,656 (70.9) Co-morbidity index 7.4±2.7 7.8±2.8 7.3±2.6 <0.001	Sepsis	2,151 (63.3)	818 (77)	1,333 (57.1)	< 0.001
Invasive-Ventilation 875 (25.8) 377 (35.5) 498 (21.3) No-Ventilation 2,288 (67.3) 632 (59.5) 1,656 (70.9) Co-morbidity index 7.4±2.7 7.8±2.8 7.3±2.6 <0.001	MV				< 0.001
No-Ventilation 2,288 (67.3) 632 (59.5) 1,656 (70.9) Co-morbidity index 7.4±2.7 7.8±2.8 7.3±2.6 <0.001	Noninvasive-Ventilation	235 (6.9)	53 (5.0)	182 (7.8)	
Co-morbidity index 7.4±2.7 7.8±2.8 7.3±2.6 < 0.001 SAPSII score 39.0±13.2 43.7±13.8 36.9±12.4 < 0.001	Invasive-Ventilation	875 (25.8)	377 (35.5)	498 (21.3)	
SAPSII score 39.0±13.2 43.7±13.8 36.9±12.4 <0.001 SOFA score 5.8±3.8 7.4±4.2 5.1±3.4 <0.001	No-Ventilation	2,288 (67.3)	632 (59.5)	1,656 (70.9)	
SOFA score 5.8±3.8 7.4±4.2 5.1±3.4 < 0.001 OASIS score 33.5±9.1 36.7±9.4 32.1±8.6 < 0.001	Co-morbidity index	7.4±2.7	7.8±2.8	7.3±2.6	< 0.001
OASIS score 33.5±9.1 36.7±9.4 32.1±8.6 < 0.001	SAPSII score	39.0±13.2	43.7±13.8	36.9±12.4	< 0.001
	SOFA score	5.8±3.8	7.4±4.2	5.1 ± 3.4	< 0.001
AECOPD 1,268 (37.3) 376 (35.4) 892 (38.2) 0.012	OASIS score	33.5±9.1	36.7±9.4	32.1±8.6	< 0.001
	AECOPD	1,268 (37.3)	376 (35.4)	892 (38.2)	0.012

MAP, mean arterial pressure; SAPS II score, Simplified Acute Physiology Score II; SOFA score, Sequential Organ Failure Score; OASIS score, Oxford Acute Severity of Illness Score; PO₂, Partial pressure of oxygen; PCO₂, Partial pressure of carbon dioxide; MV, Mechanical ventilation; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary.

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of participants.

TABLE 2 Relationship between serum albumin and in-hospital mortality.

Exposure	Unadjusted model HR(95% CI)	P value	Minimally adjusted model HR(95% CI)	p value	Fully adjusted model HR(95% CI)	p value
Serum albumin	0.94 (0.93, 0.96)	< 0.001	0.94 (0.92, 0.95)	< 0.001	0.97 (0.96, 0.99)	0.002
Grouped serum albumin						
<30 g/L	Reference		Reference		Reference	
≥30 g/L	0.51 (0.42, 0.62)	< 0.001	0.49 (0.41, 0.60)	<0.001	0.75 (0.60, 0.93)	0.008

Unadjusted model: no adjustment for covariates.

Minimally adjusted model: adjusted for age and gender.

Fully adjusted model: adjusted all covariates in Table 1.



TABLE 3 Nonlinear relationship between serum albumin and in-hospital mortality.

Serum albumin	HR (95% CI)	P value
<30 g/L	0.95 (0.91, 0.98)	0.002
≥30 g/L	1.00 (0.96, 1.04)	0.775
Nonlinear test		0.028

Adjusted all covariates in Table 1.

index, SOFA score were also associated with in-hospital mortality (Supplementary Table S1).

The distribution of albumin levels in those that survived versus those non-survived was 30.0 ± 6.2 and 28.9 ± 7.0 g/L (Supplementary Figure S3). In subgroup analysis (Figure 3), we found the results were stable in different age, sex, MV, sepsis and AECOPD groups. In multivariable Cox regression models, we evaluating the association between serum albumin and 30-day, 90-day and 1-year mortality, the results remained stable.



4. Discussion

The results of this study showed that in ICU, lower human serum albumin is negatively associated with higher in-hospital mortality in patients with COPD. Analysis of dose–response relationship using restricted cubic spline functions indicate a nonlinear relationship between human serum albumin and in-hospital mortality. When human serum albumin was below 30 g/L, there was a negative correlation between human serum albumin and in-hospital mortality. When human serum albumin is above or equal to 30 g/L, the correlation was not significant.

As an important biomarker of nutritional status, lower serum albumin was reportedly associated with worsening clinical status during COPD (16, 17). We also found the same effect in COPD patients with critical illness. Previous studies had also reported that low levels of serum albumin could increase in-hospital mortality in COPD patients. In a retrospective (n = 574) cohort study in Spain, serum albumin levels were found to be strongly associated with disease severity and outcome in elderly patients with COPD (6). In another smaller study (n = 20), albumin levels were also indicated to be closely related to the prognosis of COPD patients (18). Similar



findings were found in a larger (n=1,647) cohort (19). However, compared to these studies, the present cohort study had a larger sample size (n=3,398), adjusted for more confounding factors, and had relatively more stable and reliable results.

It has also been shown that there was no relationship between hypoalbuminemia and patient prognosis in a cohort study (7). However, as a result of the small sample size of this study (n = 431) and the large difference in the distribution of the number of people in the low and high human serum albumin groups in the cohort (1.5% versus 98.5%), the results were not consisting with our study (HR of low albumin versus normal was 1.67 (0.22, 12.57), p = 0.604).

This study also has clinical implications. We found a nonlinear relationship between human serum albumin and hospital mortality in critical care patients with COPD. Our clinical experience also supports this nonlinear relationship. The optimal cut off point for in-hospital mortality was 30 g/L which was similar with previous study (11, 12). Ruiqi Chen et al. found that an albumin level of 30.5 g/l was best to predict the prognosis for in-hospital mortality (11). This cut off point also suggests that clinicians may consider using albumin to increase albumin levels in patients with COPD when human serum albumin is low.

Albumin is a biomarker of malnutrition and frailty in older patients (20). Therefore, we did subgroup analysis based on age groups (>60 years and <60 years). It seems no different between the two groups. However, for those in the >60 years group higher albumin is associated with lower mortality, while this is not seen in the <60 years group. We looked at the relationship between age and albumin and found that younger patients tended to have higher albumin levels (Supplementary Figure S1A). These patients would fall more on the right side of the curve fit, i.e., after albumin levels above 30 g/L. At this region, the increased serum albumin was not associated with changing in hospital mortality (Supplementary Figure S1B).

Similar to the previous study and our clinical experience, we also found age (21, 22), Glasgow score (23), respiratory rate (24), oxygen saturation (25), serum potassium, PCO_2 , peripheral vascular disease, renal disease, diabetes mellitus, comorbidity index (26), SOFA score (27) were also associated with in-hospital mortality.

5. Limitations

There are some limitations of this study. First, this is a retrospective observational single-center study and the effect of uncontrolled confounding factors cannot be excluded, however, the large sample size of this study may reduce bias to some extent. Secondly, this study evaluated the most unwell patients (in the ICU setting) and the findings cannot be applied to hospitalized patients who do not end up needing ICU level care. Third, In the study, data on respiratory-related death could not be found in MIMIC-IV database, further studies need to clarify whether albumin is associated with respiratory-related death in COPD patients.

6. Conclusion

In critical care patients with COPD, there was a negatively association between human serum albumin and in-hospital mortality.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

ML and LHu wrote the manuscript. BM and CS conducted the data analysis. LHa modified the manuscript and interpreted the analysis. DZ conducted the literature review. WS reviewed the manuscript. BM and LM designed the study and reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This research was supported by the Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University New Technology Clinical Research Project (2020-LCYJ-XJS-08).

References

1. Adeloye D, Chua S, Lee C, Basquill C, Papana A, Theodoratou E, et al. Global and regional estimates of COPD prevalence: systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Glob Health*. (2015) 5:20415. doi: 10.7189/jogh.05.020415

2. Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, et al. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2010. *Lancet (London, England)*. (2012) 380:2095–128. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61728-0

3. Oettl K, Stauber RE. Physiological and pathological changes in the redox state of human serum albumin critically influence its binding properties. *BRIT J PHARMACOL*. (2007) 151:580–90. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0707251

4. Gabay C, Kushner I. Acute-phase proteins and other systemic responses to inflammation. N Engl J Med. (1999) 340:448–54. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199902113400607

5. Chen C, Chen Y, Lu C, Chen SC, Chen Y, Lin M, et al. Severe hypoalbuminemia is a strong independent risk factor for acute respiratory failure in COPD: a nationwide cohort study. *Int J Chronic Obstr.* (2015) 10:1147–54. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S85831

6. Tokgoz Akyil F, Gunen H, Agca M, Gungor S, Yalcinsoy M, Sucu P, et al. Patient outcome after chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations requiring non-invasive ventilation during hospitalization. *Arch Bronconeumol.* (2016) 52:470–6. doi: 10.1016/j.arbres.2016.01.021

7. Mendy A, Forno E, Niyonsenga T, Gasana J. Blood biomarkers as predictors of long-term mortality in COPD. *Clin Respir J.* (2018) 12:1891–9. doi: 10.1111/crj.12752

8. Johnson AEW, Pollard TJ, Shen L, Lehman LWH, Feng M, Ghassemi M, et al. MIMIC-III, a freely accessible critical care database. *ScI Data*. (2016) 3:160035. doi: 10.1038/sdata.2016.35

9. Liu T, Zhao Q, Du B. Effects of high-flow oxygen therapy on patients with hypoxemia after extubation and predictors of reintubation: a retrospective study based on the MIMIC-IV database. *BMC Pulm Med.* (2021) 21:160. doi: 10.1186/s12890-021-01526-2

10. Elm EV, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP. Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *BMJ-Brit Med J.* (2007) 335:806–8. doi: 10.1136/bmj.39335.541782.AD

11. Chen R, Xing L, You C, Ou X. Prediction of prognosis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients with respiratory failure: a comparison of three nutritional

Acknowledgments

We thank the team of the Laboratory for Computational Physiology from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology (LCP-MIT) to keep the MIMIC-IV databases available.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2023.1109910/ full#supplementary-material

assessment methods. Eur J Intern Med. (2018) 57:70–5. doi: 10.1016/j. ejim.2018.06.006

12. Luk JK, Chiu PK, Tam S, Chu LW. Relationship between admission albumin levels and rehabilitation outcomes in older patients. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* (2011) 53:84–9. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2010.06.015

13. Yang Q, Zheng J, Chen W, Chen X, Wen D, Chen W, et al. Association between preadmission metformin use and outcomes in intensive care unit patients with sepsis and type 2 diabetes: a cohort study. *Front Med-Lausanne*. (2021):8. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2021.640785

14. Park S, Freedman ND, Haiman CA, Le Marchand L, Wilkens LR, Setiawan VW. Association of Coffee Consumption with Total and Cause-Specific Mortality among Nonwhite Populations. *Ann Intern Med.* (2017) 167:228. doi: 10.7326/M16-2472

15. Chen J, Fu C, Pan T. Modeling method and miniaturized wavelength strategy for near-infrared spectroscopic discriminant analysis of soy sauce brand identification. *Spectrochim Acta A*. (2022) 277:121291. doi: 10.1016/j.saa.2022.121291

16. Zisman DA, Kawut SM, Lederer DJ, Belperio JA, Lynch JPR, Schwarz MI, et al. Serum albumin concentration and waiting list mortality in idiopathic interstitial pneumonia. *Chest.* (2009) 135:929–35. doi: 10.1378/chest.08-0754

17. Weng C, Hu C, Yen T, Hsu C, Huang W. Nutritional predictors of mortality in long term hemodialysis patients. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:35639. doi: 10.1038/srep35639

18. Añón JM, García de Lorenzo A, Zarazaga A, Gómez-Tello V, Garrido G. García de Lorenzo a, Zarazaga a, Gómez-Tello V, Garrido G: mechanical ventilation of patients on long-term oxygen therapy with acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: prognosis and cost-utility analysis. *Intensive Care Med.* (1999) 25:452–7. doi: 10.1007/s001340050879

19. Chen D, Jiang L, Li J, Tan Y, Ma M, Cao C, et al. Interaction of acute respiratory failure and acute kidney injury on in-hospital mortality of patients with acute exacerbation COPD. *Int J Chronic Obstr.* (2021) 16:3309–16. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S334219

20. Xu L, Zhang J, Shen S, Liu Z, Zeng X, Yang Y, et al. Clinical frailty scale and biomarkers for assessing frailty in elder inpatients in China. *J Nutr Health Aging*. (2021) 25:77–83. doi: 10.1007/s12603-020-1455-8

21. Easter M, Bollenbecker S, Barnes JW, Krick S. Targeting aging pathways in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:6924. doi: 10.3390/ijms21186924

22. Pellicori P, McConnachie A, Carlin C, Wales A, Cleland J. Predicting mortality after hospitalisation for COPD using electronic health records. *Pharmacol Res.* (2022) 179:106199. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2022.106199

23. Zhang JB, Zhu JQ, Cao LX, Jin XH, Chen LL, Song YK, et al. Use of the modified Glasgow coma scale score to guide sequential invasive-noninvasive mechanical ventilation weaning in patients with AECOPD and respiratory failure. *Exp Ther Med.* (2020) 20:1441–6. doi: 10.3892/etm.2020.8884

24. AbuRuz S, al-Azayzih A, ZainAlAbdin S, Beiram R, al Hajjar M. Clinical characteristics and risk factors for mortality among COVID-19 hospitalized patients in UAE: does ethnic origin have an impact. *PLoS One.* (2022) 17:e264547. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0264547

25. Zhao Z, Chen A, Hou W, Graham JM, Li H, Richman PS, et al. Prediction model and risk scores of ICU admission and mortality in COVID-19. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e236618. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0236618

26. Andreen N, Andersson L, Sundell N, Gustavsson L, Westin J. Mortality of COVID-19 is associated with comorbidity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Infect Dis.* (2022) 54:508–13. doi: 10.1080/23744235.2022.2050422

27. Eraslan Doganay G, Cirik MO. Are neutrophil-lymphocyte, platelet-lymphocyte, and monocyte-lymphocyte ratios prognostic indicators in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in intensive care units? *Cureus J Med Sci.* (2022) 14:e23499. doi: 10.7759/cureus.23499

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY James B. Fink, Texas State University System, United States

REVIEWED BY Mohamed Abdelrahim, Beni-Suef University, Egypt Balazs Antus, National Koranyi Institute of Pulmonology, Hungary

*CORRESPONDENCE Tamas Erdelyi 🖂 erdelyi.tamas@med.semmelweis-univ.hu

RECEIVED 11 October 2022 ACCEPTED 10 April 2023 PUBLISHED 05 May 2023

CITATION

Erdelyi T, Lazar Z, Farkas Á, Furi P, Nagy A and Müller V (2023) Modeling of pulmonary deposition of agents of open and fixed dose triple combination therapies through two different low-resistance inhalers in COPD: a pilot study. *Front. Med.* 10:1065072. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1065072

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Erdelyi, Lazar, Farkas, Furi, Nagy and Müller. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Modeling of pulmonary deposition of agents of open and fixed dose triple combination therapies through two different low-resistance inhalers in COPD: a pilot study

Tamas Erdelyi[™], Zsofia Lazar¹, Árpád Farkas², Peter Furi², Attila Nagy³ and Veronika Müller^{®1}

¹Department of Pulmonology, Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary, ²Environmental Physics Department, Centre for Energy Research, Budapest, Hungary, ³Department of Applied and Nonlinear Optics, Wigner Research Centre for Physics, Budapest, Hungary

Introduction: Inhalation therapy is a cornerstone of treating patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Inhaler devices might influence the effectiveness of inhalation therapy. We aimed to model and compare the deposition of acting agents of an open and a fixed dose combination (FDC) triple therapy and examine their repeatability.

Methods: We recruited control subjects (Controls, n = 17) and patients with stable COPD (S-COPD, n = 13) and those during an acute exacerbation (AE-COPD, n = 12). Standard spirometry was followed by through-device inhalation maneuvers using a pressurized metered dose inhaler (pMDI) and a soft mist inhaler (SMI) to calculate deposition of fixed dose and open triple combination therapies by numerical modeling. Through-device inspiratory vital capacity (IVC_d) and peak inspiratory flow (PIF_d), as well as inhalation time (t_{in}) and breath hold time (tbh) were used to calculate pulmonary (PD) and extrathoracic deposition (ETD) values. Deposition was calculated from two different inhalation maneuvers.

Results: There was no difference in forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV1) between patients (S-COPD: $42\pm5\%$ vs. AE-COPD: $35\pm5\%$ predicted). Spiriva® Respimat® showed significantly higher PD and lower ETD values in all COPD patients and Controls compared with the two pMDIs. For Foster® pMDI and Trimbow® pMDI similar PD were observed in Controls, while ETD between Controls and AE-COPD patients did significantly differ. There was no difference between COPD groups regarding the repeatability of calculated deposition values. Ranking the different inhalers by differences between the two deposition values calculated from separate maneuvers, Respimat® produced the smallest inter-measurement differences for PD.

Discussion: Our study is the first to model and compare PD using pMDIs and an SMI as triple combination in COPD. In conclusion, switching from FDC to open triple therapy in cases when adherence to devices is maintanined may contribute to better therapeutic effectiveness in individual cases using low resistance inhalers.

KEYWORDS

COPD, fixed dose triple therapy, open triple therapy, deposition, repeatability, modeling

1. Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) affects more than 380 million people worldwide (1). Inhalation therapy is a cornerstone of the treatment of airway diseases, including high burden diseases as COPD and asthma (1, 2). According to international guidelines the inhalation therapy of COPD patients with severe obstructive ventilatory disorder, persistent symptoms and frequent exacerbations (Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease: GOLD D category in most of our cases) contains long-acting beta2-agonist (LABA) and muscarinic antagonists (LAMA) as bronchodilators and inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) especially in patients with exacerbations and high blood eosinophil count (1). Many commercially available inhalers are a combination of ICS-LABA, LABA-LAMA, or fixed triple combination (ICS-LABA-LAMA; FDC). Despite the availability of triple combinations, many patients use two different devices, mainly combination of ICS-LABA and a mono-LAMA inhaler (3).

The effectivity of inhalation therapy has numerous influencing factors which are connected to the drug, the device or the patient. The largest variety of devices belong to dry powder inhalers (DPI) and many combinations are commercially available including triple FDC. Pressurized metered dose inhaler (pMDI) has a low number of different drug combinations including triple FDC and ICS-LABA, while soft mist inhaler (SMI) is only represented by the device Respimat[®] and is containing LABA-LAMA or LAMA monotherapy.

Various studies examined the effectiveness of inhalation therapy in vivo. Additionally in vitro and in silico investigations measured the deposition rate of the emitted dose (4, 5). In vivo studies mostly apply radioscintigraphy and can be complicated upon repeated measurements as it imposes a burden of radiation on the subjects (6, 7). However, other studies applied pharmacokinetic methods to measure pulmonary deposition of inhaled particles by measuring serum levels and urinary excretion of specific agents (8-10). Nonetheless, pharmacokinetic methods are not able to differentiate between the deposition into different regions of the lung and it is not capable to reveal the amount of drug removed by mucociliary clearance (11). In vitro measurements only require the equipment to produce a replica of the airways and is limited by the natural variety of the different subjects' anatomy (5). In silico studies such as computational fluid dynamic simulations or numerical simulations (e.g., the Stochastic Lung Model) have the benefit of repeated measurements not requiring personal and material input but they need a validation by in vivo models before usage (12-14).

As the device-handling plays a critical role in the success of inhalation therapy, many factors influencing patient conduct can be investigated (15–17). Sufficient peak inspiratory flow (PIF) is crucial using DPI devices, which might be difficult to generate for patients with severe COPD (18). Appropriate handling of pMDI and SMI devices demand the precision from patients regarding the timing of actuation and inspiration, adequate breath-hold time, correct posture and device position, and sufficient inspiratory volumes (16). There are many ways to observe the accuracy of device handling, but limited number of publications focuses on assessing uniformity of inhalation maneuvers through these devices known as repeatability resulting in predictable PD every day.

Our aim was to investigate inhalation maneuvers through commercially available pMDI and SMI devices, and assess deposition

repeatability of FDC or open triple therapy in severe GOLD D COPD patients by numerical modeling.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Subjects

Patients with stable COPD (S-COPD, n = 13) were recruited during regular outpatient visits, patients with exacerbated COPD (AE-COPD, n = 12) were included <72 h after hospital admission due to an acute severe relapse. Patients had been previously diagnosed with COPD by a respiratory specialist according to 2015 Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) as post-bronchodilator FEV₁/FVC < 0.70 (19). Therapy was decided by the treating physician, but all patients with AE were treated with systemic steroids. Control volunteers (Control, n = 17) did not have a chronic respiratory disease and were recruited from employees of the Department of Pulmonology, Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary. Individuals in the S-COPD and Control groups with acute respiratory tract infections within 2 weeks and AE-COPD group who suffered from pneumonia or needed non-invasive or invasive ventilation were excluded. Subjects were recruited between April and December 2015.

All procedures were performed in accordance with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. All subjects were informed about the methods and aims of the measurements and signed the informed consent form. The study was approved by the Semmelweis University Regional and Institutional Committee of Science and Research Ethics (SE TUKEB 239/2015).

2.2. Study design

The subjects attended a single visit which was followed by data processing and numerical modeling. All patients performed standard lung function tests, which were followed by the two consecutive inhalation maneuvers per device using two different inhalers after a minimum of a 30-min break. Subjects filled out disease-specific and generic quality of life questionnaires. Subsequently, the deposition calculations were performed by the Stochastic Lung Model (13).

2.3. Lung function measurements

Electronic spirometer and body plethysmography (PDD-301/s, Piston, Budapest, Hungary) were used for lung function measurements performed according to the European Respiratory Society (20, 21). None of the records were post-bronchodilator measurements.

2.4. Inhalation maneuvers through different inhalers

Commercially available pressurized metered-dose inhaler (pMDI inhalation solution placebo for Foster®/Trimbow®) and soft mist inhaler (placebo for Respimat®) were used.

For through-device lung function testing electronic spirometer was used (PDD-301/sh, Piston, Budapest, Hungary), which has built-in ambient temperature, pressure and humidity sensors for the fully automatic BTPS correction, as described in detail in our previous study (22). The spirometer is equipped with a PinkFlow flowmeter (PPF-18, Piston, Budapest, Hungary), which measures flow based on the principle of a symmetric and averaging Pitot tube, and was connected directly to the pMDI or SMI. Subjects were instructed for 5-10 min before the measurements to explain and correct inhalation maneuvers as recommended by the manufacturers of each device. Steps of the inhalation maneuver included: (1) preparation of the device, (2) long exhalation, (3) attachment of the inhaler to the flexible connecting piece, (4) deep inhalation through the inhaler to total lung capacity, with optimal actuation of pMDI and SMI by the examiner and simultaneous recording of the pre-specified parameters, (5) breath-holding for 10s (when possible) while the inhaler device was detached from the connecting piece; and (6) long exhalation. Through-device inspiratory vital capacity (IVCd) and peak inspiratory flow (PIF_d), inhalation time (t_{in}) and breath-hold time (t_{bh}) were recorded. Measurements for both pMDI and Respimat® were performed and randomly followed after at least 5-min break by the second sequence of maneuvers in all patients and controls.

2.5. Assessment of symptoms and quality of life

Subjects filled out the Modified Medical Research Council (mMRC) and the Hungarian version of the COPD Assessment Test (CAT), and the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) scaled from 0 to 10, to measure the general health condition of the participants.

2.6. Numerical modeling of pulmonary and extrathoracic deposition

Pulmonary (PD) and extrathoracic (ETD) deposition fraction values were calculated as a percent of the metered dose using the Stochastic Lung Model (SLM). The model was primarily developed by Koblinger and Hofmann and afterwards it has undergone further development. The model has been validated and used to simulate the pulmonary deposition of different aerosols as well as inhaled drug particles (13, 14, 23). In the SLM model the structure of the conducting airways is built up stochastically based on distribution functions of airway lengths, diameters, branching angles and gravity angles Raabe (24). The geometry of the acinar airways is built up based on the description of Haefeli-Bleuer and Weibel (25). The model is calculating deposition fractions in the extrathoracic airways based on empirical deposition formulas. In the pulmonary airways deposition fractions are computed by tracking large numbers of inhaled particles after their inhalation until they deposit in the airways or leave the lungs via exhalation. In the model the particles can deposit due to impaction, gravitational settling and Brownian diffusion. As input data the breathing parameters and the size distribution and density of the drug particles need to be provided. The inhalation parameters are the standard spirometry and body plethysmography measurement results, such as residual volume (RV) and through-device spirometry data, such as IVC, T_{in} and T_{bh} , which were provided for both pMDI and Respimat[®] devices. For the calculation we used the particle size distribution values of Spiriva[®] Respimat[®], Foster[®] pMDI and Trimbow[®] pMDI. PD and ETD values were calculated from the first and second inhalation maneuver and their mean was used for further statistical analysis.

2.7. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism software 8 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, United States) and SPSS Statistics V22 (International Business Machines Corporation, NY, United States). The results are expressed as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) or median (interquartile range). One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparison test or Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's multiple comparison test were used as appropriate. Repeatability of deposition values was assessed by the Bland–Altman test (26). Results were considered to be statistically significant when the *p* value was less than 0.05.

3. Results

3.1. Clinical characteristics of participants

Patient and control volunteer characteristics are summarized in Table 1. COPD patients were significantly older, more often smokers and had higher cumulative smoking impact. All AE-COPD patients fulfilled the criteria of GOLD D category. COPD patients had a high number of comorbidities but there were no significant differences between stable and exacerbated patients in this regard. Patients with exacerbations were more symptomatic using mMRC, CAT and VAS scores. The maintenance inhalation therapy was similar between patient groups, most patients being on triple therapy.

3.2. Lung function results

Lung function parameters revealed similarly severe airflow obstruction and lung hyperinflation in both COPD groups, while normal lung function parameters were noted in the Control group (Table 2).

3.3. Through-device inhalation parameters using different inhalers

 $\rm IVC_d, PIF_d, t_{in}$ and t_{bh} were tested for pMDI and SMI devices (Table 3). $\rm IVC_d$ was lower as measured through both devices than during normal spirometry in controls, while only slightly lower in both COPD groups. In the Control and both COPD groups PIF_d was significantly lower as compared to PIF during spirometry for both devices. Inhalation time (t_{in}) was on average between 2–3 s for all groups. Mean t_{bh} was above 10 s in Controls and S-COPD and significantly lower in AE-COPD patients compared to S-COPD patients.
TABLE 1 Clinical characteristics of controls and patients.

	Control	S-COPD	AE-COPD
Number (<i>n</i>)	17	13	12
Female/male	10/7	9/4	9/3
Age (years)	43 ± 4	$65 \pm 2^{*}$	61±2*
BMI (kg/m ²)	25.0 ± 0.9	25.6 ± 1.4	27.1±2.0
Smoking habit, n (%)**			
Current smoker	8 (47)	4 (31)	7 (58)
Former smoker	1 (6)	9 (69)	5 (42)
Never smoker	8 (47)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Pack years	18±5	50±5*	36±3*
GOLD category 2017, n	(%)		
А	NA	1 (8)	0 (0)
В	NA	1 (8)	0 (0)
С	NA	5 (38)	0 (0)
D	NA	6 (46)	12 (100)
Quality of life			
mMRC	0 (0–0)ª	2 (1-2) ^b	4 (3-4)*
CAT	2 (0-6)	11 (7-22) ^{b,*}	27 (18-30)*
VAS	1 (0-3)°	5 (4-5) ^{b,*}	8 (7-10) ^{d,*}
Comorbidities, n (%)			
Osteoporosis	NA	0 (0)	3 (25)
Diabetes mellitus	NA	1 (8)	3 (25)
Hypertension	NA	4 (31)	2 (17)
Atherosclerosis	NA	4 (31)	4 (33)
Myocardial infarction	NA	0 (0)	2 (17)
Stroke	NA	0 (0)	2 (17)
Maintenance COPD the	erapy, n (%)		
ICS	NA	9 (69)	12 (100)
LABA	NA	12 (92)	12 (100)
LAMA	NA	12 (92)	12 (100)
Theophylline	NA	3 (23)	6 (50)

p < 0.05 vs. Control, ** Chi-square test: p < 0.01. Significant differences are highlighted in bold. BMI, Body Mass Index; CAT, COPD Assessment Test; AE-COPD: patients with exacerbated COPD; GOLD, Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease; ICS, inhaled corticosteroid; LABA, long-acting beta_-agonist; LAMA, long-acting muscarinic antagonist; mMRC, modified Medical Research Council; NA, not applicable; S-COPD: patients with stable COPD; VAS, Visual Analogue Scale. Data are shown as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM) or median (interquartile range).

n = 13.

3.4. Pulmonary (PD) and extrathoracic deposition (ETD)

The results of numerical modeling for Foster[®] pMDI, Trimbow[®] pMDI and Spiriva[®] Respimat[®] are summarized in Figures 1, 2. Both COPD groups and Controls showed significant difference by Spiriva[®] Respimat[®] compared to the two pMDIs regarding PD and ETD. Spiriva[®] Respimat[®] produced much higher

TABLE 2 Lung function values.

	Control	S-COPD	AE-COPD
Number (<i>n</i>)	17	13	12
FVC, % predicted	102 ± 3	$79 \pm 6^*$	67 ± 7*
FEV ₁ , % predicted	95 ± 2	$42 \pm 5^*$	$35 \pm 5^*$
FEV ₁ /FVC, %	79 ± 2	$44 \pm 3^*$	49 ± 3*
PEF, % predicted	85 ± 8	$41\pm4^{*,a}$	$34\pm3^{*,b}$
FEF _{25-75%} , % predicted	76 ± 5	18 ± 3*	17 ± 2*
PIF, L/s	5 ± 0.4	$2 \pm 0.1^*$	$3 \pm 0.3^*$
IVC, % predicted	99 ± 3	77 ± 5*	67 ± 5*
TLC, % predicted	93 ± 2	$103 \pm 5^*$	113 ± 8*
TGV, % predicted	119 ± 5	168 ± 11*	193 ± 15*
RV, % predicted	83 ± 6	$152 \pm 15^*$	192 ± 19*
RV/TLC	0.28 ± 0.02	$0.56 \pm 0.03^{*}$	$0.66 \pm 0.04^{*}$
Raw, % predicted	108 ± 6	295 ± 25* ^a	297 ± 31*

^{*}p < 0.05 vs. Control, Significant differences are highlighted in bold. AE-COPD: patients with exacerbated COPD; FEF_{25-75%}, forced expiratory flow at 25–75% of the pulmonary volume; FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in the 1st second; FVC, forced vital capacity; IVC, inspiratory vital capacity; PEF, peak expiratory flow; PIF, peak inspiratory flow; Raw, airway resistance; RV, residual volume; S-COPD: patients with stable COPD; TGV, thoracic gas volume; TLC, total lung capacity. Data are shown as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM).

PD than Foster[®] pMDI and Trimbow[®] pMDI. For Foster[®] pMDI and Trimbow[®] pMDI similar PD were observed in Controls, while ETD between Controls and AE-COPD patients did significantly differ. ETD values were significantly lower in all COPD patients compared to heathy volunteers. Spiriva[®] Respimat[®] showed significantly lower ETD values than Foster[®] pMDI and Trimbow[®] pMDI.

3.5. Repeatability of pulmonary (PD) and extrathoracic deposition (ETD) values calculated from repeated measurements

The Bland–Altman analysis was used to define the variability of the PD and ETD values calculated from inhalation maneuver parameters through a given inhaler and the corresponding particle size distribution. Significant individual differences were present in all tested medications regarding PD and ETD (Figures 3, 4). The X-axis represents the mean of the two calculations for deposition values, while the Y-axis shows the difference of the two calculated values from repeated measurements (1st measurement–2nd measurement).

We also calculated the bias (difference between the X-axis and the average mean of the two calculations for all subjects) for PD and ETD in Control, S-COPD and AE-COPD groups for each inhaler. We found that PD was significantly higher by the values calculated from second measurements in Controls using Foster[®] pMDI and Trimbow[®] pMDI. There was a tendency in healthy volunteers by Spiriva[®] Respimat[®] for the second value to be higher. There was no difference between the two values in either COPD group regarding the two pMDI devices but in S-COPD patients the second value tended to be lower while in AE-COPD patients higher.

 $n^{a}n = 16.$

 $^{{}^{}b}n = 10.$ ${}^{c}n = 15.$

 $n^{a}n = 12.$ $n^{b}n = 13.$

Control group	(n =17)	
Spirometry	IVC (L)	4.02 ± 0.26
Spirometry	PIF (L/s)	5.08 ± 0.36
	pMDI	Respimat*
IVC _d (L)	3.36 ± 0.22*	3.61 ± 0.21*
PIF _d (L/s)	2.61 ± 0.22*	2.19 ± 0.15*
t _{in} (s)	2.23 ± 0.22	2.51 ± 0.23
t _{bh} (s)	9.95 ± 0.12	9.93 ± 0.16
S-COPD group $(n = 1)$	3)	
Spirometry	IVC (L)	$2.35 \pm 0.2^{**}$
Spirometry	PIF (L/s)	2.48 ± 0.15**
	pMDI	Respimat*
IVC _d (L)	2.23 ± 0.17**	2.29 ± 0.21**
PIF _d (L/s)	$1.80 \pm 0.16^{*,**}$	$1.48 \pm 0.14^{*,**}$
t _{in} (s)	2.44 ± 0.26	2.57 ± 0.27
t _{bh} (s)	10.39 ± 0.1	10.57 ± 0.18
AE-COPD group (n =	= 12)	
Spirometry	IVC (L)	2.17 ± 0.25**
Spirometry	PIF (L/s)	2.80 ± 0.32**
	pMDI	Respimat*
IVC _d (L)	2.06 ± 0.23**	$2.18 \pm 0.21^{**}$
PIF _d (L/s)	1.79 ± 0.13***	$1.48 \pm 0.12^{*,**}$
t _{in} (s)	2.3 ± 0.28	2.52 ± 0.26
t _{bh} (s)	9.55 ± 0.16***	$9.44 \pm 0.40^{***}$

TABLE 3 Spirometric and inhalation parameters measured through the different inhalers.

IVC, inspiratory vital capacity; PIF, peak inspiratory flow; IVC_d, through-device inspiratory vital capacity; PIF_d, through-device peak inspiratory flow; t_{iin}, inhalation time; t_{bh}, breath hold time; *p < 0.05 vs. values obtained by standard spirometry; **p < 0.05 vs. Control group; ***p < 0.05 vs. S-COPD. Significant differences are highlighted in bold. Data are shown as mean ± standard error of the mean (SEM).

The 95% limits of agreement and the coefficients of repeatability (CR) of PD and ETD through the different inhalers were high and variable in both, controls and patients It is important to highlight that low CR represents better repeatability. Of note, the CR in S-COPD and AE-COPD patients for PD was the largest using Trimbow[®] pMDI (see Table 4).

3.6. Ranking of inhalers based on the differences between deposition values

Ranking the three inhalers based on the differences between the two values of PD is shown in Figure 5. This highlights the inhalers with the smallest difference (given Rank 1 followed by Rank 2 and Rank 3) in values between the two deposition results. Similarly, to the findings based on the CR values in patients with COPD, Respimat[®] produced the smallest inter-measurement differences for PD.

4. Discussion

Our study compared commercially available pMDI and SMI devices for PD repeatability of FDC (ICS-LABA-LAMA) and open triple (ICS-LABA pMDI and LAMA SMI) therapy in severe COPD patients. Numerical modeling of PD provided ~25–28% pulmonary drug deposition in our model for pMDI and ~36–39% for SMI. Very similar results were shown in gamma scintigraphy studies using the active agents of Trimbow[®] pMDI in healthy and asthmatic subjects and ~37% using Respimat[®] SMI in untrained COPD patients validating our *in silico* method (7, 27).

According to previous scintigraphy studies, in asthmatic patients with mild airway obstruction there was no difference in pulmonary drug deposition using Trimbow[®] pMDI as compared to healthy controls (7). In contrast, we examined COPD patients with severe airway obstruction, where no scintigraphy data are available to assess PD using two triple combination regimens. Notwithstanding our





model cannot separate drug deposition in central and peripheral regions of the lung as gamma scintigraphy, on the other hand it is safe and reproducible. We were able to evaluate deposition values in the lung and extrathoracically and compare drug delivery of FDC and open triple therapies in COPD patients in stable state and during AE. One of the main findings is that there was no difference in PD between S-COPD and AE COPD patients for both low resistance pMDI and SMI devices. Besides the high reproducibility of numerical modeling, we put a lot of emphasis on the repeatability of inhalation maneuvers. Low resistance and repetitive use as per summary of product characteristics (SmPCs) were the reasons why we chose Trimbow[®] and Foster[®] pMDIs and Spiriva[®] Respimat[®] as patients need two consecutive inhalations twice and once daily, respectively, (28–30).

The availability of triple FDCs is growing, but clinicians are facing new challenges during the therapy of COPD patients. The effectiveness of FDC versus open triple therapy was previously investigated in the TRINITY clinical trial (31). Trimbow® pMDI was non-inferior regarding moderate-to-severe exacerbation rates and pre-dose FEV1 for week 52 versus the open triple therapy containing Foster® pMDI and a Spiriva® Handihaler® (31). Our study investigated a low resistance SMI as LAMA in open triple therapy and showed that it might produce higher PD in COPD patients independent of stable state or during AE. Consequently, using SMI LAMA might add to more effective therapy especially in patients who might profit from open triple therapy. Our results might suggest that in some cases clinicians can switch to a combination of pMDI and SMI as open triple therapy from triple FDC to increase pulmonary deposition of inhaled drugs in severe COPD patients. GOLD document is also suggesting adjustment of inhaled therapy by switching inhaler device or molecules within the same class. In COPD patients differences in effectivity regarding a given inhaled therapy were previously confirmed for LABA-LAMA combinations underlying the importance and possible benefit of switch (32).

Inhalation performance might be impaired despite the fact that these inhalers are suitable for patients with reduced lung function (33). Critical errors highly impact lung deposition. The higher intrapatient variability with different aerosol devices was described in previous studies often evaluating healthy volunteers or patients with different severity of airway obstruction (34, 35). In our setup patients used the simulation equipment with optimal and controlled technique as described by the manufacturer.

One of the most important disease deteriorating factor during the therapy of COPD is an episode of exacerbation. Exacerbation impairs function, breathing capacity and reduces inspiratory effort so patients are less able to perform sufficient and equal inhalation maneuvers and consequently have instable inhaled drug lung delivery. However, our study revealed that there was no significant difference between stable and exacerbated COPD patients using pMDI or SMI for PD values. Consequently, exacerbation does not considerably influence the effectivity of drug deposition and deposition repeatability for both devices. This can be explained that the use of inhaler techniques is regularly checked at our department patients with both stable and exacerbated COPD.

Several previous studies confirmed the impact of device handling on the effectiveness of inhaled medication. It is well known that the use of different inhalers or more than one device can negatively impact therapy (3, 15, 16). For COPD patients who are not able to generate adequate inspiratory effort, a pMDI or SMI device is recommended (36, 37). However, manufacturers design their device relying on the need to reach a satisfactory inspiratory flow, shortly a new parameter gains greater emphasis, the pressure drop during inhalation (38). It is important to note that our model did not use pressure drop values as input data. Despite that the number of different inhalers can worsen the effectiveness of inhalation therapy, our results suggest that the combination of an SMI and a pMDI can reach higher calculated drug PD compared to a FDC pMDI in individual patients.

COPD patients, especially those with severe disease, need proper education to acquire correct inhaler use. Achieving this goal, appropriate patient education is essential and regular assessment is needed during patient care (39, 40). Severe COPD patients are hospitalized frequently and during acute exacerbation device handling tend to be even more difficult. Our measurements revealed that an SMI performs evenly in patients with acute exacerbations. Repeatability highlights the importance of investigating measurement methods. Besides repeating different measurement on the same

TABLE 4 Repeatability of lung and extrathoracic deposition values calculated from repeated measurements.

	n	Bias	р	95% LoA	CR
			С		
Lung					
Foster [®] pMDI	17	0.80	0.02*	-1.68 - 3.28	2.87
Trimbow* pMDI	17	0.70	0.005*	-1.21 - 2.61	2.31
Spiriva* Respimat*	17	1.19	0.13	-4.86 - 7.23	6.31
ET			1		
Foster [®] pMDI	17	-0.5	0.046*	-2.35 - 1.36	2.05
Trimbow [®] pMDI	17	-0.59	0.032*	-2.62 - 1.44	2.29
Spiriva* Respimat*	17	-1.35	0.12	-7.93 - 5.22	6.91
			S-CO	PD	
Lung					
Foster [®] pMDI	13	-0.89	0.42	-8.45 - 6.67	7.47
Trimbow [®] pMDI	13	-1.62	0.38	-14.2 - 10.91	12.46
Spiriva* Respimat*	13	0.25	0.83	-7.89 - 8.39	7.84
ET					
Foster [®] pMDI	13	0.89	0.46	-7.32 - 9.11	8.08
Trimbow [®] pMDI	13	1.31	0.26	-6.46 - 9.08	7.9
Spiriva* Respimat*	13	-1.17	0.51	-13.28 -	11.86
				10.94	
			AE-CO	PD	
Lung					
Foster [®] pMDI	12	1.91	0.23	-8.24 - 12.06	10.42
Trimbow* pMDI	12	1.8	0.27	-8.78 - 12.38	10.72
Spiriva* Respimat*	12	0.72	0.58	-7.77 - 9.21	8.25
ET					
Foster [®] pMDI	12	-2.06	0.24	-13.22 - 9.1	11.42
Trimbow* pMDI	12	-2.07	0.25	-13.57 - 9.43	11.74
Spiriva* Respimat*	12	-0.93	0.52	-10.34 - 8.47	9.19

*p-Value for one-sample t-test of the bias.

AE-COPD: patients with exacerbated COPD; CR, coefficients of repeatability; LoA, Bland-Altman 95% limits of agreement; n, number of subjects; S-COPD: patients with stable COPD. Significant differences are highlighted in bold.

subjects by the same examiner, different measurement system can show varying result from same subjects, placing a greater focus on reproducibility (41).

Because many DPI devices cannot be used effectively with severe respiratory function impairment, greater emphasis should be placed on the use of low-resistance inhalers such as pMDI and SMI devices in patients with advanced COPD (42).

5. Conclusion

In summary in severe COPD patients using numerical deposition modeling lung deposition is higher for open triple combination using pMDI plus SMI device as compared to FDC pMDI. As each studied inhaled drug is dosed twice according SmPC for each device repeatability is of high interest. Around 40% of all COPD patients has >3% PD difference between the two inspiratory maneuvers, emphasizing the importance of optimal handling and teaching of devices. Important to note that there was no difference in PD between COPD patients during AE and S conditions. SMI repeatability seemed more robust in our study and might contribute to clinically meaningful difference in patients with persisting symptoms and exacerbation. By the latest recommendations, multiple devices are highly correlated to reduced adherence (43), therefore inhaler usage must be controlled on a regular basis. Further clinical studies and real-world data are needed to confirm the clinical effectiveness in this patient group.

6. Strengths and weaknesses of the study

Our study is the first comparing lung deposition values of a FDC pMDI and open triple therapy containing an SMI and pMDI in COPD patients. Numerical modeling provides us a more reproducible method to evaluate PD values without the burden of radiation. Weakness of our work is the low number of patients and repetitive maneuvers used for data input into the mathematical model.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Semmelweis University Regional and Institutional Committee of Science and Research Ethics. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

TE performed the through-device measurements and the calculations using numerical modeling. ZL coordinated the statistical analysis and conducted medical consultations. ÁF and PF ensured the use of the Stochastic Lung Model and provided scientific consultation. AN conducted scientific consultation. VM was responsible for the coordination and professional supervision of the investigation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by KTIA_AIK_12_1_2012_0019 and the Research Grant of the Hungarian Respiratory Foundation (TE).

Acknowledgments

The authors are thankful to Sándor Nyáguj for performing the plethysmography measurements.



FIGURE 3

Bland–Altman analysis of pulmonary deposition (PD). The X-axis represents the mean of the two measurements for PD, while the Y-axis shows the difference of the repeated measurements (first measurement–second measurement). Each dot represents a person. The dashed line shows the average of the difference for all subjects. AE-COPD: patients with exacerbated COPD; LoA, Bland–Altman 95% limits of agreement; Meas, measurement; S-COPD: patients with stable COPD.



FIGURE 4

Bland–Altman analysis of extrathoracic deposition (ETD). The X-axis represents the mean of the two measurements for ETD, while the Y-axis shows the difference of the repeated measurements (first measurement–second measurement). Each dot represents a person. The dashed line shows the average of the difference for all subjects. AE-COPD: patients with exacerbated COPD; LoA, Bland–Altman 95% limits of agreement; Meas, measurement; S-COPD: patients with stable COPD.



Repeatability sequence summary for the three inhalers regarding PD. (A) Control: healthy volunteers (n = 17); (B) All-COPD: patients with stable and exacerbated COPD (n = 25); (C) S-COPD: patients with stable COPD (n = 13); (D) AE-COPD: patients with exacerbated COPD (n = 12). By each control subject and patient, a rank number between 1 and 3 was associated with each inhaler regarding the magnitude of the difference between the two values for PD, respectively. Rank 1 was given to the device with the lowest difference between the two inspiratory measurements followed by Rank 2 and 3. On the figure, rank numbers are shown by three edges of the axes, and the sum of subjects with a certain rank is indicated on the axes. COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

Conflict of interest

VM received consultation fees from Astra Zeneca, Boehringer Ingelheim, Chiesi, Berlin Chemie Menarini, Orion Pharma, Novartis, GSK, Teva.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. GOLD, Global Strategy for Diagnosis, Management and Prevention of COPD. Available at: www.gold.copd.org, (2022).

2. Asthma G.I.F., *Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention*. Available at: www.ginasthma.org, (2022).

3. Bosnic-Anticevich S, Chrystyn H, Costello R, Dolovich MB, Fletcher M, Lavorini F, et al. The use of multiple respiratory inhalers requiring different inhalation techniques has an adverse effect on COPD outcomes. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2017) 12:59–71. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S117196

 Usmani O, Roche N, Wahab E, Israel S, Jenkins M, Trivedi R, et al. A scintigraphy study of budesonide/glycopyrrolate/formoterol fumarate metered dose inhaler in patients with moderate-to-very severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respir Res.* (2021) 22:261. doi: 10.1186/s12931-021-01813-w

5. Wei X, Hindle M, Kaviratna A, Huynh BK, Delvadia RR, Sandell D, et al. In vitro tests for aerosol deposition. VI: realistic testing with different mouth-throat models and in vitro-in vivo correlations for a dry powder inhaler, metered dose inhaler, and soft mist inhaler. *J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv.* (2018) 31:358–71. doi: 10.1089/jamp.2018.1454

6. Schembri GP, Miller AE, Smart R. Radiation dosimetry and safety issues in the investigation of pulmonary embolism. *Semin Nucl Med.* (2010) 40:442–54. doi: 10.1053/j.semnuclmed.2010.07.007

7. Usmani OS, Baldi S, Warren S, Panni I, Girardello L, Rony F, et al. Lung deposition of inhaled Extrafine Beclomethasone Dipropionate/Formoterol Fumarate/ Glycopyrronium bromide in healthy volunteers and Asthma: the STORM study. J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv. (2022) 35:179–85. doi: 10.1089/jamp.2021.0046 8. Tomlinson HS, Allen MD, Corlett SA, Chrystyn H. Comparison of urinary salbutamol 30 minutes post inhalation (USAL) and the methacholine dose to reduce the FEV1 by 20%(PD20) to identify the equivalence of inhaled salbutamol products. *Eur Respir.* (1999) 14:328s.

9. Borgström L, Nilsson M. A method for determination of the absolute pulmonary bioavailability of inhaled drugs: terbutaline. *Pharm Res.* (1990) 7:1068–70. doi: 10.1023/A:1015951402799

10. Newnham DM, McDevitt DG, Lipworth BJ. Comparison of the extrapulmonary beta2-adrenoceptor responses and pharmacokinetics of salbutamol given by standard metered dose-inhaler and modified actuator device. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (1993) 36:445–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2125.1993.tb00393.x

11. Chrystyn H. Methods to identify drug deposition in the lungs following inhalation. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (2001) 51:289–99. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2125.2001.01304.x

12. Longest PW, Bass K, Dutta R, Rani V, Thomas ML, el-Achwah A, et al. Use of computational fluid dynamics deposition modeling in respiratory drug delivery. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv*. (2019) 16:7–26. doi: 10.1080/17425247.2019.1551875

13. Koblinger L, Hofmann W. Monte Carlo modeling of aerosol deposition in human lungs. Part I: simulation of particle transport in a stochastic lung structure. *J Aerosol Sci.* (1990) 21:661–74. doi: 10.1016/0021-8502(90)90121-D

14. Farkas Á, Jókay Á, Balásházy I, Füri P, Müller V, Tomisa G, et al. Numerical simulation of emitted particle characteristics and airway deposition distribution of Symbicort[®] Turbuhaler[®] dry powder fixed combination aerosol drug. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* (2016) 93:371–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejps.2016.08.036

15. Miravitlles M, Soler-Cataluña JJ, Alcázar B, Viejo JL, García-Río F. Factors affecting the selection of an inhaler device for COPD and the ideal device for different patient profiles. Results of EPOCA Delphi consensus. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther.* (2018) 48:97–103. doi: 10.1016/j.pupt.2017.10.006

16. Price D, Keininger DL, Viswanad B, Gasser M, Walda S, Gutzwiller FS. Factors associated with appropriate inhaler use in patients with COPD - lessons from the REAL survey. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2018) 13:695–702. doi: 10.2147/COPD. S149404

17. Barrons R, Pegram A, Borries A. Inhaler device selection: special considerations in elderly patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Health Syst Pharm.* (2011) 68:1221–32. doi: 10.2146/ajhp100452

18. Ghosh S, Pleasants RA, Ohar JA, Donohue JF, Drummond MB. Prevalence and factors associated with suboptimal peak inspiratory flow rates in COPD. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2019) 14:585–95. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S195438

19. GOLD, Global Strategy for Diagnosis, Management and Prevention of COPD. Available at: www.goldcopd.org, (2015).

20. Miller MR, Hankinson JATS, Brusasco V, Burgos F, Casaburi R, Coates A, et al. Standardisation of spirometry. *Eur Respir J.* (2005) 26:319–38. doi: 10.1183/09031936.05.00034805

21. Wanger J, Clausen JL, Coates A, Pedersen OF, Brusasco V, Burgos F, et al. Standardisation of the measurement of lung volumes. *Eur Respir J*. (2005) 26:511–22. doi: 10.1183/09031936.05.00035005

22. Erdelyi T, Lazar Z, Odler B, Tamasi L, Müller V. The repeatability of inspiration performance through different inhalers in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and control volunteers. *J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv*. (2020) 33:271–81. doi: 10.1089/jamp.2020.1594

23. Horváth A, Farkas Á, Szipőcs A, Tomisa G, Szalai Z, Gálffy G. Numerical simulation of the effect of inhalation parameters, gender, age and disease severity on the lung deposition of dry powder aerosol drugs emitted by Turbuhaler[®], Breezhaler[®] and Genuair[®] in COPD patients. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* (2020) 154:105508. doi: 10.1016/j. ejps.2020.105508

24. Raabe O.G.Y., Schum Hsu-Chi, Michael G., Phalen Robert F, *Tracheobronchial Geometry: Human, Dog, Rat, Hamster.* United States: Department of Commerce. (1976): p. 1–741.

25. Haefeli-Bleuer B, Weibel ER. Morphometry of the human pulmonary acinus. Anat Rec. (1988) 220:401–14. doi: 10.1002/ar.1092200410

26. Bland JM, Altman DG. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. *Lancet*. (1986) 1:307-10.

27. Brand P, Hederer B, Austen G, Dewberry H, Meyer T. Higher lung deposition with Respimat soft mist inhaler than HFA-MDI in COPD patients with poor technique. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2008) 3:763–70.

28. EMC, Fostair 100/6 inhalation solution. (2007) Available at: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/6318/smpc.

29. EMC, Spiriva Respimat 2.5 microgram, inhalation solution. (2017) Available at: https://www.medicines.org.uk/emc/product/407/smpc.

30. EMA, *Trimbow 87 micrograms/5 micrograms/9 micrograms pressurised inhalation, solution.* (2017) Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/trimbow-epar-product-information_en.pdf.

31. Vestbo J, Papi A, Corradi M, Blazhko V, Montagna I, Francisco C, et al. Single inhaler extrafine triple therapy versus long-acting muscarinic antagonist therapy for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (TRINITY): a double-blind, parallel group, randomised controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2017) 389:1919–29. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30188-5

32. Feldman GJ, Sousa AR, Lipson DA, Tombs L, Barnes N, Riley JH, et al. Comparative efficacy of once-daily Umeclidinium/Vilanterol and Tiotropium/ Olodaterol therapy in symptomatic chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomized study. *Adv Ther.* (2017) 34:2518–33. doi: 10.1007/s12325-017-0626-4

33. Ierodiakonou D, Sifaki-Pistolla D, Kampouraki M, Poulorinakis I, Papadokostakis P, Gialamas I, et al. Adherence to inhalers and comorbidities in COPD patients. A crosssectional primary care study from Greece. *BMC Pulm Med*. (2020) 20:253. doi: 10.1186/ s12890-020-01296-3

34. Aswania O, Ritson S, Iqbal SM, Bhatt J, Rigby AS, Everard ML. Intra-subject variability in lung dose in healthy volunteers using five conventional portable inhalers. *J Aerosol Med.* (2004) 17:231–8. doi: 10.1089/jam.2004.17.231

35. Fink JB, Colice GL, Hodder R. Inhaler devices for patients with COPD. *COPD*. (2013) 10:523–35. doi: 10.3109/15412555.2012.761960

36. Sanchis J, Corrigan C, Levy ML, Viejo JLADMIT Group. Inhaler devices – from theory to practice. *Respir Med.* (2013) 107:495–502. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2012.12.007

37. ERS In: PRG Palange, editor. *Handbook of Respiratory Medicine*. Sheffield, UK: The European Respiratory Society (2019). 886.

38. Clark AR, Weers JG, Dhand R. The confusing world of dry powder inhalers: it is all about inspiratory pressures, not inspiratory flow rates. *J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv*. (2020) 33:1–11. doi: 10.1089/jamp.2019.1556

39. Molimard M, Raherison C, Lignot S, Balestra A, Lamarque S, Chartier A, et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbation and inhaler device handling: real-life assessment of 2935 patients. *Eur Respir J.* (2017) 49:1601794. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01794-2016

40. Gálffy G, Mezei G, Németh G, Tamási L, Müller V, Selroos O, et al. Inhaler competence and patient satisfaction with Easyhaler[®]: results of two real-life multicentre studies in asthma and COPD. *Drugs R D.* (2013) 13:215–22. doi: 10.1007/s40268-013-0027-3

41. Alter P, Orszag J, Wouters EFM, Vogelmeier CF, Jörres RA. Differences in the measurement of functional residual capacity between body Plethysmographs of two manufacturers. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2022) 17:1477–82. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S363493

42. Baloira A, Abad A, Fuster A, García Rivero JL, García-Sidro P, Márquez-Martín E, et al. Lung deposition and inspiratory flow rate in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease using different inhalation devices: a systematic literature review and expert opinion. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2021) 16:1021–33. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S297980

43. GOLD, Global Strategy for Diagnosis, Management and Prevention of COPD. (2023) Available at: www.gold.copd.org Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Justin Garner, Royal Brompton Hospital, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Antonio Molino, University of Naples Federico II, Italy Sateesh Sakhamuri, Medical Associates Hospital, Trinidad and Tobago

*CORRESPONDENCE Chaicharn Pothirat ⊠ chaicharn.p@cmu.ac.th

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 07 March 2023 ACCEPTED 19 April 2023 PUBLISHED 17 May 2023

CITATION

Liwsrisakun C, Chaiwong W and Pothirat C (2023) Comparative assessment of small airway dysfunction by impulse oscillometry and spirometry in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma with and without fixed airflow obstruction. *Front. Med.* 10:1181188. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1181188

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Liwsrisakun, Chaiwong and Pothirat. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Comparative assessment of small airway dysfunction by impulse oscillometry and spirometry in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma with and without fixed airflow obstruction

Chalerm Liwsrisakun[†], Warawut Chaiwong[†] and Chaicharn Pothirat*

Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care, and Allergy, Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand

Background: Small airways play a major role in the pathogenesis and prognosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma. More data on small airway dysfunction (SAD) using spirometry and impulse oscillometry (IOS) in these populations are required. The objective of this study was to compare the two methods, spirometry and IOS, for SAD detection and its prevalence defined by spirometry and IOS in subjects with COPD and asthma with and without fixed airflow obstruction (FAO).

Design: This is a cross-sectional study.

Methods: Spirometric and IOS parameters were compared across four groups (COPD, asthma with FAO, asthma without FAO, and healthy subjects). SAD defined by spirometry and IOS criteria were compared.

Results: A total of 262 subjects (67 COPD, 55 asthma with FAO, 101 asthma without FAO, and 39 healthy controls) were included. The prevalence of SAD defined by using IOS and spirometry criteria was significantly higher in patients with COPD (62.7 and 95.5%), asthma with FAO (63.6 and 98.2%), and asthma without FAO (38.6 and 19.8%) in comparison with healthy control (7.7 and 2.6%). IOS is more sensitive than spirometry in the detection of SAD in asthma without FAO (38.6% vs. 19.8%, p=0.003) However, in subjects with FAO (COPD and asthma with FAO), spirometry is more sensitive than IOS to detect SAD (95.5% vs. 62.7%, p<0.001 and 98.2% vs. 63.6%, p<0.001, respectively).

Conclusion: Small airway dysfunction was significantly detected in COPD and asthma with and without FAO. Although IOS shows more sensitivity than spirometry in the detection of SAD in asthma without FAO, spirometry is more sensitive than IOS in patients with FAO including COPD and asthma with FAO.

KEYWORDS

COPD, asthma, fixed airflow obstruction, impulse oscillometry, small airways, spirometry

Introduction

Small airways have a diameter of fewer than 2 mm (1). Small airways contribute a major role in both chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma (2, 3) caused by inflammation, hypersecretion of mucus, and airway remodeling (4). Small airway dysfunction (SAD) has been investigated for more than 60 years (5). No gold standard method currently exists for clinically assessing SAD. Spirometry is the most widely used method due to its relatively easy performance and simple measurement device (6).

The mid-maximal expiratory flow rate (MMEF) widely known as the average expired flow over the middle half (25-75%) of the forced vital capacity (FVC) maneuver (FEF25-75%) was proposed as the best parameter to identify SAD by spirometry (7). Its use is based on the hypothesis that the mid-late portion of the FVC reflects the airflow through the small airways, which are prone to expiratory collapse due to their lack of cartilaginous support (8). The American Thoracic Society (ATS) and European Respiratory Society (ERS) guidelines do not support using the FEF25-75% to identify SAD but suggest that oscillometry may provide evidence of airflow obstruction (9-11). Moreover, Quanjer et al. also suggested that the FEF25-75% does not contribute usefully to clinical decision-making (12). However, a recent large cohort analysis supports %predicted of FEF25-75% which helps link the anatomic pathology and deranged physiology of COPD independent of the %predicted forced expiratory measurement in the first second (FEV_1) (13).

Impulse oscillometry (IOS) is a simple, non-invasive method, requiring only tidal breathing that allows for the evaluation of airway resistance and airway reactance in the airways and lungs (14). The IOS can be used for the diagnosis of COPD (15). It has been valuable for the evaluation of asthma control (16-18). Moreover, it detects SAD in COPD and asthma (19-22). Additionally, the IOS helped in the differentiation of COPD, asthma, and healthy subjects (15, 21, 23). All of the IOS parameters including resistance at 5 Hz (R5), resistance at 20 Hz (R20), heterogeneity of resistance (R5-R20), reactance at 5 Hz (X5), resonant frequency (Fres), and area under reactance curve between 5Hz and Fres (AX) were significantly higher in COPD compared to healthy subjects (15, 23). The R20, R5-R20, and Fres were significantly different between COPD and asthma (23). Pornsuriyasak et al. also found significantly different IOS parameters across COPD, asthma with fixed airflow obstruction (FAO), and asthma without FAO (21).

In COPD and asthma, the small airway plays a major role in their pathogenesis (23). Air trapping and small airway wall thickening are associated with the progression of COPD (23). In asthma, inflammation and alterations of the small airways are associated with the severity of asthma and the level of asthma control (18, 24). Many methods have been introduced for measuring SAD including spirometry, plethysmography, IOS, inert gas washout, exhaled nitric oxide, and imaging, e.g., high-resolution computed tomography hyperpolarized magnetic resonance imaging and nuclear medicine (25). Of these, IOS is non-invasive, easy to perform, effort independent, and reproducible (25). By using IOS, more than half of subjects with COPD (60.0–74.0%) had SAD (21, 26–28). Additionally, Crisafulli et al. found the presence of SAD to progressively increase according to severity classifications of COPD (26). In asthma, a systematic review showed that the prevalence of SAD in asthma ranged from 33.0 to 69.9% when using IOS (22). In one study, the prevalence of SAD by using fixed R5–R20 criteria \geq 0.075 kPa/L/s in COPD, asthma with FAO, and asthma without FAO were 68, 95, and 77%, respectively (21). By using spirometry, Manoharan et al. found that 54% of asthma had SAD defined using FEF25–75% of <60% predicted (29). The prevalence of SAD in airway diseases utilizing different methods varies. The study of SAD in COPD and asthma prevalence using IOS and spirometry still requires more clarification. Therefore, the objective of this study was to compare the IOS parameters and prevalence of SAD using IOS and spirometry in subjects with COPD, asthma with and without FAO, and healthy controls.

Materials and methods

Study procedures

This is a secondary analysis of cross-sectional studies in patients with COPD and asthma which were previously published (15, 18). The study was conducted at the Lung Health Center, Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Allergy, Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand. All subjects were enrolled between July 2019 and June 2020. All tests were performed by a well-trained technician. Demographic data including age, sex, body mass index (BMI), comorbidities, smoking status, and inhaled medication used were recorded. The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University [Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval number: MED-2562-06282, date of approval: 28 June 2019 and filed under Clinical Trials Registry (Study ID: TCTR20190709004, date of approval: 5 July 2019)]. Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects before enrollment.

Subjects

The inclusion criteria were subjects with ages greater than 40 years. The exclusion criteria were the subjects who were unable to perform acceptable spirometry according to the ATS/ERS standard (11) and who were unable to perform the IOS according to the standard recommended by the ERS standard (14). Diagnosis of COPD in this study was based on the post-bronchodilator (post-BD) ratio of FEV₁/ FVC below the lower limit of normal (LLN) (9) with a history of smoking \geq 10 pack-years, age of onset of symptoms >40 years, and no history of asthma in first-degree family members. Asthma subjects in this study were based on a history of clinically diagnosed asthma based on episodic breathlessness, wheezing, cough, and tightness and/ or bronchodilator responsiveness and had a history of non-smoking or ex-smoking of <5 pack-years. Asthma with FAO was defined by the on-treatment ratio of FEV1/FVC persistently below LLN for at least three measurements during stable visits over a year. Asthma without FAO was characterized by the on-treatment ratio of $FEV_1/FVC \ge LLN$ measured at the stable visit. Healthy control subjects were classified as subjects with normal spirometry (%FEV1/FVC value>LLN and FVC>LLN), had no chronic respiratory symptoms, no previous diagnosis of any chronic respiratory diseases, and were non-smokers (30).

Definition

Due to the lack of consensus over which spirometry parameter is the best to identify SAD. FEF25–75% is a more sensitive parameter than FEV₁ for assessing changes in peripheral airway function (7). FEF25–75% has been described as less effort-dependent than FEV₁ and is a measurement of SAD (7, 8). Thus, this study used FEF25– 75% from spirometry to identify SAD. However, there is no guideline regarding normal values for FEF25–75%. The most popular arbitrary cutoffs of FEF25-75% were between 60 and 75% (8). The previous study found that the normal 95th percentile for FEF25-75% is actually closer to 56% predicted in subjects with ages over 36 years (31). Therefore, the FEF25–75% <60% predicted (8) was defined as SAD in our study. For the IOS test, SAD was defined when R5– R20 > ULN [predictive value +1.645 × Root Mean Square Error (RMSE)] (32).

Spirometry

Spirometry was performed using the Vmax 22 spirometer, Care Fusion, Hoechberg, Germany. Pre-BD spirometry was performed according to the standards of ATS/ERS (10). Spirometric parameters were collected including FVC, FEV₁, the ratio of FEV₁/FVC, and FEF25–75%. The predicted values of FVC, FEV₁, and FEF25-75% were calculated using the Global Lung Initiative (GLI) 2012 (Southeast Asian sub-group) reference equations (33). The *z*-scores of FVC, FEV₁, ratio of FEV₁/FVC, and FEF25–75% of each subject were also calculated from the GLI 2012 (Southeast Asian sub-group) reference equations (33).

Impulse oscillometry

Pre-BD IOS was performed in all subjects before spirometry. The respiratory resistance and reactance were measured using IOS (Master Screen IOS, Viasys GmbH, Hoechberg, Germany). Each subject was asked to perform tidal breathing for 30–40 s *via* a mouthpiece that was connected to the IOS machine. A minimum of three tests following the recommendation by ERS standard were required (34). The average values from three IOS measurements were recorded. We collected the following IOS parameters: R5, R20, R5–R20, X5, Fres, and AX. The predicted values of all parameters in IOS were calculated using the Thai predictive value published by Deesomchok et al. (35).

Study size calculation

The size of this study was calculated based on data from the previous study (21) using G*Power Version 3.1.9.2. The proportions of SAD in patients with COPD and asthma with FAO were 68 and 95%, respectively (21). Therefore, at least 140 subjects (35 subjects for each group) needed to be included in this study (power = 0.8 with statistical significance <0.05).

Statistical analysis

Results for continuous data were expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD) or median, interquartile range (IQR) as appropriate. Results for categorical data were expressed as frequencies and percentages. For baseline characteristics, IOS, and spirometry parameters, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the Bonferroni adjustment method was used to analyze differences across the four groups for parametric data. Kruskall-Wallis test was used to analyze the differences in baseline characteristics, IOS, and spirometry parameters across the four groups for non-parametric data. The Mann-Whitney U-Test was used to compare differences between the two groups for non-parametric data. The chi-square and Fisher's exact test were used to compare the categorical data across the four groups and between groups, respectively. The McNemar test was used to compare the categorical data within the group. The correlations between the IOS parameters and FEF25-75% were determined using Spearman's correlation coefficient analysis. The following cutoff parameters: 0 < |r| < 0.3 = weak correlation; 0.3 < |r| < 0.7 = moderate correlation; and |r| > 0.7 = strong correlation were used in this study (36). A value of p of <0.05 was considered statistical significance. In multiple comparisons, the adjusted level of significance was estimated by dividing the level of significance by several comparisons of four groups. Therefore, the value of p for multiple comparisons (6 and 3) was set as 0.008 (0.05/6) and 0.017 (0.05/3), respectively. All statistical analyses were performed using STATA version 16 (StataCorp, College Station, TX, United States).

Results

A total of 262 subjects (67 COPD, 55 asthma with FAO, 101 asthma without FAO, and 39 healthy controls) were included in the analysis. The baseline demographic data of all subjects in the four groups are shown in Table 1. There were significant differences in age, proportion of male sex, BMI, smoking status, and cardiovascular comorbidity across the four groups. Inhaled medications used were significantly different between asthma with FAO and asthma without FAO groups. Age and male sex were significantly higher in the COPD group in comparison with the other groups. More data are shown in Table 1.

There were significantly lower %predicted and *z*-score of all parameters of spirometry in the COPD and asthma with FAO groups in contrast to asthma without FAO and healthy control groups. The %predicted and *z*-score of all parameters of spirometry in the COPD group were also significantly lower than asthma with FAO group, except for the *z*-score of FEV₁/FVC and %predicted and *z*-score of FEF25–75%. In asthma without FAO, the *z*-score of FEV₁/FVC and %predicted and *z*-score of FEF25–75% were significantly lower against the healthy controls. More details are shown in Table 2.

Impulse oscillometry parameters of all groups are shown in Table 3. The %predicted and the absolute values of IOS parameters including R5–R20, Fres, and AX were significantly lower in healthy controls in correlation with the other groups. The less negative reactance of X5 was also observed in the healthy control group. In the COPD and asthma with FAO groups, a significant increase in %predicted and the absolute value of IOS parameters, including R5–R20, Fres, and AX, was observed in comparison with asthma without

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of all subjects.

Clinical characteristics	Newly diagnosed COPD (<i>n</i> =67)	Asthma with FAO (<i>n</i> =55)	Asthma without FAO (<i>n</i> =101)	Healthy control (n=39)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (year)	69.1 ± 8.5	$62.9 \pm 10.9 *$	$60.8 \pm 9.9*$	$60.6 \pm 10.4 *$	< 0.001
Male sex <i>n</i> (%)	59 (88.1)	23 (41.8)	31 (30.7)	21 (53.8)	< 0.001
Body mass index (BMI) ^a	22.7 ± 4.4	$24.6 \pm 4.6 *$	$26.3 \pm 4.4*$	23.6±3.0 ^{##}	< 0.001
Smoking status					< 0.001
Non-smoker	0 (0.0)	48 (87.3)	89 (88.1)	39 (100.0)	
Ex-smoker	63 (94.0)	7 (12.7)	11 (10.9)	0 (0.0)	
Current-smoker	4 (6.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (1.0)	0 (0.0)	
Smoking pack-year (median, IQR)	25.0 (16.4, 42.0)	0.0 (0.0, 0.0)*	0.0 (0.0, 0.0)*	0.0 (0.0, 0.0)*	< 0.001
Comorbidity n (%)					
Cardiovascular disease	40 (59.7)	20 (36.4)	37 (36.6)	5 (12.8)	< 0.001
Metabolic disease	13 (19.4)	6 (10.9)	16 (15.8)	0 (0.0)	0.438
Neuromuscular disease	6 (9.0)	2 (3.6)	4 (4.0)	0 (0.0)	0.300
Inhaled medication used ^a					< 0.001
ICS	N.A.	0 (0.0)	10 (9.9)	N.A.	
ICS + LABA	N.A.	33 (60.0)	77 (76.2)	N.A.	
ICS + LABA + LAMA	N.A.	22 (40.0)	14 (13.9)	N.A.	

Data are mean \pm standard deviation (SD) unless otherwise stated; **p*-value from exact test comparing asthma with fixed airflow obstruction and asthma with normal spirometry; **p* < 0.013 compared with COPD; **p* < 0.013 compared with asthma with FAO; ***p* < 0.013 compared with asthma without FAO; value of *p* of difference between the groups was significant with an adjusted level of significance (0.05/4=0.013). COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; IQR, interquartile range; ICS, inhaled corticosteroid; LABA, Long-acting beta2-agonists; LAMA long-acting muscarinic antagonist; NA, not assessment; FAO, fixed airway obstruction.

TABLE 2 Spirometric data of all subjects.

Spirometry data (Pre-bronchodilator)	Newly diagnosed COPD (<i>n</i> =67)	Asthma with FAO (n=55)	Asthma without FAO (<i>n</i> =101)	Healthy control (n=39)	<i>p</i> -value
%Predicted FVC	$82.2 \pm 18.8^*$	$91.5 \pm 15.5*$	98.2±14.3*,#	$101.5 \pm 11.0^{*,*}$	<0.001
<i>z</i> -Score of FVC	-1.1 ± 1.1	$-0.6 \pm 1.0^{*}$	$-0.1\pm0.9^{*,*}$	$0.1 \pm 0.7^{*, \#}$	<0.001
%Predicted FEV1	59.9 ± 18.5	$70.1 \pm 15.1*$	92.2±13.8*,#	$100.2 \pm 11.6^{*,*}$	<0.001
<i>z</i> -Score of FEV ₁	-2.3 ± 1.0	$-1.8 \pm 0.9*$	$-0.5 \pm 0.9^{*,*}$	$0.0 \pm 0.7^{*, \#}$	<0.001
FEV ₁ /FVC (%) ^a	57.4 ± 9.1	62.1±6.9*	$76.9 \pm 4.7^{*,*}$	80.5±5.2*,#	<0.001
<i>z</i> -Score of FEV ₁ /FVC	-2.9 ± 1.1	-2.7 ± 0.8	$-0.8 \pm 0.6^{*,*}$	$-0.1\pm0.7^{*,\#,\#}$	<0.001
%Predicted FEF25-75%	31.7±14.1	37.6±11.3	80.0±24.1* ^{,#}	106.3±31.7* ^{,#,##}	<0.001
<i>z</i> -Score of FEF25–75%	-2.5 ± 0.8	-2.3 ± 0.6	$-0.7\pm0.8^{*,*}$	$0.1 \pm 0.9^{*, \#, \#}$	<0.001

Data are mean \pm standard deviation (SD); *p < 0.017 compared with COPD. #p < 0.013 compared with asthma with FAO; ##p < 0.013 compared with asthma without FAO; value of p of difference between groups was significant with an adjusted level of significance (0.05/4 = 0.013). FVC, forced vital capacity; FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in the first second; FEF25–75%, forced expiratory flow at 25–75% of FVC; FAO, fixed airway obstruction.

FAO group. A significant decrease in %predicted of X5 was observed in COPD and asthma with FAO when contrasted with asthma without FAO group. The %predicted of AX was significantly higher in the group with COPD when compared with asthma in the FAO group. The %predicted and absolute values of R5-R20 were indifferent between COPD and asthma in the FAO group. More data are shown in Table 3.

Correlations between FEF25–75% and IOS parameters in subjects with chronic respiratory diseases and healthy controls are shown in Table 4. There was only a low-to-moderate correlation between some parameters of IOS and FEF25–75%, in which Fres in asthma with FAO showed the highest correlation. Correlations between FEF25–75% and IOS parameters in subjects with COPD, asthma with FAO, and asthma

without FAO and healthy control with preserved FVC are also shown in Table 5. Most of the IOS parameters did not correlate with FEF25– 75%. The highest correlation was shown in FEF25–75% and Fres in asthma with FAO, which was only a moderate correlation.

The prevalence of SAD was significantly higher in COPD, asthma with FAO, and asthma without FAO in comparison with healthy control groups both in the whole and subgroups with preserved FVC (Tables 6, 7). In COPD and asthma with FAO groups, the prevalence of SAD was also significantly higher than in asthma without FAO group. But there was no difference in the prevalence of SAD between COPD and asthma with FAO groups (Tables 6, 7). In the case of airway obstruction including COPD and asthma with FAO, the FEF25–75% was more sensitive than R5–R20 for SAD diagnosis. But,

TABLE 3 Impulse oscillometry (IOS) parameters of all subjects.

IOS parameters	Newly diagnosed COPD (<i>n</i> =67)	Asthma with FAO (<i>n</i> =55)	Asthma without FAO (<i>n</i> =101)	Healthy control (n=39)	<i>p</i> -value
R5 (cmH ₂ O/L/s)	4.8 ± 1.6	5.1 ± 2.1	4.6 ± 1.5	3.5±1.2* ^{,#,##}	< 0.001
% Predicted R5	158.3 ± 59.2	$128.1 \pm 48.4^*$	104.9±36.5*,#	97.7±22.6*,*	< 0.001
R20 (cmH ₂ O/L/s)	3.1 ± 0.9	3.3 ± 1.2	3.4 ± 0.9	2.9 ± 0.9	0.027
% Predicted R20	121.3 ± 34.8	$101.2 \pm 39.2*$	96.5±34.8*	96.4±18.5*	< 0.001
R5-R20 (cmH ₂ O/L/s) (median, IQR)	1.6 (0.9, 2.2)	1.3 (0.8, 2.3)	0.9 (0.4, 1.8)*.*	0.5 (0.3, 0.9)*.##	<0.001
% Predicted R5-R20 (median, IQR)	282.1 (171.8, 412.8)	270.2 (153.6, 545.1)	154.7 (87.7, 281.4)*.#	96.7 (51.3, 158.7)* ^{,‡,‡‡}	<0.001
X5 (cmH ₂ O/L/s) (median, IQR)	-1.9 (-2.7, -1.3)	-1.6 (-2.7, -0.9)	-1.5 (-1.9, -0.9)*	-1.0 (-1.3, -0.5)*. ^{\$,\$\$}	0.001
% Predicted X5 (median, IQR)	189.9 (141.1, 279.8)	151.7 (87.9, 258.8)*	140.8 (94.2, 177.9)*	95.7 (59.9, 138.4)*, ^{\$,\$‡‡}	<0.001
Fres (Hz)	22.9 ± 5.5	21.4±7.4*	17.5±5.1*,#	12.9±3.9*,##	< 0.001
% Predicted Fres	169.3 ± 47.7	157.3±60.6	121.5±32.7*,*	96.9±25.5*,##	< 0.001
AX (cmH ₂ O/L) (median, IQR)	17.2 (8.9, 26.1)	11.0 (6.7, 24.4)	7.1 (3.6, 14.1)*.*	3.3 (1.5, 4.9)* ^{,#,##}	<0.001
% Predicted AX (median, IQR)	459.7 (234.9, 779.0)	298.2 (185.5, 567.9)*	166.2 (98.3, 309.5)*.#	91.0 (42.5, 141.3)*, ^{‡,‡‡}	<0.001

Data are mean \pm standard deviation (SD) or otherwise stated; *p < 0.017 compared with COPD; *p < 0.013 compared with asthma with FAO; **p < 0.013 compared with asthma without FAO; value of p of difference between groups was significant with an adjusted level of significance (0.05/4=0.013). R5, resistance at 5 Hz; R20, resistance at 20 Hz; R5-R20; heterogeneity of resistance between R5 and R20; Fres, resonant frequency; X5, reactance at 5 Hz; AX, the area under reactance curve between 5 Hz and resonant frequency; FAO, fixed airway obstruction.

TABLE 4 Spearman correlation coefficients of FEF25-75% and IOS parameters in subjects with chronic respiratory diseases and healthy control.

	R5-R20	%R5-R20	AX	%AX	X5	%X5	Fres	%Fres
Chronic respiratory diseases (<i>n</i> =223)								
Newly diagnosed COPD $(n=67)$	-0.422*	-0.441*	-0.453*	-0.460*	0.426*	-0.340*	-0.472*	-0.508*
Asthma with FAO $(n = 55)$	-0.213	-0.222	-0.326*	-0.377*	0.205	-0.204	-0.505*	-0.536*
Asthma without FAO ($n = 101$)	-0.209*	-0.185	-0.222*	-0.241*	0.155	-0.179	-0.271*	-0.246*
Healthy control $(n=39)$	-0.354*	-0.292	-0.149	-0.138	-0.059	-0.039	-0.237	-0.275

**p*<0.05. R5-R20, heterogeneity of resistance between R5 and R20; Fres, resonant frequency; X5, reactance at 5 Hz; AX, the area under reactance curve between 5 Hz and resonant frequency; FAO, fixed airway obstruction.

R5–R20 was more sensitive than FEF25–75% for SAD detection in asthma without FAO. Additionally, the overestimation of SAD was observed when using the fixed criteria (R5-R20≥0.76 cmH₂O) in asthma without FAO and healthy controls. More data are shown in Tables 6, 7.

Discussion

In this study, we found that the prevalence of SAD classified by an increase in small airway resistance (R5–R20 \geq ULN) was significantly higher in COPD, asthma with FAO, and asthma without FAO

compared to healthy controls. The spirometry-derived FEF25–75% was more sensitive than R5–R20 for SAD diagnosis in patients with COPD and asthma with FAO. But, the IOS-derived R5–R20 was more sensitive than FEF25–75% for SAD diagnosis in asthma without FAO. In addition, SAD was overdiagnosed when using the fixed criteria of R5–R20 \geq 0.76 cmH₂O in asthma without FAO and healthy controls. We also found that the IOS parameters, especially for R5–R20, X5, Fres, and AX, were significantly lower in healthy subjects compared to COPD and asthma with and without FAO.

Respiratory resistance is largely affected by airway caliber (34). The narrower and longer airways have higher airway resistance (34). Our study showed an increase in R5 and R5–R20 in COPD, asthma TABLE 5 Spearman correlation coefficients of FEF25–75% and IOS parameters in subjects with chronic respiratory diseases and healthy control with FVC≥80% predicted.

	R5-R20	%R5-R20	AX	%AX	X5	%X5	Fres	%Fres
Chronic respiratory diseases (<i>n</i> = 173)								
Newly diagnosed COPD $(n = 40)$	-0.158	-0.171	-0.216	-0.216	0.223	-0.146	-0.058	-0.109
Asthma with FAO $(n = 44)$	-0.102	-0.171	-0.224	-0.273	0.134	-0.109	-0.369*	-0.481*
Asthma without FAO ($n = 89$)	-0.216*	-0.227*	-0.263*	-0.299*	0.196	-0.206	-0.266*	-0.282*
Healthy control $(n=37)$	-0.305	-0.233	-0.085	-0.086	-0.128	0.008	-0.221	-0.276

**p*<0.05. R5-R20, heterogeneity of resistance between R5 and R20; Fres, resonant frequency; X5, reactance at 5 Hz; AX, the area under reactance curve between 5 Hz and resonant frequency; FAO, fixed airway obstruction.

TABLE 6 Subjects with small airway dysfunction defined by R5-R20≥upper limit of normal, R5-R20≥0.76 cmH₂O, and %predicted FEF25-75%<60.

Small airway dysfunction	Newly diagnosed COPD (<i>n</i> =67)	Asthma with FAO (n=55)	Asthma without FAO (<i>n</i> =101)	Healthy control (n=39)	<i>p</i> -value
$R5-R20 \ge ULN$	42 (62.7)	35 (63.6)	39 (38.6)*.#	3 (7.7)**,##	<0.001
R5-R20≥0.76 cmH ₂ O (0.075 kPa/L/s)	56 (83.6) ^a	42 (76.4) ^a	56 (55.4)*. ^{#,a}	12 (30.8)*.##.a	<0.001
%Predicted FEF25-75% < 60	64 (95.5) ^a	54 (98.2) ^{a,b}	20 (19.8)* ^{,#,a,b}	1 (2.6)* ^{,#,##,b}	<0.001

Data are n (%); *p < 0.008 compared with COPD; *p < 0.008 compared with asthma with FAO; **p < 0.008 compared with asthma without FAO; value of p of difference between groups was significant with an adjusted level of significance (0.05/6 = 0.008); *p < 0.017 compared with R5–R20 \geq ULN criteria; bcompared with R5–R20 \geq 0.76 cmH₂O criteria; for *bvalue of p of difference between groups was significant with an adjusted level of significance (0.05/3 = 0.017). R5-R20, heterogeneity of resistance between R5 and R20; ULN, upper limit of normal; FAO, fixed airway obstruction.

with FAO, and asthma without FAO compared to healthy controls. Additionally, the R5–R20 was significantly higher in COPD and asthma with FAO compared to asthma without FAO groups. Our results were supported by the previous studies showing that airway resistances were increased in COPD and asthma (with and without FAO) compared to healthy subjects (15, 21, 23). Moreover, our results were comparable to the previous finding indicating that R5–R20 was increased in asthma with FAO compared to asthma without FAO (21).

Respiratory reactance is comprised of both inertance and elastance (34). King et al. suggested that more negative reactance indicated greater elastance or stiffness (34) and this typically occurred in subjects with obstructive airway diseases (34). The previous studies showed a decrease in X5 and an increase in AX in subjects with COPD and asthma compared with healthy controls (15, 23). In asthma with FAO, a decrease in X5 and an increase in AX were also observed in contrast with asthma without FAO (21). Our study also demonstrated that the X5 and AX were significantly decreased and increased, respectively, in COPD, asthma with FAO, and asthma without FAO when compared to healthy subjects.

From the previous studies, the diagnosis of SAD could be made by using IOS parameters, especially the R5–R20 (21, 22, 26, 27, 37). They reported that the ranges of the prevalence of SAD in COPD and asthma varied from 60.0 to 73.8% and 33.0 to 95.0%, respectively. In this study, we used the ULN of R5–R20 value for the diagnosis of SAD. We found the prevalence of SAD in COPD, asthma with FAO, and asthma without FAO to be 62.7, 63.6, and 38.6%, respectively. Our results were comparable with the previous findings (21, 22, 26, 27, 37). However, the prevalence of SAD in asthma with FAO and without FAO in our study was lower than in the previous study published by Pornsuriyasak et al. (21). They found that the prevalence of SAD was 95 and 77% in asthma with FAO and asthma without FAO, respectively. These discrepancies were due to the difference in criteria used for the diagnosis of SAD. The average of ULN of R5–R20 in our study was 1.182 cmH₂O/L/s (0.116 kPa/L/s) (data not shown) which was much higher than the fixed cutoff R5–R20 level of >0.075 kPa/L/s used by the previous study (21). This could lead to overestimating SAD when using the fixed cutoff R5–R20 criteria.

This study found FEF25-75% to be more sensitive than R5-R20 in the case of FAO (COPD and asthma with FAO). R5-R20 was more sensitive than FEF25-75% for SAD detection in groups with normal FEV₁/FVC (asthma without FAO) and in subgroups with preserved FVC. Additionally, the overestimation of SAD was observed when using the fixed criteria (R5-R20 \geq 0.76 cmH₂O) in asthma without FAO and healthy controls. Our results were supported by a previous study indicating that IOS shows more sensitivity for evaluating SAD than spirometry in patients with normal lung function and spirometry showed more sensitivity than IOS to detect SAD using spirometry in subjects with abnormal lung function (32). The difference in techniques of both tests might explain these discrepant results. The sound waves were applied to measure airway resistance and airway reactance during tidal breathing in IOS, whereas the forced expiratory maneuvers might induce airway collapse which resulted in decreasing of FEF25-75% in spirometry (8, 38). Therefore, the ULN of R5-R20 from IOS is more sensitive than FEF25-75% from spirometry for the

Small airway dysfunction	Newly diagnosed COPD (<i>n</i> =40)	Asthma with FAO (<i>n</i> =44)	Asthma without FAO (n=89)	Healthy control (<i>n</i> =37)	<i>p</i> -value
$R5-R20 \ge ULN$	20 (50.0)	26 (59.1)	34 (38.2)	3 (8.1)**.##	<0.001
R5-R20≥0.76 cmH ₂ O (0.075 kPa/L/s)	32 (80.0) ^a	32 (72.7)	47 (52.8)*.ª	11 (29.7)*. ^{##,a}	<0.001
%Predicted FEF25–75% < 60	37 (92.5) ^a	43 (97.7) ^{a,b}	18 (20.2)* ^{,#,a,b}	1 (2.7)* ^{,#,##,b}	<0.001

TABLE 7 Subjects with small airway dysfunction defined by $R5-R20 \ge upper limit of normal$, $R5-R20 \ge 0.76 cmH_2O$, and %predicted FEF25-75%<60 in subjects with chronic respiratory diseases and healthy control with preserved FVC (FVC $\ge 80\%$ predicted).

Data are n (%); *p < 0.008 compared with COPD; *p < 0.008 compared with asthma with FAO; *p < 0.008 compared with asthma without FAO; value of p of difference between groups was significant with an adjusted level of significance; (0.05/6=0.008), *p < 0.017 compared with R5–R20 \geq ULN criteria; b compared with R5–R20 \geq 0.76 cmH₂O criteria; for *^b, value of p of difference between group was significant with an adjusted level of significance (0.05/3=0.017). R5–R20, heterogeneity of resistance between R5 and R20; ULN, upper limit of normal; FAO, fixed airway obstruction.

detection of SAD in subjects with normal FEV_1/FVC and patients with obstructive airway disease with normal FVC.

Impulse oscillometry is currently the most specific and sensitive test for the detection of SAD (37). We found that subjects with chronic respiratory disease including COPD and asthma were in high-risk groups for SAD because small airways play a major role in the pathogenesis and prognosis of both COPD and asthma (18, 23, 24). For example, the SAD classified by value of $R5-R20 \ge 1 \text{ cmH}_2\text{O/L/s}$ was an accurate tool for the detection of uncontrolled asthma in our previous study (18). SAD diagnosed by IOS in patients with intermittent asthma not treated with controller medications, mostly had normal FEV₁/FVC, was shown to predict the future of more symptoms, more use of rescue medication, poor asthma control, and severe exacerbations (39). In addition, serial R5-R20 measurements were beneficial in predicting the response to treatment (40). These findings confirm that IOS has benefits in both prognosis and management plans in asthma patients. Therefore, the findings of these and our studies suggest that clinicians should regularly perform IOS testing in patients with obstructive airway disease. The results of SAD measured by IOS may be useful for monitoring and treating these patients.

The strength of our study is that the healthy control group was included for comparison with COPD and asthma with and without the FAO group. We also did the subgroup analysis of those with preserved FVC. Moreover, the prediction equations of IOS parameters in the Thai population were used in this study. The %predicted of each IOS parameter was used for analysis. Thus, the diversities of age, sex, height, and weight that had impacts on airway resistance and reactance were minimized (35, 41, 42). We encourage using the ULN criteria of R5-R20 instead of the fixed criteria (R5- $R20 \ge 0.76 \text{ cmH}_2\text{O}$) for reducing the over-or underestimation of SAD. However, this study has some limitations. First, only newly diagnosed COPD was included in this study. Thus, the results may not be generalized for treated COPD patients. Second, due to the small sample size of COPD, the prevalence of SAD according to the staging of COPD was not mentioned in this study. Third, due to the lack of consensus over the cutoff value of FEF25-75% for identifying SAD, the threshold of FEF 25-75% < 60% predicted was classified as SAD in the current study. Thus, the results may not be generalized for the other studies which used other cutoff points. Finally, due to the cross-sectional study design, the association between a continuous scale of lung function measurements (FEF25-75% and R5-R20) and clinical symptoms, exacerbations, and comorbidities were not mentioned in this study. Therefore, the effect of SAD on clinical

symptoms and exacerbations should be addressed in future prospective studies.

Conclusion

The IOS parameters, especially the R5–R20, can be used to differentiate healthy subjects from chronic airway diseases, including COPD and asthma with or without FAO. The ULN, rather than a fixed cutoff point, of R5–R20 should be used to identify SAD. The prevalence of SAD was significantly higher in COPD, asthma with FAO, and asthma without FAO in comparison with healthy control. Moreover, the prevalence of SAD was significantly higher in COPD and asthma with FAO than in asthma without FAO. IOS is more sensitive than spirometry for the detection of SAD in asthma without AFO; however, for patients with AFO including COPD and asthma with FAO, spirometry is more sensitive.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University [Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval number: MED-2562-06282, date of approval: 28 June 2019 and filed under Clinical Trials Registry (Study ID: TCTR20190709004, date of approval: 5 July 2019)]. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

CL, WC, and CP: conceptualization, methodology, validation, investigation, resources, writing–review and editing, and visualization. WC: software, formal analysis, and data curation. CL and WC: writing–original draft preparation. CL and CP: supervision and project administration. WC and CP: funding acquisition. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This study was funded by the Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University Research Fund under grant no. 037/2563.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank all subjects who participated in this study. They also wish to acknowledge the contribution of the staff of the Division of Pulmonary, Critical Care and Allergy, Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University to this trial. And the authors thank Ruth Leatherman, Research administration section, Faculty of Medicine, Chiang Mai University for native English proofreading.

References

1. Mead J. The lung's "quiet zone.". N Engl J Med. (1970) 282:1318–9. doi: 10.1056/ NEJM197006042822311

2. Baraldo S, Turato G, Saetta M. Pathophysiology of the small airways in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respiration*. (2012) 84:89–97. doi: 10.1159/000341382

3. Postma DS, Brightling C, Baldi S, Van den Berge M, Fabbri LM, Gagnatelli A, et al. Exploring the relevance and extent of small airways dysfunction in asthma (ATLANTIS): baseline data from a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2019) 7:402–16. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(19)30049-9

4. Higham A, Quinn AM, Cançado JED, Singh D. The pathology of small airways disease in COPD: historical aspects and future directions. *Respir Res.* (2019) 20:49. doi: 10.1186/s12931-019-1017-y

5. Macklem PT, Mead J. Resistance of central and peripheral airways measured by a retrograde catheter. *J Appl Physiol*. (1967) 22:395–401. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1967.22.3.395

6. Konstantinos Katsoulis K, Kostikas K, Kontakiotis T. Techniques for assessing small airways function: possible applications in asthma and COPD. *Respir Med.* (2016) 119:e2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2013.05.003

7. McFadden ER Jr, Linden DA. A reduction in maximum mid-expiratory flow rate. A spirographic manifestation of small airway disease. *Am J Med.* (1972) 52:725–37. doi: 10.1016/0002-9343(72)90078-2

8. Knox-Brown B, Mulhern O, Feary J, Amaral AFS. Spirometry parameters used to define small airways obstruction in population-based studies: systematic review. *Respir Res.* (2022) 23:67. doi: 10.1186/s12931-022-01990-2

9. Pellegrino R, Viegi G, Brusasco V, Crapo RO, Burgos F, Casaburi R, et al. Interpretative strategies for lung function tests. *Eur Respir J*. (2005) 26:948–68. doi: 10.1183/09031936.05.00035205

10. Miller MR, Hankinson J, Brusasco V, Burgos F, Casaburi R, Coates A, et al. Standardisation of spirometry. *Eur Respir J.* (2005) 26:319–38. doi: 10.1183/09031936.05.00034805

11. Stanojevic S, Kaminsky DA, Miller MR, Thompson B, Aliverti A, Barjaktarevic I, et al. ERS/ATS technical standard on interpretive strategies for routine lung function tests. *Eur Respir J*. (2022) 60:2101499. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01499-2021

12. Quanjer PH, Weiner DJ, Pretto JJ, Brazzale DJ, Boros PW. Measurement of FEF25-75% and FEF75% does not contribute to clinical decision making. *Eur Respir J*. (2014) 43:1051–8. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00128113

13. Ronish BE, Couper DJ, Barjaktarevic IZ, Cooper CB, Kanner RE, Pirozzi CS, et al. Forced expiratory flow at 25-75% links COPD physiology to emphysema and disease severity in the SPIROMICS cohort. *Chronic Obstr Pulm Dis.* (2022) 9:111–21. doi: 10.15326/jcopdf.2021.0241

14. Bickel S, Popler J, Lesnick B, Eid N. Impulse oscillometry: interpretation and practical applications. *Chest.* (2014) 146:841–7. doi: 10.1378/chest.13-1875

15. Chaiwong W, Namwongprom S, Liwsrisakun C, Pothirat C. Diagnostic ability of impulse Oscillometry in diagnosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *COPD*. (2020) 17:635–46. doi: 10.1080/15412555.2020.1839042

16. Shi Y, Aledia AS, Galant SP, George SC. Peripheral airway impairment measured by oscillometry predicts loss of asthma control in children. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2013) 131:718–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.09.022

17. Shi Y, Aledia AS, Tatavoosian AV, Vijayalakshmi S, Galant SP, George SC. Relating small airways to asthma control by using impulse oscillometry in children. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2012) 129:671–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2011.11.002

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

18. Chaiwong W, Namwongprom S, Liwsrisakun C, Pothirat C. The roles of impulse oscillometry in detection of poorly controlled asthma in adults with normal spirometry. *J Asthma*. (2022) 59:561–71. doi: 10.1080/02770903.2020.1868499

19. Pornsuriyasak P, Suwatanapongched T, Thaipisuttikul W, Nitiwarangkul C, Kawamatawong T, Amornputtisathaporn N, et al. Assessment of proximal and peripheral airway dysfunction by computed tomography and respiratory impedance in asthma and COPD patients with fixed airflow obstruction. *Ann Thorac Med.* (2018) 13:212–9. doi: 10.4103/atm.ATM_22_18

20. Lu D, Chen L, Fan C, Zeng W, Fan H, Wu X, et al. The value of impulse Oscillometric parameters and quantitative HRCT parameters in differentiating asthma-COPD overlap from COPD. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2021) 16:2883–94. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S331853

21. Pornsuriyasak P, Khiawwan S, Rattanasiri S, Unwanatham N, Petnak T. Prevalence of small airways dysfunction in asthma with-and without-fixed airflow obstruction and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol.* (2021) 39:296–303. doi: 10.12932/AP-310119-0485

22. Usmani OS, Singh D, Spinola M, Bizzi A, Barnes PJ. The prevalence of small airways disease in adult asthma: a systematic literature review. *Respir Med.* (2016) 116:19–27. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2016.05.006

23. Kanda S, Fujimoto K, Komatsu Y, Yasuo M, Hanaoka M, Kubo K. Evaluation of respiratory impedance in asthma and COPD by an impulse oscillation system. *Intern Med.* (2010) 49:23–30. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.49.2191

24. van der Wiel E, ten Hacken NH, Postma DS, van den Berge M. Small airways dysfunction associates with respiratory symptoms and clinical features of asthma: a systematic review. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2013) 131:646–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.12.1567

25. McNulty W, Usmani OS. Techniques of assessing small airways dysfunction. *Eur Clin Respir J.* (2014) 1:1. doi: 10.3402/ecrj.v1.25898

26. Crisafulli E, Pisi R, Aiello M, Vigna M, Tzani P, Torres A, et al. Prevalence of smallairway dysfunction among COPD patients with different GOLD stages and its role in the impact of disease. *Respiration*. (2017) 93:32–41. doi: 10.1159/000452479

27. Jarenback L, Ankerst J, Bjermer L, Tufvesson E. Flow-volume parameters in COPD related to extended measurements of lung volume, diffusion, and resistance. *Pulm Med.* (2013) 2013:782052. doi: 10.1155/2013/782052

28. Chetta A, Facciolongo N, Franco C, Franzini L, Piraino A, Rossi C. Impulse oscillometry, small airways disease, and extra-fine formulations in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: windows for new opportunities. *Ther Clin Risk Manag.* (2022) 18:965–79. doi: 10.2147/TCRM.S369876

29. Manoharan A, Anderson WJ, Lipworth J, Lipworth BJ. Assessment of spirometry and impulse oscillometry in relation to asthma control. *Lung.* (2015) 193:47–51. doi: 10.1007/s00408-014-9674-6

30. Pothirat C, Phetsuk N, Liwsrisakun C, Bumroongkit C, Deesomchok A, Theerakittikul T. Major chronic respiratory diseases in Chiang Mai: prevalence, clinical characteristics, and their correlations. *J Med Assoc Thail*. (2016) 99:1005–13.

31. Knudson RJ, Lebowitz MD. Maximal mid-expiratory flow (FEF25-75%): normal limits and assessment of sensitivity. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* (1978) 117:609–10. doi: 10.1164/arrd.1978.117.3.609

32. Lu L, Peng J, Zhao N, Wu F, Tian H, Yang H, et al. Discordant Spirometry and impulse Oscillometry assessments in the diagnosis of small airway dysfunction. *Front Physiol.* (2022) 13:892448. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2022.892448

33. Quanjer PH, Stanojevic S, Cole TJ, Baur X, Hall GL, Culver BH, et al. Multi-ethnic reference values for spirometry for the 3-95-yr age range: the global lung function 2012 equations. *Eur Respir J.* (2012) 40:1324–43. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00080312

34. King GG, Bates J, Berger KI, Calverley P, de Melo PL, Dellacà RL, et al. Technical standards for respiratory oscillometry. *Eur Respir J.* (2020) 55:1900753. doi: 10.1183/13993003.00753-2019

35. Deesomchok A, Chaiwong W, Liwsrisakun C, Namwongprom S, Pothirat C. Reference equations of the impulse oscillatory in healthy Thai adults. *J Thorac Dis.* (2022) 14:1384–92. doi: 10.21037/jtd-21-1989

36. Ratner B. The correlation coefficient: its values range between +1/-1, or do they? J Target Meas Anal Mark. (2009) 17:139–42. doi: 10.1057/jt.2009.5

37. Peng J, Wu F, Tian H, Yang H, Zheng Y, Deng Z, et al. Clinical characteristics of and risk factors for small airway dysfunction detected by impulse oscillometry. *Respir Med.* (2021) 190:106681. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2021.106681

38. Zimmermann SC, Tonga KO, Thamrin C. Dismantling airway disease with the use of new pulmonary function indices. *Eur Respir Rev.* (2019) 28:180122. doi: 10.1183/16000617.0122-2018

39. Cottini M, Lombardi C, Comberiati P, Landi M, Berti A, Ventura L. Small airway dysfunction in asthmatic patients treated with as-needed SABA monotherapy: a perfect storm. *Respir Med.* (2023) 209:107154. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2023.107154

40. Abdo M, Watz H, Veith V, Kirsten AM, Biller H, Pedersen F, et al. Small airway dysfunction as predictor and marker for clinical response to biological therapy in severe eosinophilic asthma: a longitudinal observational study. *Respir Res.* (2020) 21:278. doi: 10.1186/s12931-020-01543-5

41. Mukdjindapa P, Manuyakorn W, Kiewngam P, Sasisakulporn C, Pongchaikul P, Kamchaisatian W, et al. Reference value of forced oscillation technique for healthy preschool children. *Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol.* (2021) 39:89–95. doi: 10.12932/AP-110618-0334

42. Liang XL, Gao Y, Guan WJ, Du J, Chen L, Han W, et al. Reference values of respiratory impedance with impulse oscillometry in healthy Chinese adults. *J Thorac Dis.* (2021) 13:3680–91. doi: 10.21037/jtd-20-3376

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Azmy Faisal, Manchester Metropolitan University, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY

Eleni Papakonstantinou, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece Adrian Ceccato, Parc TaulíFoundation, Spain Elena Titova, St. Olav's University Hospital, Norway

*CORRESPONDENCE Anna Lena Jung ⊠ anna.jung@uni-marburg.de

RECEIVED 06 March 2023 ACCEPTED 19 May 2023 PUBLISHED 05 June 2023

CITATION

Jung AL, Han M, Griss K, Bertrams W, Nell C, Greulich T, Klemmer A, Pott H, Heider D, Vogelmeier CF, Hippenstiel S, Suttorp N and Schmeck B (2023) Novel protein biomarkers for pneumonia and acute exacerbations in COPD: a pilot study. *Front. Med.* 10:1180746.

doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1180746

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Jung, Han, Griss, Bertrams, Nell, Greulich, Klemmer, Pott, Heider, Vogelmeier, Hippenstiel, Suttorp and Schmeck. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Novel protein biomarkers for pneumonia and acute exacerbations in COPD: a pilot study

Anna Lena Jung^{1,2}*, Maria Han^{1,3}, Kathrin Griss^{1,4}, Wilhelm Bertrams¹, Christoph Nell⁵, Timm Greulich⁵, Andreas Klemmer⁵, Hendrik Pott⁵, Dominik Heider^{6,7}, Claus F. Vogelmeier⁵, Stefan Hippenstiel⁴, Norbert Suttorp⁴ and Bernd Schmeck^{1,2,5,7,8}

¹Institute for Lung Research, Universities of Giessen and Marburg Lung Center, Philipps-University Marburg, German Center for Lung Research (DZL), Marburg, Germany, ²Core Facility Flow Cytometry – Bacterial Vesicles, Philipps-University Marburg, Marburg, Germany, ³Medizinische Klinik m.S. Hämatologie und Onkologie, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ⁴Department of Internal Medicine/Infectious Diseases and Respiratory Medicine, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Corporate Member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health, Berlin, Germany, ⁵Department of Medicine, Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, University Medical Center Marburg, Philipps-University Marburg, German Center for Lung Research (DZL), Marburg, Germany, ⁶Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Philipps-University Marburg, Marburg, Germany, ⁸Member of the German Center of Infectious Disease Research, Marburg, Germany

Introduction: Community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) and acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (AECOPD) result in high morbidity, mortality, and socio-economic burden. The usage of easily accessible biomarkers informing on disease entity, severity, prognosis, and pathophysiological endotypes is limited in clinical practice. Here, we have analyzed selected plasma markers for their value in differential diagnosis and severity grading in a clinical cohort.

Methods: A pilot cohort of hospitalized patients suffering from CAP (*n*=27), AECOPD (*n*=10), and healthy subjects (*n*=22) were characterized clinically. Clinical scores (PSI, CURB, CRB65, GOLD I-IV, and GOLD ABCD) were obtained, and interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-8 (IL-8), interleukin-2-receptor (IL-2R), lipopolysaccharide-binding protein (LBP), resistin, thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1), lactotransferrin (LTF), neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL), neutrophil-elastase-2 (ELA2), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), soluble Fas (sFas), as well as TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) were measured in plasma.

Results: In CAP patients and healthy volunteers, we found significantly different levels of ELA2, HGF, IL-2R, IL-6, IL-8, LBP, resistin, LTF, and TRAIL. The panel of LBP, sFas, and TRAIL could discriminate between uncomplicated and severe CAP. AECOPD patients showed significantly different levels of LTF and TRAIL compared to healthy subjects. Ensemble feature selection revealed that CAP and AECOPD can be discriminated by IL-6, resistin, together with IL-2R. These factors even allow the differentiation between COPD patients suffering from an exacerbation or pneumonia.

Discussion: Taken together, we identified immune mediators in patient plasma that provide information on differential diagnosis and disease severity and can

therefore serve as biomarkers. Further studies are required for validation in bigger cohorts.

KEYWORDS

pneumonia, COPD, acute exacerbation, severity, biomarker, inflammation

1. Introduction

Community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) constitutes a crucial cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide, predominantly affecting young children and the elderly (1). Representing the most frequent cause of death due to infection in Europe, CAP accounts for 1 million hospitalizations per year, resulting in 230,000 deaths and socioeconomical costs of 10.1 billion € (2-4). Due to the abrupt onset of severe illness, the difficulty in identifying the liable pathogen and the challenge of distinguishing CAP from other acute airway infections, there is an urgent need for easily accessible but specific biomarkers allowing rapid and reliable diagnosis and risk stratification. To date, the diagnosis of CAP mostly relies on chest radiographs and analyses of blood and sputum parameters, as well as auscultation of the lungs and measurement of blood pressure, breathing rate, and recent mental confusion (5). For risk stratification, calculation of clinical scores like CRB65, which are based on defined parameters, roughly allows classification into uncomplicated, moderate, or severe CAP. However, specific biomarkers are still missing (6).

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) represents another highly relevant respiratory disease, being the fourth leading cause of death worldwide with an increasing tendency (7, 8). In Europe, COPD affects about 2-10% of the population and accounts for 3% of all deaths (9). Acute exacerbations of COPD (AECOPD), predominantly caused by viral or bacterial infections, contribute considerably to the burden of the disease. In the United States, AECOPD accounted for 726,000 hospitalizations in 2000, resulting in 119,000 deaths (10) and incurring costs of 30 billion \$ (8). Diagnosis of AECOPD mostly relies on increasing cough, sputum, and dyspnoea (11), supported by chest radiographs, blood, and microbiological sputum analyses. Depending on symptoms, AECOPD can be subdivided into type I patients suffering from increasing dyspnoea and optionally sputum, and type II patients with purulent sputum (12). The exacerbation history seems to be the most dependable predictor for future exacerbations (13). As in pneumonia, the availability of reliable biomarkers clearly defining either the entity, stage, or severity of the disease or predicting its progression are of utmost importance.

Biomarkers are classically defined as objectively quantifiable molecules specifically indicating a biological state, which can be physiological or pathogenic, or a response to an expose or (therapeutic) intervention (14). Compared to symptom-based clinical findings, biomarkers have the advantage of allowing a better standardization of measurement and a less investigator-dependent interpretation (15). Due to the variety of molecules, the established handling, and the simplicity of collection, blood is a preferred medium for biomarker analyses (16). At present, the level of C-reactive protein (CRP), the blood sedimentation rate, as well as the leucocyte count, constitute clinical parameters classically indicating inflammation. However, whether this inflammation is of infectious etiology cannot be ascertained (15). Procalcitonin (PCT) represents a current biomarker allowing a more specific discrimination between inflammation of bacterial or non-bacterial origin (17). A potential predictor for mortality in COPD patients is the combination of midrange proadrenomedullin (MR-proADM) and ADO (age, dyspnoea, airflow obstruction), BOD (body mass index, airflow obstruction, dyspnoea) or BODE (body mass index, airflow obstruction, dyspnoea, exercise capability) indices (18, 19). Moreover, MR-proADM could be associated with severe AECOPD but not with CAP (20).

Here, we analyzed selected plasma markers that have been shown to indicate their value as biomarkers for the diagnosis and assessment of the severity of CAP and AECOPD.

2. Methods

2.1. Patients and controls

Patients with CAP or AECOPD were recruited within 24h after hospitalization along with healthy controls. Inclusion criteria for patients with CAP included pulmonary infiltrates on chest radiograph and clinical presentation. The inclusion criteria for patients with AECOPD were patients with a previously confirmed diagnosis of COPD and an acute worsening without pulmonary infiltrates on chest radiograph. Patients receiving specific immunosuppressive therapy were excluded from the study, as were pregnant patients and those with human immunodeficiency virus. The BioInflame study was approved by the ethics committee of the Charité - Universitätsmedizin Berlin (no. EA2/030/09) and the University Medical Center Marburg (no. 55/17). All donors were \geq 18 years of age and provided written informed consent for the use of their blood samples for scientific purposes. Blood plasma was isolated by centrifugation $(3,000 \times g;$ 10 min at room temperature) of one collected Vacutainer ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid tube. After centrifugation, the plasma phase was transferred and stored at -80° C.

2.2. Biomarker measurements

Biomarker measurements were performed in duplicate on stored frozen plasma samples from the day of study enrollment. Plasma levels of IL-6, LBP, and IL-2R were measured using the IMMULITE immunoassay system (Siemens Medical Solutions Diagnostics, Germany). Additionally, plasma levels of ELA2, HGF, IL-6, IL-8, LTF, NGAL, resistin, sFas, TSP-1, and TRAIL were measured with the MILLIPLEX[®] MAP Human Circulating Cancer Biomarker Magnetic Bead Panel 1 and the MILLIPLEX[®] MAP Human Sepsis Magnetic Bead Panel 3 (Merck Millipore, Germany) on a Luminex MAGPIX[®] following the manufacturer's instructions (Luminex Multiplexing Instrument, Merck Millipore). Biomarker levels below the lowest standard were extrapolated corresponding to the equation of the standard curve.

2.3. Statistics

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism version 9.5 (GraphPad software, Inc., CA, United States). Data were analyzed with non-parametric tests. For comparison of two groups, Mann– Whitney U Test was used. If all three groups were compared, Kruskal-Wallis Test followed by a *post hoc* test (Mann–Whitney U) was used. Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curves were generated to identify biomarkers that clearly distinguish between two groups. To identify a group of parameters that clearly distinguishes between two groups, ensemble feature selection (EFS) was performed.

2.4. Ensemble feature selection

Importance analysis of the plasma biomarkers and their ranking was performed using EFS at the web-interface¹ (21, 22).

2.5. Patients and public involvement

Patients and the public were not involved in this study's design, recruitment and conduct.

3. Results

3.1. Patient characteristics

We included 27 patients hospitalized with CAP on a regular ward, ten patients with an acute exacerbation of COPD, and 22 healthy controls (Table 1). Samples were taken from all the patients within the first 24h after hospital admission. The healthy control group was significantly younger than the CAP group, but CAP and AECOPD did not differ significantly. It also contained more female subjects, whereas in the CAP group, men were predominant, and the AECOPD group was balanced in terms of gender. In CAP patients, intermediate severity scores were most frequent, but mild or severe cases were also present (Table 2). All patients underwent routine microbiological testing, but did not show bacterial growth in blood culture and no specific causative pathogen in sputum culture. The majority of CAP patients (n = 17) were prescribed beta-lactam antibiotics, either alone or in combination with a beta-lactamase inhibitor or macrolide. Additionally, five patients received cephalosporine antibiotics, and four patients were prescribed fluoroquinolone antibiotics. In the AECOPD group, most patients experienced at least one exacerbation per year. They showed higher levels of airflow obstruction and breathlessness (Table 3). For AECOPD patients, systemic TABLE 1 General characteristics of healthy controls and patients with CAP or AECOPD.

	Healthy controls (N =22)	CAP (<i>N</i> =27)	AECOPD (<i>N</i> =10)
Mean age [years ± SD]	41.0 ± 11.5	64.3 ± 17.7	62.4 ± 9.2
Gender m/f (%)	8/14 (36.4/63.6)	16/11 (59.2/40.8)	5/5 (50/50)

Data are presented as mean ± SD or n (%). CAP, community-acquired pneumonia; AECOPD, acute exacerbations of COPD.

corticosteroids (oral or intravenous) were administered as the firstline treatment upon hospital admission, followed by antibiotics (amoxicillin/clavulanic acid). Four out of the ten AECOPD patients were already under systemic corticosteroid treatment prior to hospital admission. As COPD patients are more likely to develop pneumonia and suffer from more severe pneumonia (23), the CAP group was subdivided into patients with underlying COPD (n=8) and without COPD (n=19) (Table 4). All of the patients included here were effectively treated with appropriate medical care, including antibiotics and supportive measures, and were able to overcome the infection and recover; none of them died.

3.2. Differential abundance of biomarkers in plasma

We performed multiplex analysis of molecules associated with sepsis and tumor diseases to test their significance in plasma samples as biomarkers for the diagnosis of CAP and AECOPD. The individual statistical analysis showed that eight of the twelve analyzed potential biomarkers were differentially expressed in CAP compared to healthy controls. Plasma levels of ELA2, HGF, IL-2R, IL-6, IL-8, LBP, and resistin as well as leukocyte, monocyte, and neutrophil counts were significantly elevated (Figure 1; Supplementary Figure S1). NGAL showed the same trend (p = 0.002). In contrast, levels of LTF and TRAIL were significantly reduced. No significant differences were found for sFas and TSP-1. In AECOPD patients, leukocyte, monocyte, and neutrophil counts were significantly higher compared to healthy controls (Figure 1; Supplementary Figure S1). Levels of LTF and TRAIL were significantly lower. sFas was reduced as well (p = 0.038). Comparing CAP with AECOPD, patients with CAP revealed significantly higher levels of ELA-2, IL-6, resistin, NGAL and CRP. To test whether some biomarkers might be expressed simultaneously, we performed Pearson's correlation analysis among all significantly expressed proteins and found the best positive correlations between resistin with NGAL and IL-6 with IL-8 (Supplementary Figure S2).

3.3. Diagnostic value

To augment the diagnostic significance of the analyzed parameters and statistically link each parameter to the prediction of CAP or AECOPD, respectively, we calculated the area under the curve (AUC) of the receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curve for all significantly regulated biomarkers from Figure 1. In CAP patients compared to healthy controls, the AUC values of LBP, IL-8, IL-6, HGF, IL-2R, ELA2, resistin, TRAIL, and LTF had significant *p*-values, but only the top two (LBP and IL-8) are presented in Figure 2. As the

¹ http://efs.heiderlab.de/.

TABLE 2 Clinical characteristics of patients suffering from CAP.

CRB65 (%)		CURB (%)		PSI class (%)	
0	4 (15)	0	4 (15)	1	5 (19)
1	15 (56)	1	10 (37)	2	1 (4)
2	6 (22)	2	10 (37)	3	4 (15)
3	2 (7)	3	2 (7)	4	12 (44)
4	0 (0)	4	1 (4)	5	5 (19)
sO ₂ ±SD [%]		94.5 ± 3.1			
Body temperature ± SD [°C]		37.4 ± 1.2			
CRP±SD [mg/dL]		14.0 ± 11.0			
WBC±SD [1/nL]		10.4 ± 4.5			

Data are presented as mean \pm SD or n (%). CRB65, confusion, respiratory rate, blood pressure, 65 years of age, and older; CURB, confusion, urea nitrogen, respiratory rate, and blood pressure; PSI, pneumonia severity index; CRP, C-reactive protein; WBC, white blood cell count.

TABLE 3 Clinical characteristics of patients suffering from AECOPD.

GOLD stage (%)		GOLD group (%)		mMRC (%)	
Ι	0 (0)	А	0 (0)	Ι	1 (10)
II	2 (20)	В	0 (0)	II	3 (30)
III	0 (0)	С	2 (20)	III	6 (60)
IV	6 (60)	D	6 (60)	IV	0 (0)
ND	2 (20)	ND	2 (20)		
Exacerbation/year ± SD		1.2 ± 0.7			
Pack years ± SD		62 ± 47			
6MWT±SD [m]		225 ± 131			
CRP±SD [mg/dL]		2.4 ± 1.9			
WBC±SD [1/nL]		10.6 ± 2.4			

Data are presented as mean \pm SD or *n* (%). GOLD, global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease; mMRC, modified British Medical Research Council; 6MWT, six-minutes walking test; CRP, C-reactive protein; WBC, white blood cell count.

diagnostic potential of a composite of potential biomarkers might be higher than single parameters, feature selection was performed. To this end, EFS was chosen, as it combines eight feature selection methods and thereby improves the prediction performance (21). This multivariate analysis returns the importance of each significantly regulated marker, which are normalized quantifications of the predictive capabilities of the given variables (Figure 2C). The selected features are LBP, IL-6, and IL-2R, which we define as a marker panel for CAP diagnosis.

As it is critical in clinical routine to determine which patient has a higher risk to develop a more severe form of pneumonia, we aimed to find plasma markers for this discrimination. We subdivided the CAP patients according to the pneumonia severity index (PSI) risk class (uncomplicated (u) CAP: 1–3; severe (s) CAP: 4–5) and tested whether our collected parameters support this stratification. Smaller group sizes after separation (uCAP: 10; sCAP: 17) precluded robust statistical differentiation between the two groups, but TRAIL emerged as the most appropriate parameter allowing discrimination of uCAP and sCAP with a value of p < 0.05 (Supplementary Figure S3A). In ROC analysis, TRAIL had an AUC of 0.7406 (Supplementary Figure S3B). To combine the power of all measured plasma parameters, EFS was performed. The selected features

TABLE 4 Clinical characteristics of CAP patients with and without COPD.

		CAP+COPD (n=8)	CAP-COPD (<i>n</i> =19)
GOLD (%)	Ι	0 (0)	
	II	2 (25)	
	III	1 (12.5)	
	IV	1 (12.5)	
	Not classified	4 (50)	
PSI risk class (%)	1	0 (0)	5 (26.3)
	2	0 (0)	1 (5.3)
	3	2 (25)	2 (10.5)
	4	5 (62.5)	7 (36.8)
	5	1 (12.5)	4 (21.1)
Mean age [years ± SD]		72.9 ± 7.5	60.7±19.6
Gender m/f (%)		5/3 (62.5/37.5)	11/8 (57.9/42.1)

Data are presented as mean \pm SD or *n* (%). GOLD, global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease; PSI, pneumonia severity index.

were LBP, sFas, TRAIL, IL-6, and IL-8, of which LBP ranked highest (0.8) according to its normalized ensemble importance (Supplementary Figure S3C).

To elucidate the diagnostic value of the differentially expressed markers in AECOPD plasma compared to healthy controls, ROC analysis was performed for the significantly regulated biomarkers from Figure 1. AUC values of LTF and TRAIL were > 0.89 with significant *p*-values (Supplementary Figure S4).

As CAP and AECOPD often exhibit similar symptoms and can be difficult to distinguish, we performed ROC analyses comparing AECOPD and CAP patients based on all significantly regulated plasma proteins from Figure 1. AUC values of IL-6, resistin, NGAL, and ELA2 showed significant *p*-values, but only the top two (IL-6 and resistin) are presented in Figures 3A,B. Multi-parametric analysis was performed to discriminate CAP from AECOPD. The selected features were IL-6, NGAL, and resistin, of which IL-6 ranked highest (0.78) according to its normalized ensemble importance (Figure 3C).

The selected features to discriminate CAP and AECOPD from the EFS analysis (Figure 3C) were again tested for their reliability when CAP patients with and without pre-existing COPD were compared to AECOPD patients. IL-6 and resistin were still significantly different when the CAP patient had a pre-existing COPD (Figures 4A–C). The ROC analyses for IL-6, NGAL, and resistin, between AECOPD and CAP+COPD revealed AUCs >0.79 with significant *p*-values (Figures 4D–F).

4. Discussion

In this study, we investigated a set of plasma proteins as potential biomarkers for CAP or AECOPD, respectively.

In CAP patients, we found that the plasma levels of ELA2, HGF, IL-2R, IL-6, IL-8, LBP, and resistin were elevated, while LTF and TRAIL were reduced. Among these, LBP, IL-6, and IL-2R are features



for CAP diagnosis, and the combination of LBP, sFas, TRAIL, IL-6, and IL-8 allowed discrimination between uncomplicated and severe forms of pneumonia.

LBP is known to be involved in the acute-phase response against gram-negative bacteria by binding the lipid A moiety of soluble LPS and presenting it to CD14 on cellular membranes. It is mainly produced in the liver and its plasma concentration increases exponentially during acute inflammatory response (24), but it is also found in alveolar fluid (25). It was found that the serum level of LBP was significantly higher in patients with sCAP compared to uCAP and correlated with disease severity, which we also observed. Moreover, LBP has a higher predictive power than CRB-65 (26). Tejera et al. found higher serum levels of LBP in hospitalized CAP patients (27). Likewise, the pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-6 has been found to be increased in CAP patients in other studies. The serum levels of IL-6 were significantly higher in high-risk compared to low-risk CAP patients, and its level correlated with disease severity and decreased on day 3 and 5 after hospitalization (28). Bacci et al. and Andrijevic et al. made similar observations, as IL-6 levels correlated with PSI and CURB score and high IL-6 serum levels were associated with higher lethality of hospitalized patients and decreased from the day of admission to day seven of treatment (29, 30). In our study, IL-6 showed a trend of gradual upregulation with pneumonia severity, it was a selected feature for discrimination between uCAP and sCAP and correlated with the plasma levels of IL-8, which has been described to be significantly higher in sCAP patients compared to



FIGURE 2

Discrimination between CAP and healthy controls. (**A**,**B**) ROC curves for the discrimination between healthy controls and CAP using LBP (**A**) and IL-8 (**B**). Dashed line (grey) shows line of identity. AUC, area under the curve; CI, confidence interval, and *p*-values are depicted in the graphs. (**C**) Ensemble feature selection for healthy controls and CAP using all significantly regulated biomarkers. The cumulative barplot shows individual features for all feature selection methods. P_cor, Pearson product moment correlation; S_cor, Spearman's rank correlation; LogReg, logistic regression; ER_RF, error-rate-based variable importance measure embedded in *randomForest*; Gini_RF, Gini-index-based variable importance measure embedded in *cforest*; ER_CF, error-rate-based variable importance measure embedded in *cforest*; ER_CF, error-rate-based variable importance measure embedded in *cforest*; Barcer (CF) area under the curve embedded in *cforest*; CF, error-rate-based variable importance measure embedded in *cforest*; CF, err



milder CAP (30). Soluble IL-2R is a marker for T-cell activation (31). sFas, Fas ligand, and their ratio were associated with a high sepsisrelated organ failure assessment (SOFA) score in patients with bacteremia (32). We found it to be decreased in CAP compared to healthy controls but higher in sCAP compared to uCAP. TRAIL is a type II transmembrane protein and belongs to the TNF/TNFR superfamily, which is involved in infection control and the regulation of both innate and adaptive immune responses (33). TRAIL level in airway epithelial cells of COPD patients is elevated (34). The serum concentration of TRAIL has been demonstrated to negatively correlate with pulmonary function (35).

In AECOPD patients, LTF, and TRAIL were significantly reduced in plasma samples, and both had AUC values indicating discriminative potential to differentiate between AECOPD and healthy controls. LTF is an iron-binding protein and provides protection against pathogens and their metabolites. Moreover, it has bactericidal properties that lead to the



release of LPS from the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria (36). It has the capability to enhance phagocytosis of pathogens and cell adherence and controls the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (37, 38). LTF has been described to be down-regulated in asthmatic patients (39) as observed in our CAP and AECOPD patients.

Since the incidence of pneumonia in COPD patients is almost twice as high as in the general population (40), COPD patients can suffer from both AEs and CAP, which require different clinical treatments and must be differentiated accordingly. This differential diagnosis is traditionally based on radiological findings. It is important

to have biological markers to improve the differential diagnosis, reduce unnecessary use of antibiotics, and lower mortality and expenditures for care. Comparing CAP and AECOPD patients, CAP patients had significantly higher levels of IL-6 and CRP. Huerta et al. also observed higher IL-6 levels in CAP patients compared to AECOPD as well (41). EFS revealed that IL-6, NGAL, and resistin are suitable markers for discrimination between AECOPD and CAP, and the discrimination was still possible with these selected features even when the CAP patient additionally suffers from COPD. Resistin, which correlated with NGAL, is an important pro-inflammatory cytokine produced by monocytes and epithelial cells (42). The levels of resistin were higher in sCAP patients compared to uCAP patients, which is in line with the observation that sepsis patients also have elevated levels of resistin (43, 44). Several studies indicate that resistin and NGAL are increased in sepsis patients and serve as markers for disease severity (45-47). Plasma NGAL concentrations increased with severity and could predict mortality (48), which we did not test. NGAL and IL-6 were significantly higher in patients with lower respiratory tract infections compared to healthy controls, but Liu et al. did not observe differences between CAP and AECOPD in their study (49).

The proposed biomarkers for CAP diagnosis and differential diagnosis between CAP and AECOPD should be validated in larger cohorts in the future. As we had significantly younger healthy controls compared to CAP patients, we wanted to exclude the possibility that the increase in their plasma expression was solely due to the difference in age between the two groups. Therefore, we tested for correlation between age and the suggested markers, but did not observe any correlation (all R^2 <0.05; Supplementary Figure S5).

We identified a plasma biomarker panel that shows potential for CAP and AECOPD diagnosis and stratification even in CAP cases with COPD as an underlying disease. Future studies with larger cohorts and a multicentric design are needed for further evaluation.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

BioInflame study was approved by the ethics committee of the Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin (no. EA2/030/09) and the University Medical Center Marburg (no. 55/17). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

References

1. Prina E, Ranzani OT, Torres A. Community-acquired pneumonia. *Lancet.* (2015) 386:1097–108. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60733-4

2. Gibson GJ, Loddenkemper R, Lundbäck B, Sibille Y. Respiratory health and disease in Europe: the new European lung white book. *Eur Respir J*. (2013) 42:559–63. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00105513

3. Nair H, Brooks WA, Katz M, Roca A, Berkley JA, Madhi SA, et al. Global burden of respiratory infections due to seasonal influenza in young children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet.* (2011) 378:1917–30. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61051-9

Author contributions

AJ analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript in consultation with WB and BS. KG performed the experiments. CN and DH performed statistical analyses. MH, TG, AK, HP, CV, SH, and NS collected the patient's material. BS supervised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work has been funded in part by the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (Federal Ministry of Education and Research: PermedCOPD – FKZ 01EK2203A; ERACoSysMed2 – SysMed-COPD – FKZ 031L0140; e:Med CAPSYS – FKZ 01ZX1604E), the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (SFB/TR-84 TP C01), and the von-Behring-Röntgen-Stiftung (66-LV07) to BS, the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (SFB/TR-84 TP A04/B06) to SH, as well as the Hessisches Ministerium für Wissenschaft und Kunst (LOEWE Diffusible Signals LOEWE-Schwerpunkt Diffusible Signals) to DH, AJ, and BS. Open Access funding provided by the Open Access Publishing Fund of Philipps-Universität Marburg with support of the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2023.1180746/ full#supplementary-material

6. Renaud B, Santin A. Severe community acquired pneumonia: what should we predict? *Crit Care.* (2009) 13:421. doi: 10.1186/cc8111

7. Murray CJ, Lopez AD. Mortality by cause for eight regions of the world: global burden of disease study. *Lancet*. (1997) 349:1269–76. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(96)07493-4

^{4.} Loddenkemper R, Gibson GJ, Sibille Y. The burden of lung disease in Europe: why a European white book on lung disease? *Eur Respir J.* (2003) 22:869. doi: 10.1183/09031936.03.0107803

^{5.} van der Poll T, Opal SM. Pathogenesis, treatment, and prevention of pneumococcal pneumonia. *Lancet.* (2009) 374:1543–56. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61114-4

8. Mirza S, Clay RD, Koslow MA, Scanlon PD. COPD guidelines: a review of the 2018 GOLD report. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2018) 93:1488–502. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.05.026

9. WHO. (2011). World health statistics 2011. Available at: https://www.who.int/whosis/whostat/2011/en/

10. Mannino DM. COPD: epidemiology, prevalence, morbidity and mortality, and disease heterogeneity. *Chest.* (2002) 121:121S–6S. doi: 10.1378/chest.121.5_suppl.121s

11. Rodriguez-Roisin R. Toward a consensus definition for COPD exacerbations. *Chest.* (2000) 117:398S-401S. doi: 10.1378/chest.117.5_suppl_2.398s

12. Stockley RA. New approaches to the management of COPD. Chest. (2000) 117:58S-62S. doi: 10.1378/chest.117.2_suppl.58s

13. Donaldson GC, Wedzicha JA. COPD exacerbations. 1: epidemiology. Thorax. (2006) 61:164-8. doi: 10.1136/thx.2005.041806

14. Rifai N, Gillette MA, Carr SA. Protein biomarker discovery and validation: the long and uncertain path to clinical utility. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2006) 24:971–83. doi: 10.1038/nbt235

15. Schuetz P, Christ-Crain M, Müller B. Biomarkers to improve diagnostic and prognostic accuracy in systemic infections. *Curr Opin Crit Care.* (2007) 13:578–85. doi: 10.1097/MCC.0b013e3282c9ac2a

16. Anderson NL, Anderson NG. The human plasma proteome: history, character, and diagnostic prospects. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2002) 1:845–67. doi: 10.1074/mcp.r200007-mcp200

17. Simon L, Gauvin F, Amre DK, Saint-Louis P, Lacroix J. Serum procalcitonin and C-reactive protein levels as markers of bacterial infection: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2004) 39:206–17. doi: 10.1086/421997

18. Brusse-Keizer M, Zuur-Telgen M, van der Palen J, VanderValk P, Kerstjens H, Boersma W, et al. Adrenomedullin optimises mortality prediction in COPD patients. *Respir Med.* (2015) 109:734–42. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2015.02.013

19. Stolz D, Kostikas K, Blasi F, Boersma W, Milenkovic B, Lacoma A, et al. Adrenomedullin refines mortality prediction by the BODE index in COPD: the "BODE-A" index. *Eur Respir J.* (2014) 43:397–408. doi: 10.1183/09031936.0058713

20. Citgez E, Zuur-Telgen M, van der Palen J, van der Valk P, Stolz D, Brusse-Keizer M. Stable-state midrange proadrenomedullin is associated with severe exacerbations in COPD. *Chest.* (2018) 154:51–7. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2018.02.006

21. Neumann U, Genze N, Heider D. EFS: an ensemble feature selection tool implemented as R-package and web-application. *Bio Data Min.* (2017) 10:21. doi: 10.1186/s13040-017-0142-8.eCollection2017

22. Neumann U, Riemenschneider M, Sowa JP, Baars T, Kälsch J, Canbay A, et al. Compensation of feature selection biases accompanied with improved predictive performance for binary classification by using a novel ensemble feature selection approach. *BioData Min.* (2016) 9:36. doi: 10.1186/s13040-016-0114-4

23. Molinos L, Clemente MG, Miranda B, Alvarez C, del Busto B, Cocina BR, et al. Community-acquired pneumonia in patients with and without chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Infect. (2009) 58:417–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2009.03.003

24. Muta T, Takeshige K. Essential roles of CD14 and lipopolysaccharide-binding protein for activation of toll-like receptor (TLR)2 as well as TLR4 reconstitution of TLR2- and TLR4-activation by distinguishable ligands in LPS preparations. *Eur J Biochem.* (2001) 268:4580–9. doi: 10.1046/j.432-327.2001.02385.x

25. Martin TR, Mathison JC, Tobias PS, Letúrcq DJ, Moriarty AM, Maunder RJ, et al. Lipopolysaccharide binding protein enhances the responsiveness of alveolar macrophages to bacterial lipopolysaccharide. Implications for cytokine production in normal and injured lungs. *J Clin Invest.* (1992) 90:2209–19. doi: 10.1172/JCI116106

26. Zobel K, Martus P, Pletz MW, Ewig S, Prediger M, Welte T, et al. Interleukin 6, lipopolysaccharide-binding protein and interleukin 10 in the prediction of risk and etiologic patterns in patients with community-acquired pneumonia: results from the German competence network CAPNETZ. *BMC Pulm Med.* (2012) 12:6. doi: 10.1186/1471-2466-12-6

27. Tejera A, Santolaria F, Diez ML, Alemán-Valls MR, González-Reimers E, Martínez-Riera A, et al. Prognosis of community acquired pneumonia (CAP): value of triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-1 (TREM-1) and other mediators of the inflammatory response. *Cytokine*. (2007) 38:117–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2007.05.002

28. Antunes G, Evans SA, Lordan JL, Frew AJ. Systemic cytokine levels in communityacquired pneumonia and their association with disease severity. *Eur Respir J.* (2002) 20:990–5. doi: 10.1183/09031936.02.0295102

29. Bacci MR, Leme RC, Zing NP, Murad N, Adami F, Hinnig PF, et al. IL-6 and TNF- α serum levels are associated with early death in community-acquired pneumonia patients. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* (2015) 48:427–32. doi: 10.1590/1414-431x20144402

30. Andrijevic I, Matijasevic J, Andrijevic L, Kovacevic T, Zaric B. Interleukin-6 and procalcitonin as biomarkers in mortality prediction of hospitalized patients with community acquired pneumonia. *Ann Thorac Med.* (2014) 9:162–7. doi: 10.4103/1817-737.134072

31. Rubin LA, Nelson DL. The soluble interleukin-2 receptor: biology, function, and clinical application. *Ann Intern Med.* (1990) 113:619–27. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-113-8-619

32. Huttunen R, Syrjänen J, Vuento R, Laine J, Hurme M, Aittoniemi J. Apoptosis markers soluble Fas (sFas), Fas ligand (FasL) and sFas/FasL ratio in patients with bacteremia: a prospective cohort study. *J Infect*. (2012) 64:276–81. doi: 10.1016/j. jinf.2011.12.006

33. Gyurkovska V, Ivanovska N. Distinct roles of TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) in viral and bacterial infections: from pathogenesis to pathogen clearance. *Inflamm Res.* (2016) 65:427–37. doi: 10.1007/s00011-016-0934-1

34. Haw TJ, Starkey MR, Nair PM, Pavlidis S, Liu G, Nguyen DH, et al. A pathogenic role for tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2016) 9:859–72. doi: 10.1038/mi.2015.111

35. Wu Y, Shen Y, Zhang J, Wan C, Wang T, Xu D, et al. Increased serum TRAIL and DR5 levels correlated with lung function and inflammation in stable COPD patients. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2015) 10:2405–12. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S92260. eCollection 2015

36. Farnaud S, Evans RW. Lactoferrin--a multifunctional protein with antimicrobial properties. *Mol Immunol.* (2003) 40:395–405. doi: 10.1016/s0161-5890(03)00152-4

37. Adamik B, Zimecki M, Właszczyk A, Kübler A. Immunological status of septic and trauma patients. I. High tumor necrosis factor alpha serum levels in septic and trauma patients are not responsible for increased mortality: a prognostic value of serum interleukin 6. Arch Immunol Ther Exp. (1997) 45:169–75.

38. Adamik B, Zimecki M, Właszczyk A, Kübler A. Immunological status of septic and trauma patients. II. Proliferative response and production of interleukin 6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha by peripheral blood mononuclear cells from septic survivor, nonsurvivor and trauma patients: a correlation with the survival rate. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp.* (1997) 45:277–84.

39. Nie X, Wei J, Hao Y, Tao J, Li Y, Liu M, et al. Consistent biomarkers and related pathogenesis underlying asthma revealed by systems biology approach. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:4037. doi: 10.3390/ijms20164037

40. Müllerova H, Chigbo C, Hagan GW, Woodhead MA, Miravitlles M, Davis KJ, et al. The natural history of community-acquired pneumonia in COPD patients: a population database analysis. *Respir Med.* (2012) 106:1124–33. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2012.04.008

41. Huerta A, Crisafulli E, Menéndez R, Martínez R, Soler N, Guerrero M, et al. Pneumonic and nonpneumonic exacerbations of COPD: inflammatory response and clinical characteristics. *Chest.* (2013) 144:1134–42. doi: 10.1378/chest.13-0488

42. Pang SS, Le YY. Role of resistin in inflammation and inflammation-related diseases. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2006) 3:29–34.

43. Yousef AA, Amr YM, Suliman GA. The diagnostic value of serum leptin monitoring and its correlation with tumor necrosis factor-alpha in critically ill patients: a prospective observational study. *Crit Care*. (2010) 14:R33. doi: 10.1186/cc8911

44. Robinson K, Prins J, Venkatesh B. Clinical review: adiponectin biology and its role in inflammation and critical illness. *Crit Care.* (2011) 15:221. doi: 10.1186/cc10021

45. Sundén-Cullberg J, Nyström T, Lee ML, Mullins GE, Tokics L, Andersson J, et al. Pronounced elevation of resistin correlates with severity of disease in severe sepsis and septic shock. *Crit Care Med.* (2007) 35:1536–42. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000266536.14736.03

46. Koch A, Gressner OA, Sanson E, Tacke F, Trautwein C. Serum resistin levels in critically ill patients are associated with inflammation, organ dysfunction and metabolism and may predict survival of non-septic patients. *Crit Care.* (2009) 13:R95. doi: 10.1186/cc7925

47. Macdonald SP, Stone SF, Neil CL, van Eeden PE, Fatovich DM, Arendts G, et al. Sustained elevation of resistin, NGAL and IL-8 are associated with severe sepsis/septic shock in the emergency department. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e110678. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0110678

48. Kim JW, Hong DY, Lee KR, Kim SY, Baek KJ, Park SO. Usefulness of plasma neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin concentration for predicting the severity and mortality of patients with community-acquired pneumonia. *Clin Chim Acta*. (2016) 462:140–5. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2016.09.011

49. Liu C, Wang F, Cui L, Xu Z. Diagnostic value of serum neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin, interleukin-6 and anti-citrullinated alpha-enolase peptide 1 for lower respiratory tract infections. *Clin Biochem.* (2020) 75:30–4. doi: 10.1016/j. clinbiochem.2019.09.008 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Azmy Faisal, Manchester Metropolitan University, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY

Emil Schwarz Walsted, Bispebjerg Hospital, Denmark Anna Annunziata, Monaldi Hospital, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Fabian Plank ⊠ fabian.plank@tirol-kliniken.at

RECEIVED 07 March 2023 ACCEPTED 24 May 2023 PUBLISHED 15 June 2023

CITATION

Beyer C, Boehm A, Pizzini A, Grubwieser P, Feuchtner G, Bauer A, Weiss G, Loeffler-Ragg J, Friedrich G and Plank F (2023) Undiagnosed chronic respiratory disorders in symptomatic patients with initially suspected and excluded coronary artery disease: insights from a prospective pilot study. *Front. Med.* 10:1181831. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1181831

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Beyer, Boehm, Pizzini, Grubwieser, Feuchtner, Bauer, Weiss, Loeffler-Ragg, Friedrich and Plank. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Undiagnosed chronic respiratory disorders in symptomatic patients with initially suspected and excluded coronary artery disease: insights from a prospective pilot study

Christoph Beyer¹, Anna Boehm², Alex Pizzini^{2,3}, Philipp Grubwieser², Gudrun Feuchtner⁴, Axel Bauer¹, Guenter Weiss², Judith Loeffler-Ragg², Guy Friedrich¹ and Fabian Plank¹*

¹Department of Internal Medicine III – Cardiology and Angiology, Medical University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria, ²Department of Internal Medicine II – Infectious Diseases, Pneumology and Rheumatology, Medical University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria, ³Servizio Pneumologico Aziendale, Azienda Sanitaria dell' Alto Adige, Bolzano, Italy, ⁴Department of Radiology, Medical University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria

Background: Chronic respiratory diseases represent the third-leading cause of death on a global scale. Due to mutual symptoms with cardiovascular diseases and potential inappropriate attribution of symptoms, pulmonary diseases often remain undiagnosed. Therefore, we aimed to evaluate the prevalence of chronic respiratory disorders among symptomatic patients in whom suspected coronary artery disease (CAD) was ruled out.

Methods: After CAD was excluded by invasive coronary angiography (ICA), 50 patients with chest pain or dyspnea were prospectively enrolled in this study. All patients underwent lung function testing, including spirometry and diffusion measurements. At baseline and the 3-month follow-up, standardized assessments of symptoms (CCS chest pain, mMRC score, CAT score) were performed.

Results: Chronic respiratory disease was diagnosed in 14% of patients, with a prevalence of 6% for chronic obstructive ventilation disorders. At 3-month follow-up, patients with normal lung function tests revealed a substantial improvement in symptoms (mean mMRC 0.70 to 0.33, p=0.06; median CAT 8 to 2, p=0.01), while those with pulmonary findings showed non-significant alterations or unchanged symptoms (mean mMRC 1.14 to 0.71, p=0.53; median CAT 6 to 6, p=0.52).

Conclusion: A substantial proportion of patients with an initial suspicion of coronary artery disease was diagnosed with underlying chronic respiratory diseases and exhibited persistent symptoms.

KEYWORDS

chronic respiratory disorders, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, coronary artery disease, dyspnea, chest discomfort

1. Introduction

Chronic respiratory diseases encompass a broad spectrum of various disorders affecting the airways and pulmonary structures. The global prevalence is estimated at 7.1%, with the highest rates in high-income nations (10.6%), where chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) accounts for more than half of all cases (1). As the third leading cause of death, these conditions pose a substantial global socioeconomic challenge (2).

COPD often remains underdiagnosed in the general population, which prevents patients from receiving effective treatment (3). Even though many chronic respiratory diseases cannot be cured, early diagnosis is of paramount importance to inform patients about risk factors (i.e., cigarette smoking), to allow early treatment, to prevent progression and to preserve a good quality of life. Appropriate therapy also considerably contributes to the prevention of major comorbidities (4). With a 2- to 5-fold higher risk among COPD patients, coronary artery disease (CAD) is one of the most important comorbidities (5, 6).

Moreover, patients with cardiovascular or pulmonary diseases often present with mutual initial symptoms, particularly dyspnea. In clinical practice, once coronary artery disease, the leading cause of death worldwide, as the primary diagnostic focus has been ruled out, further assessment of symptoms often remains neglected. This may impede the identification of underlying pulmonary symptoms in patients and may lead to the potential undetectability of chronic pulmonary diseases (2, 7).

Therefore, the objective of this pilot study was to investigate the prevalence of chronic respiratory diseases in symptomatic patients after CAD had been ruled out by invasive coronary angiography (ICA). As symptomatic individuals without CAD may benefit from downstream pulmonary testing, we additionally conducted a detailed assessment of symptoms in these patients which initially led to ICA and re-evaluated them after a follow-up period of 3 months.

Furthermore, this study aimed to evaluate the feasibility of our study protocol for future multicenter trials as insights from large scale clinical studies will be needed to develop effective strategies to further improve the underdiagnosis of COPD.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study design

This prospective pilot study was conducted as a non-randomized, open-label, single-center trial at a tertiary care university hospital.

Prior to its initiation, the local ethics committee evaluated and authorized this study. The investigation was carried out in conformity with the Declaration of Helsinki and the European Data Policy. Written informed consent was obtained from all participating patients.

The primary objective of this study was to evaluate the prevalence of chronic respiratory insufficiency in a sample of symptomatic patients after excluding CAD by ICA. The secondary objective was to examine the potential relationship between abnormal pulmonary function and prior symptom burden and characteristics, including chest discomfort and dyspnea.

Figure 1 depicts the study protocol. To generate conclusive initial findings, a feasible sample size of 50 study participants was defined in this pilot study, with random patient screening based on

pre-determined inclusion criteria. Following screening, patients with negative ICA findings were included in the trial after providing informed consent. A physician carried out a thorough standardized symptom evaluation the same day. The following day, spirometry (with bronchodilation in case of obstructive ventilation) and diffusion tests were performed. Every patient had a result-oriented discussion with a pulmonologist. In case of pathologic findings, patients were admitted to outpatient care providers for further tests and therapy. Follow-up was conducted after 3 months via phone to assess symptoms, medication modifications, and any adverse events.

2.2. Study subjects

Individuals who received invasive coronary angiography due to suspected coronary artery disease-related chest pain and/or dyspnea but revealed no evidence of coronary stenoses were recruited for this trial. Patients had to be over 18 years of age and able to provide written informed consent. This study excluded patients with either known or newly diagnosed cardiac conditions, pre-existing lung pathologies, allergies to bronchodilators, and pregnant women.

2.3. Symptom assessment

The standardized assessment of chest discomfort was carried out in accordance with the European Society of Cardiology's 2019 Guidelines on Chronic Coronary Syndromes (8). Therefore, three subcategories were used: typical angina pectoris, atypical angina pectoris, and non-anginal chest pain.

The degree of dyspnea was graded from 0 to 4 using the standardized modified Medical Research Council (mMRC) severity scale (9). In addition, the COPD Assessment Test (CAT) was obtained to detect additional subjective complaints that may indicate pulmonary pathologies (10).

2.4. Statistical analysis

For the statistical analysis, GraphPad Prism for macOS (version 9.5.0; GraphPad Software, LLC, La Jolla, CA, United States) was used. Categorical data are presented as absolute values and percentages. Significant differences between groups were assessed using either the Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. Where applicable, quantitative values are reported as means \pm SD or medians \pm first and third quartile. Two-tailed ANOVA testing with post-hoc analyses was used to make comparisons. The Šidák correction was used to adjust for multiple comparisons. The level of significance was set at p < 0.05.

3. Results

This prospective pilot study included 50 patients, 24 (48.0%) were women. The patients' demographics are displayed in Table 1.

Seven patients (14.0%) presented with functional respiratory abnormalities, 3 (6.0%) had obstructive and 4 (8.0%) had non-obstructive pulmonary impairments (2 patients with restrictive ventilation disorder, 2 patients with pulmonary diffusion dysfunction).



At the three-months follow-up, the overall number of patients experiencing chest discomfort declined significantly from 40 (80.0%) at baseline to 19 (38.0%) (p=0.0001). This reduction was particularly pronounced in patients who initially had typical angina pectoris, with 17 (34.0%) patients at baseline versus 7 (14.0%) at follow-up (p=0.034). The number of patients with atypical angina pectoris declined from 14 (28.0%) to 8 (16.0%) (p=0.23), while the number of patients with non-specific chest pain decreased from 9 (18.0%) to 4 (8.0%) (p=0.07) (Figure 2). The total number of patients suffering from dyspnea also decreased significantly, from 27 (54.0%) at baseline to 13 (26.0%) at follow-up (p=0.007).

The grouped analysis of initial symptoms leading to ICA revealed that patients with subsequent abnormal respiratory function reported more cases of dyspnea (85.7% vs. 48.9%, p=0.11); in contrast, they reported fewer cases of chest discomfort (57.1% vs. 83.7%, p=0.13) compared to those patients without subsequent pathological pulmonary findings (Table 2). Compared to the initial symptom

presentation, patients with pathological pulmonary function revealed a smaller decrease in the mean mMRC score with a decline from 1.14 to 0.71 (-37.7%, p=0.53) compared to patients with normal lung function who experienced a larger decrease from 0.70 to 0.33 (-52.9%, p=0.06) at the follow-up after 3 months (Figure 3A). Similar dynamics were seen regarding the CAT score after 3 months: patients with pathological respiratory findings had unaltered median CAT scores of 6 (±0; p=0.52), whereas patients without pathological respiratory findings had a significant decline in median CAT score from 8 to 2 (-6; p=0.01) (Figure 3B). In a subanalysis of CAT score categories at baseline, no significant difference between the two groups was found. At follow-up, patients with pathological pulmonary tests had a significantly higher mean score in the subcategory "breathlessness" compared to patients without respiratory disorders (p=0.003) (Figure 4).

During the 3-month follow-up period, four patients in the group with normal pulmonary function acquired COVID-19. Symptom

dynamics did not change when excluding those patients from the statistical analysis.

4. Discussion

This pilot study discovered a significant prevalence of abnormal respiratory function in symptomatic individuals after coronary artery disease had been ruled out by ICA, with a substantial prevalence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Baseline symptom

TABLE 1 Demographics.

	<i>n</i> =50
Female sex	24 (48%)
Age	64.8 ± 9.0
Body mass index	27.8 ± 4.9
Cholesterol [mg/dl]	162.4 ± 46.0
LDL [mg/dl]	90.9 ± 41.4
Creatinine [mg/dl]	0.95 ± 0.2
GFR>60 [ml/min/1.73 m ²]	41 (82%)
45-60	9 (18%)
Arterial hypertension	34 (68%)
under treatment	31 (62%)
Dyslipidemia	38 (76%)
under treatment	30 (60%)
Diabetes	12 (24%)
under treatment	6 (12%)
Family history of CAD	20 (40%)
Active smoking	6 (12%)
Former (>1 year)	19 (38%)
Mean packyears (range)	27.9±20.1

Data are represented as n (%) or mean ± SD. CAD, coronary artery disease; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; LDL, low-density lipoprotein.

characteristics showed more dyspnea and less chest discomfort among individuals with pulmonary findings. Changes in symptoms were significantly different, with persistent dyspnea in patients with abnormal pulmonary function at follow-up. This is, to the best of our knowledge, the first prospective study to investigate the prevalence of pulmonary diseases in symptomatic patients with suspected CAD, however, in whom CAD was excluded by ICA. The results of our study support the underlying hypothesis that a considerable proportion of patients may be referred for ICA due to underlying pulmonary symptoms.

As the initial point of contact for symptomatic patients, primary care plays a crucial part in the timely diagnosis of chronic respiratory disorders. Lack of spirometry testing in primary care has been shown to be one major reason for missed diagnoses of chronic respiratory disorders (11, 12). According to the US Preventive Services Task Force, however, there are no clear indications that screening asymptomatic individuals for COPD improved their clinical outcome. Therefore, broad diagnostic testing by means of spirometry is not recommended for the general population and should be limited to individuals with risk factors or symptoms (13).

Respiratory symptoms are subjective and may vary in quality and intensity, making symptom-based pulmonary screening difficult and reliant on self-reporting by patients during medical visits (14, 15). Labonté et al. demonstrated that undiagnosed COPD patients utilized health care services to a comparable extent as diagnosed COPD patients due to exacerbation events (16). A real-world retrospective study by Jones et al. revealed that approximately 85% of COPD patients presented with respiratory symptoms to a physician in the 5 years before their diagnosis and 58% within 6 to 10 years prior to diagnosis (17). This may be in line with the results of our pilot study, which indicate that lingering symptoms after a negative ICA result might be strongly indicative of a prior undetected chronic respiratory condition.

Therefore, some studies advocate a questionnaire-based selection of patients for diagnostic spirometry as a cost-effective approach to detect chronic respiratory disease in individuals (18). Our findings support the need for enhanced screening for chronic pulmonary disorders and the feasibility of including persistent symptoms such as dyspnea and chest pain in pre-screening.



Frontiers in Medicine

TABLE 2 Patient characteristics and symptoms at baseline.

	Respiratory+(n=7)	Respiratory– (n=43)	value of p
Age	66.1 ± 10.0	64.5 ± 8.9	0.664
Female gender	3 (42.9%)	21 (48.9%)	1.000
Body mass index	29.9±5.8	27.4±4.7	0.205
Smoker	1 (14.3%)	5 (11.6%)	1.000
Chest pain	4 (57.1%)	36 (83.7%)	0.133
Dyspnea (mMRC ≥1)	6 (85.7%)	21 (48.9%)	0.107
CAT ≥10	3 (42.9%)	11 (25.6%)	0.384

Data are represented as n (%) or mean ± SD. CAT, COPD assessment test; mMRC, modified Medical Research Council; Respiratory+, patients with pathological results; Respiratory–, patients with normal results.



However, the reliability of questionnaire-based findings is subject to large variations among individuals, and like the quality of physicianpatient dialogues, it heavily depends on the active participation of patients (19). On this basis some research suggests that handheld flow meters may be more effective than questionnaires in pre-selecting individuals for diagnostic spirometry (20).



Even if patients accurately report symptoms, general practitioners may misinterpret them, which also could substantially delay the diagnosis of lung diseases. Physicians may incorrectly attribute symptoms such as chest tightness or dyspnea to cardiovascular diseases as opposed to bronchoconstriction in asthma or COPD (21-23). Particularly physicians without pulmonary focus are prone to substantially underdiagnose COPD, while representing the first point of contact for most patients with undiagnosed pulmonary conditions (12, 24). According to a survey, most pulmonologists suggest that a lack of awareness of chronic respiratory diseases appears to be the leading cause of insufficient early diagnoses (25). However, modest educational training has been proven to significantly increase physicians' expertise in COPD diagnosis (26). This demonstrates the yet-untapped potential of education and training in the early identification of respiratory diseases to further campaign undiagnosed chronic respiratory disorders.

While our pilot study is limited by a small sample size, our objective was to explore the prevalence of clinically confirmed chronic respiratory disorders in a highly homogeneous population. The absence of pre-existing pulmonary or cardiac conditions (i.e., heart failure, valvular heart disease) in this study population prevented potential distortion in the analysis of symptoms. The diagnostic approach of our study protocol was designed to be practical and readily accessible, hence, we restricted pulmonary function testing to spirometry and diffusion measurement. However, this approach limited the classification of potential restrictive pulmonary dysfunction to data derived from spirometry, as body plethysmography was not incorporated. The purpose of this pilot study was to assess the feasibility of the present study protocol for multicenter trials with large patient populations. Such large-scale investigations will be needed to develop effective ways to counteract pulmonary underdiagnosis in people with chest symptoms but no cardiovascular diseases.

In conclusion, following the exclusion of coronary artery disease through ICA, a relevant portion of symptomatic individuals were found to have respiratory dysfunction, with a substantial prevalence of obstructive ventilation abnormalities. Downstream pulmonary testing may be reasonable in individuals with persistent symptoms after CAD exclusion.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics committee of the Medical University of Innsbruck Approval number: 1296/2019. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

References

1. GBD Chronic Respiratory Disease Collaborators. Prevalence and attributable health burden of chronic respiratory diseases, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the global Burden of disease study 2017. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2020) 8:585–96. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30105-3

2. World Health Organization. The top 10 causes of death (2019). Available at: (https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10-causes-of-death).

3. Lamprecht B, Soriano JB, Studnicka M, Kaiser B, Vanfleteren LE, Gnatiuc L, et al. Determinants of underdiagnosis of COPD in national and international surveys. *Chest.* (2015) 148:971–85. doi: 10.1378/chest.14-2535

4. Larsson K, Janson C, Ställberg B, Lisspers K, Olsson P, Kostikas K, et al. Impact of COPD diagnosis timing on clinical and economic outcomes: the ARCTIC observational cohort study. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2019) 14:995–1008. doi: 10.2147/COPD. S195382

5. Cavaillès A, Brinchault-Rabin G, Dixmier A, Goupil F, Gut-Gobert C, Marchand-Adam S, et al. Comorbidities of COPD. *Eur Respir Rev.* (2013) 22:454–75. doi: 10.1183/09059180.00008612

6. Chen W, Thomas J, Sadatsafavi M, FitzGerald JM. Risk of cardiovascular comorbidity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2015) 3:631–9. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(15)00241-6

7. Reinhardt SW, Lin CJ, Novak E, Brown DL. Noninvasive cardiac testing vs clinical evaluation alone in acute chest pain: a secondary analysis of the ROMICAT-II randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2018) 178:212–9. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.7360

8. Knuuti J, Wijns W, Saraste A, Capodanno D, Barbato E, Funck-Brentano C, et al. 2019 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and management of chronic coronary syndromes. *Eur Heart J.* (2020) 41:407–77. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz425

9. American Thoracic Society (ATS). Surveillance for respiratory hazards in the occupational setting. Am Rev Respir Dis. (1982) 126:952-6.

Author contributions

CB, AnB, AP, AxB, GW, JL-R, GFr, and FP conceived and designed the study. CB, AnB, and FP collected the data. CB, AnB, AP, PG, GFe, AxB, GW, JL-R, GFr, and FP analyzed and interpreted the data, revised and approved the manuscript, and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work. CB and FP drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This pilot study was supported by grants of the Austrian Science Fund (FWF, DOC 82 doc.fund).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

10. Jones PW, Harding G, Berry P, Wiklund I, Chen WH, Kline LN. Development and first validation of the COPD assessment test. *Eur Respir J.* (2009) 34:648–54. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00102509

11. Hangaard S, Helle T, Nielsen C, Hejlesen OK. Causes of misdiagnosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic scoping review. *Respir Med.* (2017) 129:63–84. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2017.05.015

12. Hill K, Goldstein RS, Guyatt GH, Blouin M, Tan WC, Davis LL, et al. Prevalence and underdiagnosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease among patients at risk in primary care. *CMAJ.* (2010) 182:673–8. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.091784

13. Mangione CM, Barry MJ, Nicholson WK, Cabana M, Caughey AB, Chelmow D, et al. Screening for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: US preventive services task force reaffirmation recommendation statement. *JAMA*. (2022) 327:1806–11. doi: 10.1001/jama.2022.5692

14. Kessler R, Partridge MR, Miravitlles M, Cazzola M, Vogelmeier C, Leynaud D, et al. Symptom variability in patients with severe COPD: a pan-European cross-sectional study. *Eur Respir J.* (2011) 37:264–72. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00051110

15. Scioscia G, Blanco I, Arismendi E, Burgos F, Gistau C, Foschino Barbaro MP, et al. Different dyspnoea perception in COPD patients with frequent and infrequent exacerbations. *Thorax.* (2017) 72:117–21. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-208332

16. Labonté LE, Tan WC, Li PZ, Mancino P, Aaron SD, Benedetti A, et al. Undiagnosed chronic obstructive pulmonary disease contributes to the Burden of health care use. Data from the CanCOLD study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 194:285–98. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201509-1795OC

17. Jones RC, Price D, Ryan D, Sims EJ, von Ziegenweidt J, Mascarenhas L, et al. Opportunities to diagnose chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in routine care in the UK: a retrospective study of a clinical cohort. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2014) 2:267–76. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(14)70008-6

18. Weiss G, Steinacher I, Lamprecht B, Kaiser B, Mikes R, Sator L, et al. Development and validation of the Salzburg COPD-screening questionnaire (SCSQ): a questionnaire development and validation study. *NPJ Prim Care Respir Med.* (2017) 27:4. doi: 10.1038/ s41533-016-0005-7

19. Street RL Jr, Gordon HS, Ward MM, Krupat E, Kravitz RL. Patient participation in medical consultations: why some patients are more involved than others. *Med Care.* (2005) 43:960–9. doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000178172.40344.70

20. Haroon S, Jordan R, Takwoingi Y, Adab P. Diagnostic accuracy of screening tests for COPD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*. (2015) 5:e008133. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-008133

21. Foldyna B, Udelson JE, Karády J, Banerji D, Lu MT, Mayrhofer T, et al. Pretest probability for patients with suspected obstructive coronary artery disease: re-evaluating diamond-Forrester for the contemporary era and clinical implications: insights from the PROMISE trial. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging*. (2019) 20:574–81. doi: 10.1093/ehjci/jey182

22. Lougheed MD, Fisher T, O'Donnell DE. Dynamic hyperinflation during bronchoconstriction in asthma: implications for symptom perception. *Chest.* (2006) 130:1072–81. doi: 10.1378/chest.130.4.1072

23. Laviolette L, Laveneziana P. ERS research seminar faculty. Dyspnoea: a multidimensional and multidisciplinary approach. *Eur Respir J.* (2014) 43:1750–62. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00092613

24. Zhang J, Zhou JB, Lin XF, Wang Q, Bai CX, Hong QY. Prevalence of undiagnosed and undertreated chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in lung cancer population. *Respirology*. (2013) 18:297–302. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1843.2012.02282.x

25. Di Marco F, Balbo P, de Blasio F, Cardaci V, Crimi N, Girbino G, et al. Early management of COPD: where are we now and where do we go from here? A Delphi consensus project. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2019) 14:353–60. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S176662

26. Koblizek V, Novotna B, Zbozinkova Z, Hejduk K. Diagnosing COPD: advances in training and practice – a systematic review. *Adv Med Educ Pract.* (2016) 7:219–31. doi: 10.2147/AMEP.S76976

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Justin Garner, Royal Brompton Hospital, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Ali Alagoz, University of Health Sciences, Türkiye Seyed Aria Nejadghaderi, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Iran Asmaa Ahmed, Alexandria University, Egypt

*CORRESPONDENCE Fuling Zhou ☑ zhoufuling@whu.edu.cn Jun Lyu ☑ lyujun2020@jnu.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 02 March 2023 ACCEPTED 15 June 2023 PUBLISHED 06 July 2023

CITATION

Cheng H, Li J, Wei F, Yang X, Yuan S, Huang X, Zhou F and Lyu J (2023) A risk nomogram for predicting prolonged intensive care unit stays in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Front. Med.* 10:1177786.

doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1177786

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Cheng, Li, Wei, Yang, Yuan, Huang, Zhou and Lyu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A risk nomogram for predicting prolonged intensive care unit stays in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Hongtao Cheng^{1†}, Jieyao Li^{2†}, Fangxin Wei^{1†}, Xin Yang¹, Shiqi Yuan³, Xiaxuan Huang³, Fuling Zhou^{4*} and Jun Lyu^{5,6*}

¹School of Nursing, Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ²Intensive Care Unit, The First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ³Department of Neurology, The First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ⁴Department of Hematology, Zhongnan Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China, ⁵Department of Clinical Research, The First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University, Guangzhou, China, ⁶Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Traditional Chinese Medicine Informatization, Guangzhou, China

Background: Providing intensive care is increasingly expensive, and the aim of this study was to construct a risk column line graph (nomograms)for prolonged length of stay (LOS) in the intensive care unit (ICU) for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).

Methods: This study included 4,940 patients, and the data set was randomly divided into training (n=3,458) and validation (n=1,482) sets at a 7:3 ratio. First, least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression analysis was used to optimize variable selection by running a tenfold k-cyclic coordinate descent. Second, a prediction model was constructed using multifactorial logistic regression analysis. Third, the model was validated using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves, Hosmer-Lemeshow tests, calibration plots, and decision-curve analysis (DCA), and was further internally validated.

Results: This study selected 11 predictors: sepsis, renal replacement therapy, cerebrovascular disease, respiratory failure, ventilator associated pneumonia, norepinephrine, bronchodilators, invasive mechanical ventilation, electrolytes disorders, Glasgow Coma Scale score and body temperature. The models constructed using these 11 predictors indicated good predictive power, with the areas under the ROC curves being 0.826 (95%CI, 0.809–0.842) and 0.827 (95%CI, 0.802–0.853) in the training and validation sets, respectively. The Hosmer-Lemeshow test indicated a strong agreement between the predicted and observed probabilities in the training (χ^2 =8.21, *p*=0.413) and validation (χ^2 =0.64, *p*=0.999) sets. In addition, decision-curve analysis suggested that the model had good clinical validity.

Conclusion: This study has constructed and validated original and dynamic nomograms for prolonged ICU stay in patients with COPD using 11 easily collected parameters. These nomograms can provide useful guidance to medical and nursing practitioners in ICUs and help reduce the disease and economic burdens on patients.

KEYWORDS

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, intensive care unit, length of stay, nomograms, prolonged intensive care unit stays

Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a common progressive disease with persistent respiratory symptoms and airflow limitation caused by the combination of chronic bronchitis and emphysema (1). It is one of the most common chronic diseases worldwide that can lead to prolonged cough, dyspnea, and fatigue, and accounts for a large proportion of intensive care unit (ICU) admissions (2, 3). In the year 2019, a staggering number of 212.3 million cases of COPD were reported worldwide, leading to 3.3 million fatalities and 74.4 million years of disability adjusted life (4). Furthermore, in the same year, COPD ranked as the third most prevalent cause of death (5). Due to its high prevalence, morbidity, and mortality, COPD is a significant area of concern for both medical care and public health (6). Furthermore, research has shown that COPD imposes a considerable economic and social burden on patients and healthcare systems (7, 8). Efforts to prevent and manage COPD are crucial not only for improving patient outcomes but also for reducing the economic and societal impact of the disease.

An ICU is a place where medical professionals apply modern medical theories and high-technology modern medical equipment to provide specialized centralized monitoring, treatment, and care for critically ill patients, and is an integral part of the healthcare system (9, 10). ICUs provide complex and expensive care (11), and account for a significant portion of the financial expense of healthcare in many countries worldwide (12), for example, in the United States, ICU medical costs account for approximately 13% of hospital costs and 4% of national health expenditure (13). Despite the enormous investment in critical care medicine in many countries, ICUs are often underresourced to meet the needs of critically ill patients, especially in less-developed countries (14). Length of stay (LOS) in the ICU is a key indicator of healthcare efficiency and an important indicator of the quality of critical care provided by a hospital (15, 16). Prolonged ICU stays often result in large resource utilization and thus markedly increased healthcare costs (17). A multistate, multihospital analysis found that ICU utilization rates varied widely among patients hospitalized with COPD. It is therefore particularly important to determine the factors that prolong LOS in the ICU for patients with COPD in order to help accelerate ICU bed turnover, reduce patient care and financial burden, and prevent poor prognoses.

The literature (18–22) has suggested that LOS in hospitalized patients with COPD may be influenced by various factors, such as age, smoking history, Charlson Comorbidity Index, comorbidities, malnutrition, mobility, and mechanical ventilation. Some vital-sign parameters such as higher respiratory rate on admission, systolic blood pressure > 140 mmHg, and diastolic blood pressure > 90 mmHg have also been considered as risk factors for LOS (23, 24). However, the factors that influence the length of ICU stay for patients with COPD are not well defined.

Previous nomograms (25) often suffered from small sample sizes, which could limit the generalizability of their results and hinder their applicability in diverse populations of critically ill patients. Moreover, these models relied on predictors that were difficult or time-consuming to collect, making them less practical for real-world clinical application. Additionally, the representation of the entire spectrum of severity among critically ill patients was not always achieved in previous models, potentially affecting their predictive accuracy and clinical usefulness. In this study, we aimed to address

these limitations by constructing a novel nomogram for predicting prolonged ICU stays in patients with COPD. We utilized the large and reliable MIMIC-IV (Medical Information Mart for Intensive Care IV) database, which contains comprehensive, deidentified, and wellmaintained clinical data on ICU patients, providing an excellent foundation for the development of our predictive model. This study therefore aimed to identify predictors of prolonged LOS in the ICU and attempted to construct a valid predictive model. This could help clinicians and nurses identify patients who require extended ICU stays and develop appropriate interventions to speed up ICU bed turnover and reduce healthcare costs.

Materials and methods

Data source and ethics statement

The MIMIC-IV database is available primarily for researchers from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology Computational Physiology Laboratory and Collaborative Research Group (26). This database includes demographic information, vital signs, laboratory indicators, medications, and medical-care information. The database has a large sample, comprehensive information, and long-term patient follow-ups, while being free to use and providing a rich resource for critical-care research (27).

This study adhered to the provisions of the Declaration of Helsinki, and ethics approval was provided by the Ethics Committee and Institutional Review Board of the First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University. Besides, our authors received permission after completing the "Protecting Human Research Participants" web-based training program from the National Institutes of Health (record ID: 45369280). The requirement for obtaining individual patient consent was waived in the present study since it did not have any direct implications on clinical care, and all confidential health data was anonymized to safeguard patient privacy.

Study population

The number of 69,211 patients admitted to ICU in MIMIC-IV database from 2008–2019. This study used the Ninth Revisions of the International Classification of Diseases (49,120, 49,121, 49,122, 496) and the Tenth Revisions of the International Classification of Diseases (J44, J440, J441, J449) codes to extract 9,980 patients admitted to the ICU with a COPD diagnosis (including acute exacerbated COPD) from the MIMIC-IV database. The following populations were excluded in this study: (1) patients under the age of 18, (2) patients who had multiple admissions other than the first hospital/ICU admission, (3) patients with ICU stays of less than 1 day, including those who died upon ICU admission, and (4) patients with a hospital stay shorter than their ICU stay. The final population for our study was 4,940 patients. Figure 1 illustrates the detailed patient selection process.

Data extraction

The following data were extracted from the MIMIC-IV database using structured query language (28): (1) general patient data and



demographic characteristics: sex, age, weight, height, race, smoking history, marital status, and length of ICU stay; (2) vital signs: body temperature, heart rate, respiratory rate, mean blood pressure, and pulse oximetry-derived oxygen saturation; (3) laboratory test results: pH, glucose, hematocrit, hemoglobin, platelets, white blood cell count, anion gap, bicarbonate, blood urea nitrogen, calcium, chloride, creatinine, sodium, potassium, internal normalized ratio, prothrombin time, partial thromboplastin time(s), PaO₂, Lactate, total CO₂, PaCO₂, lymphocytes, basophils, eosinophils, monocytes, neutrophils and urine output; (4) comorbidities: sepsis, myocardial infarct, congestive heart failure, peripheral vascular disease, cerebrovascular disease, dementia, rheumatic disease, peptic ulcer disease, mild liver disease, uncomplicated diabetes, paraplegia, renal disease, malignant cancer, severe liver disease, metastatic solid tumor, acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, respiratory failure, ventilation associated pneumonia (VAP), hypertension, pneumonia, septic shock, electrolytes disorder and asthma; (5) scores on assessment scales: Charlson comorbidity index, Acute Physiology score III (APSIII), Oxford Acute Severity of Illness score (OASIS), Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score, Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS) score and Braden Scale score; and (6) treatment and medications: renal replacement therapy (RRT), antibiotic, norepinephrine, invasive mechanical ventilation, bronchodilators and glucocorticoids. For vital signs and laboratory test results, we extracted the mean values on the first day of ICU admission. The multiple interpolation (29) was used to process missing data. However, features with a missing rate higher than 20% (height) were removed since we aimed to build a prediction model that can be generalized in the real clinic which should contain accessible data. The missing rate of all extracted variables was shown in Supplementary Figure 1.

Nomograms construction and validation

After applying the inclusion and exclusion criteria, the final population analyzed comprised 4,940 patients. Given the largeness of the sample, we used the Type 2a scheme TRIPOD (30) (Transparent Reporting of a multivariable prediction model for Individual Prognosis or Diagnosis) for prediction-model building and validation. The data set was first randomly divided into training (n = 3,458) and validation (n = 1,482) sets at a 7:3 ratio. The predictor variables included in the column line graph (nomogram) were selected in two steps. First, we analyzed the data in the training set using least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) regression (31, 32) to select the best risk factors for prolonged ICU stay. LASSO analysis (33, 34) is performed by generating a penalty function that is a compression of the coefficients of the variables in the regression model to prevent overfitting and solve the problem of severe covariance. Second, the most important features selected by the LASSO regression from the training set were used in a multifactorial logistic regression analysis. Variables with p < 0.05 were included in the nomogram, and multifactorial analysis was used to predict the respective probabilities of prolonged ICU stay in patients with COPD.

The validation of the prediction model consisted of three main processes: discrimination, calibration, and clinical validity. In this study, the areas under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves (area under curve, AUC) were used to determine the discrimination of the model, the Hosmer-Lemeshow test and calibration plots were used to evaluate its calibration, and decision-curve analysis (DCA) was used to assess its clinical validity.

Study outcomes

The primary outcome was prolonged ICU length of stay. Detailed ICU admission time and discharge time were recorded for all patients in MIMIC-IV. Length of ICU stay was calculated as the difference between ICU discharge time (icu_outtime) and ICU admission time (icu_intime). Currently, there is no universally accepted definition of prolonged ICU length of stay (35). ICU length of stay >5 days was defined prolonged LOS in the ICU in this study (36) (based on the 75th percentile of ICU LOS in our sample).

Statistical analysis

We performed a descriptive analysis of the above variables. The baseline data of all patients were grouped by prolonged ICU stay (yes or no). Continuous variables were expressed as medians (25th–75th percentiles); categorical variables were expressed as counts and percentages. The Wilcoxon rank sum test was used to compare group differences for continuous variables, and Chi-squared tests were used to compare categorical variables. For covariance between continuous variables in the logistic regression, we used the variance inflation factor (VIF), with VIF < 4 indicated no multicollinearity among predictors (37).

All data were analyzed and processed using R software (version 4.2.1, https://www.r-project.org/) for statistical analysis and processing (38). Multiple interpolation was performed using the "mice" package, descriptive analysis and comparisons of differences between groups were performed using "tableone" package, LASSO regression analysis was performed using "glmnet" package, multifactor logistic regression analysis was performed using "rms" package, ROC curves were plotted using "pROC" package, and DCA was performed using "rmda" package. A probability value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant, and all statistical tests were two-sided.

Results

Characteristics of included patients

The number of 4,940 patients were included in this study, and 1,255 (25.4%) prolonged ICU stay (length of stay more than 5 days). The baseline characteristics of all patients were lied in Table 1. The median age of all patients was approximately 72 years old, and 2,660 (53.8%) men were included in the study. Compared with the non-prolonged ICU stay patients, prolonged ICU stay patients generally had more comorbidities, medication, treatment, and tended to have more severe illness severity scores (Table 1). The demographics and clinical characteristics of the patients in the training and validation sets are listed in Supplementary Table 1. There was good comparability between the two groups of patients.

Variable filtering of the training set

Among the 72 relevant feature variables extracted, 13 potential predictor variables were selected based on the data from the training set (Figures 2A,B) that had nonzero coefficients in the LASSO regression model. Features fitted to construct prediction models were selected by the largest λ at which the mean square error (MSE) is within one standard error of the minimal MSE (Supplementary Table 2). These predictors were sepsis, renal replacement therapy cerebrovascular disease, respiratory failure, ventilator associated pneumonia norepinephrine, bronchodilators, invasive mechanical ventilation, electrolytes disorders, Glasgow Coma Scale score acute physiology score III oxford acute severity of illness score and body temperature. However, in the multivariate logistic regression, two variables (APSIII and OASIS) were excluded because they were not statistically effects (Supplementary Table 3). Finally, we included 11 variables to construct the model.

Construction of predictive models

The results of the multifactorial logistic regression analysis for sepsis, renal replacement therapy (RRT), cerebrovascular disease, respiratory failure, ventilator associated pneumonia (VAP), norepinephrine, bronchodilators, invasive mechanical ventilation, electrolytes disorders, Glasgow Coma Scale score (GCS) and body temperature were listed in Table 2. All of these predictor variables had significant effects, and hence they were used to construct a nomogram of the risk of prolonged LOS in the ICU for patients with COPD, which is presented in Figure 3A. Each predictor variable indicator corresponds to a set of values on the scale with the score scale on the top (points), the scores of all the indicators were summed to obtain the total score, and the position of the total score on the bottom total points scale (total points) corresponds to the probability of having a prolonged LOS in the ICU for patients with COPD. This study also applied the "shiny app" package of R software,1 which is mostly used to help physicians and nurses working in clinical settings to predict risks and individualize patient assessments. As an example to help the reader better understand the nomogram, if a COPD patient with sepsis, respiratory failure, and ventilate associated pneumonia has been treated with bronchodilators, invasive mechanical ventilation, norepinephrine, a Glasgow Coma Score of 9, and a temperature of 38°C during ICU stay. Then the probability of prolonged LOS in his/ her ICU was about 90.1% (95%CI, 0.835-0.943; Figure 3B).

Validation of predictive models

To validate the predictive models, we first performed a VIF test with all variables scoring less than 4. There was no covariance and the model fit was good. The AUC values (equal to C-index) were 0.826 (95%CI, 0.809–0.842) and 0.827 (95%CI, 0.802–0.853) in the training and validation sets, respectively (Figure 4), which indicates good performance. The results of a Hosmer-Lemeshow test indicated strong agreement between the predicted and observed probabilities in the training (χ^2 =8.21, *p*=0.413) and validation (χ^2 =8.21, *p*=0.413) sets. The calibration curves of the nomograms used to predict the risk of prolonged LOS in the ICU for patients with COPD also indicated

¹ https://cht19991225.shinyapps.io/Dynamic_nomogram/
TABLE 1 Comparison of baseline data between non-ICU p-LOS and ICU p-LOS cohort

Variables	Total (n=4940)	Non-ICU p-LOS Group(n=3685)	ICU p-LOS Group(n=1255)	p-value
General characteristics				
Age (years old)	72.00 (64.00, 80.00)	72.00 (64.00, 80.00)	71.00 (63.50, 79.00)	0.005
Sex, male (%)	2660 (53.8)	1970 (53.5)	690 (55.0)	0.368
Weight (kg)	78.80 (65.00, 95.00)	78.40 (64.45, 94.20)	80.00 (65.94, 97.28)	0.007
Race, White (%)	3590 (72.7)	2735 (74.2)	855 (68.1)	<0.001
Smoke (%)	1503 (30.4)	1161 (31.5)	342 (27.3)	0.005
Vital signs		·	·	·
Temperature (°C)	36.80 (36.60, 37.00)	36.80 (36.60, 37.00)	36.90 (36.60, 37.20)	<0.001
Heart rate (beats/minute)	84.00 (75.00, 96.00)	83.00 (74.00, 94.00)	87.00 (75.00, 99.00)	<0.001
Respiratory rate (beats/minute)	19.00 (17.00, 22.00)	19.00 (17.00, 22.00)	20.00 (18.00, 23.00)	<0.001
MBP (mmHg)	76.00 (70.00, 83.00)	76.00 (70.00, 83.00)	75.00 (69.00, 82.00)	0.004
SpO ₂ (%)	96.00 (95.00, 98.00)	96.00 (95.00, 98.00)	96.00 (95.00, 98.00)	0.167
Laboratory tests				
pH (units)	7.37 (7.30, 7.42)	7.37 (7.31, 7.42)	7.36 (7.28, 7.42)	<0.001
Glucose (mg/dL)	132.00 (113.00, 161.25)	131.00 (113.00, 159.00)	136.00 (114.00, 167.00)	0.008
Hematocrit (%)	32.50 (28.60, 37.20)	32.50 (28.70, 37.00)	32.40 (28.45, 37.60)	0.743
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	10.60 (9.30, 12.20)	10.60 (9.30, 12.10)	10.50 (9.20, 12.20)	0.604
Platelets (10 ⁹ /L)	196.00 (146.00, 260.00)	196.00 (148.00, 261.00)	195.00 (138.00, 259.00)	0.162
WBC (10 ⁹ /L)	11.40 (8.50, 15.30)	11.10 (8.30, 14.90)	12.10 (8.80, 15.90)	<0.001
Anion gap (mEq/L)	14.00 (12.00, 17.00)	14.00 (12.00, 16.00)	14.00 (12.00, 17.00)	0.011
Bicarbonate (mEq/L)	24.00 (21.50, 27.00)	24.00 (22.00, 27.00)	23.50 (20.50, 27.00)	<0.001
BUN (mg/dL)	22.00 (15.00, 35.00)	21.00 (15.00, 33.00)	25.00 (17.00, 40.00)	<0.001
Calcium (mg/dL)	8.4 (8.00, 8.80)	8.4 (8.00, 8.80)	8.30 (7.80, 8.80)	<0.001
Chloride (mEq/L)	103.00 (99.00, 107.00)	103.00 (99.00, 107.00)	103.00 (99.00, 107.00)	0.436
Creatinine (mg/dL)	1.00 (0.80, 1.50)	1.00 (0.80, 1.50)	1.10 (0.80, 1.80)	<0.001
Sodium (mEq/L)	139.00 (136.00, 141.00)	139.00 (136.00, 141.00)	139.00 (136.00, 142.00)	0.009
Potassium (mEq/L)	4.30 (3.90, 4.70)	4.30 (3.90, 4.70)	4.30 (3.90, 4.80)	0.051
INR	1.30 (1.10, 1.50)	1.30 (1.10, 1.50)	1.30 (1.10, 1.60)	<0.001
PT (s)	13.80 (12.30, 16.30)	13.70 (12.20, 16.10)	14.20 (12.50, 17.40)	<0.001
PTT (s)	31.70 (27.60, 41.20)	31.20 (27.40, 40.10)	33.30 (28.25, 44.45)	<0.001
PaO ₂ (mmHg)	88.00 (60.00, 100.00)	88.00 (60.00, 100.00)	88.00 (60.50, 100.00)	0.764
Lactate (mmol/L)	1.60 (1.10, 2.40)	1.60 (1.10, 2.40)	1.60 (1.10, 2.36)	0.745
Total CO ₂ (mEq/L)	27.00 (23.00, 30.00)	27.00 (24.00, 30.00)	26.00 (23.00, 31.00)	0.049
PaCO ₂ (mmHg)	44.50 (38.00, 53.00)	44.00 (38.00, 53.00)	45.00 (38.00, 55.00)	0.021
Lymphocytes (%)	10.70 (5.80, 17.70)	11.50 (6.10, 18.80)	8.70 (4.80, 14.20)	<0.001
Basophils (%))	0.30 (0.10, 0.50)	0.30 (0.10, 0.50)	0.20 (0.10, 0.40)	<0.001
Eosinophils (%)	0.60 (0.10, 1.70)	0.70 (0.10, 1.90)	0.30 (0.00, 1.20)	<0.001
Monocytes (%)	5.10 (3.20, 7.50)	5.10 (3.30, 7.50)	5.00 (3.00, 7.40)	0.046
Neutrophils (%)	80.40 (71.40, 87.40)	79.70 (70.50, 87.00)	82.80 (74.30, 88.70)	<0.001
Urine output (ml)	1480.00 (950.00, 2260.00)	1530.00 (990.00, 2304.00)	1335.00 (844.50, 2119.50)	<0.001
Comorbidities				1
Sepsis (%)	2813 (56.9)	1756 (47.7)	1057 (84.2)	<0.001
Myocardial infarct (%)	1150 (23.3)	842 (22.8)	308 (24.5)	0.235

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Variables	Total (<i>n</i> =4940)	Non-ICU p-LOS Group(<i>n</i> =3685)	ICU p-LOS Group(<i>n</i> =1255)	<i>p</i> -value
Congestive heart failure (%)	2154 (43.6)	1559 (42.3)	595 (47.4)	0.002
Peripheral vascular disease (%)	959 (19.4)	718 (19.5)	241 (19.2)	0.86
Cerebrovascular disease (%)	745 (15.1)	513 (13.9)	232 (18.5)	< 0.001
Dementia (%)	194 (3.9)	152 (4.1)	42 (3.3)	0.254
Rheumatic disease (%)	243 (4.9)	185 (5.0)	58 (4.6)	0.625
Peptic ulcer disease (%)	141 (2.9)	106 (2.9)	35 (2.8)	0.95
Mild liver disease (%)	497 (10.1)	325 (8.8)	172 (13.7)	<0.001
Uncomplicated diabetes (%)	1295 (26.2)	969 (26.3)	326 (26.0)	0.853
Paraplegia (%)	186 (3.8)	118 (3.2)	68 (5.4)	0.001
Renal disease (%)	1229 (24.9)	896 (24.3)	333 (26.5)	0.125
Malignant cancer (%)	763 (15.4)	599 (16.3)	164 (13.1)	0.008
Severe liver disease (%)	164 (3.3)	94 (2.6)	70 (5.6)	<0.001
Metastatic solid tumor (%)	362 (7.3)	287 (7.8)	75 (6.0)	0.039
AIDS (%)	21 (0.4)	15 (0.4)	6 (0.5)	0.934
Respiratory failure (%)	1998 (40.4)	1148 (31.2)	850 (67.7)	< 0.001
VAP (%)	180 (3.6)	28 (0.8)	152 (12.1)	<0.001
Hypertension (%)	2165 (43.8)	1638 (44.5)	527 (42.0)	0.138
Pneumonia (%)	935 (18.9)	630 (17.1)	305 (24.3)	<0.001
Septic shock (%)	616 (12.5)	331 (9.0)	285 (22.7)	<0.001
Electrolytes disorders (%)	2210 (44.7)	1417 (38.5)	793 (63.2)	<0.001
Asthma (%)	165 (3.3)	125 (3.4)	40 (3.2)	0.796
Scores on assessment scales				
APSIII	45.00 (34.00, 62.00)	42.00 (32.00, 54.00)	62.00 (46.00, 83.00)	< 0.001
GCS	14.00 (11.00, 15.00)	14.00 (13.00, 15.00)	11.00 (7.00, 14.00)	< 0.001
SOFA	5.00 (3.00, 8.00)	4.00 (2.00, 6.00)	7.00 (5.00, 10.00)	<0.001
Charlson comorbidity index	7.00 (6.00, 9.00)	7.00 (5.00, 9.00)	7.00 (6.00, 9.00)	0.044
Braden score	15.00 (13.00, 16.00)	15.00 (13.00, 17.00)	14.00 (12.00, 16.00)	< 0.001
OASIS	33.00 (27.00, 40.00)	31.00 (26.00, 37.00)	39.00 (32.00, 46.00)	< 0.001
Treatment and medications			· · · · ·	
RRT (%)	336 (6.8)	152 (4.1)	184 (14.7)	<0.001
Antibiotic (%)	3684 (74.6)	2534 (68.8)	1150 (91.6)	<0.001
Norepinephrine (%)	1199 (24.3)	608 (16.5)	591 (47.1)	< 0.001
Invasive mechanical ventilation (%)	1930 (39.1)	1168 (31.7)	762 (60.7)	<0.001
Bronchodilators (%)	4008 (81.1)	2913 (79.1)	1095 (87.3)	<0.001
Glucocorticoids (%)	2280 (46.2)	1595 (43.3)	685 (54.6)	< 0.001

Medians and interquartile ranges (25th and 75th percentiles) were computed for continuous variables, and frequencies and percentages for categorical variables. The Wilcoxon rank-sum test was used to compare group differences for continuous variables, and Chi-square tests for categorical variables. ICU: Intensive Care Units; p-LOS, Prolonged length of stay; RRT, renal replacement therapy; AIDS, Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome; VAP, ventilation associated pneumonia; MBP, mean blood pressure; APSIII, acute physiology score III; GCS, Glasgow Coma Score; SOFA, sequential organ failure assessment; OASIS, oxford acute severity of illness score; SpO₂, pulse oximetry-derived oxygen saturation; PaO₂: arterial partial pressure of oxygen ; PaCO₂ : partial pressure of carbon dioxide; WBC, white blood cell count; BUN: blood urea nitrogen; PT: prothrombin time; PTT: partial thromboplastin time; INR: internal normalized ratio.

good consistency (Figures 5A,B). Together these validation results indicate that the nomograms of the model had good predictive effects.

The blue line in the DCA graph in Figure 6 indicates the scenarios in which this model predicts the occurrence of prolonged LOS in ICUs for patients with COPD. For comparison purposes, the horizontal and diagonal lines represent the two extreme cases: the former represents all samples being negative, while the latter represents all samples being positive. The DCA results indicated that patients with COPD would obtain higher net clinical benefits when using nomograms to predict prolonged ICU stay in both the training



FIGURE 2 Variable selection by LASSO binary logistic regression model. (A) Each curve with different colors represents the change trajectory of each independent variable coefficient, the y-axis is the coefficient value; the upper x-axis is the number of non-zero coefficients in the LASSO model; (B) Represented the cross-validation result with different λ value, the left dot line represented lambda.In which was the lowest λ of minimum mean cross-validated error, the right dot line represented the lambda.Ise which was the largest value of λ such that error is within 1 standard error of the cross-validated errors for lambda.min.

TABLE 2 Multivariate logistic regression analysis of the selected significant clinical characteristics in the training set.

Variables	ORª	95%Cl⁵	<i>p</i> -value					
GCS	0.86	0.84-0.89	<0.001*					
Temperature	1.29	1.09–1.53	0.003*					
Sepsis	'	·	'					
Yes	2.46	1.97-3.08	<0.001*					
No	Reference							
RRT								
Yes	2.11	1.51-2.96	<0.001*					
No	Reference							
Cerebrovascular disease		·						
Yes	1.67	1.30-2.14	<0.001*					
No	Reference							
Respiratory failure		·						
Yes	2.06	1.69–2.51	<0.001*					
No	Reference							
VAP								
Yes	4.78	2.86-8.37	<0.001*					
No	Reference							
Norepinephrine								
Yes	1.79	1.46-2.21	<0.001*					
No	Reference							
Bronchodilators								
Yes	1.58	1.21-2.06	<0.001*					
No	Reference							
Invasive mechanical ventilation								
Yes	1.45	1.19–1.75	0.004*					
No	Reference							
Electrolytes disorder								
Yes	1.36	1.12-1.65	0.001*					
No	Reference							

*p < 0.05; *OR odd ratio; *CI confidence interval; GCS, Glasgow Coma Score; RRT, renal replacement therapy; VAP, ventilation associated pneumonia.



Developed risk nomograms for prolonged ICU length of stay with COPD patients. (A) Normal nomograms. (B) Dynamic nomograms. p-LOS, prolonged length of stay; RRT, renal replacement therapy; VAP, ventilation associated pneumonia; GCS, Glasgow Coma Score.



and validation sets (Figures 6A,B). For example, in the validation set, assuming a timely intervention for patients with COPD with a 40% risk of developing an prolonged ICU stay, 9 people would benefit for every 100 interventions.

Discussion

Column line graphs (nomograms) are simple, reliable, and practical forecasting tools (39). They have been widely used in clinical settings to help predictions and decision-making by identify several relevant predictors (40). We have constructed the first risk prediction model for a prolonged ICU stay in patients with COPD that has good predictive effects, with an AUC of 0.827 (95%CI, 0.802–0.853) in the validation set. The prediction model established in this study was also strongly calibrated and had good clinical validity. Sepsis, RRT cerebrovascular disease, respiratory failure, VAP norepinephrine, bronchodilators, invasive mechanical ventilation, electrolytes disorders, GCS and body temperature of patients with COPD can be used as predictors. We can therefore clinically predict the probability of prolonged ICU stays of patients with COPD by obtaining healthy history information, performing physical examinations, drugs and treatment measures. This prediction model can provide guidance for the development of strategies to prevent prolonged ICU length of stay.

Sepsis is a clinical syndrome that poses a life-threatening risk to patients due to the dysregulation of their response to infections, which leads to organ dysfunction (41). Similar to previous studies, sepsis could result in prolonged ICU stays for patients (42, 43). The treatment of sepsis would take a long time and consume a lot of medical resources, which led to a longer stay in the ICU (44). Renal replacement therapy is a therapeutic approach that utilizes blood purification technology to clear solutes, in order to replace the impaired renal function as well as play a protective and supportive role on organ function (45). The use of RRT will prolong ICU stay in our study. Contrary to our conclusion, a meta-analysis showed that early renal replacement therapy was associated with significantly shorter ICU length of stay (46). This disparity may be explained due to







differences in data collection. This study was concerned only with the use of RRT with COPD patients instead of the timing of RRT use.

The GCS is composed of the eye-opening response, verbal response, and body movement (47). It is not surprising that the GCS score is a protective factor for longer LOS in patients with COPD (OR=0.86, 95% CI=0.84–0.89, p<0.001), which is consistent with results in clinical practice (48). This is because a lower GCS score is indicative of a more-severe case of impaired consciousness and therefore a longer ICU stay.

Bronchodilators, which include β_2 -adrenergic agonists, anticholinergics, and theophyllines, are the main measures to control symptoms in patients with COPD (49). Bronchodilators were associated with prolonged ICU stay in this study. Because patients with COPD who are treated with bronchodilators usually experience acute exacerbations, they will have increased dyspnea symptoms and declined respiration function and will require ICU observation for a longer duration than nonusers, resulting in a longer ICU stay. Similarly, cerebrovascular disease, one of the major health problems worldwide (50), is accompanied by multiple forms of neurological dysfunction and altered vascular statuses, including stroke. This undoubtedly increases the risk of patient care and prolonged patient stays. In additional, electrolyte disorders are common in the ICU and can seriously affect the blood supply and metabolism (51). This led to longer ICU stays for patients (52).

Previous studies (53–55) have found that the body temperature of a patient on admission affects their LOS in the ICU. Although those

studies were performed on other populations, body temperature was still a predictor for the model in this study. Changes in body temperature is one of the important indicators of condition monitoring, and can affect subsequent treatment and prognosis. Geffroy et al. (56) found that patients with early fever were more likely to have a poor prognosis and hence a prolonged ICU stay.

Similar to the results of previous studies (57–61), invasive mechanical ventilation, respiratory failure and ventilator associated pneumonia increased the LOS in the ICU for patients with COPD. This is due to these patients usually had a more-severe gas exchange impairment, require respiratory support, and have a longer ICU stay. However, unlike previous studies (53), norepinephrine was associated with prolonged LOS in the ICU, and was therefore a risk factor. Possible reasons for this are that patients using norepinephrine have unstable circulatory function and greater variability in their condition and LOS, thus requiring more attention and monitoring by nurses and doctors (48).

Our study aimed to construct a nomogram for predicting prolonged LOS among patients with COPD hospitalized in the ICU. This study differs from the previous study in that our outcome of interest is prolonged LOS, while the other study focused on 30-day mortality prediction (62). Furthermore, we utilized a distinct set of variables to identify predictors specifically relevant to extended LOS among COPD patients in the ICU. Our study contributes to the literature by providing healthcare professionals with a practical tool to stratify patients, optimize resource allocation, and improve patient care. By developing a nomogram that can predict prolonged LOS, we offer clinicians an additional means to identify patients at high risk for prolonged ICU LOS, allowing for more informed decision-making and targeted interventions. Overall, our study represents a significant advancement in understanding and managing COPD patients in the ICU, and has important clinical implications for improving patient outcomes and resource utilization.

Identifying patients at risk of prolonged length of stay may help ICU management and avoid ICU a shortage of ICU beds (53). Considering the specificity and complexity of patients with COPD in the intensive care unit, this study selected 4,940 patients with severe COPD from a large intensive care medicine database for a retrospective population-based study. The predictors selected for this study (e.g., temperature, GCS, RRT, and use of invasive mechanical ventilation) are simpler and more accessible to critical care physicians and nurses than respiratory specialty indicators, and help clinicians in their decision making.

Limitations

This study was based on a large and diverse population of the MIMIC-IV database, but in practice it was subject to several limitations. First, this study had a retrospective single-center design and the sample may be underrepresented. External validation of the line plots was not performed (only internal validation), which may lead to overfitting of the new model, requiring the use of data from other sources to validate the findings. Second, some potentially important factors were not included in our study, making it less comprehensive, including, body mass index (BMI), certain psychosocial factors such as anxiety, depression, and social support. Third, limited by our current capabilities and the extent to which the database was available, we still found that antibiotic and vasopressin use prolonged ICU stays in patients with COPD, which was only expressed simply using categorical variables, which makes the effect of specific dosages on the LOS of patients unclear. Fourth, the included study population meant that important variables such as body temperature ranged from 31°C to 40°C in our nomograms, and there was no way to make good predictions for patients with body temperatures outside this range; this needs to be addressed in future studies. Finally, our research did not specifically examine the repercussions of malnutrition on the intensive care unit length of stay for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Malnutrition, a crucial element, has been proven to affect clinical outcomes in individuals with this condition. Regrettably, owing to the absence of exhaustive nutritional data in our patient sample, we could not explore the correlation between malnutrition and length of stay (63). This constraint might have hindered our comprehensive understanding of the intricate factors influencing disease prognosis, potentially leading to an underestimation of nutritional status significance in our conclusions. Consequently, we propose that forthcoming investigations incorporate malnutrition evaluation tools, such as the Mini Nutritional Assessment, Subjective Global Assessment, and Nutritional Risk Screening, to appraise the nutritional condition of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (64). This approach would yield invaluable insights into malnutrition's impact on disease progression and outcomes, ultimately aiding in the creation of more focused and efficacious interventions to address this critical aspect of disease management. Moving forward, we intend to encompass as many predictor variables as feasible and validate the model using an external cohort to achieve heightened accuracy in our findings.

Conclusion

Based on the MIMIC-IV database, we have constructed and validated original predictive and dynamic nomograms for prolonged ICU stays in patients with COPD using 11 easily collected parameters The nomograms (available at https://cht19991225.shinyapps.io/ Dynamic_nomogram/) will help medical doctors and nursing practitioners to accurately assess the probability of a prolonged ICU stay in specific COPD patients and to distinguish high-risk patients who may require aggressive medical/nursing measures.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found at: the data were available on the MIMIC-IV website at https://mimic.physionet.org/.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee and Institutional Review Board of the First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Author contributions

HC, JLi, and FW created the study protocol, performed the statistical analyses, and wrote the first manuscript draft. JLy and FZ conceived the study, critically revised the manuscript, contributed to data interpretation and manuscript revision. SY and XY assisted with the study design and performed data collection. XH assisted with data collection and manuscript editing. SY confirmed the data and assisted with the statistical analyses. HC maintained the localized database and worked on SQL coding. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The work was supported by Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Traditional Chinese Medicine Informatization (2021B1212040007), Clinical Frontier Technology Program of the First Affiliated Hospital of Jinan University, China (no. JNU1AF-CFTP-2022-a01235), and the Science and Technology Projects in Guangzhou, China (nos. 202201020054 and 2023A03J1032).

References

1. Vogelmeier CF, Criner GJ, Martinez FJ, Anzueto A, Barnes PJ, Bourbeau J, et al. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive lung disease 2017 report. GOLD executive summary. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 195:557–82. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201701-0218PP

2. Langsetmo L, Platt RW, Ernst P, Bourbeau J. Underreporting exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in a longitudinal cohort. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2008) 177:396–401. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200708-1290OC

3. Warwick M, Fernando SM, Aaron SD, Rochwerg B, Tran A, Thavorn K, et al. Outcomes and resource utilization among patients admitted to the intensive care unit following acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J Intensive Care Med.* (2021) 36:1091–7. doi: 10.1177/0885066620944865

4. Safiri S, Carson-Chahhoud K, Noori M, Nejadghaderi SA, Sullman MJM, Ahmadian Heris J, et al. Burden of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and its attributable risk factors in 204 countries and territories, 1990-2019: results from the global burden of disease study 2019. *BMJ*. (2022) 378:e69679. doi: 10.1136/bmj-2021-069679

5. GBD 2019 Diseases and Injuries Collaborators. Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990-2019: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2019. *Lancet.* (2020) 396:1204–22. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9

6. Criner RN, Han MK. COPD care in the 21st century: a public health priority. *Respir Care.* (2018) 63:591–600. doi: 10.4187/respcare.06276

7. Choi HS, Yang DW, Rhee CK, Yoon HK, Lee JH, Lim SY, et al. The health-related quality-of-life of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients and disease-related indirect burdens. *Korean J Intern Med.* (2020) 35:1136–44. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2018.398

8. Hurst JR, Siddiqui MK, Singh B, Varghese P, Holmgren U, de Nigris E. A systematic literature review of the humanistic burden of COPD. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2021) 16:1303–14. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S296696

9. Marshall JC, Bosco L, Adhikari NK, Connolly B, Diaz JV, Dorman T, et al. What is an intensive care unit? A report of the task force of the world Federation of Societies of intensive and critical care medicine. *J Crit Care.* (2017) 37:270–6. doi: 10.1016/j. jcrc.2016.07.015

10. Valentin A, Ferdinande P. Recommendations on basic requirements for intensive care units: structural and organizational aspects. *Intensive Care Med.* (2011) 37:1575–87. doi: 10.1007/s00134-011-2300-7

11. Ward NS, Chong DH. Critical care beds and resource utilization: current trends and controversies. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med.* (2015) 36:914–20. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1564876

12. Vincent JL, Marshall JC, Namendys-Silva SA, François B, Martin-Loeches I, Lipman J, et al. Assessment of the worldwide burden of critical illness: the intensive care over nations (ICON) audit. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2014) 2:380–6. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(14)70061-X

13. Halpern NA, Pastores SM. Critical care medicine in the United States 2000-2005: an analysis of bed numbers, occupancy rates, payer mix, and costs. *Crit Care Med.* (2010) 38:65–71. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e3181b090d0

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2023.1177786/ full#supplementary-material

14. Wu J, Lin Y, Li P, Hu Y, Zhang L, Kong G. Predicting prolonged length of ICU stay through machine learning. *Diagnostics.* (2021) 11:2242. doi: 10.3390/ diagnostics11122242

15. Verburg IW, Atashi A, Eslami S, Holman R, Abu-Hanna A, de Jonge E, et al. Which models can I use to predict adult ICU length of stay? A Systematic Review. *Crit Care Med.* (2017) 45:e222–31. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000002054

16. Kilic M, Yuzkat N, Soyalp C, Gulhas N. Cost analysis on intensive care unit costs based on the length of stay. *Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim.* (2019) 47:142–5. doi: 10.5152/TJAR.2019.80445

17. Herman C, Karolak W, Yip AM, Buth KJ, Hassan A, Legare JF. Predicting prolonged intensive care unit length of stay in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery—development of an entirely preoperative scorecard. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg.* (2009) 9:654–8. doi: 10.1510/icvts.2008.199521

18. Li M, Cheng K, Ku K, Li J, Hu H, Ung C. Factors influencing the length of hospital stay among patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in Macao population: a retrospective study of inpatient health record. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2021) 16:1677–85. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S307164

19. Dong F, Huang K, Ren X, Qumu S, Niu H, Wang Y, et al. Factors associated with inpatient length of stay among hospitalised patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, China, 2016-2017: a retrospective study. *BMJ Open.* (2021) 11:e40560. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-040560

20. Teixeira PP, Kowalski VH, Valduga K, de Araujo BE, Silva FM. Low muscle mass is a predictor of malnutrition and prolonged hospital stay in patients with acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a longitudinal study. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* (2021) 45:1221–30. doi: 10.1002/jpen.1998

21. Shay A, Fulton JS, O'Malley P. Mobility and functional status among hospitalized COPD patients. *Clin Nurs Res.* (2020) 29:13–20. doi: 10.1177/1054773819836202

22. Ruparel M, Lopez-Campos JL, Castro-Acosta A, Hartl S, Pozo-Rodriguez F, Roberts CM. Understanding variation in length of hospital stay for COPD exacerbation: European COPD audit. *ERJ Open Res.* (2016) 2:00034–2015. doi: 10.1183/23120541. 00034-2015

23. Tsimogianni AM, Papiris SA, Stathopoulos GT, Manali ED, Roussos C, Kotanidou A. Predictors of outcome after exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2009) 24:1043–8. doi: 10.1007/s11606-009-1061-2

24. Diaz-Peromingo JA, Grandes-Ibanez J, Fandino-Orgeira JM, Barcala-Villamarin P, Garrido-Sanjuan JA. Predicting factors contributing to length of stay in hospitalized chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients: the role of the emergency room. *Acta Med Austriaca*. (2004) 47:29–32. doi: 10.14712/18059694.2018.62

25. Yang L, Li M, Shu J, Yang Y, Huang Q. A risk prediction model for prolonged length of stay in patients with acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a retrospective study of 225 patients in a single center in Kunming. *China Med Sci Monit.* (2022) 28:e934392. doi: 10.12659/MSM.934392

26. Johnson A, Bulgarelli L, Shen L, Gayles A, Shammout A, Horng S, et al. MIMIC-IV, a freely accessible electronic health record dataset. *Sci Data*. (2023) 10:1. doi: 10.1038/s41597-022-01899-x

27. Yang J, Li Y, Liu Q, Li L, Feng A, Wang T, et al. Brief introduction of medical database and data mining technology in big data era. *J Evid Based Med.* (2020) 13:57–69. doi: 10.1111/jebm.12373

28. Wu WT, Li YJ, Feng AZ, Li L, Huang T, Xu AD, et al. Data mining in clinical big data: the frequently used databases, steps, and methodological models. *Mil Med Res.* (2021) 8:44. doi: 10.1186/s40779-021-00338-z

29. Morris TP, White IR, Royston P. Tuning multiple imputation by predictive mean matching and local residual draws. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. (2014) 14:75. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-14-75

30. Collins GS, Reitsma JB, Altman DG, Moons KG. Transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis (TRIPOD): the TRIPOD statement. *BMJ*. (2015) 350:g7594. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g7594

31. Hu JY, Wang Y, Tong XM, Yang T. When to consider logistic LASSO regression in multivariate analysis? *Eur J Surg Oncol.* (2021) 47:2206. doi: 10.1016/j. ejso.2021.04.011

32. Lyu J, Li Z, Wei H, Liu D, Chi X, Gong DW, et al. A potent risk model for predicting new-onset acute coronary syndrome in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Northwest China. *Acta Diabetol.* (2020) 57:705–13. doi: 10.1007/s00592-020-01484-x

33. Mullah M, Hanley JA, Benedetti A. LASSO type penalized spline regression for binary data. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* (2021) 21:83. doi: 10.1186/s12874-021-01234-9

34. Lin Q, Zhao Z, Liu JS. Sparse sliced inverse regression via Lasso. J Am Stat Assoc. (2019) 114:1726–39. doi: 10.1080/01621459.2018.1520115

35. Huang YC, Huang SJ, Tsauo JY, Ko WJ. Definition, risk factors and outcome of prolonged surgical intensive care unit stay. *Anaesth Intensive Care*. (2010) 38:500–5. doi: 10.1177/0310057X1003800314

36. Quintana JM, Unzurrunzaga A, Garcia-Gutierrez S, Gonzalez N, Lafuente I, Bare M, et al. Predictors of hospital length of stay in patients with exacerbations of COPD: a cohort study. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2015) 30:824–31. doi: 10.1007/s11606-014-3129-x

37. Kim JH. Multicollinearity and misleading statistical results. *Korean J Anesthesiol.* (2019) 72:558–69. doi: 10.4097/kja.19087

38. Chan B. Data Analysis Using R Programming. Adv Exp Med Biol. (2018) 1082:47-122. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-93791-5_2

39. Balachandran VP, Gonen M, Smith JJ, DeMatteo RP. Nomograms in oncology: more than meets the eye. *Lancet Oncol.* (2015) 16:e173–80. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)71116-7

40. Liang G, Chen X, Zha X, Zhang F. A nomogram to improve predictability of smallincision Lenticule extraction surgery. *Med Sci Monit.* (2017) 23:5168–75. doi: 10.12659/ MSM.904598

41. Taeb AM, Hooper MH, Marik PE. Sepsis: current definition, pathophysiology, diagnosis, and management. *Nutr Clin Pract.* (2017) 32:296–308. doi: 10.1177/0884533617695243

42. Vincent JL, Sakr Y, Sprung CL, Ranieri VM, Reinhart K, Gerlach H, et al. Sepsis in European intensive care units: results of the SOAP study. *Crit Care Med.* (2006) 34:344–53. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000194725.48928.3A

43. Arabi Y, Venkatesh S, Haddad S, Al SA, Al MS. A prospective study of prolonged stay in the intensive care unit: predictors and impact on resource utilization. *Int J Qual Health Care*. (2002) 14:403–10. doi: 10.1093/intqhc/14.5.403

44. Salomao R, Ferreira BL, Salomao MC, Santos SS, Azevedo L, Brunialti M. Sepsis: evolving concepts and challenges. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* (2019) 52:e8595. doi: 10.1590/1414-431x20198595

45. Nash DM, Przech S, Wald R, O'Reilly D. Systematic review and meta-analysis of renal replacement therapy modalities for acute kidney injury in the intensive care unit. *J Crit Care*. (2017) 41:138–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2017.05.002

46. Naorungroj T, Neto AS, Yanase F, Eastwood G, Wald R, Bagshaw SM, et al. Time to initiation of renal replacement therapy among critically ill patients with acute kidney

injury: a current systematic review and Meta-analysis. Crit Care Med. (2021) 49:e781–92. doi: 10.1097/CCM.000000000005018

47. Teasdale G, Maas A, Lecky F, Manley G, Stocchetti N, Murray G. The Glasgow coma scale at 40 years: standing the test of time. *Lancet Neurol.* (2014) 13:844–54. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70120-6

48. Deng Y, Liu S, Wang Z, Wang Y, Jiang Y, Liu B. Explainable time-series deep learning models for the prediction of mortality, prolonged length of stay and 30-day readmission in intensive care patients. *Front Med.* (2022) 9:933037. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.933037

49. Oostenbrink JB, Rutten-van MM, Monz BU, FitzGerald JM. Probabilistic Markov model to assess the cost-effectiveness of bronchodilator therapy in COPD patients in different countries. *Value Health.* (2005) 8:32–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4733.2005.03086.x

50. Hu X, De Silva TM, Chen J, Faraci FM. Cerebral vascular disease and neurovascular injury in ischemic stroke. *Circ Res.* (2017) 120:449–71. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.308427

51. Lindner G, Herschmann S, Funk GC, Exadaktylos AK, Gygli R, Ravioli S. Sodium and potassium disorders in patients with COPD exacerbation presenting to the emergency department. *BMC Emerg Med.* (2022) 22:49. doi: 10.1186/s12873-022-00607-7

52. Inabnit LS, Blanchette C, Ruban C. Comorbidities and length of stay in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. *COPD.* (2018) 15:355–60. doi: 10.1080/15412555.2018.1513470

53. Zampieri FG, Ladeira JP, Park M, Haib D, Pastore CL, Santoro CM, et al. Admission factors associated with prolonged (>14 days) intensive care unit stay. J Crit Care. (2014) 29:60–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2013.09.030

54. Reaven NL, Lovett JE, Funk SE. Brain injury and fever: hospital length of stay and cost outcomes. *J Intensive Care Med.* (2009) 24:131–9. doi: 10.1177/0885066608330211

55. Diringer MN, Reaven NL, Funk SE, Uman GC. Elevated body temperature independently contributes to increased length of stay in neurologic intensive care unit patients. *Crit Care Med.* (2004) 32:1489–95. doi: 10.1097/01.CCM.0000129484.61912.84

56. Geffroy A, Bronchard R, Merckx P, Seince PF, Faillot T, Albaladejo P, et al. Severe traumatic head injury in adults: which patients are at risk of early hyperthermia? *Intensive Care Med.* (2004) 30:785–90. doi: 10.1007/s00134-004-2280-y

57. Limsuwat C, Mankongpaisarnrung C, Dumrongmongcolgul N, Nugent K. Factors influencing the length of hospital stay in patients with acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease admitted to intensive care units. *Qual Manag Health Care.* (2014) 23:86–93. doi: 10.1097/QMH.0000000000024

58. Rouze A, Cottereau A, Nseir S. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and the risk for ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Curr Opin Crit Care*. (2014) 20:525–31. doi: 10.1097/MCC.00000000000123

59. Koulenti D, Parisella FR, Xu E, Lipman J, Rello J. The relationship between ventilatorassociated pneumonia and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: what is the current evidence? *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2019) 38:637–47. doi: 10.1007/s10096-019-03486-2

60. Terzano C, Colamesta V, Unim B, Romani S, Meneghini A, Volpe G, et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) exacerbation: impact of comorbidities on length and costs during hospitalization. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2017) 21:3680–9.

61. Gadre SK, Duggal A, Mireles-Cabodevila E, Krishnan S, Wang XF, Zell K, et al. Acute respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation in severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). *Medicine*. (2018) 97:e487. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000010487

62. Peng JC, Gong WW, Wu Y, Yan TY, Jiang XY. Development and validation of a prognostic nomogram among patients with acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in intensive care unit. *BMC Pulm Med.* (2022) 22:306. doi: 10.1186/s12890-022-02100-0

63. Ruiz AJ, Buitrago G, Rodriguez N, Gómez G, Sulo S, Gómez C, et al. Clinical and economic outcomes associated with malnutrition in hospitalized patients. *Clin Nutr.* (2019) 38:1310–6. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2018.05.016

64. Bauer JM, Vogl T, Wicklein S, Trogner J, Muhlberg W, Sieber CC. Comparison of the Mini nutritional assessment, subjective global assessment, and nutritional risk screening (NRS 2002) for nutritional screening and assessment in geriatric hospital patients. *Z Gerontol Geriatr.* (2005) 38:322–7. doi: 10.1007/s00391-005-0331-9

Glossary

APSIII	Acute physiology score III
AUC	Area under curve
BMI	Body mass index
BUN	Blood urea nitrogen
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
DBP	Diastolic blood pressure
DCA	Decision curve analysis
GCS	Glasgow coma scale
ICU	Intensive care units
INR	Internal normalized ratio
LASSO	Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator
LOS	Length of stay
MAP	Mean arterial pressure
MIMIC-IV	Medical information mart for intensive care-IV
MSE	Mean square error
OASIS	Oxford acute severity of illness score
PaCO2	Partial pressure of carbon dioxide
PaO2	Arterial partial pressure of oxygen
p-LOS	Prolonged length of stay
РТ	Prothrombin time
PTT	Partial thromboplastin time
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic curve
RRT	Renal replacement treatment
SBP	Systolic blood pressure
SOFA	Sequential organ failure assessment
SpO2	Pulse oximetry-derived oxygen saturation
TRIPOD	Transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis
VAP	Ventilation associated pneumonia
WBC	White blood cell

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Amany F. Elbehairy, Alexandria University, Egypt

REVIEWED BY Zakaria Lahmar, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Montpellier, France Sergey N. Avdeev, I.M. Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Russia

*CORRESPONDENCE Sara Martí ⊠ smartinm@bellvitgehospital.cat Salud Santos ⊠ saludsantos@bellvitgehospital.cat

RECEIVED 26 May 2023 ACCEPTED 06 July 2023 PUBLISHED 24 July 2023

CITATION

Cuevas E, Huertas D, Montón C, Marin A, Carrera-Salinas A, Pomares X, García-Nuñez M, Martí S and Santos S (2023) Systemic and functional effects of continuous azithromycin treatment in patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and frequent exacerbations. *Front. Med.* 10:1229463. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1229463

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Cuevas, Huertas, Montón, Marin, Carrera-Salinas, Pomares, García-Nuñez, Martí and Santos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Systemic and functional effects of continuous azithromycin treatment in patients with severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and frequent exacerbations

Ester Cuevas¹, Daniel Huertas², Concepción Montón³, Alicia Marin^{4,5}, Anna Carrera-Salinas⁶, Xavier Pomares³, Marian García-Nuñez^{3,4}, Sara Martí^{4,6*} and Salud Santos^{1,4*}

¹Department of Respiratory Medicine, Hospital Universitari de Bellvitge, Institut d'Investigacio Biomedica de Bellvitge – IDIBELL, Universitat de Barcelona, L'Hospitalet de Llobregat, Barcelona, Spain, ²Department of Respiratory Medicine, Consorci Sanitari Alt Penedès Garraf, Barcelona, Spain, ³Department of Respiratory Medicine, Hospital de Sabadell, Institut Universitari Parc Tauli-UAB, Sabadell, Spain, ⁴Research Network for Respiratory Diseases (CIBERes), ISCIII, Madrid, Spain, ⁵Department of Respiratory Medicine, Hospital Germans Trias i Pujol, Institut d'Investigació en Ciències de la Salut Germans Trias i Pujol – IGTP, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Badalona, Spain, ⁶Department of Microbiology, Hospital Universitari de Bellvitge, IDIBELL, Universitat de Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

Background: Continuous treatment with azithromycin may lead to fewer acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (AECOPD), but little is known of its impact on systemic and functional outcomes in real-life settings.

Methods: This was a multicenter prospective observational study of patients with severe COPD who started treatment with azithromycin. Tests were compared at baseline and after 3 and 12 months of treatment. These included lung function tests, a 6-min walking test (6MWT), and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays of serum and sputum markers, such as interleukins (IL-6, IL-8, IL-13, IL-5), tumor necrosis factor receptor 2 (TNFR2), and inflammatory markers. Incidence rate ratios (IRR) and their 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) are reported.

Results: Of the 478 eligible patients, the 42 who started azithromycin experienced reductions in AECOPDs (IRR, 0.34; 95% CI, 0.26–0.45) and hospitalizations (IRR, 0.39; 95% CI, 0.28–0.49). Treatment was also associated with significant improvement in the partial arterial pressure of oxygen (9.2 mmHg, 95% CI 1.4–16.9) at 12 months. While TNFR2 was reduced significantly in both serum and sputum samples, IL-13 and IL-6 were only significantly reduced in serum samples. Moreover, an elevated serum and sputum IL-8 level significantly predicted good clinical response to treatment.

Conclusion: Continuous azithromycin treatment in a cohort of patients with severe COPD and frequent exacerbations can significantly reduce the number and severity of exacerbations and improve gas exchange. Treatment changes the pattern of microorganism isolates and decreases the inflammatory response. Of note, IL-8 may have utility as a predictor of clinical response to azithromycin treatment.

KEYWORDS

inflammatory markers, interleukins, exacerbations, COPD, azithromycin, microorganisms

1. Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is an inflammatory and systemic disease that affects the airways. Acute exacerbations of COPD (AECOPD) affect not only the natural history of the disease but also quality of life, the number of hospitalizations, and mortality rates (1). Exacerbations, which are frequently caused by respiratory viral or bacterial infections, are events characterized by increases in respiratory symptoms that worsen in <14 days, may be accompanied by tachypnea and/or tachycardia, and are often associated with increased local and systemic inflammation (2). Various interventions have been shown to prevent AECOPDs, including both non-pharmacological measures (e.g., quitting smoking, respiratory rehabilitation, and vaccines) and pharmacological measures (e.g., bronchodilator and corticosteroid inhalers) (3). Nevertheless, 25–30% of patients still experience AECOPD, indicating that these measures do not prevent all cases (4).

Randomized controlled trials have demonstrated the efficacy of prophylactic azithromycin in reducing AECOPDs, and as such, current clinical guidelines recommend its use in patients with frequent exacerbations despite optimal inhaled therapy (5-7). However, there is limited evidence on the most appropriate time of administration or the most effective dose needed to control exacerbations and minimize side effects. Albert et al. compared the use of 250 mg of azithromycin per day for 1 year irrespective of COPD severity or frequency of AECOPD. They showed both an increased time lag between exacerbations and a decrease in the frequency of exacerbations compared to placebo (5). The COLUMBUS trial also showed that 500 mg of azithromycin three times a week for 1 year significantly reduced (42%) the exacerbation rate compared with placebo in patients with three or more AECOPDs annually (6). Finally, a more recent study found that doses of 250 mg and 500 mg three times a week had comparable effectiveness at preventing exacerbations in patients with severe COPD and frequent exacerbations, and that this could minimize the potential side effects of a long-term antibiotic therapy (7).

Antibiotic prophylaxis in AECOPDs may increase the risk of selection for resistant bacteria, facilitating the spread of antimicrobial resistance. Even though azithromycin is usually well-tolerated drug, undesirable side effects can still result from polypharmacy, advanced age, and comorbidities in real-world settings. Moreover, the therapeutic response can vary depending on the characteristics and baseline statuses of patients. Investigating what factors predict a favorable response, both in the number of exacerbations and their functional effects, is of particular clinical interest.

This study aimed to analyze the systemic and pulmonary functional changes associated with severe COPD in patients with frequent exacerbations after continuous azithromycin treatment, their effect on microbiological isolates in residual exacerbations, and the potential involvement of inflammatory and immunomodulatory mechanisms.

2. Methods

2.1. Study design

This was a multicenter, observational, and prospective study of patients with severe COPD and frequent exacerbations who regularly attended comprehensive care programs in the respiratory day hospitals of three university hospitals in Barcelona. The participating hospitals were Hospital Universitari de Bellvitge (HUB), Hospital Parc Taulí (HPT), and Hospital Germans Trias i Pujol (HGTiP). All patients who started treatment with azithromycin according to clinical guideline recommendations and practice (8) were included consecutively between January and December, 2017.

2.2. Patient selection

COPD was defined according to the GOLD recommendations: a history of smoking (>10 pack-years) and an FEV1 (forced exhalation volume in 1 second) to FVC (forced vital capacity) ratio <70% (8). By clinical consensus, and with the objective of homogenizing the selection between the different centers, we included patients at the maximum therapeutic step in the 6 months prior to inclusion if they had frequent exacerbations, defined as ≥4 moderate AECOPDs in the last year (≥3 if two were severe), and had sputum cultures negative for mycobacteria. Patients with contraindications to macrolide therapy (allergy, long QT syndrome), different respiratory pathologies, lack of suitability for macrolide treatment, according to the clinician's criteria (severe cardiovascular disease, hearing loss, use of co-therapies that prolong the QT interval or drug interactions) and prior use of azithromycin or inhaled colimycin (not concomitant initiation) were excluded.

All patients signed an informed consent form in accordance with the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki, and the local ethics committee approved the study (CEIC, ref. SSP-AZI-2016-01).

2.3. Visits and follow-up

All included patients started treatment with azithromycin 250 mg three times per week for 1 year. Sociodemographic data, anthropometrics, COPD history, and symptom evaluations were

Abbreviations: 6MWT, 6-min walking test; AECOPD, acute exacerbation of COPD; AMI, Acute myocardial infarction; COPD, Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CRP, C-reactive protein; ELISA, Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; HGTIP, Hospital Germans Trias I Pujol; HPT, Hospital Parc Tauli; HUB, Hospital Universitari de Bellvitge; ICS, inhaled corticosteroids; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; LABA, long-acting β_2 -agonist; LAMA, long-acting muscarinic antagonist; MMP9, Matrix metalloproteinase 9; MUC5AC, Mucin 5 AC; URT, Upper respiratory tract.

collected in all patients. Symptom tests included the COPD Assessment Test (CAT), London Chest Activity of Daily Living Scale (LCADL) (9), and the modified Medical Research Council (mMRC) Dyspnea Scale. In addition, participants underwent a 6-min walking test (6MWT), respiratory functional test, and arterial blood gas analyzes at baseline and after 3 and 12 months of follow-up. Blood and sputum samples were collected at all visits for laboratory determinations. All moderate and severe exacerbations were recorded and treated according to appropriate criteria and guidelines. Exacerbations from the year before starting treatment were also registered. An exacerbation was defined as any event that caused a worsening of respiratory symptoms and that required modification of the patient's usual treatment.

2.4. Quantification of inflammatory parameters in blood and sputum

Serum samples were obtained from venous blood. After allowing the sample to stand at room temperature for 2 h, it was centrifuged for 15 min at $1000 \times g$, and the supernatant was taken for analysis.

Sputum was separated from contaminating saliva by macroscopic examination, before being weighed and homogenized with 4 volumes of dithiothritol (Sputasol, Oxoid Ltd., Hants, United Kingdom). After 15 min at room temperature, the same volume of phosphate-buffered saline was added and the whole mixture was filtered and centrifuged at $600 \times g$ for 15 min. The supernatant was stored at -80° C for determinations.

Analysis was performed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Cytokine concentrations (IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-13) were measured in serum samples and supernatant sputum samples using a multiplex immune-bead assay (Milliplex MAP High Sensitivity Human T cell panel Kit; Merck Millipore). TNR2 was analyzed with a Human soluble TNF Receptor 2 ELISA Kit (sTNFRII; RAB0490). All procedures were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions, centralized in one of the centers.

2.5. Sputum collection and bacterial load detection

Sputum samples were obtained spontaneously at visits and during AECOPD episodes before starting any antimicrobial treatment. Only good quality sputum samples were considered (i.e., 25 leukocytes per low-power field) following the microbiological routine (10). Briefly, samples were homogenized with dithiothreitol (Sputasol, Oxoid Ltd., Hants, United Kingdom), and plated onto blood agar, chocolate agar, and MacConkey agar before overnight incubation at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere (blood and chocolate agar) or ambient air atmosphere (MacConkey agar). Bacterial colonies were sub-cultured for identification by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany).

2.6. Statistical analyzes

Data are expressed as means \pm standard deviation (SD) or medians [25th-75th percentile] for continuous data and as frequencies (percentage) for categorical data. Multiple comparisons were evaluated by chi-squared (categorical), student t (parametric), or Mann–Whitney (nonparametric) tests, applying the Bonferroni method if the Kruskal–Wallis test found significant differences. A negative binomial regression model was used to study the number of exacerbations after treatment, reporting the incidence rate ratio (IRR) and 95% confidence interval (95%CI). Different predictive statistical models were fitted for each analytical or clinical variable of interest, adjusted by age and Charlson index. A value of p of 0.05 was considered statistically significant. IBM SPSS version 22 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States) was used for all analyzes.

3. Results

3.1. Study subjects

Of the 478 eligible patients with severe COPD in three respiratory day hospitals, we included 42 (8.8%) who started azithromycin (Figure 1; mean age 72.2±7.09 years). Fifty-eight patients were already under treatment with long-term azithromycin therapy and were excluded; therefore, 21% of patients in this cohort were treated. At the time of inclusion, all patients were receiving combined inhaled bronchodilator therapy, long-acting β_2 -agonists (LABAs) and long-acting muscarinic antagonists (LAMAs), 39 (93%) inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) and nine (21%) long-term oxygen therapy. Participants corresponded to group E of the current GOLD classification (8), having severe airflow obstruction (mean FEV_1 44.5% ± 13.8%), an average mMRC dyspnea symptom score of 2, and a median of 5 (4-6) exacerbations during the previous year (Table 1). Patient characteristics were comparable among the three participating hospitals. Only 37 patients finished the study, with patients withdrawn due to cardiac pathology (n=3; 1 acute)myocardial infarction, 2 QT prolongations), diarrhea (n = 1), and personal preference (n = 1).

3.2. Clinical and functional effects after continuous azithromycin treatment

A significant improvement in the partial arterial pressure of oxygen (PaO_2) was observed after treatment with azithromycin at 3 and 12 months compared with the baseline visit (9.21 mmHg increase at 12 months; 95%CI, 1.45–16.97). This was also associated with a significant improvement in oxygen saturation both at rest and during exercise. However, symptoms (except for a slight improvement in CAT and LCADL scores), the 6MWT distance, and lung function did not differ significantly after 12 months (Table 2).

3.3. Inflammatory changes in serum and sputum

Most serum and sputum inflammatory parameters improved after treatment with azithromycin (Table 3). Of note, treatment significantly lowered serum IL-13, IL-6, and TNFR2 levels, but only lowered sputum TNFR2 levels, with no significant correlation found between serum and sputum levels (data not shown). The decreased



inflammatory response was more consistent in serial serum determinations.

3.4. Predictors of clinical response in study participants

After analyzing all serum markers and functional variables, an increase in baseline IL-8 predicted a positive response to azithromycin treatment and a reduction in exacerbations (Supplementary Table S1). Among the sputum markers, a high IL-8 level was also independently associated with good clinical response (Supplementary Table S2).

3.5. Effect of treatment with azithromycin on COPD exacerbations

The 37 participants had 188 exacerbations (5.1 ± 1.6 AECOPD/ patient) in the year before starting azithromycin compared with only 65 during treatment (1.8 ± 1.4 AECOPD/patient; p < 0.0001; Figure 2). The IRR of AECOPD after treatment was 0.34 (95%CI, 0.26–0.45), indicating that patients had an approximate 66% reduction in acute exacerbations after treatment. Before treatment, 162 (86%) exacerbations were moderate and 26 (14%) were severe and required hospitalization (mean, 184 days in hospital). During treatment, 55 (84.6%) exacerbations were moderate and 10 (15%) were severe and required hospitalization (mean, 74 days; Table 4). Therefore, hospitalizations fell by 61.5% at 12 months (IRR, 0.39; 95%CI, 0.28–0.49). Although fewer patients required hospital admission, their mean hospital stays tended to be longer (7.7 ± 3.7 vs. 12.3 ± 14.7 days).

3.6. Microbiological effect of continuous azithromycin treatment

A total of 95 microorganisms were obtained during the 188 AECOPD in the year before starting treatment with azithromycin, which decreased to only 41 microorganisms during 65 AECOPD throughout the follow-up period. There was a significant reduction in frequent sputum isolates, such as *Haemophilus influenzae* (p=0.0128) and *Moraxella catarrhalis* (p=0.0031) (Table 4), and a significant increase in infrequent microorganisms, such as *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* (from 2.2 to 10.3%; p=0.0448). Microorganisms otherwise increased in the upper respiratory tract, and sputum isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Streptococcus pneumoniae* did not change.

Overall, the pattern of microbiological isolates changed with the intensity of AECOPD from before to after azithromycin therapy (Figure 3). In moderate AECOPD, *M. catarrhalis* decreased from 26.6 to 2.8% (p=0.0026) and *S. maltophilia* increased from 0 to 11.1% (p=0.0026), with a reset observed in the usual upper respiratory tract bacterial microbiota from 11.4 to 47.2% (p<0.0001). In severe AECOPD, *P. aeruginosa* isolates increased from 1 to 3 (p=0.0075) and

TABLE 1 Clinical and functional characteristics of study patients.

	Total	HUB	HGTiP	HPT	<i>p</i> -value
	n = 42	n = 15	n = 13	n = 14	
Age, years	72.2 (7.09)	71.5 (4.76)	72.2 (7.91)	73.1 (8.7)	0.838
Male, <i>n</i> (%)	38 (90.5)	13 (86.7)	12 (92.3)	13 (92.9)	0.947
BMI, kg/m ²	27 (5.31)	26.7 (4.48)	28.7 (5.01)	25.7 (6.2)	0.326
Charlson index	2 [1-3]	1 [1-2.75]	2.5 [1.75-4]	1 [1-2]	0.074
Current smokers, n (%)	4 (9.52)	0 (0)	3 (23.1)	1 (7.14)	0.174
Pack-years	57.9 (28.9)	59.6 (24.5)	60 (44)	53.9 (17.1)	0.865
FEV ₁ , % reference	44.5 (13.8)	40 (7.2)	47.3 (14.3)	49.2 (23.9)	0.407
FEV ₁ /FVC, % reference	45.4 (11.5)	39.5 (8.57)	54.7 (8.57)	39 (12)	0.003
RV, % reference	153 (43.5)	165 (46.5)	126 (36.9)	169.4 (30.3)	0.098
DLCO, % reference	45.6 (21)	46.8 (15.5)	54.5 (24.9)	28.8 (18)	0.092
6MWT, meters	341 (107)	326 (106)	371 (124)	333 (97)	0.562
PaO ₂	69.2 (17.07)	72.2 (9.28)	69.3 (28.8)	66.1 (66.1)	0.675
PaCO ₂	42.2 (8.39)	42.4 (6.69)	45.3 (11.3)	40.8 (6.6)	0.378
Dyspnea mMRC	2 [2–2]	2 [2-2]	2 [1-2]	2 [2-2.75]	0.007
CAT	16 [11-21]	16 [11.2–21]	14 [11-19]	17 [11.5–21]	0.749
LCADL	21 [17-29.5]	21 [17-24]	21.5 [18-24]	18 [14-30]	0.579
BQ index	4 [1-6]	2 [0-6.5]	2 [0-7.5]	6 [4.25–10.5]	0.061
Previous exacerbations	5 [4-6]	6 [4-7.5]	4 [4-5]	5 [4.75-5.75]	0.135

Data are presented as mean (SD) or median [25th–75th percentile]. 6MWT, 6-min walking test; BMI, body mass index; BQ index, bronchiectasis index; CAT, COPD Assessment Test; DLCO, diffusing lung capacity for carbon monoxide; Dyspnea mMRC, dyspnea scale modified Medical Research Council; FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC, forced vital capacity; HUB, Hospital Universitari de Bellvitge; HGTiP, Hospital Germans Trias I Pujol; HPT, Hospital Parc Taulí; LCADL, London chest activity of daily living scale; PaO₂ partial arterial pressure of oxygen; PaCO₂ partial arterial pressure of carbon dioxide; RV, residual volume; SD, standard deviation; *p < 0.05 significant.

TABLE 2 Clinical and functional effects of continuous azithromycin in patients with severe COPD.

Parameters	Baseline	3 months	12 months	<i>p-</i> value
Dyspnea mMRC,				
n (%)				0.697
1	7 (18.9)	7 (18.9)	7 (19.4)	
2	26 (70.3)	23 (62.2)	23 (63.9)	
3	4 (10.8)	7 (18.9)	6 (16.67)	
CAT	16.2 (6.2)	14.5 (4.8)	13.9 (4.8)	0.059
LCADL	23.9 (12.7)	23.6 (12.4)	28.4 (12.7)	0.141
FEV ₁ , % reference	38.3 (14.3)	37 (14.5)	37 (13.8)	0.696
FVC, % reference	64.9 (17.2)	64.1 (17.2)	60.1 (20.8)	0.292
PaO ₂ , mmHg	69.2 (18.0)	74.7 (14.0)	79.2 (14.6)	0.008*
PaCO ₂ , mmHg	43.2 (8.7)	42.9 (6.5)	43.3 (6.1)	0.944
6MWT				
Meters	345 (105)	354 (79)	352 (83.9)	0.539
SatO ₂ initial,				
%	92.2 (4.0)	93.1 (3.5)	94.3 (1.9)	0.002*
SatO ₂ end, %	87 (7.8)	87.1 (8.6)	89.7 (5.5)	0.035*

Data are expressed as mean (SD). *p<0.05 significant (in bold). 6MWT, 6-min walking test; CAT, COPD Assessment Test; Dyspnea mMRC, dyspnea scale modified Medical Research Council; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC, forced vital capacity; LCADL, London Chest Activity of Daily Living scale; PaCO₂, partial arterial pressure of carbon dioxide; PaO₂, partial arterial pressure of oxygen. S. *pneumoniae* isolates increased from 0 to 2 (p=0.0078) after azithromycin therapy.

4. Discussion

This multicenter, prospective, observational study analyzed the systemic and functional real-life effects of continuous treatment with azithromycin in patients with severe COPD and frequent exacerbations managed in respiratory day hospitals. In addition to confirming that azithromycin effectively reduced the rate of moderate to severe COPD exacerbations, we provide the first evidence that treatment also improves gas exchange, both at rest and during exercise, after 1 year of treatment. Of the interleukin profiles analyzed in this study, IL-8 and TNFR2 presented as the major inflammatory mediators in the immunomodulatory response to azithromycin in patients with COPD. Baseline elevations of IL-8 in both blood and sputum samples predicted the therapeutic response and may indicate its potential utility as a biomarker. Changes were also observed in the microbial composition of subsequent AECOPD episodes after treatment, with the identification of potentially pathogenic microorganisms with unusual patterns of intrinsic antibiotic resistance that required treatment. This increases our knowledge about how azithromycin treatment affects the inflammatory response and bacteria selection in the airways, together with the implications for future COPD exacerbations.

Parameters		SERUM			SPUTUM			
	Baseline	3 mo.	12 mo.	<i>p</i> -value	Baseline	3 mo.	12 mo.	<i>p</i> -value
Fibrinogen, mmol/L	4.53 (1.4)	3.85 (0.8)	2.91 (0.99)	0.168	_	_	_	_
CRP, mg/L	15.9 (30.2)	9.42 (21)	5.46 (6.08)	0.142	-	-	_	_
Leukocytes, cels/ µL	8,844 (3,128)	7,580 (1,830)	7,000 (1,480)	0.051	_	-	-	-
Eosinophils, cels/µL	188 (167)	200 (152)	223 (167)	0.801	-	-	_	-
TNFR2, pg/mL	1,386 (476)	1,246 (535)	1,148 (419)	0.001*	1,590 (1,978)	1,073 (1,638)	624 (886)	0.005*
IL-13, pg/mL	6.53 (12.5)	5.33 (8.64)	2.21 (2.42)	0.021*	86.1 (83.6)	47.7 (44.1)	69.1 (102)	0.339
IL-5, pg/mL	2.71 (7.69)	2.06 (3.25)	2.24 (1.71)	0.65	58.1 (73.2)	61.8 (91.7)	94.5 (149)	0.124
IL-6, pg/mL	3.8 (4.70)	2.95 (2.81)	1.34 (3.14)	0.003*	1,993 (3,744)	1,653 (1,869)	1,664 (1,969)	0.568
IL-8, pg/mL	9.17 (5.04)	8.88 (3.95)	8.23 (3.26)	0.26	212,852 (648,466)	97,954 (70,014)	98,734 (98,487)	0.169

TABLE 3 Inflammatory changes at baseline and after 3 and 12 months of treatment with azithromycin.

Data are expressed as mean (SD). *p<0.05 significant (in bold). CRP, C-reactive protein; IL, interleukin; Mo., months; TNFR2, tumor necrosis factor receptor 2.



As expected, continuous azithromycin treatment in patients with severe COPD and frequent exacerbations led to fewer exacerbations (up to 66%) after 1 year of treatment, even using a dosage of 250 mg 3 times a week. From the limited published evidence available (only two clinical trials (5, 6), both carried out in a different profile of COPD patients) does not allow a categorical and unanimous recommendation for the type of patient chosen and the dose to be administered (8). In other chronic inflammatory respiratory diseases, such as bronchiectasis, the dosage of 250 mg 3 times a week for 1 year has been used successfully, minimizing side effects. Moreover, in airways of these patients, this dosage has demonstrated a significant reduction in host neutrophilic inflammatory response (11). The high effectiveness in the control of exacerbations achieved in this study and the few side effects also support the use of this dosage in clinical practice in COPD patients. Previous studies have shown that patients with more severe COPD and higher numbers of exacerbations during the previous year had higher reductions in AECOPD with azithromycin treatment (5–7). These results are consistent with the high effectiveness observed in this study and support the need to identify candidates for preventive therapy accurately and to avoid the use of azithromycin in patients with less severe disease who may not benefit. However, it was notable that neither baseline lung function nor the number of previous exacerbations predicted treatment response in this cohort. Instead, baseline elevations of IL-8 in both blood and sputum samples predicted the therapeutic response, suggesting that this could be a useful biomarker in clinical practice (12, 13).

Another novel finding was the improved arterial oxygenation in patients after 12 months of treatment with azithromycin, both at TABLE 4 AECOPD characteristics before and after 1 year of azithromycin treatment.

	Pre-treatment	Post-treatment	<i>p</i> -value	
Patients with AECOPD, <i>n</i> (%)	37 (100)	30 (81.1)	0.0054*	
AECOPD cases (mean ± SD)	188 (5.1±1.6)	65 (1.8±1.4)	<0.0001*	
AECOPD intensity, <i>n</i> (%)				
Severe	26 (13.8)	10 (15.4)	0.8370	
Moderate	162 (86.2)	55 (84.6)	0.8370	
Hospitalization, n (%)	26 (13.8)	10 (15.4)	0.8370	
Days of hospital stay (mean±SD)	184 (7.7±3.7)	74 (12.3±14.7)	0.0709	
Microbiology pattern AECOPD, n (%)				
Cultured samples	91 (48.4)	39 (60.0)	0.1069	
Uncultured samples**	97 (51.6)	26 (40.0)	0.1069	
Potential pathogenic bacteria (%)#				
Haemophilus influenzae	28 (30.8)	4 (10.3)	0.0128*	
Moraxella catarrhalis	22 (24.2)	1 (2.6)	0.0031*	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	12 (13.2)	5 (12.8)	0.9547	
Streptococcus pneumoniae	6 (6.6)	5 (12.8)	0.2424	
Stenotrophomonas maltophilia	2 (2.2)	4 (10.3)	0.0448*	
Achromobacter xylosoxidans	2 (2.2)	2 (5.1)	0.3753	
Corynebacterium spp.	2 (2.2)	2 (5.1)	0.3753	
Enterobacter spp.	2 (2.2)	0 (0)	0.3508	
Escherichia coli	2 (2.2)	0 (0)	0.3508	
Serratia marcescens	2 (2.2)	0 (0)	0.3508	
Citrobacter freundii	1 (1.1)	0 (0)	0.5111	
Klebsiella oxytoca	1 (1.1)	0 (0)	0.5111	
Pasteurella multocida	1 (1.1)	0 (0)	0.5111	
Haemophilus parainfluenzae	0 (0)	1 (2.6)	0.1252	
Normal URT bacterial microbiota	12 (13.2)	17 (43.6)	<0.0001*	

**Low quality sputum or no expectoration; #more than one microorganism was isolated in some samples; **p*<0.05 significant (in bold). AECOPD, acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; URT, upper respiratory tract.

rest and after exercise, which was associated with effective control of AECOPD. To the best of our knowledge, gas exchange analysis has not been evaluated in studies of azithromycin in patients with COPD. Given that exercise tolerance and lung functional parameters did not improve with azithromycin therapy, this indicates a dissociation between systemic functional data and gas exchange. There are some mechanisms through which azithromycin may improve gas exchange in patients with COPD. The most important is provided by the drug's anti-inflammatory properties, which reduce the chronic inflammatory response that occurs in the lungs of COPD patients. The decrease in inflammatory markers in blood and sputum after starting prolonged treatment with azithromycin would indicate less airway inflammation and, as a result, an improvement in the pulmonary ventilation-perfusion ratios of treated patients, which presumably contributes to the improvement of gas exchange. In addition, azithromycin can modulate the immune response in the lungs, which may help reduce inflammation; finally, by reducing the frequency and severity of exacerbations, further lung damage can be prevented, leading to more effective lung function.

After analyzing the inflammatory parameters in serum and sputum samples, we observed a numerical improvement in most variables. This was particularly notable in the significant reductions of serum IL-13 and IL-6, as well as serum and sputum TNFR2, after 12 months of treatment. The decreased inflammatory response was more consistent in serial serum determinations than in sputum determinations. Moreover, our predictive models showed that high inflammatory marker and IL-8 levels at baseline predicted a good response to treatment. These immunomodulatory and antiinflammatory effects of macrolides are well described in the literature (14, 15). Of the interleukin profiles analyzed in this study, IL-8 and TNFR2 presented as the major inflammatory mediators in the immunomodulatory response to azithromycin in patients with COPD. Studies indicate that macrolides take part in proinflammatory cytokine suppression (16-18) and inhibit the transcription and liberation of IL-8, which is important to neutrophil chemotaxis (19). Azithromycin has also been shown to inhibit TNFα-induced production of IL-8 via the JNK signaling pathway and to inhibit MUC5AC production and MMP9. These factors combine to reduce mucus production, which is beneficial for patients with COPD (18).



An animal model further showed that TNF α levels were reduced after macrolide treatment, and that this was associated with inhibited neutrophil recruitment in the lungs (12). Other effects of macrolides on cytokines include the modulation of dendritic cells by inhibiting IL-6 and stimulating IL-10 (13). In addition, a potential role of azithromycin in the T helper 2 (Th2) inflammatory pathway has been described, with evidence that it inhibits the expression of different IL- 13-induced genes to reduce mucus expression (i.e., MUC5AC) (20). Overall, our results therefore support previous findings, showing a reduction in cytokine levels associated with neutrophil and eosinophil inflammatory pathways. These help to resolve acute infections and reduce exacerbations in patients with chronic airway diseases.

Despite the significant reduction in exacerbations under continuous azithromycin treatment, some patients still had further AECOPD episodes. Although these patients had fewer hospitalizations, they required more days in hospital to treat severe AECOPD. They also showed changes in the patterns of microbiological isolates in sputum samples after continuous azithromycin treatment, with fewer frequent (H. influenzae and M. catarrhalis) and more potentially pathogenic microorganisms with unusual patterns of intrinsic antibiotic resistance that required treatment (e.g., S. maltophilia or Achromobacter xylosoxidans in 15% of isolates). This has clear implications when selecting empirical antibiotics for residual AECOPDs in patients receiving continuous azithromycin. Viral infections usually act as the trigger of the exacerbation, but no routine study of viral infections was performed in our study. Further research is therefore required.

Although it was not the scope of our study, many antibiotic resistance mechanisms have been described among the common microorganisms after continuous macrolide treatment (21–24). Indeed, the antimicrobial properties of azithromycin seem to affect the respiratory microbiota, and this may change the clinical evolution of COPD. Future studies should therefore look at the impact of

limiting the use of some antibiotics in future AECOPD episodes based on the resistance mechanisms that develop after continuous azithromycin therapy.

The main limitation of the present study is the small sample size and absence of a control group. However, we did not want to demonstrate the efficacy of the treatment with azithromycin in a clinical trial. Instead, we wanted to analyze the effectiveness of azithromycin in real-world settings among patients with severe COPD (e.g., older, comorbidities, and frequent exacerbations), who clinical trials might miss, and to study the role of azithromycin on inflammation and bacterial isolates in these cases.

In conclusion, continuous azithromycin treatment for patients with severe COPD, comorbidities, and frequent exacerbations not only significantly reduces exacerbation and severity rates after 1 year of treatment but also improves gas exchange. Changes are also seen in microorganism patterns and inflammatory responses after treatment. Of note, high serum and sputum IL-8 levels at baseline also appear to predict a good clinical response to azithromycin and may indicate its potential utility as a biomarker. If proven, IL-8 as could be used to improve patient selection and reduce microbial resistance in clinical practice.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by local ethics committee (Comité Ética Investigación Clínica, CEIC, ref. SSP-AZI-2016-01). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

EC participated in patient's inclusion, statistical analysis, figure preparation, data interpretation, and manuscript drafting. DH participated in the study design, patient's inclusion, statistical analysis, data interpretation, and obtaining funding. CM and AM participated in the study design, patient's inclusion, and data interpretation. AC-S participated in sputum analysis, figure and table preparation, and data interpretation. XP participated patient's inclusion and data interpretation. MG-N participated in sputum analysis and ELISA experiments. SM participated in sputum analysis, data interpretation, and critical revision of the manuscript. SS contributed to the study concept and design, patient inclusion, funding, study supervision, data interpretation, manuscript drafting, and critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

The research was funded by the Instituto de Salud Carlos III (grant PI20/00777 and PI16/00977), co-funded by the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) "A Way to Build Europe" and grants from Menarini to SS and from SEPAR 088/2016, SEPAR 1116/2020 and FUCAP-2017.

References

1. Suissa S, Dell'Aniello S, Ernst P. Long-term natural history of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: severe exacerbations and mortality. *Thorax.* (2012) 67:957–63. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2011-201518

2. Celli BR, Fabbri LM, Aaron SD, Agusti A, Brook R, Criner GJ, et al. An updated definition and severity classification of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations: the Rome proposal. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2021) 204:1251–8. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202108-1819PP

3. Marchetti N, Criner GJ, Albert RK. Preventing acute exacerbations and hospital admissions in COPD. *Chest.* (2013) 143:1444–54. doi: 10.1378/chest.12-1801

4. Ni W, Shao X, Cai X, Wei C, Cui J, Wang R, et al. Prophylactic use of macrolide antibiotics for the prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbation: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One*. (2015) 10:e0121257. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0121257

5. Albert RK, Connett J, Bailey WC, Casaburi R, Cooper JA Jr, Criner GJ, et al. Azithromycin for prevention of exacerbations of COPD. *N Engl J Med.* (2011) 365:689–98. doi: 10.1056/nejmoa1104623

6. Uzun S, Djamin RS, Kluytmans JAJW, Mulder PGH, van't Veer NE, Ermens AAM, et al. Azithromycin maintenance treatment in patients with frequent exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COLUMBUS): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2014) 2:361–8. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(14)70019-0

7. Pomares X, Montón C, Huertas D, Marín A, Cuevas E, Casabella A, et al. Efficacy of low-dose versus high-dose continuous cyclic azithromycin therapy for preventing acute exacerbations of COPD. *Respiration*. (2021) 100:1070–7. doi: 10.1159/000517781

8. Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease I. *Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.* (2020). Available at: (www.goldcopd.org).

9. Garrod R, Bestall JC, Paul EA, Wedzicha JA, Jones PW. Development and validation of a standardized measure of activity of daily living in patients with severe COPD: the London chest activity of daily living scale (LCADL). *Respir Med.* (2000) 94:589–96. doi: 10.1053/RMED.2000.0786

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the nursing staff of the Day hospitals for their dedication to patient care. We also thank to the Institut d'Investigacio Biomedica de Bellvitge for their technical assistance, as well as the CERCA Programme/Generalitat de Catalunya for providing institutional support.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2023.1229463/ full#supplementary-material

10. Domenech A, Puig C, Martí S, Santos S, Fernández A, Calatayud L, et al. Infectious etiology of acute exacerbations in severe COPD patients. *J Infect*. (2013) 67:516–23. doi: 10.1016/J.JINF.2013.09.003

11. Keir H, Shoemark A, Dicker A, Perea L, Pollock J, Giam YH, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps, disease severity, and antibiotic response in bronchiectasis: an international, observational, multicohort study. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2021) 9:873–84. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30504-X

12. Tsai WC, Rodriguez ML, Young KS, Deng JC, Thannickal VJ, Tateda K, et al. Azithromycin blocks neutrophil recruitment in pseudomonas endobronchial infection. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2004) 170:1331–9. doi: 10.1164/rccm.200402-200OC

13. Sugiyama K, Shirai R, Mukae H, Ishimoto H, Nagata T, Sakamoto N, et al. Differing effects of clarithromycin and azithromycin on cytokine production by murine dendritic cells. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2007) 147:540–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2007.03299.x

14. Friedlander AL, Albert RK. Chronic macrolide therapy in inflammatory airways diseases. *Chest.* (2010) 138:1202–12. doi: 10.1378/chest.10-0196

15. Martinez FJ, Curtis JL, Albert R. Role of macrolide therapy in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Int J COPD*. (2008) 3:331–50. doi: 10.2147/copd. s681

16. Uli O, Erakovi V, Parnham MJ. Anti-inflammatory effects of macrolide antibiotics. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2001) 429:209–29. doi: 10.1016/S0014-2999(01)01321-8

17. Rubin B, Tamaoki J. Macrolide antibiotics as biological response modifiers. *Curr Opin Investig Drugs.* (2000) 1:169–72.

18. Yang J. Mechanism of azithromycin in airway diseases. J Int Med Res. (2020) 48:030006052093210. doi: 10.1177/0300060520932104

19. Takizawa H, Desaki M, Ohtoshi T, Kawasaki S, Kohyama T, Sato M, et al. Erythromycin modulates IL-8 expression in normal and inflamed human bronchial epithelial cells. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1997) 156:266–71. doi: 10.1164/ ajrccm.156.1.9612065

20. Mertens TCJ, Hiemstra PS, Taube C. Azithromycin differentially affects the IL-13induced expression profile in human bronchial epithelial cells. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther.* (2016) 39:14–20. doi: 10.1016/J.PUPT.2016.05.005

21. Roberts MC. Update on macrolide-lincosamide-streptogramin, ketolide, and oxazolidinone resistance genes. *FEMS Microbiol Lett.* (2008) 282:147–59. doi: 10.1111/J. 1574-6968.2008.01145.X

22. Serisier DJ. Risks of population antimicrobial resistance associated with chronic macrolide use for inflammatory airway diseases. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2013) 1:262–74. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(13)70038-9

23. Yamaya M, Azuma A, Takizawa H, Kadota JI, Tamaoki J, Kudoh S. Macrolide effects on the prevention of COPD exacerbations. *Eur Respir J.* (2012) 40:485–94. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00208011

24. Carrera-Salinas A, González-Díaz A, Ehrlich RL, Berbel D, Tubau F, Pomares X, et al. Genetic adaptation and acquisition of macrolide resistance in haemophilus spp. during persistent respiratory tract colonization in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients receiving long-term azithromycin treatment. *Microbiol Spectr.* (2023) 11:e0386022. doi: 10.1128/ SPECTRUM.03860-22

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Justin Garner, Royal Brompton Hospital, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Marco Invernizzi, University of Eastern Piedmont, Italy Evelyn Tsantikos, Monash University, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Warangkana Keeratichananont ⊠ tikrittirak@gmail.com

RECEIVED 29 April 2023 ACCEPTED 24 July 2023 PUBLISHED 08 August 2023

CITATION

Kaenmuang P, Keeratichananont W, Geater SL, Chantamanee N and Srikaew P (2023) Prevalence, predictors, dynamic bone change, and treatment efficacy of osteoporosis among chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients: a prospective cohort study. *Front. Med.* 10:1214277. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1214277

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Kaenmuang, Keeratichananont, Geater, Chantamanee and Srikaew. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Prevalence, predictors, dynamic bone change, and treatment efficacy of osteoporosis among chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients: a prospective cohort study

Punchalee Kaenmuang¹, Warangkana Keeratichananont^{1*}, Sarayut Lucien Geater¹, Nicha Chantamanee² and Piyaporn Srikaew²

¹Respiratory and Respiratory Critical Care Medicine Unit, Division of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Songkhla, Thailand, ²Division of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Songkhla, Thailand

Background: Osteoporosis is a silent chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) comorbidity that is often under-detected. We aimed to study the prevalence and potential predictors of osteoporosis in COPD. Dynamic changes in bone mass density (BMD) and treatment efficacy of bisphosphonate were also assessed.

Methods: This prospective cohort study included COPD patients between January 2017 and January 2019. Demographics data, spirometric parameters, and C-reactive protein (CRP) were collected. Bone mineral density (BMD) at the lumbar spine (L2-4) and both femoral necks were measured after enrollment and the 12-month follow-up. Participants were categorized into three groups per the baseline BMD T-score: normal (\geq – 1.0), osteopenia (between –1.0 and – 2.5), and osteoporosis (\leq – 2.5). In the osteoporosis group, alendronate 70 mg/week with vitamin D and calcium was prescribed.

Results: In total, 108 COPD patients were enrolled. The prevalence of osteoporosis and osteopenia were 31.5 and 32.4%, respectively. Advanced age, lower body mass index (BMI), history of exacerbation in the previous year, and high CRP levels were significant predictors of osteoporosis. After 12 months, 35.3% in the osteoporosis group reported new vertebral and femoral fractures, compared to none in the non-osteoporosis group (p < 0.001). In the normal BMD and osteopenia groups showed a further decline in BMD after 12-month. Conversely, the osteoporosis group showed a statistically significant improvement in BMD after anti-resorptive treatment (p < 0.001).

Conclusion: The prevalence of osteoporosis was high in Thai COPD patients. Advanced age, lower BMI, history of exacerbation, and high CRP levels were potential predictors. A rapid decline in BMD was observed in COPD patients without treatment.

KEYWORDS

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), osteoporosis, bone mineral density (BMD), bisphosphonate, alendronate

1. Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is common and causes progressive and persistent respiratory symptoms. In 2019, COPD was the third leading cause of death worldwide and will continue rising (1). COPD patients also have concomitant chronic diseases due to systemic involvement, including cardiovascular disease, skeletal muscle wasting, lung cancer, osteoporosis, metabolic syndrome, and anxiety/depression (2). Comorbidities often affect the progression, morbidity, and mortality of patients with COPD.

Osteoporosis is a silent COPD comorbidity that is closely related and often under-detected in the clinic; it leads to poor health status and mortality. Osteoporosis is characterized by a decrease in bone mass and microarchitectural deterioration of the bone tissue, leading to bone fragility and fracture (3). However, the pathophysiology of COPD-associated osteoporosis is still not well understood and requires further study. This hypothesis was based on low bone mineral density (BMD), abnormal bone changes, impaired bone quality, and low bone turnover due to systemic inflammation (4). Nowadays, there are much increasingly diverse data on the relationship between osteoporotic risk factors and COPD; including smoking, systemic inflammation, long-term corticosteroids used, decreased physical activity, smoking, and malnutrition (5). The molecular pathways of osteoporosis in COPD patients comprise of the interaction between risk factors and molecular pathways such as inflammatory cytokines, irisin, myostatin, osteoclast differentiation, osteoblast activity, etc. (6). These purposed pathways describe the mechanisms of bone loss and muscle loss in COPD patients. Meanwhile, osteoporosis can lead to fractures that have an enormous impact; vertebral fractures may reduce pulmonary function, and rib fractures can cause hypoventilation and interfere with expectorant secretion (7). In previously published studies, the prevalence of osteoporosis in patients was reported to be approximately 23-50% (8-12). A current meta-analysis reported that the pooled global prevalence of osteoporosis COPD was 38% and that COPD increased the likelihood of osteoporosis [odds ratio (OR) = 2.83] (8). Common risk factors for osteoporosis in patients were low body mass index (BMI) and muscle mass. Old age, female sex, severe airflow limitation, frequent exacerbations, advance COPD categories, and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels were also mentioned as potential risk factors (8-14).

The current recommendations for the treatment of osteoporosis (15–17) involve non-pharmacological and pharmacological management. Bisphosphonates, an antiresorptive therapy, are the most widely used treatment for osteoporosis. They have a clear benefit in postmenopausal and glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. However, there is limited evidence regarding patients with osteoporotic COPD. A previous randomized controlled trial (RCT) of airway disease demonstrated a significant improvement in lumbar spine BMD through daily intake of 10 mg alendronate (18).

Currently, only one study has reported the prevalence of osteoporosis in Thai COPD patients, (11) and there is limited evidence of dynamic BMD changes in COPD patients. In addition, the role of bisphosphonates in patients with osteoporotic COPD is not well established. This study aimed to investigate the prevalence of osteoporosis in Asian (Thai) COPD patients, define potential predictors of osteoporosis, evaluate dynamic bone changes, and explore the efficacy of bisphosphonate treatment in COPD patients.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study populations and design

This prospective cohort study was conducted at a single tertiary hospital, which is a major referral center for 14 provinces in southern Thailand, from January 2017 to January 2019. Patients were eligible for this study if they met the following criteria: $age \ge 40$ years, stable COPD diagnosed according to the Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) guideline 2017, and followed up at the outpatient department (19). Patients were excluded if they had acute exacerbation within 2 months, had comorbidities that could affect bone metabolism e.g., chronic kidney disease (CKD) \geq stage 3, malignancy, chronic granulomatous disease, hyperparathyroidism, hepatic impairment or chronic liver disease, endocrinal disorders (type 1 diabetes mellitus, Addison's disease, Cushing's syndrome, and Graves' disease), bone metabolism disorders (Paget's disease and osteogenesis imperfect), mastocytosis, severe malabsorption, or received medication related to bone metabolism, including bisphosphonate, systemic glucocorticoids, and hormonal replacement.

Demographic data, including age, sex, BMI, underlying disease, smoking history, severity of COPD, exacerbation rates in the previous year, and inhaled corticosteroid use, were collected. C-reactive protein (CRP) levels were obtained and measured at the central laboratory of Songklanagarind Hospital, using turbidimetric/immunoturbidimetric methods (SENTINEL CH. S.p.A., Milano, Italy).

BMD measurements were performed in three areas: the lumbar spine (L2-4) and both femoral necks, using dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA scan; PRODIGY Pro, GE healthcare/U.S.) after enrolment and a 12-month follow-up by a well-trained technician. Osteoporotic fracture events were also recorded during the follow-up period. All participants were categorized into three groups as follows: normal (\geq -1.0), osteopenia (between -1.0 and -2.5), and osteoporosis (\leq -2.5) according to the overall baseline BMD based on the World Health Organization (WHO) recommendations (20). COPD patients with osteoporosis were prescribed alendronate 70 mg/ week, calcium 2,500 mg/day, and vitamin D 20,000 IU/week.

This study was approved by the Office of Human Research Ethics Committee at the Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University, Thailand (REC.57–225–14-1). All patients provided written informed consent prior to enrollment.

2.2. Outcomes

The primary outcome was the prevalence of osteoporosis in Thai COPD patients. Secondary outcomes were the potential predictors of osteoporosis and natural dynamic changes in BMD (the differences in baseline and 12-month follow-up BMD in the non-osteoporotic group) in patients with COPD. The treatment efficacy of bisphosphonate was also assessed by the percentage difference between the baseline and 12-month follow-up BMD in the osteoporotic group.

2.3. Statistical analyses

The sample size was calculated using an infinite population proportion from the application called n4Studies (21) according to

previously published studies on the prevalence of osteoporosis in patients with COPD (11). A total sample size of 103 patients, which included an additional 20% with missing data, was analyzed in this study.

Continuous demographic data are reported as mean±standard deviation (SD) or median with interquartile range (IQR). Discrete parameters are presented as counts and percentages. Inferential statistics were used to compare the patient characteristics and outcomes. The chi-square test was used to compare differences in categorical variables, whereas Student's t-test (Kruskal-Wallis equality-of-populations rank test) was used for continuous variables.

Seemingly unrelated regression (SUR) analysis was used to minimize confounding factors of the results by adjusted according to GOLD classification, age, forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV₁), smoking status, body mass index, inhaled corticosteroids/long-acting β_2 agonist (ICS/LABA).

Factors with p < 0.2 in the univariate analysis were included in multivariate logistic regression analysis to determine the independent predictors of osteoporosis. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. All statistical analyses were performed using the Stata/MP 16.0 Mac.

3. Results

Altogether, 118 patients with stable COPD were screened, and 108 patients were included. After BMD measurement was performed, 34 (31.5%), 35 (32.4%), and 39 (36.1%) patients were categorized into the osteoporosis, osteopenia, and normal groups, respectively (Figure 1). The patients in the osteoporosis group received pharmacotherapy. All patients were followed up.

3.1. Prevalence of osteoporosis

The overall prevalence of osteoporosis and osteopenia according to the *T*-score at either L2–4 or both femoral necks were 31.5 and 32.4%, respectively.

3.2. Patient characteristics

The baseline characteristics are presented in Table 1. The median (IQR) age of the overall population was 72 (66.0, 78.5) years. The median age of the osteoporosis and osteopenia groups was similar but significantly older than that of the normal BMD group (76.0 (72.0, 80.0) vs. 76 (65.0, 82.0) vs. 69 (64.0, 72.0) years, p = 0.001, respectively). Most of the patients were men (97.4%). Interestingly, the median weight, height, and BMI were significantly lower in the osteoporosis group. Sixteen COPD patients (45.7%) with osteopenia also had diabetes mellitus, which was higher than in the other groups (p < 0.001).

In the osteoporosis group, 44.1% of the patients were classified as having a severe airflow limitation based on FEV₁, and 64.7% of the patients were categorized as group B based on the GOLD assessment. Most COPD patients with osteoporosis in our study (94.1%) had a modified Medical Research Council (mMRC) \geq 2, and 55% of them had a history of exacerbation in the previous year, which was significantly higher than that in the osteopenia and normal groups (28.5 and 20.2%, respectively; p = 0.041).

The mean CRP level was significantly higher in the osteoporosis group, 4.78 ± 1.97 mg/L than in the osteopenia group, 1.62 ± 1.12 mg/L and the normal group, 0.92 ± 1.33 mg/L (p = 0.047). There were no other differences in the baseline characteristics.

3.3. Potential predictors of osteoporosis in COPD patients

From the univariate and multivariate analyses of all baseline characteristics, age > 60 years, BMI <18 kg/m², history of exacerbation in a previous year, and a CPR level > 0.6 mg/L were the significant potential predictors for osteoporosis, as shown in Table 2.



TABLE 1 Demographic and baseline patient characteristics.

Patient's characteristics	Normal (n = 39)	Osteopenia (n = 35)	Osteoporosis (n = 34)	Total (n = 108)	value o p
Age (year), median (IQR)	69.0 (64.0, 72.0)	76.0 (65.0, 82.0)	76.0 (72.0, 80.0)	72.0 (66.0, 78.5)	0.001
Male, <i>n</i> (%)	38 (97.4)	32 (91.4)	30 (88.2)	100 (92.6)	0.310
Weight (kg), median (IQR)	68.0 (57.0, 74.0)	58.0 (52.0, 66.0)	47.9 (45.0, 55.0)	57.2 (48.9, 68.5)	< 0.001
Height (cm), mean±SD	163.0 ± 5.2	164.2 ± 6.4	159.3 ± 6.4	162.2 ± 6.3	0.001
BMI (kg/m ²), median (IQR)	24.8 (21.4, 27.4)	21.8 (19.0, 23.8)	19.6 (18.3, 21.3)	21.6 (19.2, 24.8)	< 0.001
BMI, Categories					
<18.5, <i>n</i> (%)	1 (2.6)	5 (14.3)	9 (26.5)	15 (13.9)	0.020
18.5–23, <i>n</i> (%)	16 (41.0)	18 (51.4)	18 (52.9)	52 (48.1)	
23–25, <i>n</i> (%)	12 (30.8)	5 (14.3)	4 (11.8)	21 (19.4)	
≥25, <i>n</i> (%)	10 (25.6)	7 (20.0)	3 (8.8)	20 (18.5)	
FEV1 (%), median (IQR)	71.0 (46.0, 82.0)	60.5 (47.0, 69.0)	49.5 (38.0, 61.0)	57.0 (46.0, 75.0)	0.106
FVC (%), median (IQR)	99.0 (78.0, 111.0)	86.5 (73.0, 98.0)	87.5 (74.0, 102.0)	90.0 (74.0, 103.0)	0.190
FEV_1/FVC , mean ± SD	54.3±12.3	52.2 ± 10.6	47.7±12.1	51.5 ± 11.9	0.077
GOLD (FEV ₁ classification), n (%)					
>80	14 (35.9)	4 (11.8)	6 (17.6)	24 (22.4)	0.012
50-80	13 (33.3)	23 (67.6)	11 (32.4)	47 (43.9)	
30-50	11 (28.2)	6 (17.6)	15 (44.1)	32 (29.9)	
<30	1 (2.6)	1 (2.9)	2 (5.9)	4 (3.7)	
GOLD group, <i>n</i> (%)					
A	15 (38.5)	12 (35.3)	2 (5.9)	29 (27.1)	0.001
В	14 (35.9)	16 (47.1)	22 (64.7)	52 (48.6)	
c	5 (12.8)	4 (11.8)	0 (0.0)	9 (8.4)	
D	5 (12.8)	2 (5.9)	10 (29.4)	17 (15.9)	
Smoking status					
current smoker, n (%)	38 (97.4)	30 (85.7)	28 (82.4)	96 (88.9)	0.095
ex-smoker, <i>n</i> (%)	1 (2.6)	5 (14.3)	6 (17.6)	12 (11.1)	
Underlying disease					
Dyslipidemia, n (%)	15 (38.5)	10 (28.6)	9 (26.5)	34 (31.5)	0.493
Hypertension, <i>n</i> (%)	18 (46.2)	14 (40.0)	10 (29.4)	42 (38.9)	0.338
Coronary disease, n (%)	4 (10.3)	5 (14.3)	6 (17.6)	15 (13.9)	0.658
Diabetes mellitus, <i>n</i> (%)	7 (17.9)	16 (45.7)	2 (5.9)	25 (23.1)	< 0.001
Dose of steroid*(mg), mean ± SD	35.5	37.52	52.17	42.5	0.067
ICS used, <i>n</i> (%)	36 (92.3)	33 (94.3)	34 (100.0)	103 (95.4)	0.276
ICS dose (mg/day)					
Fluticasone 500, <i>n</i> (%)	24 (66.7)	21 (60.0)	27 (79.4)	72 (68.6)	0.196
Fluticasone 750, <i>n</i> (%)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (2.9)	1 (1.0)	
Budesonide 640, <i>n</i> (%)	12 (33.3)	14 (40.0)	6 (17.6)	32 (30.5)	
CAT score, mean ± SD	17.1±8.7	17.2 ± 8.4	18.4±9.9	17.6±8.3	0.158
mMRC dyspnea score	1				
1, <i>n</i> (%)	26 (66.7)	17 (48.6)	2 (5.9)	45 (41.7)	< 0.001
2, <i>n</i> (%)	13 (33.3)	16 (45.7)	31 (91.2)	60 (55.6)	
3, n (%)	0 (0.0)	2 (5.7)	0 (0.0)	2 (1.9)	
4, <i>n</i> (%)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1 (2.9)	1 (0.9)	
1,10 (70)					
History of exacerbation in a previous year, <i>n</i> (%)	8 (20.5)	10 (28.5)	19 (55.8)	37 (34.3)	0.041

*dose of steroid: dose of systemic corticosteroid in the previous year. BMI, body mass index; CAT, COPD assessment test; CRP, C-reactive protein; FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in 1 s; FVC, forced vital capacity; GOLD, Global initiative for chronic obstructive $lung disease; ICS, inhaled corticosteroid; IQR, interquartile range; mMRC, modified medical research council; SD, standard deviation; LABA, long-acting \beta_2 agonist; LAMA, long-acting \beta_2 agonist; LAMA, long-acting \beta_3 agonist; LAMA, long-acting \beta$ muscarinic antagonist; mMRC, modified medical research council.

3.4. Association between BMD and GOLD groups

COPD patients in each group were classified into four GOLD groups, and the probabilities of osteoporosis and osteopenia were assessed according to age. Patients with COPD GOLD D had the highest probability of having osteoporosis, and a greater effect was seen in older age (Figure 2).

3.5. Dynamic changes in BMD and treatment efficacy of bisphosphonate

We examined the mean percentage change in BMD at 12 months in each group. In the normal and osteopenia groups, BMD at the lumbar spine and right and left femoral neck further declined (BMD values in the normal group were -2.8, -4.3%, and -3.2% and those in the osteopenia group were -1.8, -5.1%, and -3.8%, respectively). During the 12-month period, two COPD with osteopenia patients had declined BMD values at the vertebral body and turned to osteoporosis.

Conversely, the osteoporosis group that received alendronate 70 mg/ week (with calcium and vitamin D) showed a statistically significant improvement in BMD of 6.7, 7.0, and 5.8% in the lumbar spine, right femur, and left femur, respectively (p < 0.001), as shown in Figure 3.

Over the 12-month study period, 12 patients (35.3%) in the osteoporosis group had new vertebral and femoral fractures, whereas no fracture was reported in the non-osteoporosis group (p < 0.001).

4. Discussion

This study has four important findings. First, the prevalence of osteoporosis in COPD was 31.5% and that of osteopenia was 32.5%. The second is that the potential risk factors for osteoporosis were age > 60 years, BMI <18 kg/m², history of exacerbation in the previous year, and a CRP level > 0.6 mg/L. Third, COPD GOLD D patients with older age had the highest probability of osteoporosis. Lastly, osteoporotic COPD patients who received anti-resorptive treatment had a statistically significant improvement in BMD after prospective follow-up.

To the best of our knowledge, osteoporosis is an important comorbidity of COPD that can lead to poor health status. This study found that one-third of Thai COPD patients had osteoporosis and nearly two-thirds had low BMD. The prevalence in our study was similar to that in other studies, which was reported as 31–40%, (8–10, 12) and also corresponded with a prior study in Thai COPD patients by Rittayamai et al. (11) However, our study also included women,

TABLE 2 Multivariate analysis of potential predictors for osteoporosis in COPD patients.

Variables	Odd ratio	95% CI	value of <i>p</i>
Age > 60 years	1.58	1.09-2.28	0.041
Low BMI (< 18 kg/m ²)	1.64	1.36-3.01	0.039
History of exacerbation in a previous year	1.92	1.25-4.79	0.036
High CRP level (> 0.6 mg/L)	1.52	1.12-2.34	0.048

BMI, body mass index; CRP, C-reactive protein.

which can cause a higher prevalence due to hormonal effects. The prevalence of the Thai male population was 12.6% as reported by Pongchiyakul et al. (22) However, we found a prevalence greater by 2.5 times; this difference might be attributed to the younger population in their study (mean age of 51 ± 16 years). The effect of aging on bone metabolism could result in a high prevalence of osteoporosis in the elderly, and most patients were diagnosed at an older age.

Advanced age was also reported as an associated factor for osteoporosis in COPD in a previous study (23). Low BMI has also been documented as a risk factor for osteoporosis in numerous studies, (8, 10, 11, 24, 25) which could be explained by various mechanisms, including hormonal levels, changes in body composition, and mechanical loading on the weight-bearing bones that facilitate bone formation and are also correlated with systemic inflammation in COPD (7, 26, 27). History of exacerbation in the previous year increased the risk of osteoporosis in our patients. Although this factor remains controversial in most studies, a few trials have reported that COPD exacerbations are independently associated with osteoporosis progression (28, 29). COPD exacerbation is hypothesized to be a risk factor for osteoporosis because of important factors such as systemic inflammation, systemic corticosteroid prescription, and physical inactivity during acute exacerbation (30, 31). Systemic inflammation occurs at all stages of COPD, especially during acute exacerbations. To our knowledge, systemic corticosteroid usage is a common cause of osteoporosis and fracture according to a meta-analysis of 42,000 subjects (32). The inflammatory process is demonstrated by increased production of various cytokines, including the bone resorption marker collagen type I β-isomerized C-terminal telopeptide (beta CL), CRP, matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9), and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 (TIMP-1). During exacerbation, the total oxidative status (TOS) was higher than that in the stable state (p < 0.05) (33). Unsurprisingly, we found that the CRP level, an inflammatory reactive cytokine, was higher in patients with osteoporosis than in those without osteoporosis. This factor is similar to that in another study in Thailand (11). Therefore, our results support the hypothesis that systemic inflammation is responsible for the high prevalence of osteoporosis in COPD patients.

Systemic and inhaled corticosteroid usage were not claimed as potential predictors of osteoporosis in this study, which is consistent with the TORCH study by Ferguson et al. (9) and the recent systematic and meta-analysis by Chen et al. (8) Severe COPD patients had a higher risk of osteoporosis about four times, as well as the lower FEV_1 and FEV_1/FVC ratio tended to have a higher risk of getting osteoporosis from a longitudinal study by Bitar et al. (13). However, the severity of airflow limitation could not be found as a significant risk factor for osteoporosis in our study, which was different from that reported in previous studies, (10, 12) but the same as that reported in two recent systematic and meta-analysis studies (8, 24).

Additionally, a more rapid decline in BMD was observed in the lumbar, right, and left femur in our COPD patients than in the non-COPD osteoporotic patients without treatment (34). Most patients in this study were males. Men have a slower bone mineral density loss than post-menopausal women because of hormonal effect. From the previous report, the loss of bone mineral density in men will occur after the sixth decade of life about 0.5–1% per year (35).

We also assessed the treatment efficacy of bisphosphonate; alendronate has a beneficial effect on BMD, including that in the lumbar spine and both femurs, which was similar to that reported in





a prospective observational study from Japan (36). An earlier RCT by Smith et al. (18) evaluated the effect of bisphosphonate in patients with airway disease (mostly asthma patients), and the results demonstrated a significant benefit on BMD only at the lumbar spine. These results could reflect the benefit of alendronate in preventing rapid bone decline in COPD as well as in postmenopausal, male, and glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis. From our study, in COPD patients with normal BMD and osteopenia group also showed a significant decline after only 1 year period. These findings could be implied to general practice such as routine BMD screening and close follow-up, early initiation of vitamin D and calcium supplements, early considering anti-resorptive drugs if possible.

To our knowledge, this is the first prospective cohort study to demonstrate many aspects of osteoporosis in Thai COPD patients. In

this study, we minimized confounding factors as much as we could by using seemingly unrelated regression (SUR) analysis. The confounders including GOLD classification, age, FEV1, smoking status, body mass index, ICS/LABA used were already adjusted. However, gender was not adjusted due to the small number of females in our study. These results could alert pulmonologists to the importance of osteoporosis. Routine BMD screening can lead to early diagnosis and initiation of treatment. This issue will prevent fractures and improve the quality of life and prognosis. However, our study has some limitations. First, our study was not population-based with age-and sex-matched controls. Second, a 1-year-follow up period might not be sufficient to represent the BMD change, but it can display a trend of changes, as well as this period was not long enough to confirm the long-term benefit of bisphosphonate and observe its side effects. Therefore, further studies should be conducted on population-based age-sex-matched control patients and extend the duration of treatment to confirm long-term benefits and side effects.

5. Conclusion

The overall prevalence of osteoporosis is high in Thai COPD patients. Advanced age, lower BMI, history of exacerbation, and high CRP levels were potential predictors. A rapid decline in BMD was observed in COPD patients without treatment, whereas alendronate prevented further BMD decline in osteoporotic COPD patients.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the Office of Human Research Ethics Committee at the Faculty of Medicine, Prince

References

1. The top 10 causes of death. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10-causes-of-death (Accessed January 22, 2022).

2. Global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (2021). Available at: https://goldcopd.org/ (Accessed January 22, 2022).

3. Compston JE, McClung MR, Leslie WD. Osteoporosis. Lancet. (2019) 393:364-76. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32112-3

4. Inoue D, Watanabe R, Okazaki R. COPD and osteoporosis: links, risks, and treatment challenges. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2016) 11:637–48. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S79638

5. de Sire A, Lippi L, Aprile V, Calafiore D, Folli A, D'Abrosca F, et al. Pharmacological, nutritional, and rehabilitative interventions to improve the complex Management of Osteoporosis in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *A Narrative Review J Pers Med.* (2022) 12:1–23. doi: 10.3390/jpm12101626

 Lippi L, Folli A, Curci C, D'Abrosca F, Moalli S, Mezian K, et al. Osteosarcopenia in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases: which pathophysiologic implications for rehabilitation? *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:1–18. doi: 10.3390/ijerph192114314

7. Sarkar M, Bhardwaj R, Madabhavi I, Khatana J. Osteoporosis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Clin Med Insights Circ Respir Pulm Med.* (2015) 9:CCRPM. S22803–21. doi: 10.4137/CCRPM.S22803

8. Chen YW, Ramsook AH, Coxson HO, Bon J, Reid WD. Prevalence and risk factors for osteoporosis in individuals with COPD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Chest.* (2019) 156:1092–110. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2019.06.036

of Songkla University, Thailand (REC.57-225-14-1). All patients provided written informed consent to participate in this study prior to enrollment.

Author contributions

PK, WK, and SG: conceptualisation, methodology, and data interpretation. NC and PS: data collection and investigation. PK and SG: data analysis. PK and WK: validation. PK: data curation and writing-original draft preparation. WK: writing – review and editing, supervision, and project administration. All authors contributed to the article and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported by the Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University (REC.57-225-14-1).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Ferguson GT, Calverley PMA, Anderson JA, Jenkins CR, Jones PW, Willits LR, et al. Prevalence and progression of osteoporosis in patients with COPD: results from the towards a revolution in COPD health study. *Chest.* (2009) 136:1456–65. doi: 10.1378/ chest.08-3016

10. Graat-Verboom L, Wouters EFM, Smeenk FWJM, Van Den BBEEM, Lunde R, Spruit MA. Current status of research on osteoporosis in COPD: a systematic review. *Eur Respir J.* (2009) 34:209–18. doi: 10.1183/09031936.50130408

11. Rittayamai N, Chuaychoo B, Sriwijitkamol A. Prevalence of osteoporosis and osteopenia in Thai COPD patients. *J Med Assoc Thail Chotmaihet Thangphaet*. (2012) 95:1021–7.

12. Abbasi M, Zohal M, Atapour B, Yazdi Z. Prevalence of osteoporosis and its risk factors in men with COPD in Qazvin. *Int J Chronic Dis.* (2016) 2016:1–6. doi: 10.1155/2016/4038530

13. Bitar AN, Sulaiman SAS, Ali IABH, Khan AH. Prevalence, risk assessment, and predictors of osteoporosis among chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. *J Adv Pharm Technol Res.* 2021/10/20 ed. (2021) 12:395–401. doi: 10.4103/japtr.japtr_98_21

14. Graumam RQ, Pinheiro MM, Nery LE, Castro CHM. Increased rate of osteoporosis, low lean mass, and fragility fractures in COPD patients: association with disease severity. *Osteoporos Int.* (2018) 29:1457–68. doi: 10.1007/s00198-018-4483-z

15. Camacho PM, Petak SM, Binkley N, Diab DL, Eldeiry LS, Farooki A, et al. American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists/American College of Endocrinology Clinical Practice Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis—2020 update. *Endocr Pract.* (2020) 26:1–46. doi: 10.4158/GL-2020-0524SUPPL

16. Reid IR. A broader strategy for osteoporosis interventions. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2020) 16:333–9. doi: 10.1038/s41574-020-0339-7

17. Reid IR. Revisiting osteoporosis guidelines. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2021) 9:805–6. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(21)00283-7

18. Smith BJ, Laslett LL, Pile KD, Phillips PJ, Phillipov G, Evans SM, et al. Randomized controlled trial of alendronate in airways disease and low bone mineral density. *Chron Respir Dis.* (2004) 1:131–7. doi: 10.1191/1479972304cd0250a

19. Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD). (2017). Global strategy for the diagnosis, management and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [Internet]. Available at: https://goldcopd.org/ (Accessed January 22, 2022).

20. Prevention and management of osteoporosis. *World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser.* (2003) 921:1–164.

21. Ngamjarus C, Chongsuvivatwong V, McNeil E. n4Studies: sample size calculation for an epidemiological study on a smart device. *Siriraj Med J*. (2016)

22. Pongchaiyakul C, Apinyanurag C, Soontrapa S, Soontrapa S, Pongchaiyakul C, Nguyen TV, et al. Prevalence of osteoporosis in Thai men. *J Med Assoc Thail Chotmaihet Thangphaet*. (2006) 89:160–9.

23. Lee SH, Kwon HY. Prevalence of osteoporosis in Korean patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and their health-related quality of life according to the Korea National Health and nutrition examination survey 2008–2011. *J Bone Metab.* (2017) 24:241–8. doi: 10.11005/jbm.2017.24.4.241

24. Bitar AN, Syed Sulaiman SA, Ali IAH, Khan I, Khan AH. Osteoporosis among patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: systematic review and Metaanalysis of prevalence, severity, and therapeutic outcomes. *J Pharm Bioallied Sci.* (2019) 11:310–20. doi: 10.4103/jpbs.JPBS_126_19

25. Lloyd JT, Alley DE, Hawkes WG, Hochberg MC, Waldstein SR, Orwig DL. Body mass index is positively associated with bone mineral density in US older adults. *Arch Osteoporos*. (2014) 9:175. doi: 10.1007/s11657-014-0175-2

26. Rosen CJ, Klibanski A. Bone, fat, and body composition: evolving concepts in the pathogenesis of osteoporosis. Am J Med. (2009) 122:409-14. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2008.11.027

27. Montalcini T, Romeo S, Ferro Y, Migliaccio V, Gazzaruso C, Pujia A. Osteoporosis in chronic inflammatory disease: the role of malnutrition. *Endocrine*. (2013) 43:59–64. doi: 10.1007/s12020-012-9813-x

28. Hattiholi J, Gaude GS. Prevalence and correlates of osteoporosis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients in India. *Lung India Off Organ Indian Chest Soc.* (2014) 31:221–7. doi: 10.4103/0970-2113.135759

29. Kiyokawa H, Muro S, Oguma T, Sato S, Tanabe N, Takahashi T, et al. Impact of COPD exacerbations on osteoporosis assessed by chest CT scan. *COPD*. (2012) 9:235-42. doi: 10.3109/15412555.2011.650243

30. Groenewegen KH, Postma DS, Hop WCJ, Wielders PLML, Schlösser NJJ, Wouters EFM. Increased systemic inflammation is a risk factor for COPD exacerbations. *Chest.* (2008) 133:350–7. doi: 10.1378/chest.07-1342

31. Wouters EFM, Groenewegen KH, Dentener MA, Vernooy JHJ. Systemic inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the role of exacerbations. *Proc Am Thorac Soc.* (2007) 4:626–34. doi: 10.1513/pats.200706-071TH

32. Kanis JA, Johansson H, Oden A, Johnell O, de Laet C, Melton LJ III, et al. A Metaanalysis of prior corticosteroid use and fracture risk. *J Bone Miner Res.* (2004) 19:893–9. doi: 10.1359/JBMR.040134

33. Stanojkovic I, Kotur-Stevuljevic J, Spasic S, Milenkovic B, Vujic T, Stefanovic A, et al. Relationship between bone resorption, oxidative stress and inflammation in severe COPD exacerbation. *Clin Biochem.* (2013) 46:1678–82. doi: 10.1016/j. clinbiochem.2013.08.003

34. Ho YV, Frauman AG, Thomson W, Seeman E. Effects of alendronate on bone density in men with primary and secondary osteoporosis. *Osteoporos Int.* (2000) 11:98–101. doi: 10.1007/PL00004182

35. Melton LJ III, Khosla S, Achenbach SJ, O'Connor MK, O'Fallon WM, Riggs BL. Effects of body size and skeletal site on the estimated prevalence of osteoporosis in women and men. *Osteoporos Int*. (2000) 11:977–83. doi: 10.1007/s001980070037

36. Kameyama N, Chubachi S, Sasaki M, Tsutsumi A, Irie H, Sakurai K, et al. Predictive and modifying factors of bone mineral density decline in patients with COPD. *Respir Med.* (2019) 148:13–23. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2019.01.005

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Azmy Faisal, Manchester Metropolitan University, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Syed Ahmar Shah, University of Edinburgh, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Bryan A. Ross ⊠ bryan.ross@mcgill.ca

RECEIVED 08 June 2023 ACCEPTED 03 August 2023 PUBLISHED 17 August 2023

CITATION

Coutu F-A, Iorio OC and Ross BA (2023) Remote patient monitoring strategies and wearable technology in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Front. Med.* 10:1236598. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1236598

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Coutu, Iorio and Ross. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u> (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Remote patient monitoring strategies and wearable technology in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Felix-Antoine Coutu^{1,2}, Olivia C. Iorio¹ and Bryan A. Ross^{1,2,3,4}*

¹Respiratory Epidemiology and Clinical Research Unit, Centre for Outcomes Research and Evaluation, Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada, ²Department of Medicine, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada, ³Division of Respiratory Medicine, Department of Medicine, McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada, ⁴Montreal Chest Institute, McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is highly prevalent and is associated with a heavy burden on patients and health systems alike. Exacerbations of COPD (ECOPDs) are a leading cause of acute hospitalization among all adult chronic diseases. There is currently a paradigm shift in the way that ECOPDs are conceptualized. For the first time, objective physiological parameters are being used to define/classify what an ECOPD is (including heart rate, respiratory rate, and oxygen saturation criteria) and therefore a mechanism to monitor and measure their changes, particularly in an outpatient ambulatory setting, are now of great value. In addition to pre-existing challenges on traditional 'in-person' health models such as geography and seasonal (ex. winter) impacts on the ability to deliver in-person visit-based care, the COVID-19 pandemic imposed additional stressors including lockdowns, social distancing, and the closure of pulmonary function labs. These health system stressors, combined with the new conceptualization of ECOPDs, rapid advances in sophistication of hardware and software, and a general openness by stakeholders to embrace this technology, have all influenced the propulsion of remote patient monitoring (RPM) and wearable technology in the modern care of COPD. The present article reviews the use of RPM and wearable technology in COPD. Context on the influences, factors and forces which have helped shape this health system innovation is provided. A focused summary of the literature of RPM in COPD is presented. Finally, the practical and ethical principles which must guide the transition of RPM in COPD into real-world clinical use are reviewed.

KEYWORDS

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, exacerbations of COPD, remote patient monitoring, wearable electronic devices, COVID-19 pandemic

Introduction

We are in an unprecedented period in human history marked by a longer life expectancy and a global aging of the human population. With this remarkable basic sanitary, public health and healthcare-driven success, however, come new pressures and challenges for these same health systems. The accruement in the number and severity of chronic diseases with age has led to multimorbidity and increased complexity of care (1). There is a remarkable increase in the burden of chronic medical conditions (2), which will require innovation and revision to the traditional care model.

Remote patient monitoring (RPM) enables the collection of patient health data using peripheral measurement devices or specific questionnaires about their condition without necessitating an in-person visit to obtain these measurements. Typically used in the comfort of the patient's home environment, this form of monitoring involves the real-time transfer of data to a dedicated platform where healthcare professionals can receive and/or access it. Remote patient monitoring solutions may therefore possess the potential to reduce healthcare costs and increase patient quality of life (3).

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and exacerbations of COPD (ECOPDs): a paradigm shift

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a very common and progressive respiratory condition characterized by chronic breathlessness, a gradual decline in lung function, and reduced quality of life (4). COPD alone was responsible for 3.23 million deaths worldwide in 2019 and has become the third-leading cause of death (5). The global estimated prevalence is 11.7%, and this estimate is projected to increase due to global population aging and due to the growing rates of both smoking and non-smoking exposures in low-and middle-income countries (LMICs) (6). Cigarette smoke (7), occupational exposure to toxic particles, and outdoor and indoor air pollution are all relevant risk factors (6).

The natural history of COPD is characterized by a progressive decline in lung function over time and is also marked by acute episodes of increased symptoms and physiological alterations known as exacerbations of COPD (ECOPDs). While in the acute setting ECOPDs are clinically important events, frequent and severe ECOPDs can also lead to irreversible airway damage and worsening in chronic lung function (8, 9). The overall rate of ECOPDs and COPD hospitalizations continues to increase, partly due to increasing COPD prevalence and more severe forms of disease associated with longer lifespans (6, 10). For example, from 2010 to 2015, the rate of hospitalization for ECOPDs increased from 83 to 86 per 100,000 individuals (10), and COPD remains a top cause of hospitalization amongst all adult chronic diseases. The significant contribution of hospitalizations to the total cost of COPD, amounting to a staggering \$50 billion in the United States alone, clearly indicates that COPD poses a substantial burden on healthcare systems (11).

A new ECOPD definition and classification was recently put forth by Celli et al. (12) in the *Rome Proposal*, in part to address issues with the pre-existing framework which had retrospectively classified exacerbations by the way the treating clinician managed the patient rather than using, for example, objective physiological criteria. Using six objectively measured variables in addition to symptom scores, clinicians can use the more 'objective' criteria presented in the Rome Proposal to classify ECOPDs as 'mild', 'moderate' or 'severe'. These variables include not only dyspnea but also *oxygen saturation* (*SpO*₂), *respiratory rate* (*RR*) and *heart rate* (*HR*), as well as serum C-reactive protein (CRP), and in some cases, arterial blood gas (ABG) values (12). While this will require prospective validation, early enthusiasm and support for this new definition/classification criteria by the international COPD community is reflected by its inclusion in the latest Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) 2023 Report (6).

The COVID-19 pandemic

Even predating the reporting of the first observed COVID-19 cases (13) and the global pandemic that followed, there had been notable technological advancements in the development of increasingly precise and compact devices with extended battery life. The COVID-19 pandemic itself then further complicated the delivery of healthcare, including challenging the conventional chronic management of patients with COPD through decreased availability of in-person clinics and recurrent pulmonary function lab testing closures. From a therapeutic perspective, temporary shortages in inhaled medications and the absence of in-person pulmonary rehabilitation programs compounded these difficulties (14). These COPD-specific challenges, combined with challenges which affected all patients with chronic disease including social distancing, isolation, and area-wide lockdowns, led to a recognition of the need to develop new disease monitoring approaches (6, 15). This was embraced also by health systems. In 2019, for example, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) established billing codes for remote monitoring (16), and in 2021 the use of remote monitoring platforms in traditional Medicare had increased by six-fold compared to pre-pandemic levels (17).

Remote patient monitoring

Remote patient monitoring (RPM) presents an interesting and innovative approach to address the multiple challenges faced by burdened health systems around the world, both newer issues (pandemic-associated) and more longstanding ones (geographic issues with rural/underserved regions, the ever-growing burden of effective in-person chronic disease management for the aging global population, and so on). Applications in the effective management of COPD span across the 'chronic' (regular respiratory monitoring and remote pulmonary rehabilitation delivery) and 'acute' (early detection of new exacerbations and ensuring adequate recovery) conditions.

RPM in COPD thus far has encompassed a variety of equipment, platforms, and strategies. Conventional approaches have included remote lung function testing on fixed/stationary devices such as peak flow meters and oscillometers, closely resembling the data collection process employed in hospitals and ambulatory clinics, which typically yields one measurement per day (3). More recent emerging approaches have incorporated 'wearables', biometric devices which can be worn for prolonged periods while collecting relevant physiological parameters in daily life (17, 18). These wireless, non-invasive, and self-contained devices can be attached to the human body or to clothing (19). The incorporation of wearables within RPM platforms has facilitated near-continuous remote collection and transmission of physiological data in ambulatory patients, enhancing the richness and resolution of data collected when compared to more traditional approaches and ushering in an era of sophisticated personalized medicine (17, 20-22). A semistructured approach was followed in order to extract articles from the existing literature (see Supplementary material). The following is a focused summary of RPM in COPD following an independent review and appraisal of each article. A concise summary of the most relevant articles featured in this review can be found in the Supplementary Table 1.

Discussion

Current 'medical', 'research-grade' and 'consumer-facing' wearable biometric devices are worn on various parts of the human body, including the head, limbs, and torso (23). Wristbands (24, 25), armbands (26), vests (27, 28), upper thorax stamps and bands (29), and rings (30) are all commercially available. The types of physiological data collected can include blood pressure, HR and its variability (HRV), RR and its variability (RRV), SpO₂, activity, body temperature and metabolic function, sleep metrics and autonomic function including electrodermal activity (31).

There are pros and cons to each type of device as it relates to technical performance (quality/quantity of data collected), patient satisfaction, and ease of overall use. Wristbands, smartwatches, and rings are highly user-friendly, comfortable to wear, and possess versatile functionality which makes them highly suitable for prolonged use (32). These devices largely utilize optically obtained photoplethysmographic (PPG) signals which measure the intensity of light that penetrates through the skin to estimate the frequency and amplitude modulation of the cardiac pulse. Indirect estimations of RR are possible through frequency modulation (FM), by analyzing the variation in pulse frequency (33, 34). While this method offers several advantages, the indirect measurement of RR through the derivation of the PPG waveform may risk limiting precision compared with devices capable of directly measuring thoracic expansion, especially during strenuous movements or during exercises which can induce movement artifact (35).

Wearable vests, shirts, and bands are highly accurate in measuring cardiac and respiratory parameters in patients with COPD given the proximity to the heart to detect electrical activity and the use of chest expansion for detailed respiratory measurement. They are, however, limited by a sensation in some patients of discomfort by being mechanically restrained particularly during inspiration/expansion of the thorax (28). Given the diverse range of devices available and under continuous redevelopment, clinical researchers have a variety of options available to choose from. The clinical condition, setting, individual/patient-specific characteristics, anticipated duration of wear and desired parameters can inform device selection.

RPM and wearables have been studied in non-COPD respiratory diseases such as in pediatric asthma and during acute viral illness. Depending on the age of the pediatric patient, the forced maneuvers and coordination required for conventional spirometry are difficult for children to complete reproducibly (36). A study by Lundblad et al. (37) demonstrated that respiratory resistance measured during normal (tidal) breathing using a novel handheld portable oscillometer device correlated closely with estimates obtained by conventional oscillometry in children with asthma. User experience questionnaires were favorable, including perceptions by children and their parents that the test was 'easy' and that they 'would use it at home if recommended by their health care provider,' supporting the feasibility of remote lung function monitoring even in children with asthma.

Remote patient monitoring and wearables in COPD

The development of RPM solutions specifically for patients with COPD is a very active field of clinical research and one that holds great promise. An important foundational 2012 study in this modern field by Yanez et al. (38) utilized existing domiciliary oxygen therapy equipment to detect subtle changes in RR preceding exacerbation. In more than two-thirds of detected exacerbations, the average RR was found to increase as early as 5 days prior to hospitalization and RR closer to hospitalization was increasingly accurate and specific as a predictive 'biomarker'. In 2015, Borel et al. (39) again leveraged existing patient equipment by analyzing COPD non-invasive ventilation (NIV) recipient data RR and percentage of respiratory cycles triggered (%Trigg) >75th percentile for two or more of the preceding 5 days were associated with an increased risk of subsequent exacerbation. Daily NIV adherence variations (either >75th or <25th percentile) were also linked to subsequent exacerbations (39). This important 'early' work laid the foundation for subsequent studies on physiology-based RPM strategies in the ambulatory COPD outpatient population.

A 2017 study by Rubio et al. (40) transported RR into the realm of 'wearables' by demonstrating that wearable accelerometers and chest bands provide accurate measures of RR comparable to a gold standard. These were sensitive enough to detect a decrease in RR after an exacerbation, and likewise an increase in RR before a future exacerbation in ambulatory outpatients with COPD (40). To determine whether accurate data collection and good COPD-specific adherence with wearable biometric smartwatches were possible, Wu et al. (41) used quantitative and qualitative methods to demonstrate the feasibility and willingness of participants with COPD to wear smartwatches that collect physiological data. Participants reported desiring active engagement and feedback on their activity, HR, and COPD management.

Walker et al. (3) hypothesized in a 2018 study that remote monitoring of lung function using daily oscillometry measurements was not only possible but moreover would reduce the time to first hospitalization, reduce healthcare costs, and increase quality of life in older patients with COPD and prevalent comorbidities. An advantage of oscillometry, when compared to conventional spirometry, is that patients with COPD can perform this test autonomously and reliably at home without the need for a respiratory therapist (36). Mechanical properties of the lungs during tidal breathing were collected and transmitted remotely (3). While the time to first hospitalization, EQ-5D utility score and quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) were not different between intervention and control groups, the per-patient cost was lower for all subgroups of the intervention group except for those with severe/very severe COPD (3). While potentially underpowered by a low number of events (hospitalizations), these hypothesis-generating secondary outcomes in addition to having demonstrated the acceptability, tolerability, and practicality of remote lung monitoring using oscillometry in older patients with COPD with cardiac comorbidities contributed to the field of RPM in more advanced forms of COPD (3).

Hawthorne et al. (28) investigated the usability and acceptability of a sophisticated biometric wearable vest in patients with COPD both in stable and in acute (peri-exacerbation) conditions. This 2022 study found that while most participants experienced no vestassociated discomfort, a subset of peri-/post-exacerbation participants expressed occasional feelings of restriction and breathlessness thereby influencing their acceptance of the vest (28). The conventional 'trade-off' between capturing artifact-free data, versus the patient discomfort associated with some wearable thoracic bands, shirts, and vests, was well-demonstrated in this study. PPG-derived parameters from wearable devices in other COPDspecific studies have demonstrated a reassuringly close correlation between RR and HR with gold-standard acquired measurements (40, 42). In the same year, Park et al. (43) investigated the feasibility of HR monitoring in COPD using a chest-worn biosensor. As previously reported, this study concluded that HRV was in fact reduced in COPD. Interestingly, this variation was independent of the severity of airflow obstruction, however a correlation between lower HRV and poorer overall health or functional status was observed. Finally, a notable strong variation signal was observed in long-acting inhaled bronchodilator (β -agonist and muscarinic-antagonist) users given the overlapping mechanism of action on the autonomic nervous system, which underscores the sensitivity of these devices and the relevance of accounting for these factors in general in the field of RPM data interpretation.

Most recently, Polsky et al. (44) performed a *retrospective*, non-randomized study on an RPM 'service' in patients with COPD which included an undergarment-adhered cardiorespiratory physiologic monitor linked via data capture 'hub' to a web-based clinical dashboard. This 2023 study demonstrated that RPM recipients experienced significantly fewer unplanned hospitalizations when compared with usual care. This important study further demonstrates the potential for RPM and wearables to assist in the early detection of ECOPDs. This technology also has the potential to be leveraged towards a better understanding of the physiology (and pathophysiology) of ECOPDs in ambulatory outpatients with COPD, which might help inform future *prospective* large-scale randomized clinical trials evaluating wearablebased RPM interventions in the COPD patient population.

Emerging artificial intelligence and machine learning applications

Artificial intelligence (AI) has been described as a computer framework which displays 'human-like intelligence', whereas machine learning (ML) is a subset of AI that uses statistical models to 'learn' from data for designated tasks (45, 46). These methodologies can be leveraged to process, categorize, and analyze substantial amounts of data (45), with a performance which can be autonomously optimized. These properties render AI/ML methodologies ideal for processing substantial physiological datasets, and in keeping with this, the more recent RPM literature has increasingly gravitated towards AI/ML incorporation. In a recent non-COPD study by Grzesiak et al. (24), the capacity of ML models using data obtained from healthy participants who were inoculated with respiratory viruses and wearing a non-invasive 'wearable' wristband could accurately predict viral infection status and severity even before symptom onset using ML models. Binary and multiclass random forest classification models, each addressing a distinct time period following inoculation or adopting different criteria to distinguish between 'infected' and 'non-infected' subjects, were developed. Remarkably, by combining near-continuous wearableobtained physiologic data with robust ML modelling, it was possible to predict the subsequent severity (mild vs. moderate) of infection at a timepoint which preceded symptom onset by 24h (24).

Pertaining specifically to the COPD RPM literature, Shah et al. (47) collected data from a large cohort of 110 individuals with COPD over the course of 1 year in order to assess the feasibility of developing a COPD digital health system. A Bluetooth pulse oximeter was paired with a comprehensive questionnaire which obtained near-daily symptom scores and medication use. A finite-state machine learning approach was used to process this extensive dataset, and the model

developed was able to effectively classify the health condition of study participants. This study also found that, amongst the parameters collected (HR, RR, and SpO₂), that SpO₂ emerged as the most useful in predicting exacerbations.

The applications of AI/ML methodologies towards the development of effective COPD remote monitoring platforms are gaining attention. A recent review (48) details the superior approach of combining AI/ML with remotely acquired data when compared to pre-existing models, platforms and algorithms. Included in this review, Orchard et al. (49), Wu et al. (50) and Fernandez-Granero et al. (51) all place a particular emphasis on the applicability of ML-based approaches in producing sophisticated platforms capable of detecting the very early onset of exacerbations. This predictive capacity, once launched in a real-world clinical setting, could have a substantial impact on disease management in COPD.

Remote patient monitoring and wearables in COPD: additional applications

Beyond daily outpatient monitoring and ECOPD detection, innovations in RPM and wearable technology can also support and complement longstanding evidence-based standard-of-care interventions in COPD including *pulmonary rehabilitation (PR)* delivery and in reinforcing *self-management behaviors*. Advances in technology now permit the possibility of near-completely 'remote' PR delivery, which was particularly important during the COVID-19 pandemic when most in-person PR programs were closed (52). Homebased PR for COPD has been shown to be as effective as center-based PR in improving functional exercise capacity and quality of life (53), and patients with chronic respiratory disease achieved similar effectiveness and safety outcomes to center-based PR as they did with telerehabilitation (53). COPD telerehabilitation may even be able to increase and maintain the persisting benefits of PR (54).

Remote patient monitoring technology can reinforce and support COPD-specific self-management adoption. Real-time feedback on activities, behaviors and physiological changes can make patients with COPD more involved and engaged in their own care and more aware of their condition (40, 55). Patients with COPD have described that this data would empower them by allowing them to link how they feel, a 'subjective' experience, to an 'objective' measurement such as realtime vital sign information. This may increase awareness, and in some instances, can reassure them about the status of their condition at any given time (55).

Practical considerations in COPD

While the literature to date on device-based RPM solutions in COPD are encouraging, the 'real-world' clinical launch and operation of these platforms remain associated with sizeable challenges. These need to be considered at the earliest stages of platform development/ validation (i.e., during the 'clinical research' phase) to ensure that the downstream COPD target subpopulations and intended clinical purposes of the platform are maintained. Firstly, the RPM platform device(s) would need to effectively measure the main outcome of interest. Second, the intended patient population and the setting of

10.3389/fmed.2023.1236598

data collection should be considered (32). COPD-specific factors include patient age (56) and technology 'literacy', which might favor the use of simpler devices and interfaces. Generational divides in comfort with technology (software and hardware) may adversely affect patient access to RPM platforms in a notable proportion of the COPD population. Beyond age and generation, individual educational background, professional work experience, and personal experience with technology are relevant (57). Moreover, because the goal of RPM is real-time near-continuous data collection, the devices should be as comfortable as possible for prolonged wear. Finally, an extensive battery life, intuitive or even automatic data upload processes, and convenient platform access by the treating clinical team must all be factored into the design of wearable device-based RPM platforms intended for 'real-world' clinical use.

Ethical considerations in COPD

Beyond the practical issues in developing, testing, and launching device-based RPM platforms in the COPD patient population, there are also ethical principles which are paramount. Firstly, while it might be challenging for the 'highest risk' patients or those with the most advanced forms of COPD to participate in clinical research studies, researchers must find ways to include these patients in particular given that RPM strategies are most likely to be useful and cost-effective in this clinical subpopulation as it relates to reducing patient and health system burden. For example, if the platform intends to detect new exacerbations in those patients at highest risk, then this high-risk subpopulation (rather than, for example, patients with milder disease or infrequent exacerbations) must be enrolled and studied in these trials. Likewise, the intention to serve traditionally vulnerable and marginalized populations through these technological advances (58) must be met with a purposeful and equitable commitment of the clinical investigator to include these patients in RPM clinical research studies, to minimize the risk of their subsequent exclusion at the time of downstream clinical launch. Finally, an ongoing and organized strategy at hospital administrative, governmental, and even international levels in order to oversee and regulate ethical aspects and best practices in the utilization of RPM technologies and patient data is critical. The priority must always be the patient, their well-being, their right to confidentiality and privacy, and their right to autonomy. The highly sensitive data that can be collected by these platforms must be protected, anonymized, and safely stored.

Conclusion: current landscape and future directions

Although significant progress has been made, there remains a need to continually develop and refine existing versions of devicebased RPM platforms such that ever-improving sensors, longer battery lives, smaller sizes, more efficient and precise computational algorithms, and enhanced data security features can be harnessed to effectively face the many challenges in the modern care of COPD (15). Research dedicated to the bottom-line clinical efficacy of these platforms in COPD in a prospective manner is necessary before more widespread adoption in the clinical sphere can occur. The future interaction between wearable biometric devices, sophisticated platforms, and harnessing the power of 'big data' and AI/ML methods (48–51) makes this an exciting and promising field which will no doubt shape the future of healthcare.

Author contributions

F-AC, OI, and BR developed the manuscript template, performed the literature review, finalized the content and relevant themes, and wrote the manuscript. All authors have given agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the article are appropriately investigated and resolved.

Funding

Publication-associated fees supported by the McGill University Health Centre (MUHC) Department of Medicine Contract Academic Staff (CAS) Research Award.

Conflict of interest

BR reports the following Conflicts of Interest: Honoraria from the Canadian Thoracic Society (CTS-presenter and educational content creator), CHEST (educational content creator), Respiplus non-profit (educational content creator), Alberta Kinesiology Association webinar presenter), (AKA-educational Association des Pneumologues de la Province du Québec (APPQ-presenter), McGill University Continuing Professional Development (CPD-presenter) and from GSK (educational session moderator); Research funding as Principal Investigator from the McGill University Health Centre (MUHC) Department of Medicine Contract Academic Staff (CAS) Research Award, the Quebec Respiratory Health Network (QHRN), the Ministère de l'Éducation et le Ministère de l'Enseignement Supérieur Innovation and Partnership Program (McGill University and Thorasys, Inc.), and the MUHC Foundation/MCI Respiratory Research Campaign Innovation Grant.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmed.2023.1236598/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. García-Olmos L, Salvador CH, Alberquilla Á, Lora D, Carmona M, García-Sagredo P, et al. Comorbidity patterns in patients with chronic diseases in general practice. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e32141. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032141

2. Mannino DM, Buist AS. Global burden of COPD: risk factors, prevalence, and future trends. Lancet. (2007) 370:765-73. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61380-4

3. Walker PP, Pompilio PP, Zanaboni P, Bergmo TS, Prikk K, Malinovschi A, et al. Telemonitoring in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (CHROMED). A randomized clinical trial. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2018) 198:620–8. doi: 10.1164/ rccm.201712-2404OC

4. Michalovic E, Jensen D, Dandurand RJ, Saad N, Ezer N, Moullec G, et al. Description of participation in daily and social activities for individuals with COPD. *COPD*. (2020) 17:543–56. doi: 10.1080/15412555.2020.1798373

 WHO Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (2023). Available at: https://www. who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/chronic-obstructive-pulmonary-disease-(copd).

6. GOLD. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of COPD (2023). Available at: https://goldcopd.org/2023-gold-report-2/.

7. Kohansal R, Martinez-Camblor P, Agustí A, Buist AS, Mannino DM, Soriano JB. The natural history of chronic airflow obstruction revisited: an analysis of the Framingham offspring cohort. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2009) 180:3–10. doi: 10.1164/ rccm.200901-0047OC

 Seemungal TA, Donaldson GC, Paul EA, Bestall JC, Jeffries DJ, Wedzicha JA. Effect of exacerbation on quality of life in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1998) 157:1418–22. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.157.5. 9709032

9. Wedzicha JA, Seemungal TA. COPD exacerbations: defining their cause and prevention. *Lancet*. (2007) 370:786–96. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61382-8

10. CIHI. Hospitalization rates for COPD across Canadian cities (2019). Available at: https://www.cihi.ca/en/hospitalization-rates-for-copd-across-canadian-cities.

11. Guarascio AJ, Ray SM, Finch CK, Self TH. The clinical and economic burden of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the USA. *Clinicoecon Outcomes Res.* (2013) 5:235–45. doi: 10.2147/CEOR.S34321

12. Celli BR, Fabbri LM, Aaron SD, Agusti A, Brook R, Criner GJ, et al. An updated definition and severity classification of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations: the Rome proposal. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2021) 204:1251–8. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202108-1819PP

13. Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:727–33. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa2001017

14. Hendeles L, Prabhakaran S. Nationwide shortage of albuterol inhalers and off-label use in COVID-19 patients. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol Pulmonol.* (2020) 33:216–9. doi: 10.1089/ped.2020.1300

15. Channa A, Popescu N, Skibinska J, Burget R. The rise of wearable devices during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review. *Sensors (Basel)*. (2021) 21:5787. doi: 10.3390/s21175787

16. Anonymous Medicare program; revisions to payment policies under the physician fee schedule and other revisions to part B for CY 2019; Medicare shared savings program requirements; Quality payment program; Medicaid promoting interoperability program; Quality payment program-extreme and uncontrollable circumstance policy for the 2019 MIPS payment year; Provisions from the medicare shared savings program-accountable care organizations-pathways to success; and Expanding the use of telehealth services for the treatment of opioid use disorder under the substance use-disorder prevention that promotes opioid recovery and treatment (SUPPORT) for patients and communities act, 83 FR 59452 (2019) 59452–60303. Available at: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2018/11/23/2018-24170/medicare-program-revisions-to-payment-policies-under-the-physician-fee-schedule-and-other-revisions.

17. Tang M, Nakamoto CH, Stern AD, Mehrotra A. Trends in remote patient monitoring use in traditional medicare. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2022) 182:1005–6. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2022.3043

18. Aliverti A. Wearable technology: role in respiratory health and disease. *Breathe* (*Sheff*). (2017) 13:e27–36. doi: 10.1183/20734735.008417

19. Hemapriya D, Viswanath P, Mithra VM, Nagalakshmi S, Umarani G (eds.) Wearable medical devices—design challenges and issues. In 2017 International Conference on Innovations in Green Energy and Healthcare Technologies (IGEHT); (2017) 16–18 March 2017.

20. Sharma A, Badea M, Tiwari S, Marty JL. Wearable biosensors: an alternative and practical approach in healthcare and disease monitoring. *Molecules*. (2021) 26:748. doi: 10.3390/molecules26030748

21. Mecklai K, Smith N, Stern AD, Kramer DB. Remote patient monitoring — overdue or overused? *NEJM*. (2021) 384:1384–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp2033275

22. Vegesna A, Tran M, Angelaccio M, Arcona S. Remote patient monitoring via noninvasive digital technologies: a systematic review. *Telemed J E Health*. (2017) 23:3–17. doi: 10.1089/tmj.2016.0051 23. Lu L, Zhang J, Xie Y, Gao F, Xu S, Wu X, et al. Wearable health devices in health care: narrative systematic review. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*. (2020) 8:e18907. doi: 10.2196/18907

24. Grzesiak E, Bent B, McClain MT, Woods CW, Tsalik EL, Nicholson BP, et al. Assessment of the feasibility of using noninvasive wearable biometric monitoring sensors to detect influenza and the common cold before symptom onset. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2021) 4:e2128534. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.28534

25. Lubitz SA, Faranesh AZ, Selvaggi C, Atlas SJ, McManus DD, Singer DE, et al. Detection of atrial fibrillation in a large population using wearable devices: the fitbit heart study. *Circulation*. (2022) 146:1415–24. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.122.060291

26. Lahham A, McDonald CF, Mahal A, Lee AL, Hill CJ, Burge AT, et al. Participation in physical activity during center and home-based pulmonary rehabilitation for people with COPD: a SECONDARY ANALYSIS OF a RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev.* (2019) 39:e1–4. doi: 10.1097/HCR.00000000000373

27. Abdallah S, Wilkinson-Maitland C, Waskiw-Ford M, Abdallah I, Lui A, Smith B, et al. Validation of Hexoskin biometric technology to monitor ventilatory responses at rest and during exercise in COPD. *Eur Respir J.* (2017) 50:PA 1359. doi: 10.1183/1393003. congress-2017.PA1359

28. Hawthorne G, Greening N, Esliger D, Briggs-Price S, Richardson M, Chaplin E, et al. Usability of wearable multiparameter technology to continuously monitor freeliving vital signs in people living with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: prospective observational study. *JMIR Hum Factors*. (2022) 9:e30091. doi: 10.2196/30091

29. Nazari G, Mac Dermid JC. Reliability of Zephyr bio harness respiratory rate at rest, during the modified Canadian aerobic fitness test and recovery. *J Strength Cond Res.* (2020) 34:264–9. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000003046

30. de Zambotti M, Rosas L, Colrain IM, Baker FC. The sleep of the ring: comparison of the ÕURA sleep tracker against polysomnography. *Behav Sleep Med.* (2019) 17:124–36. doi: 10.1080/15402002.2017.1300587

31. Viderman D, Seri E, Aubakirova M, Abdildin Y, Badenes R, Bilotta F. Remote monitoring of chronic critically ill patients after hospital discharge: a systematic review. *J Clin Med.* (2022) 11:1010. doi: 10.3390/jcm11041010

32. Keogh A, Dorn JF, Walsh L, Calvo F, Caulfield B. Comparing the usability and acceptability of wearable sensors among older Irish adults in a real-world context: observational study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*. (2020) 8:e15704. doi: 10.2196/15704

33. Johansson A. Neural network for photoplethysmographic respiratory rate monitoring. *Med Biol Eng Comput.* (2003) 41:242–8. doi: 10.1007/BF02348427

34. Meredith DJ, Clifton D, Charlton P, Brooks J, Pugh CW, Tarassenko L. Photoplethysmographic derivation of respiratory rate: a review of relevant physiology. *J Med Eng Technol.* (2012) 36:1–7. doi: 10.3109/03091902.2011.638965

35. Nilsson LM. Respiration signals from photoplethysmography. Anesth Analg. (2013) 117:859–65. doi: 10.1213/ANE.0b013e31828098b2

36. Stanojevic S, Kaminsky DA, Miller MR, Thompson B, Aliverti A, Barjaktarevic I, et al. ERS/ATS technical standard on interpretive strategies for routine lung function tests. *Eur Respir J.* (2022) 60:2101499. doi: 10.1183/13993003.01499-2021

37. Lundblad LKA, Blouin N, Grudin O, Grudina L, Drapeau G, Restrepo N, et al. Comparing lung oscillometry with a novel, portable flow interrupter device to measure lung mechanics. *J Appl Physiol.* (2021) 130:933–40. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol. 01072.2020

38. Yañez AM, Guerrero D, Pérez de Alejo R, Garcia-Rio F, Alvarez-Sala JL, Calle-Rubio M, et al. Monitoring breathing rate at home allows early identification of COPD exacerbations. *Chest.* (2012) 142:1524–9. doi: 10.1378/chest.11-2728

39. Borel JC, Pelletier J, Taleux N, Briault A, Arnol N, Pison C, et al. Parameters recorded by software of non-invasive ventilators predict COPD exacerbation: a proof-of-concept study. *Thorax*. (2015) 70:284–5. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2014-206569

40. Rubio N, Parker RA, Drost EM, Pinnock H, Weir CJ, Hanley J, et al. Home monitoring of breathing rate in people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: observational study of feasibility, acceptability, and change after exacerbation. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2017) 12:1221–31. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S120706

41. Wu R, Liaqat D, de Lara E, Son T, Rudzicz F, Alshaer H, et al. Feasibility of using a smartwatch to intensively monitor patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: prospective cohort study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*. (2018) 6:e10046. doi: 10.2196/10046

42. L'Her E, N'Guyen Q-T, Pateau V, Bodenes L, Lellouche F. Photoplethysmographic determination of the respiratory rate in acutely ill patients: validation of a new algorithm and implementation into a biomedical device. *Ann Intensive Care.* (2019) 9:11. doi: 10.1186/s13613-019-0485-z

43. Park S-C, Saiphoklang N, Jung D, Gomez D, Phillips JE, Dolezal BA, et al. Use of a wearable biosensor to study heart rate variability in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and its relationship to disease severity. *Sensors*. (2022) 22:2264. doi: 10.3390/ s22062264

44. Polsky M, Moraveji N, Hendricks A, Teresi RK, Murray R, Maselli DJ. Use of remote cardiorespiratory monitoring is associated with a reduction in hospitalizations

for subjects with COPD. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. (2023) 18:219-29. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S388049

45. Gonem S, Janssens W, Das N, Topalovic M. Applications of artificial intelligence and machine learning in respiratory medicine. *Thorax.* (2020) 75:695–701. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2020-214556

46. Exarchos KP, Kostikas K. Artificial intelligence in COPD: possible applications and future prospects. *Respirology*. (2021) 26:641–2. doi: 10.1111/resp.14061

47. Shah SA, Velardo C, Farmer A, Tarassenko L. Exacerbations in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: identification and prediction using a digital health system. *J Med Internet Res.* (2017) 19:e69. doi: 10.2196/jmir.7207

48. De Ramón FA, Ruiz Fernández D, Gilart Iglesias V, Marcos JD. Analyzing the use of artificial intelligence for the management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). *Int J Med Inform*. (2021) 158:104640. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2021.104640

49. Orchard P, Agakova A, Pinnock H, Burton CD, Sarran C, Agakov F, et al. Improving prediction of risk of hospital admission in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: application of machine learning to telemonitoring data. *J Med Internet Res.* (2018) 20:e263. doi: 10.2196/jmir.9227

50. Wu CT, Li GH, Huang CT, Cheng YC, Chen CH, Chien JY, et al. Acute exacerbation of a chronic obstructive pulmonary disease prediction system using wearable device data, machine learning, and deep learning: development and cohort study. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2021) 9:e22591. doi: 10.2196/22591

51. Fernandez-Granero MA, Sanchez-Morillo D, Leon-Jimenez A. An artificial intelligence approach to early predict symptom-based exacerbations of COPD. *Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip.* (2018) 32:778–84. doi: 10.1080/13102818.2018.1437568

52. Dechman G, Aceron R, Beauchamp MK, Bhutani M, Bourbeau J, Brooks D, et al. Delivering pulmonary rehabilitation during the COVID-19 pandemic: a Canadian thoracic society position statement. *Can J Respir Crit Care Sleep Med.* (2020) 4:232–5. doi: 10.1080/24745332.2020.1828683

53. Uzzaman MN, Agarwal D, Chan SC, Patrick Engkasan J, Habib GMM, Hanafi NS, et al. Effectiveness of home-based pulmonary rehabilitation: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Respir Rev.* (2022) 31:220076. doi: 10.1183/16000617.0076-2022

54. Isernia S, Pagliari C, Bianchi LNC, Banfi PI, Rossetto F, Borgnis F, et al. Characteristics, components, and efficacy of telerehabilitation approaches for people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:15165. doi: 10.3390/ijerph192215165

55. Wu RC, Ginsburg S, Son T, Gershon AS. Using wearables and self-management apps in patients with COPD: a qualitative study. *ERJ Open Res.* (2019) 5:00036–2019. doi: 10.1183/23120541.00036-2019

56. Fragoso CA. Epidemiology of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in aging populations. *COPD*. (2016) 13:125–9. doi: 10.3109/15412555.2015. 1077506

57. Liang J, Xian D, Liu X, Fu J, Zhang X, Tang B, et al. Usability study of mainstream wearable fitness devices: feature analysis and system usability scale evaluation. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth.* (2018) 6:e11066. doi: 10.2196/11066

58. Benjamin D, Kalebasty A. Remote patient monitoring—will more data lead to more health? *JAMA Intern Med.* (2022) 182:1007–8. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed. 2022.3040

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Azmy Faisal, Manchester Metropolitan University, United Kingdom

REVIEWED BY Magnus Ekström, Lund University, Sweden Chin Kook Rhee, The Catholic University of Korea, Republic of Korea

*CORRESPONDENCE Kathryn M. Milne ⊠ kathryn.milne@vch.ca

RECEIVED 05 September 2023 ACCEPTED 29 February 2024 PUBLISHED 20 March 2024

CITATION

Milne KM, Mitchell RA, Ferguson ON, Hind AS and Guenette JA (2024) Sex-differences in COPD: from biological mechanisms to therapeutic considerations. *Front. Med.* 11:1289259. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2024.1289259

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Milne, Mitchell, Ferguson, Hind and Guenette. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Sex-differences in COPD: from biological mechanisms to therapeutic considerations

Kathryn M. Milne^{1,2*}, Reid A. Mitchell¹, Olivia N. Ferguson¹, Alanna S. Hind¹ and Jordan A. Guenette^{1,2,3}

¹Centre for Heart Lung Innovation, The University of British Columbia and Providence Research, St. Paul's Hospital, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ²Division of Respiratory Medicine, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ³Department of Physical Therapy, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a heterogeneous respiratory condition characterized by symptoms of dyspnea, cough, and sputum production. We review sex-differences in disease mechanisms, structurefunction-symptom relationships, responses to therapies, and clinical outcomes in COPD with a specific focus on dyspnea. Females with COPD experience greater dyspnea and higher morbidity compared to males. Imaging studies using chest computed tomography scans have demonstrated that females with COPD tend to have smaller airways than males as well as a lower burden of emphysema. Sex-differences in lung and airway structure lead to critical respiratory mechanical constraints during exercise at a lower absolute ventilation in females compared to males, which is largely explained by sex differences in maximum ventilatory capacity. Females experience similar benefit with respect to inhaled COPD therapies, pulmonary rehabilitation, and smoking cessation compared to males. Ongoing re-assessment of potential sexdifferences in COPD may offer insights into the evolution of patterns of care and clinical outcomes in COPD patients over time.

KEYWORDS

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, dyspnea, exercise physiology, sex-differences, exercise testing

1 Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a heterogeneous respiratory condition with hallmark chronic symptoms that include dyspnea, cough, and sputum production. It is characterized by airway remodeling and lung parenchymal destruction, resulting from a combination of environmental exposures and individual factors that ultimately alter the trajectory of normal lung development and aging, manifesting in disease (1). COPD is currently defined by the combination of symptoms, risk factors for disease, and airflow obstruction measured on spirometry (1). Dyspnea, reduced exercise capacity, and low quality of life frequently characterize the lives of COPD patients. The estimated global prevalence of COPD is approximately 12% and the prevalence and burden of COPD is increasing (1, 2). Due to multiple factors, the prevalence of COPD in females has increased and the number of females diagnosed with COPD in the United States now outnumbers males (3). COPD has also become the leading cause of death among

female smokers (4). In females with COPD, dyspnea severity is greater and associated with increased morbidity compared to males (5–7). By comparison, data are mixed with some studies demonstrating that either males or females may be more likely to have symptoms of cough (8, 9). We review biological mechanisms underpinning sex-differences in COPD, the impacts of dyspnea in females with COPD, and structure-function-symptom interactions uncovered through use of imaging and cardiopulmonary exercise testing. Finally, we consider available evidence of clinical outcomes and treatment in females with COPD.

2 Sex in COPD

Sex is defined as the different biological and physiological characteristics of females, males, and intersex persons (10). Gender refers to the socially constructed characteristics of women and men that determine roles and relationships across an individual lifetime (10, 11). Understanding sex- and gender-differences and similarities in COPD is increasingly relevant given the growing focus on "treatable traits" and phenotyping patients (12, 13). There is mounting awareness that COPD is a heterogenous disease and that sex may play a role in the symptoms, clinical presentation, and outcomes of patients. The understanding of COPD in females and women has increased in recent decades, offering insights into observed differences in symptoms and clinical outcomes.

Biological differences between females and males include differences in airway growth leading to differential susceptibility to inhaled substances such as tobacco smoke, alterations in inflammatory responses in the lungs, and hormonal factors (14). Smaller airways relative to lung volume has been described in females (15). As a consequence, particle deposition from noxious substances, including cigarette smoke, may be greater in the proximal airways of females (16). Females experience greater small airways disease compared to males for a similar tobacco smoke exposure (5). Female smokers also experience a faster annual loss of forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV₁) than male smokers (17). Female smokers tend to present at a younger age and lower packyear smoking history, compared to males with the same degree of lung function impairment (18). This suggests that females may be more susceptible to the effects of cigarettes compares to males (19). Susceptibility to air contaminants is not limited to cigarettes and often non-smoking COPD patients are female (20). Exposures and risk factors associated with non-smoking COPD vary by geographic region and include exposure to biomass fuels, passive smoking, occupational exposures, infections, and air pollution (20-22).

The greater degree of small airways disease in females and increased emphysema in males may have a basis in sex hormones (11). In humans, testosterone level is associated with higher FEV₁ after adjustment for age, height, and smoking (23). In mice models, females develop more small airways disease compared to males who develop more emphysema for the same level of cigarette smoke exposure (24). In female mice treated with tamoxifen or ovariectomy, greater emphysema developed, suggesting that estrogen may contribute to these observed sex-differences in mice (24). The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis Lung Study observed an association between male sex and paraseptal emphysema subtype visualized on computed tomography (CT) chest imaging (25) and an association between male sex and a diffuse emphysema subtype has also been described in a machine learning analysis of the Subpopulations and Intermediate Outcome Measures in COPD Study (26).

Despite the aforementioned insights, defining the role of sexhormones in COPD and changes throughout the life cycle such as menopause in humans remains complex. Interestingly, early menopause has been associated with a lower risk of airflow obstruction, although other pulmonary function abnormalities such as a non-specific restrictive pattern, may develop in the perimenopause period (27). Unlike the study of sex in respiratory health and disease, there is limited evidence to date regarding the potential role of gender in lung disease, as many studies to date have not included systematic gender assessment distinct from considering biological sex.

3 Dyspnea in females with COPD

Females with COPD experience more dyspnea compared to males, matched for relative lung function (14). Females less than 65 years of age have a higher exacerbation risk and higher odds of severe airflow obstruction in comparison to males (28). Females with COPD also experience increased depression and anxiety as well as reduced quality of life in comparison to their male counterparts (29-31). Importantly, dyspnea is strongly associated with depression in COPD (29). Anxiety and depression are associated with reduced smoking cessation (32), increased dyspnea (33), and reduced sleep quality (34, 35). Even after controlling for percent predicted lung function, age, smoking history, and extent of emphysema on chest CT, females still experience a greater dyspnea burden, more depression, and reduced quality of life relative to males (5). Female sex, depression, and anxiety are associated with increased risk of exacerbations and mortality (36-39). Recent population-based studies have demonstrated that sex-differences in dyspnea are accounted for by sex-differences in absolute values of lung function measurements [FEV1, forced vital capacity (FVC) or diffusing capacity of the lungs for carbon monoxide (D_LCO)] (40-42). The complex interrelationships between dyspnea, mental health symptoms, and clinical outcomes are likely multidirectional. Dyspnea is central to the experience of both females and males with COPD, emphasizing the importance of understanding the underlying mechanisms of this symptom.

4 Structure-function-symptom relationships underpinning dyspnea in COPD

Quantitative chest CT scans enable sex-based comparisons of lung structure in people with COPD. Imaging studies using chest CT scans have demonstrated that females with COPD, matched for percentage predicted FEV_1 , tend to have smaller airways than males as well as a lower burden of parenchymal lung tissue destruction (5). Smaller airways on CT are measured as reduced airway luminal area and diameter, reduced wall thickness, and increased airway wall area (43, 44). Female smokers without established COPD as well as females with severe COPD have less emphysema compared to males (5, 45). Although the precise mechanisms underlying anatomical differences are an area of ongoing research, examining the functional consequences of these structural differences, relative to health, under the stress of exercise with cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET), enables integration of structural differences with differences in symptoms, specifically exertional dyspnea.

The current understanding of mechanisms of dyspnea in females with COPD is partially informed by data examining sex-differences in dyspnea in healthy individuals. The Burden of Obstructive Lung Diseases international population-based study describes a greater prevalence of dyspnea in females compared to males, including in a subpopulation of participants without self-reported diseases associated with dyspnea or abnormal spirometry (46). Males have larger conducting airways and lung volumes in comparison to females, even when accounting for differences in height (47-49). Healthy females also have reduced respiratory muscle strength compared to height-matched males (50). These differences may predispose females to developing greater ventilatory abnormalities and increases in both neural respiratory drive, the signal to breathe from the brain to the respiratory muscles, and dyspnea intensity during exercise relative to males (51, 52). There are also sex differences in qualitative descriptors of dyspnea, with healthy females being more likely to select unpleasant dyspnea descriptors related to inspiratory difficulty, shallow breathing, and unsatisfied inspiration than males (52). Sex-differences in dyspnea quality in health are likely a manifestation of relatively greater respiratory mechanical constraints and neural respiratory drive at a given absolute ventilation in females (51, 52).

Dyspnea in COPD is closely related to the physiological consequences of the disease and can be systematically studied using CPET. Airway remodeling and lung parenchymal destruction in COPD leads to airflow limitation, increased lung compliance, and impaired gas exchange. During CPET, the consequences of these abnormalities manifest as dynamic hyperinflation, respiratory muscle weakness, ventilatory inefficiency, and hypoxemia (53–55). Abnormal responses to exercise provide a powerful stimulus for increased neural respiratory drive to the diaphragm in an effort to increase ventilation commensurate with the metabolic demands of exercise (53–55). Neural respiratory drive can be estimated using diaphragm electromyography during CPET and is highly correlated with dyspnea in COPD (53–55).

In a detailed physiology study in females and males with mild COPD, matched for % predicted FEV₁, females experienced significantly greater dyspnea intensity ratings during exercise (Figure 1A), constraints on tidal volume expansion (Figure 1C), and a more rapid breathing pattern (Figure 1D) at a given absolute work rate in comparison to males (6). However, when dyspnea was assessed relative to maximum ventilatory capacity (Figure 1B), sex differences in dyspnea between males and females with COPD disappeared, suggesting that increased intensity of exertional dyspnea in females is largely driven by females using a greater fraction of their ventilatory capacity to achieve the same absolute exercise intensity and ventilation compared with males (6).

Differences in absolute lung function between males and females in relation to dyspnea has also been examined in several recent population-based studies. The European Community Respiratory Health Survey, a general population-based study, found that dyspnea was twice as common in females and was explained by differences in absolute FEV_1 and FVC values, demonstrating that lower absolute lung function accounts for dyspnea in females (41). In the population-based Swedish CArdioPulmonarybioImage Study, similar results were found with respect to absolute diffusing capacity and static lung volumes as well as in obese females (42, 56). Similar findings have been described in individuals with COPD in the COPDGene study, demonstrating that sex-based differences in absolute FEV_1 accounted for the difference in dyspnea between females and males (40).

Taken together, detailed physiological studies and larger scale population-based studies demonstrate that differences in exertional dyspnea intensity between females and males are largely explained by differences in absolute measures of lung function and the relatively higher ventilation needed in females to perform a given absolute task compared to males. However, the underlying physiologic explanations for differences in dyspnea quality and unpleasantness across the spectrum of COPD disease severity and any potential association with observed higher anxiety and depression in females with COPD, remains unknown and an important area for future research.

5 COPD therapies

Major classes of inhaled medications for COPD include long-acting muscarinic antagonists (LAMA), long-acting beta agonists (LABA), combination LABA-LAMA, and combination inhaled corticosteroid (ICS)-LABA. A recent systematic review of randomized controlled trials and observational studies found that there is limited data directly comparing treatment effectiveness between sexes in COPD; however, there is evidence from retrospective and sub-group analyses of large randomized controlled trials (57). When clinical trials report sex-differences, they are frequently not found; however, some trials may not be powered to detect differences in treatment response between females and males. Tiotropium demonstrates a similar improvement in exercise capacity, trough FEV1, reduced exacerbations, and improved quality of life in males and females (58, 59). Females experience improvements in dyspnea with LABA-LAMA similar to males in comparison to either LAMA or LABA alone (60, 61). Comparing LABA-LAMA to ICS-LABA, improvement in FEV1 are observed in both males and females to varying degrees (60-62). Only males had a significant reduction in exacerbations (62), but females had better responses with regards to dyspnea and quality of life with LABA-LAMA compared to ICS-LABA (61). Taken together, there is no evidence to support treating females with COPD differently from their male peers in terms of inhaled therapies.

There is similarly no evidence to support differential nonpharmacologic management of individuals with COPD based on sex. Despite greater benefits of smoking cessation with respect to lung function in females compared to males, females find it harder to quit and are more likely to relapse (63). However, upon smoking cessation, the gain in FEV_1 in female ex-smokers is greater than males (63). Long term oxygen therapy in females with COPD affords benefits with respect to survival similar to males (64, 65).



percentage of estimated maximum ventilatory capacity, (C) tidal volume, and (D) breathing frequency. Females with COPD experienced greater dyspnea for a given absolute ventilation during exercise and had reduced tidal volume expansion and consequent increased breathing frequency compared to males. At a work rate of 80 W (the highest absolute work rate comparison between males and females with COPD), the V_E/MVC ratio and dyspnea were greater in females. Values are mean \pm SE. *p < 0.05. Fb, breathing frequency; MVC, maximum ventilatory capacity; V_E , minute ventilation; V_T , tidal volume. Reprinted from Guenette et al. (6) with permission from Elsevier.

There are no established sex-differences in exercise capacity and quality of life improvement following pulmonary rehabilitation in females compared to males, although benefits of pulmonary rehabilitation may not be sustained in females (66).

6 COPD outcomes in females

Previously described significant disparities in the accurate diagnosis and clinical outcomes of females with COPD may be changing (67-69). Ongoing prospective re-evaluation of potential sex-differences in females and women with COPD is valuable to understanding how patterns of care may change over time. Females with COPD also present with different comorbidities compared to their male counterparts. Females more often have heart failure, osteoporosis, and diabetes (70). Interestingly, different combinations of comorbidities in COPD are associated with mortality between sexes (71). Healthcare related costs for those living with COPD account for the majority of expenditures in respiratory disease in Europe and are expected to increase in the United States (1). Females incur greater healthcare costs than males and lose more quality-adjusted life years (72). Females with COPD have a higher BODE index (body mass index, airflow obstruction, dyspnea, and exercise capacity) suggesting a worse prognosis (73). Females have also been at greater risk of hospitalization and death (74). Female sex has additionally been identified as a risk factor for acute exacerbations of COPD in the large COPDGene cohort study (39).

7 Conclusion

Sex and gender have the potential to influence biological mechanisms, symptoms, and clinical outcomes. Several mechanisms may contribute to sex-differences in COPD including differences in airway and lung structure, differential consequent susceptibility to inhaled pollutants, and sex-hormones. Females with COPD experience significantly greater dyspnea compared to males. In mild COPD, females have greater respiratory mechanical constraints at a lower work rate compared to males, which is associated with greater neural respiratory drive and dyspnea (6). However, differences in exertional dyspnea intensity have been demonstrated to be related to differences in absolute measures of lung function and consequent differences in ventilatory capacity between sexes.

Insights into sex-differences and similarities in lung structure, exercise physiology, and responses to mainstay COPD therapies has advanced over the past decade. In contrast, our understanding of gender-differences in COPD remains limited, as studies either frequently neglect to systematically assess gender, or conflate gender related factors with sex. Considering the multidimensional nature of dyspnea, our collective understanding of differences in dyspnea quality between sexes and genders in COPD remains an area of future research.

Author contributions

KM: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. RM: Writing – review & editing. OF: Writing – review & editing. AH: Writing – review & editing. JG: Conceptualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The authors declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. KM received funding support from Michael Smith Health Research British

References

1. Vestbo J, Hurd S, Agustí A, Jones P, Vogelmeier C, Anzueto A, et al. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2023) 187:347–65. doi: 10.1164/rccm. 201204-0596PP

2. Mathers C, Loncar D. Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. *PLoS Med.* (2006) 3:e442. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030442

3. Aryal S, Diaz-Guzman E, Mannino D. Influence of sex on chronic obstructive pulmonary disease risk and treatment outcomes. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2014) 9:1145–54. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S54476

4. Thun M, Carter B, Feskanich D, Freedman N, Prentice R, Lopez A, et al. 50year trends in smoking-related mortality in the United States. *N Engl J Med.* (2013) 368:351–64. doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa1211127

5. Martinez F, Curtis J, Sciurba F, Mumford J, Giardino N, Weinmann G, et al. National emphysema treatment trial research group. Sex differences in severe pulmonary emphysema. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2007) 176:243–52. doi: 10.1164/ rccm.200606-828OC

 Guenette J, Jensen D, Webb K, Ofir D, Raghavan N, O'Donnell D. Sex differences in exertional dyspnea in patients with mild COPD: Physiological mechanisms. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol.* (2011) 177:218–27. doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2011.04.011

7. de Torres J, Casanova C, Hernandez C, Abreu J, Aguirre-Jaime A, Celli B. Gender and COPD in patients attending a pulmonary clinic. *Chest.* (2005) 128:2012–6. doi: 10.1378/chest.128.4.2012

8. Zhang H, Wu F, Yi H, Xu D, Jiang N, Li Y, et al. Gender differences in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease symptom clusters. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2021) 16:1101–7. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S302877

9. Lamprecht B, Vanfleteren L, Studnicka M, Allison M, McBurnie M, Vollmer W, et al. Sex-related differences in respiratory symptoms: Results from the BOLD Study. *Eur Respir J.* (2013) 42:858–60. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00047613

10. World Health Organization. Gender and health. Geneva: World Health Organization (2023).

11. Somayaji R, Chalmers J. Just breathe: A review of sex and gender in chronic lung disease. *Eur Respir Rev.* (2022) 31:210111. doi: 10.1183/16000617.0111-2021

12. Cazzola M, Rogliani P, Barnes P, Blasi F, Celli B, Hanania N, et al. An update on outcomes for COPD pharmacological trials: A COPD investigators report – reassessment of the 2008 American thoracic society/European respiratory society statement on outcomes for COPD pharmacological trials. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2023) 208:374–94. doi: 10.1164/rccm.202303-0400SO

13. Stolz D, Mkorombindo T, Schumann D, Agusti A, Ash S, Bafadhel M, et al. Towards the elimination of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a Lancet commission. *Lancet.* (2022) 400:921–72. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01273-9

Columbia and the Academic Enhancement Fund from the Division of Respiratory Medicine at The University of British Columbia.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

14. Gut-Gobert C, Cavailles A, Dixmier A, Guillot S, Jouneau S, Leroyer C, et al. Women and COPD: Do we need more evidence? *Eur Respir Rev.* (2019) 28:180055. doi: 10.1183/16000617.0055-2018

15. Sheel A, Guenette J, Yuan R, Holy L, Mayo J, McWilliams A, et al. Evidence for dysanapsis using computed tomographic imaging of the airways in older ex-smokers. *J Appl Physiol*. (2009) 107:1622–8. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00562.2009

16. Bennett W, Zeman K, Kim C. Variability of fine particle deposition in healthy adults: Effect of age and gender. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1996) 153:1641–7. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.153.5.8630615

17. Gan W, Man S, Postma D, Camp P, Sin D. Female smokers beyond the perimenopausal period are at increased risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Respir Res.* (2006) 7:52. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-7-52

18. de Torres J, Casanova C, Montejo de Garcini A, Aguirre-Jaime A, Celli B. Gender and respiratory factors associated with dyspnea in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respir Res.* (2007) 8:18. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-8-18

19. Amaral A, Strachan D, Burney P, Jarvis D. Female smokers are at greater risk of airflow obstruction than male smokers. UK Biobank. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2017) 195:1226–35. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201608-1545OC

20. Yang I, Jenkins C, Salvi S. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in neversmokers: Risk factors, pathogenesis, and implications for prevention and treatment. *Lancet Respir Med.* (2022) 10:497–511. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00506-3

21. Celli B, Halbert R, Nordyke R, Schau B. Airway obstruction in never smokers: Results from the third national health and nutrition examination survey. *Am J Med.* (2005) 118:1364–72. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2005.06.041

22. Siddharthan T, Grigsby M, Goodman D, Chowdhury M, Rubinstein A, Irazola V, et al. Association between household air pollution exposure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease outcomes in 13 low- and middle-income country settings. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2018) 197:611–20. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201709-1861OC

23. Lenoir A, Fuertes E, Gomez-Real F, Leynaert B, van der Plaat D, Jarvis D. Lung function changes over 8 years and testosterone markers in both sexes: UK Biobank. *ERJ Open Res.* (2020) 6:00070-2020. doi: 10.1183/23120541.00070-2020

24. Tam A, Churg A, Wright J, Zhou S, Kirby M, Coxson H, et al. Sex differences in airway remodeling in a mouse model of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 193:825–34. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201503-0487OC

25. Smith B, Austin J, Newell J Jr., D'Souza B, Rozenshtein A, Hoffman E, et al. Pulmonary emphysema subtypes on computed tomography: The MESA COPD study. *Am J Med.* (2014) 127:94.e7–23. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2013.09.020

26. Angelini ED, Yang J, Balte P, Hoffman E, Manichaikul A, Sun Y, et al. Pulmonary emphysema subtypes defined by unsupervised machine learning on CT scans. *Thorax* (2023) 78:1067–79. doi: 10.1136/thorax-2022-219158

27. Hong Y, Park H, Chang Y, Jang E, Zhao D, Kim S, et al. Stages of menopause and abnormal lung function: A cross-sectional study of middle-aged women. *Menopause*. (2021) 28:811–8. doi: 10.1097/GME.00000000001779

28. DeMeo D, Ramagopalan S, Kavati A, Vegesna A, Han M, Yadao A, et al. Women manifest more severe COPD symptoms across the life course. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2018) 13:3021–9. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S160270

29. Di Marco F, Verga M, Reggente M, Maria Casanova F, Santus P, Blasi F, et al. Anxiety and depression in COPD patients: The roles of gender and disease severity. *Respir Med.* (2006) 100:1767–74. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2006.01.026

30. Laurin C, Lavoie K, Bacon S, Dupuis G, Lacoste G, Cartier A, et al. Sex differences in the prevalence of psychiatric disorders and psychological distress in patients with COPD. *Chest.* (2007) 132:148–55. doi: 10.1378/chest.07-0134

31. de Torres J, Casanova C, Hernandez C, Abreu J, Montejo de Garcini A, Aguirre-Jaime A, et al. Gender associated differences in determinants of quality of life in patients with COPD: A case series study. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* (2006) 4:72. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-4-72

32. Hanania N, Mullerova H, Locantore N, Vestbo J, Watkins M, Wouters E, et al. Evaluation of COPD longitudinally to identify predictive surrogate endpoints (ECLIPSE) study investigators. Determinants of depression in the ECLIPSE chronic obstructive pulmonary disease cohort. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2011) 183:604–11. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00111707

33. Jimenez-Ruiz C, Andreas S, Lewis K, Tonnesen P, van Schayck C, Hajek P, et al. Statement on smoking cessation in COPD and other pulmonary diseases and in smokers with comorbidities who find it difficult to quit. *Eur Respir J*. (2015) 46:61–79. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00092614

34. Scharf S, Maimon N, Simon-Tuval T, Bernhard-Scharf B, Reuveni H, Tarasiuk A. Sleep quality predicts quality of life in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2010) 6:1–12. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S15666

35. Budhiraja R, Parthasarathy S, Budhiraja P, Habib M, Wendel C, Quan S. Insomnia in patients with COPD. *Sleep.* (2012) 35:369–75. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.4540

36. McGarvey L, Lee A, Roberts J, Gruffydd-Jones K, McKnight E, Haughney J. Characterisation of the frequent exacerbator phenotype in COPD patients in a large UK primary care population. *Respir Med.* (2015) 109:228–37. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2014. 12.006

37. Fan V, Ramsey S, Giardino N, Make B, Emery C, Diaz P, et al. Sex, depression, and risk of hospitalization and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Arch Intern Med.* (2007) 167:2345–53. doi: 10.1001/archinte.167.21.2345

38. Divo M, Cote C, de Torres J, Casanova C, Marin J, Pinto-Plata V, et al. Comorbidities and risk of mortality in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2012) 186:155–61. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201201-0034OC

39. Foreman M, Zhang L, Murphy J, Hansel N, Make B, Hokanson J, et al. Earlyonset chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is associated with female sex, maternal factors, and African American race in the COPDGene Study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2011) 184:414–20. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201011-1928OC

40. Ekstrom M, Bornefalk-Hermansson A, Wysham N, Currow D, MacIntyre N, COPDGene Investigators: Core Untis. Spirometric volumes and breathlessness across levels of airflow limitation: The COPDGene study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2018) 198:678–81. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201803-0594LE

41. Ekstrom M, Schioler L, Gronseth R, Johannessen A, Svanes C, Leynaert B, et al. Absolute values of lung function explain the sex difference in breathlessness in the general population. *Eur Respir J.* (2017) 49:1602047. doi: 10.1183/13993003.02047-2016

42. Ekstrom M, Sundh J, Schioler L, Lindberg E, Rosengren A, Bergstrom G, et al. Absolute lung size and the sex difference in breathlessness in the general population. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0190876. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190876

43. Kim Y, Schroeder J, Lynch D, Newell J, Make B, Friedlander A, et al. Gender differences of airway dimensions in anatomically matched sites on CT in smokers. *COPD*. (2011) 8:285–92. doi: 10.3109/15412555.2011.586658

44. Li Y, Dai Y, Yu N, Guo Y. Sex-related differences in bronchial parameters and pulmonary function test results in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease based on three-dimensional quantitative computed tomography. *J Int Med Res.* (2018) 46:135–42. doi: 10.1177/0300060517721309

45. Sverzellati N, Calabro E, Randi G, La Vecchia C, Marchiano A, Kuhnigk J, et al. Sex differences in emphysema phenotype in smokers without airflow obstruction. *Eur Respir J.* (2009) 33:1320–8. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00109808

46. Gronseth R, Vollmer W, Hardie J, Olafsdottir I, Lamprecht B, Buist A, et al. Predictors of dyspnoea prevalence: Results from the BOLD study. *Eur Respir J.* (2014) 43:1610–20. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00036813

47. Mead J. Dysanapsis in normal lungs assessed by the relationship between maximal flow, static recoil, and vital capacity. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* (1980) 121:339–42. doi: 10.1164/arrd.1980.121.2.339

48. Bellemare F, Jeanneret A, Couture J. Sex differences in thoracic dimensions and configuration. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2003) 168:305–12. doi: 10.1164/rccm. 200208-876OC

49. Martin T, Castile R, Fredberg J, Wohl M, Mead J. Airway size is related to sex but not lung size in normal adults. *J Appl Physiol.* (1987) 63:2042–7. doi: 10.1183/20734735. 000318

50. Sheel A, Guenette J. Mechanics of breathing during exercise in men and women: Sex versus body size differences? *Exerc Sport Sci Rev.* (2008) 36:128–34. doi: 10.1097/ JES.0b013e31817be7f0

51. Schaeffer M, Mendonca C, Levangie M, Andersen R, Taivassalo T, Jensen D. Physiological mechanisms of sex differences in exertional dyspnoea: Role of neural respiratory motor drive. *Exp Physiol.* (2014) 99:427–41. doi: 10.1113/expphysiol.2013. 074880

52. Cory J, Schaeffer M, Wilkie S, Ramsook A, Puyat J, Arbour B, et al. Sex differences in the intensity and qualitative dimensions of exertional dyspnea in physically active young adults. *J Appl Physiol.* (2015) 119:998–1006. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00520. 2015

53. Faisal A, Alghamdi B, Ciavaglia C, Elbehairy A, Webb K, Ora J, et al. Common mechanisms of dyspnea in chronic interstitial and obstructive lung disorders. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (2016) 193:299–309. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201504-0841OC

54. Jolley C, Luo Y, Steier J, Rafferty G, Polkey M, Moxham J. Neural respiratory drive and breathlessness in COPD. *Eur Respir J.* (2015) 45:355–64. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00063014

55. Guenette J, Chin R, Cheng S, Dominelli P, Raghavan N, Webb K, et al. Mechanisms of exercise intolerance in global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease grade 1 COPD. *Eur Respir J.* (2014) 44:1177–87. doi: 10.1183/09031936. 00034714

56. Ekstrom M, Blomberg A, Bergstrom G, Brandberg J, Caidahl K, Engstrom G, et al. The association of body mass index, weight gain and central obesity with activity-related breathlessness: The Swedish cardiopulmonary bioimage study. *Thorax.* (2019) 74:958–64. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2019-213349

57. Rogliani P, Cavalli F, Ritondo B, Cazzola M, Calzetta L. Sex differences in adult asthma and COPD therapy: A systematic review. *Respir Res.* (2022) 23:222. doi: 10.1186/s12931-022-02140-4

58. Tashkin D, Celli B, Kesten S, Lystig T, Decramer M. Effect of tiotropium in men and women with COPD: Results of the 4-year UPLIFT trial. *Respir Med.* (2010) 104:1495–504. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2010.03.033

59. O'Donnell D, Fluge T, Gerken F, Hamilton A, Webb K, Aguilaniu B, et al. Effects of tiotropium on lung hyperinflation, dyspnoea and exercise tolerance in COPD. *Eur Respir J.* (2004) 23:832–40. doi: 10.1183/09031936.04.0011 6004

60. D'Urzo A, Singh D, Donohue J, Kerwin E, Ribera A, Molins E, et al. Efficacy of aclidinium/formoterol 400/12 microg, analyzed by airflow obstruction severity, age, sex, and exacerbation history: Pooled analysis of ACLIFORM and AUGMENT. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2019) 14:479–91. doi: 10.2147/COPD. S185502

61. Tsiligianni I, Mezzi K, Fucile S, Kostikas K, Shen S, Banerji D, et al. Response to Indacaterol/Glycopyrronium (IND/GLY) by sex in patients with COPD: A pooled analysis from the IGNITE Program. *COPD*. (2017) 14:375–81. doi: 10.1080/15412555. 2017.1324837

62. Wedzicha J, Singh D, Tsiligianni I, Jenkins C, Fucile S, Fogel R, et al. Treatment response to indacaterol/glycopyrronium versus salmeterol/fluticasone in exacerbating COPD patients by gender: A post-hoc analysis in the FLAME study. *Respir Res.* (2019) 20:4. doi: 10.1186/s12931-019-0972-7

63. Connett J, Murray R, Buist A, Wise R, Bailey W, Lindgren P, et al. Changes in smoking status affect women more than men: Results of the lung health study. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2003) 157:973–9. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwg083

64. Miyamoto K, Aida A, Nishimura M, Aiba M, Kira S, Kawakami Y. Gender effect on prognosis of patients receiving long-term home oxygen therapy. The respiratory failure research group in Japan. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* (1995) 152:972–6. doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.152.3.7663812

65. Franklin K, Gustafson T, Ranstam J, Strom K. Survival and future need of longterm oxygen therapy for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease-gender differences. *Respir Med.* (2007) 101:1506-11. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2007.01.009

66. Foy C, Rejeski W, Berry M, Zaccaro D, Woodard C. Gender moderates the effects of exercise therapy on health-related quality of life among COPD patients. *Chest.* (2001) 119:70–6. doi: 10.1378/chest.119.1.70

67. Chapman K, Tashkin D, Pye D. Gender bias in the diagnosis of COPD. *Chest.* (2001) 119:1691–5. doi: 10.1378/chest.119.6.1691

68. Watson L, Vestbo J, Postma D, Decramer M, Rennard S, Kiri V, et al. Gender differences in the management and experience of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respir Med.* (2004) 98:1207–13. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S302877

69. Akbarshahi H, Ahmadi Z, Currow D, Sandberg J, Vandersman Z, Shanon-Honson A, et al. No gender-related bias in COPD diagnosis and treatment in Sweden: A randomised, controlled, case-based trial. *ERJ Open Res.* (2020) 6:00342–2020. doi: 10.1183/23120541.00342-2020

70. Almagro P, Lopez Garcia F, Cabrera F, Montero L, Morchon D, Diez J, et al. Comorbidity and gender-related differences in patients hospitalized for COPD. The ECCO study. *Respir Med.* (2010) 104:253–9. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2009.09.019

71. Trudzinski F, Jorres R, Alter P, Walter J, Watz H, Koch A, et al. Sex-specific associations of comorbidome and pulmorbidome with mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Results from COSYCONET. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:8790. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-022-12828-8

72. Zafari Z, Li S, Eakin M, Bellanger M, Reed R. Projecting long-term health and economic burden of COPD in the United States. *Chest.* (2021) 159:1400–10. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2020.09.255

73. Roche N, Deslee G, Caillaud D, Brinchault G, Court-Fortune I, Nesme-Meyer P, et al. Impact of gender on COPD expression in a real-life cohort. *Respir Res.* (2014) 15:20. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-15-20

74. Prescott E, Bjerg A, Andersen P, Lange P, Vestbo J. Gender difference in smoking effects on lung function and risk of hospitalization for COPD: Results from a Danish longitudinal population study. *Eur Respir J.* (1997) 10:822–7.

Frontiers in Medicine

Translating medical research and innovation into improved patient care

A multidisciplinary journal which advances our medical knowledge. It supports the translation of scientific advances into new therapies and diagnostic tools that will improve patient care.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



